
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

 
THE EXECUTIVE AGENDA 
 

You can view the 
agenda online by using 

a smart phone camera 
and scanning the code 
below: 

 
 

Date: 
 

Thursday, 9 February 2023 

Time: 
 

6.00 pm 

Venue: 

 

The Board Room, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton 

1 February 2023 

 

PART 1 

1. Apologies for absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

 i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

ii) Other Interests 
 

 

3. To approve the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 10) 

4. Third Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2022/23 (Pages 11 
- 48) 

5. 2023/24 Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan 2023/24 to 2026/27 (Pages 49 - 

160) 

6. Council Tax Support Fund 2023-24 (Pages 161 - 164) 

7. Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 (Pages 165 - 192) 

8. Tourism Strategy (Pages 193 - 372) 

9. To resolve that the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 

items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  

PART 2 

10. To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 373 - 374) 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person (including the authority holding that information) ) 
 

11. Future High Street Fund Project - Next Steps (Pages 375 - 430) 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

 

Public Document Pack



particular person (including the authority holding that information) ) 
 

12. Springs Shopping Centre Property Management Strategy and KPIs (Pages 431 - 
444) 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person (including the authority holding that information) ) 
 

 
MARK TRILLO 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 

 

Membership of The Executive 

Councillor A McKeown (Chair) Councillor D Greenhalgh (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor A Barrow Councillor F Sloman 
Councillor J Todd  

 



 
 

 

 
THE EXECUTIVE 

 
Meeting: Thursday, 8 December 2022 at 6.00 pm in The Board Room, Pavilion 

Gardens, Buxton 

 

Present: Councillor A McKeown (Chair)   
 

 Councillors A Barrow and D Greenhalgh 

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors F Sloman and J Todd 

 
23/37 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

(Agenda Item 2) 
 

Councillor Greenhalgh declared an other interest in agenda item 13 – East 

Midlands Devolution (member of Derbyshire County Council). 
 

23/38 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS 

(Agenda Item 3) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meetings held on 6 October 2022 and 24 November 

2022 be approved as a correct record. 
 

23/39 SECOND QUARTER FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW 2022/23 

(Agenda Item 4) 
 

The purpose of the report was to inform members of the Council’s overall 

performance and financial position for the period ended 30th September 
2022 (“Second Quarter 2022/23”). The report was considered by the 
Corporate Select Committee on 5 December 2022. 

 
Options considered: 

 
Detailed analysis was contained within the appendices. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the Second Quarter 2022/23 financial, procurement and performance 
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of the 

covering report be noted. 
 

23/40 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 

(Agenda Item 5) 
 

The report presented the Council’s updated draft Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP). The MTFP presented the Council’s priorities in the context of 

the likely resources available, providing a financial context to future 
decision-making. It was reflective of the current financial position of the 
Council part way through the 2022-23 year and contained a large number of 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



The Executive 
Thursday, 8 December 2022 

 

 
 

assumptions that would be refined and quantified to inform a final version of 
the MTFP for approval in February 2023. To this extent, the report and its 
contents should be considered indicative.  

 
The report was considered and noted by the Corporate Select Committee 

on 5 December 2022.  Members of the Committee were assured that the 
reserve for climate change actions remained and that the impact of actions 
on the environment was built into the planning and delivery of the financial 

plan. 
 

Options considered: 
 
There were no options to consider at this stage. Options were being developed and 
would to be refined to close the financial deficits highlighted in the updated plan. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 

That the updated draft Medium Term Financial Plan (Appendix A) be 
approved prior to being refined in advance of full approval in February 2023. 
 

23/41 RESPONDING TO THE COST OF LIVING CRISIS - ENERGY 

(Agenda Item 6) 
 

The report considered the support that the Council provided to residents in 
the face of the cost-of-living crisis and, specifically, rising energy costs.  The 

report was considered by the Economy and Growth Select Committee on 20 
October 2022.  Training was in place and would be launched in the next two 

weeks. 
 
Options considered: 
 
The report set out the current position and initial steps that the Council intended to 
take, however, it was important that the Council adopted a flexible approach to 
emerging issues and opportunities. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the action being taken to respond to the cost of living crisis be 

noted. 
 

2. That the creation of a Fuel Bank for the High Peak to support those 
residents paying for their household energy via a pre-payment meter and 
who are experiencing fuel poverty be supported. 

 
23/42 CONSULTATION AND ENGAGEMENT POLICY 

(Agenda Item 7) 
 

The report proposed a revised approach to conducting consultation and 

engagement across the Council following feedback from the Local 
Government Association’s Corporate Peer Challenge.  The Policy would 

apply to the majority of the Council’s activities except for those within 
Planning and Development where the process for consultation and 
engagement was covered within the Statement of Community Involvement. 

 Page 4



The Executive 
Thursday, 8 December 2022 

 

 
 

The report was considered by the Corporate Select Committee on 5 
December 2022. 
 

Options considered: 
 

 That the proposed focus for corporate consultation and the revised 
Consultation and Engagement Policy is approved (recommended). 

 

 That the proposed focus for corporate consultation and the revised 

Consultation and Engagement Policy is not approved (not 
recommended). 

 
RESOLVED: 

 

That the Consultation and Engagement Policy and the proposals made at 
section 8 of the report with regards to the conduct of a Residents’ Survey be 
approved. 

 
23/43 REVISED LOCAL COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 

(Agenda Item 8) 
 

The purpose of the report was to recommend that the Council approves the 

implementation of a revised Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme with 
effect from 1st April 2023.   

 
The report was considered by the Corporate Select Committee on 5 
December 2022.  The Committee suggested that the impact of an increase 

in the capital limit to £10,000 be considered and whether a stepped 
approach from £10,000 to £16,000 may be feasible in an effort to establish 

the fairest way of delivering the scheme. 
 
Options considered: 
 
The alternative to introducing a new scheme for Local Council Tax Reduction from 
2023/24 was to leave the existing scheme in place. This would be a short-term 
option; lead to continuation of complexity of its understanding by residents, 
increasing costs of administration; and in the longer term, significantly affect the 
collection of Council Tax and the effectiveness of the scheme to support 
households within the Council’s area. If the existing scheme remained our proposal 
would be to remove the calculation letter that accompanies the bill currently and set 
a monetary limit on the changes to Universal Credit reported by the DWP, so that 
there were fewer changes to Local Council Tax Reduction. In addition, we would 
allow using the amount of Income advised by DWP without any adjustment to aid 
automation and increase the allowable time for backdating where good cause was 
shown to 6 months. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the introduction of a new income banded / grid scheme for working age 

applicants with effect from 1st April 2023 to improve its understanding by 
residents,  reduce the administrative burden placed on the Council by the 
introduction of Universal Credit and to increase the overall level of support 

for the lowest income families be approved subject to a review of the capital 
scheme detailed above. Page 5



The Executive 
Thursday, 8 December 2022 

 

 
 

 
23/44 PEAK DISTRICT NATIONAL PARK MANAGEMENT PLAN 

(Agenda Item 9) 
 

The report briefed Councillors on the new Peak District National Park 

Management Plan 2023-28 and any implications for the Borough Council. 
 
Options considered: 
 
The Council had a legal duty to consider the purposes of the National Park in its 
decision making. The merits of alternative options regarding the delivery of actions 
identified for District /Borough Councils would need to be considered when the 
Council comes to set its own work programme. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the proposed Peak District National Park Management Plan 2023-

28 be noted. 
 

2. That the actions identified for District / Borough Councils in the Delivery 

Plan in more detail when establishing its own corporate priorities and 
work programmes.  

 
23/45 DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS SPD 

(Agenda Item 10) 
 

The report notified councillors of the draft Developer Contributions 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and plans for public consultation. 
Feedback on the document and plans for consultation were also sought.   
 

Options considered: 
 

There are no alternative options to consider. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the purpose and content of the draft SPD be noted. 

 
2. That the findings of the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and 

Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) screening reports be noted. 

 
23/46 STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT 

(Agenda Item 11) 
 

The report considered a revised version of the Council’s Statement of 

Community Involvement prior to public consultation.  
 

Options considered: 
 

The Executive had two alternative options to consider: 
 

Option 1 – Decline to approve a Statement of Community Involvement for 
consultation. Local planning authorities are required under Section 18 of the 

Page 6



The Executive 
Thursday, 8 December 2022 

 

 
 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) to produce a 
Statement of Community Involvement. (Not recommended) 
 

Option 2 – Approve a Statement of Community Involvement for consultation. 
The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) describes how the Council 

will seek to engage with residents, businesses and other organisations in 
decision making on planning policy documents and planning applications in 
the part of the High Peak outside of the Peak District National Park. 

(Recommended) 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the contents of the report be noted.  

 
2. That authority be delegated to the Executive Director for Place to make 

amendments to the Statement of Community Involvement document as 

requested by the Local Plan Steering Group and approved by the 
Executive. 

 
3. That the Executive delegates authority to the Executive Director for 

Place to make non-material amendments to the Council’s Statement of 

Community Involvement document to the address formatting issues and 
insert / update images to aid interpretation and improve aesthetic quality.  

 
23/47 LOCAL PLAN EARLY ENGAGEMENT 

(Agenda Item 12) 
 

To report sought approval for the publication of the Local Plan Early 

Engagement document for feedback from the public.  A draft of the 
document was discussed by members of the Local Plan Steering Group 
which requested a number of changes, including: 

 

 A number of formatting and grammatical corrections (e.g. retaining all 

questions on a single page) 

 Amending the commentary on climate change to refer to the scope for 

mandating higher environmental performance in new housing in the 
context of national plans to deliver zero carbon ready homes through the 
Future Homes Standard building regulations from 2025. Concerns were 

raised that the Council may need to implement its own policy to mitigate 
the risk of the Future Homes Standard not coming to fruition nationally.  

 Updating the introduction to include more attention grabbing details e.g. 
housing figures 

 

The above changes would be in addition to plans to include more images in 
the document to make it more visually appealing.  

 
It was agreed that a revised version of the document would be circulated to 
members of the Steering Group for written comments prior to consultation. If 

deemed appropriate, a further Steering Group meeting may also be held 
prior to the consultation. 

 
It was also agreed that copies of the consultation documents would be 
made available at all locations where planning applications are held. Page 7



The Executive 
Thursday, 8 December 2022 

 

 
 

 
Options considered: 
 

Option 1 (recommended) – to follow the recommendations set out in section 

2 of this report. This option enables early engagement on the Local Plan to 
proceed in line with the agreed timetable (Q1 2023) as set out in the 
adopted Local Development Scheme. 

 
Option 2 (not recommended) – not approving the publication of the early 

engagement document would lead to a delay in Local Plan preparation and 
would result in the Council not adhering to its commitment of public 
engagement in Q1 2023 as per the Local Development Scheme. A delay 

would result in this stage being deferred until after the local elections in May 
and have consequential implications for the timing of the following 

consultations and risk delaying adoption. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the publication of the draft Local Plan Early Engagement document 

be approved, subject to any requested amendments from the Local Plan 
Steering Group. 

 

2. That authority be delegated to the Executive Director for Place to make 
amendments to the draft Local Plan Early Engagement document 
(appended) as requested by the Local Plan Steering Group and 

approved by the Executive.  
 

3. That authority be delegated to the Executive Director for Place to make 
non-material amendments to the draft Local Plan Early Engagement 
document to the address formatting issues and insert / update images to 

aid interpretation and improve aesthetic quality.  
 

4. That the arrangements for the public engagement be approved, subject 
to any requested amendments from the Local Plan Steering Group.  

 
23/48 EAST MIDLANDS DEVOLUTION 

(Agenda Item 13) 
 

The purpose of the report was to provide a summary of the East Midlands 
County Combined Authority (EMCCA) proposal and the associated 

consultation process following the devolution deal offer from government 
that was announced on 30th August 2022. The report was considered by 

the Corporate Select Committee on 5 December 2022.  The Council’s 
response would be circulated to group leaders prior to submission. 

 

Options considered: 
 

There were no detailed options to consider  
 
 

 
 

 Page 8



The Executive 
Thursday, 8 December 2022 

 

 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the proposal for the creation of the East Midlands County 

Combined Authority (EMCCA) as set out at Appendix A and summarised 
in Sections 9 and 10 of the report be noted. 

 
2. That the consultation process as detailed in Section 11 of the report be 

noted. 

 
3. That the issues highlighted in Section 13.3 be considered and identify 

any other issues that should be included in the Council’s formal 
response to the consultation. 

 
23/49 TO RESOLVE THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM 

THE MEETING FOR THE FOLLOWING ITEMS BECAUSE THERE MAY BE 

DISCLOSURE TO THEM OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED IN 
PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972. 

(Agenda Item 14) 
 

RESOLVED: 

 
That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following item of business as there may be disclosure of 

exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

23/50 TO APPROVE THE EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS 

(Agenda Item 15) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the exempt minutes of the meetings held on 6 October 2022 and 24 
November 2022 be approved as a correct record. 

 
23/51 APPLICATION FOR THE WRITE-OFF OF NON RECOVERABLE DEBTS 

(Agenda Item 16) 
 

The Executive approved a report that sought to write off balances which 

were deemed non recoverable. 
 
 

The meeting concluded at 6.27 pm 
 

 
 
 

 
CHAIRMAN 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
The Executive 

 
 9th February 2023 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
Appendices Attached 

 Appendix A (2022/23 – Third Quarter (Financial Report) 

 Appendix B (2022/23 – Third Quarter (Procurement Report)  

 Appendix C (2022/23 – Third Quarter (Performance Report) 

 

 
1. Reason for the Report  

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s overall 

performance and financial position for the period ended 31st December 
(“Third Quarter 2022/23”). 

 
2. Recommendations 

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive:  
 

 Note the Third Quarter 2022/23 financial, procurement and performance 

position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of this 
covering report. 
 

3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 This report summarises the Council’s performance and financial position after 
considering service activity up to the end of the Third Quarter (i.e. 31st 
December 2022).  

 
3.2 Detailed analysis is provided in Appendix A (Finance), Appendix B 

(Procurement) & Appendix C (Performance). 
 
3.3 The position can be summarised as follows: 
 

TITLE: Third Quarter Financial, Procurement & Performance 
Review 2022/23 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Cllr Alan Barrow – Executive Councillor for 

Corporate Services and Finance 

  
CONTACT OFFICERS: Keith Pointon – Head of Finance  

Tanya Cooper – Head of OD & Transformation 

   

WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



Subject Headline Reference 

Finance The Finance headlines for the Third Quarter are: 

Performance against Budget 

 At the Third Quarter stage, the General Fund outturn for 2022/23 is 
projected to be £180,260 underspent.  

Efficiency Programme 

 The current Efficiency Programme was delivered in full in 2021/22. 
No new savings are programmed to be delivered in 2022/23. 

Housing Revenue Account 

 The Housing Revenue Account is predicted to be in deficit (against 
budget) by £67,080 at the Quarter Three stage. 

Capital Programme 

 The General Fund Capital Programme budget for 2022/23 as 
revised is £19.5 million.  The projected outturn is currently forecast 
to be £2.42 million underspent compared to budget at the Quarter 
Two stage. 

 The HRA Programme for 2022/23 as revised is £6.88 million.  The 
projected outturn is forecast to be £6.8 million an underspend of 
£0.08 million compared to budget. 

Treasury Management 

 Cash investments held at 31 December 2022 totalled £30.7 million. 

 Council borrowing at 31December 2022 totalled £63 million. 
 The Council’s net interest costs are forecast to be £618,730 under 

budget on the general fund and £162,890 over budget on the HRA. 
Revenue Collection 

 82.59% of Council Tax was collected by 31 December 2022, 
compared to 83.30% for the same period last year.  

 82.92% of Business Rates was collected by 31 December 2022 
compared with 81.65% for the same period last year. 

 At the end of Quarter Three, the value of sundry debt over 60 days 
old was £99,200 which compares to £209,689 at 31 December 
2021. 

Appendix A 

Procurement The Procurement headlines for the Third Quarter are: 

 16 procurement activities were completed.  
 The Procurement forward plan includes 52 procurement activities for 

completion/start in 2022/23 (either HPBC only or joint). 

 At 31st December 2022, 41% of procurement activity undertaken 
was on the forward plan. 

Appendix B  

Performance The Performance headlines for the Third Quarter are: 

 62% of the key performance indicators on track, with 61% 
performing better than at this point in the previous year. 

 The Council closed 89 complaints, and received 349 comments and 
48 compliments in the Third Quarter. 

 

Appendix C 

 
4.       How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 
effective management of performance and financial resources, which is the 

subject of this report. 
 
 

 

Page 12



 
5.       Options and Analysis 
 

5.1 Detailed Analysis is contained within the appendices. 
 

6. Implications 

 
6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

None 
 

6.2 Workforce 
None 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality 

and Diversity policies. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 

There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report. 

 
6.5 Legal 

None 

 
6.6 Sustainability 

None 
 

6.7 External Consultation 

None 
 

6.8       Risk Assessment 
There are a number of risks to the financial position presented, which are 
identified and explained in the financial report attached at Appendix A. 

 
 

 
MARTIN OWEN 

Executive Director (Finance and Customer Services) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

 
Appendices A-C 

 
 

 
Keith Pointon 
01538 395400 Ext. 4193 

Tanya Coper 
01538 395400 Ext. 4146 
 

 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 

 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2022/23       
Third Quarter 

Financial 
Review 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 15



2 
 

 

1. Background and Introduction  

 

1.1. In accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and recommended 
good practice, a quarterly financial report is presented to members. This is the 

third such report for 2022/23. 

 

1.2. The report summarises overall financial performance for 2022/23 with particular 

emphasis on the key sources of financial risk to the Council. Specific 
considerations are as follows: 

 

 General Fund Revenue Account (Section 2) – considers budgetary 

performance on the General Account by looking at variations in income and 

expenditure and the funding received by the Council.  
 

 Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (Section 3) – considers 

progress in achieving the efficiency and rationalisation savings forecast.  
 

 Collaborative arrangements (Section 4) – highlights the performance of the 

Council’s Joint Venture companies: Alliance Environmental Services Ltd and 

Alliance Norse Ltd. 
 

 The Springs (Section 5) – highlights the performance of The Springs 

shopping centre in Buxton, purchased as part of the Future High Street Fund 
project in December 2022. This quarter’s report indicates the measures that 

will be used. 
 

 Housing Revenue Account (Section 6) – highlights the budgetary position in 

respect of the operation of the Council’s housing stock. 

 

 General Fund Capital Programme (Section 7) – provides an update to 

Members on progress against the Council’s General Fund capital plans. 
 

 HRA Capital Programme (Section 8 ) – provides an update to Members on 

progress against the Council’s HRA capital plans. 
 

 Treasury Management (Section 9) – sets out the key statistics in terms of 

investments and borrowings. 
 

 Revenue Collection (Section 10) – considers progress-to-date in collecting 

the Council Tax, Business Rates and Sundry Debts. 

 

Page 16



3 
 

2. General Fund Revenue Account 

2.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the General 
Fund Revenue Account against budget by looking at variations in income and 

expenditure and funding received by the Council. 

Service 
2022/23 
Budget 

Provisional 
Outturn 
2022/23 

Variance 

Contribution 
to (Use of) 
Earmarked 
Reserves  

Net 
Variance 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Alliance Leadership Team 58,290 33,000 (25,290)  (25,290) 

Audit 10,240 10,240 0  0 

ICT 584,210 622,710 38,500 (2,700) 35,800 

Human Resources 69,480 164,100 94,620 (50,000) 44,620 

Member Services 260,730 240,730 (20,000)  (20,000) 

Property Services 258,250 439,250 181,000  181,000 

Benefits (194,020) 3,480 197,500  197,500 

Planning Applications (344,180) (250,400) 93,780 (1,250) 92,530 

Building Control 56,140 41,140 (15,000)  (15,000) 

Customer Services 144,390 87,550 (56,840)  (56,840) 

Legal Services 30,510 129,900 99,390  99,390 

Electoral Services 59,470 57,470 (2,000) (2,950) (4,950) 

Licensing and Land Charges (317,750) (264,180) 53,570  53,570 

Regeneration 172,630 195,130 22,500  22,500 

Communities and Cultural 297,270 272,270 (25,000) (22,000) (47,000) 

Housing Strategy** 37,750 (42,250) (80,000)  (80,000) 

Transformation 21,250 27,560 6,310  6,310 

Community Safety and Enforcement 109,580 91,080 (18,500)  (18,500) 

Finance & Procurement 177,650 172,150 (5,500)  (5,500) 

Revenues (293,750) (266,460) 27,290  27,290 

Corporate Finance* 5,938,170 6,176,720 238,550 (1,300) 237,250 

Waste Collection 2,148,300 1,914,730 (233,570) 
 

(233,570) 

Street Scene 469,940 530,810 60,870 (60) 60,810 

Leisure Services 149,940 204,320 54,380 (12,650) 41,730 

Horticulture 374,630 440,810 66,180 (380) 65,800 

Environmental Health (30,440) (10,360) 20,080 (7,780) 12,300 

            

Net Total of Services 10,248,680 11,021,500 772,820 (101,070) 671,750 

Net Interest 1,608,280 989,550 (618,730)   (618,730) 

  11,856,960 12,011,050 154,090 (101,070) 53,020 

Funding:           

- external (11,396,310) (11,629,990) (233,680)   (233,680) 

- reserves contribution to/(from):           

     general contingency 118,160 118,160 0     

     use of carry forward from 21/22 (21,830) (21,830) 0     

     Earmarked - business rates (555,340) (555,340) 0   
 

     Earmarked - general (1,640) (102,310) (100,670) 101,070 400 

            

Projected (Surplus)/Deficit 0 (180,260) (180,260)  (180,260) 

 

* Staff budgets are budgeted within Corporate Finance currently (except for the staff budget of the Carelink service 
within Housing Strategy which for operational reasons are included within the Service).  

  ** The Council’s Housing management costs are charged to the Housing Revenue Account  

Page 17



4 
 

 

2.2. A revenue budget of £11,835,130 was set for 2022/23. In accordance with 

Financial Procedure Rules, the roll forward of £21,830 in unused budgets from 

2021/22 has been authorised: 

 

 Planning Policy (£10,000): unspent budget in regard to Glossop Gateway 

project. 

 Member Services (£4,000): in respect of Initiatives to increase community 

engagement. 

 Financial Services (£7,830): unspent budget in regard to initiatives to 

manage risk. 

This brings the 2022/23 budget to £11,856,960. 

 
2.3. The table above shows how this budget has been allocated to services. 

 

2.4. The quarter three projected outturn on the General Fund Revenue Account for 
2022/23 is £12,011,050.  This represents a projected overspend for the year of 

£154,090. However £101,070 is being used from earmarked reserves, giving an 
overall position of an overspend of £53,020.  

 

2.5. There are three service areas with projected significant underspend (>£50,000): 
 

 Customer services (£56,840 underspend) – sustainable savings on postage 

and printing are being realised following improved working practices 

compounded by the natural effect of agile working.  
 Housing Strategy (£80,000 underspend) – relating to improvements on 

Carelink income. 

 Waste Collection (£233,570 underspend) – surplus income and reduced 

disposal costs are forecast on Trade Waste to a net £134,000 improvement. 

The crystallisation of emerging issues experienced by AES is described further 
in section 4 relating to pay award, fuel inflation and increased recycling 
income, a net £52,000. De-minimus vehicle sales of an aggregate £47,000 

which will be set aside to fund future vehicle purchases. 
 

2.6. There are eight service areas with a projected significant overspends (>£50,000). 
 

 Property Services (£181,000 overspend) – the impact of Glossop Market 

Arcade being closed (£45,000); impact of the first Quarter of cleaning & 
caretaking being taken over by Norse before the contract start date of 4 th July 

(£136,000); overspend on repairs with the previous contract with DCC ending 
on the 4th July (£30,000); a significant impact on utilities with electricity prices 

expected to increase by 100% from 1st October (£20,000); offset in part by 
some improved income from car parks (£50,000). 

 Benefits (£197,500 overspend) – In the previous year, there was an increase 

in the contribution to the Council’s provision against not recovering benefits 
retrospectively judged to have been overpaid to claimants; a similar level is 

Page 18



5 
 

forecast this year due to the current economic climate (£150,000).  This is 
compounded by the levels of subsidy accruing against benefits paid during the 
year (£47,500). 

 Planning Applications (£92,530 overspend) – a shortfall on planning fee 

income is anticipated based on income to date, an increase of costs relating to 

planning appeals (£50,000). However, this has been offset by the Local Plan 
being deferred until 23/24 (£50,000). 

 Legal (£99,390 overspend) – relates to additional legal fees due to Planning 

appeals (£40,000) and regeneration projects (£52,000). 
 Licensing and Land Charges (£53,570 overspend – a shortfall in land 

charges income (£25,000) and Hackney income (£28,000).  
 Corporate Finance (£237,250 overspend) – relates to a shortfall on the 

provision in the MTFP for the 2022/23 pay award (£129,000); and other staff 
related costs (£100,000). 

 Street Scene (£60,810 overspend) - the crystallisation of emerging issues 

experienced by AES is described further in section 4 relating to pay award and 
fuel inflation. 

 Horticulture (£65,800 overspend) - the crystallisation of emerging issues 

experienced by AES is described further in section 4 relating to pay award and 

fuel inflation. 
 

2.7. The net interest costs, as detailed in section 9, are forecast to be in surplus by 
£618,730. 

 

2.8. The level of funding anticipated for the year is forecast to be £334,350 greater 
than that budgeted due to the following: 
 

 External Funding: (£233,680) 
 

 Business Rates Retention (£231,590 in funding):  

o It is anticipated that the net levy payable to the Derbyshire Business 
Rates Pool after Pool savings will be £98,860 more than anticipated due 
to improved NNDR income in comparison to the budgeted figure. 

However, this is subject to change as the levy savings are partially 
dependent on the performance of the Pool as a whole. 

o The estimated levy payable to the Pool from the 2021-22 outturn has 
been updated during the audit processes of all members of the Pool and 
is now estimated to be £106,930 more, still subject to final audits. 

o £437,380 additional s31 grants are expected to be received to 
compensate for the cost of the Covid Additional Relief Fund Grants to 

businesses awarded during the year in relation to the 2021-22 financial 
year. As there is no overall deficit on the Business Rates Collection 
Fund forecast at the end of 2022-23, there is no requirement to put this 

aside in to reserves. 

 Lower Tier Services and Local Services Support Grants (£2,090). 

 
Movement of Reserves:  

 

 Other Earmarked Reserves (£100,670 additional usage): These reserves exist 

to match available funding with future projects and activities. Often it is not 
possible to anticipate when eligible spend will occur and so, as the year 

Page 19



6 
 

progresses, services will identify projects and schemes where earmarked 
reserves may need to be applied. To date, across the authority, net usage of 
these reserves amounts to £100,670 more than nominally anticipated at the 

beginning of the year. 

 

3.       Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme 

 

3.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s 

Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2022/23. 

 

3.2. The current Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy was approved by Members in 
February 2017 and finished in 2021/22. As such, there are no specific targets for 
2022/23. The strategy had the effect of both reducing expenditure and increasing 

income. The need to grow income is now more of a priority as the Council moves 
towards being self-financing (that is, not reliant on direct government funding 

such as revenue support grant).  

 

3.3. The strategy was developed with the underlying principles of protecting frontline 

service delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable the 
Council to ensure that its service spending is determined by the established 

priorities set out in the Corporate Plan. It focused primarily on major 
procurements, the asset management plan, growth, income generation and 
rationalisation.  

 

3.4. In conjunction with stakeholders, the outputs of an ‘Ideas Lab’ exercise 

undertaken during the Autumn of 2022 are being developed and expectations of 
the outputs of this to produce a new strategy are being incorporated into the 
MTFP to be approved in February 2023. 

 

3.5. The Authority carries a longstanding reserve earmarked to support the Efficiency 

Strategy which can be drawn on to offset one-off costs of delivering the efficiency 
programme, such as redundancy costs. The reserve stands at £200,000. It has 
not been necessary to draw on this reserve in previous years, so it remains intact 

to underwrite performance against future savings targets in the Efficiency 
Programme. 

 

4. Collaborative Arrangements 

 

Alliance Environmental Services 

  

4.1. Alliance Environmental Services Ltd (AES) delivers waste, fleet, street cleansing 
and grounds maintenance services to both High Peak Borough and Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Councils. The Councils are shareholders of the company 

along with Ansa, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire East Council. 
 

 
 

Page 20



7 
 

 
 

4.2. AES’s management fee and impact on this Council’s budget is summarised 

below: 

 

2022-23 
General 

Fund 
HRA Total 

 
£ £ £ 

AES contract budget 4,593,900 213,470 4,807,370 

    
AES base management fee 4,536,600 217,310 4,753,910 

Efficiency Rebate (23,880) (1,120) (25,000) 

Allocation of Joint Operation loss 25,210 1,170 26,380 

Contract pressures/ (savings):    

- Pay award 157,700 7,300 165,000 

- Fuel inflation 130,930 6,070 137,000 

- Other (fleet and bins equipment) 99,000 0 99,000 

- Recycling Rebate tbc (385,000) 0 (385,000) 

Net contract cost 4,540,560 230,730 4,771,290 

    

Variance (53,340) 17,260 (36,080) 

 
4.3. The AES business plan for all services being delivered to the Council during 

2022/23 includes a budgeted management fee of £4,753,910. The Council will 

also take a share of the total AES forecast efficiency target which is repayable to 
the Council at the end of the year and is allocated against the management fee 

costs. 
 
4.4. Under accounting standards, AES’s financial performance is consolidated in to 

the Councils’ single entity statements as a ‘Joint Operation’ as opposed to 
separate group accounts being reported. The loss is therefore apportioned 

between the two Councils and the respective services in line with the input of 
original budgeted resources from each department and is offset against the 
management fee costs. 

 
4.5. The forecast outturn now includes various contract pressures and savings: the 

pay award was estimated in line with the Council’s expectations at budget setting, 
this has now been updated to an additional cost of £165,000; the impact of 
inflation on fuel and red diesel is forecast as £137,000 of additional cost; plus 

other increases related to fleet and bin provision of £99,000; these are offset by 
the current estimate of a rebate (£385,000) from improved recycling income due 

to an increased basket of goods rate in the market. 
 
Alliance Norse Limited 

 
4.6. A Joint Venture has been created between Norse Commercial Services Limited 

(a trading arm of the Norse Group which is wholly owned by Norfolk County 
Council) (75% ownership), High Peak Borough Council (12.5% ownership) and 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (12.5% ownership) to deliver housing 

Page 21



8 
 

repairs, capital investment and facilities management services across the 
Councils’ property assets. Phase 1 of the project to deliver corporate cleaning 
and caretaking service went live on 1st April 2022; and phase 2 for the delivery of 

the remainder of the services on 4th July 2022. 
 

4.7. The Councils are paying on account under the Service Agreement for the first 
pro-rata financial year for both phases from July 2022 to March 2023. These 
figures are included in the revenue and capital outturns within this report. These 

amounts will be reconciled at year end against the actual payments due and the 
Councils’ share of profits from the arrangement. 

 

2022-23 £ 

General Fund capital 933,961 

Housing capital 4,806,591 

Capital overheads (to be apportioned) 333,628 

  
General fund repairs 242,652 
Cleaning and caretaking 497,394 
Housing repairs 2,928,521 
Overheads (to be apportioned) 226,957 

Total 9,969,704 

 

4.8. More detail around the performance of the company and the impact on the 
financial outturns will be included in future reports. 

 

5. The Springs 

 

5.1. This section of the report going forwards will consider the financial performance of 
the Springs, which was acquired in December 2022 as part of the Future High 

Street Fund project. The agreed measures against which its performance will be 
monitored are Net Income, Property Yield, Surplus Income (after Debt), Yield on 
equity, Rent arrears, and voids. All will be assessed against the business case 

developed to assess the viability of purchasing the Centre and to meet the 
operating and financing costs throughout the period it is held by the Council. 

 

6.       Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 

6.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s 
Housing Revenue Account and highlights the budgetary position in respect of the 
operation of the Council’s housing stock.  

 

6.2. The 2022/23 Housing Revenue Account budget was originally set to produce a 

deficit of £1,894,070 supported by reserves. The Chief Financial Officer has, in 
accordance with Financial Procedure Rules, authorised the roll forward of 
£160,900 in unused budgets from 2021/22 to facilitate completion of capital 

component works.  This brought the 2022/23 budget to a deficit of £2,054,970 and 
will be supported by reserves. 

 

Page 22



9 
 

6.3. Provisional outturn expenditure on the Housing Revenue Account at the second 
quarter stage is £17,659,690 with estimated income of £15,537,640. This 
represents a deficit for the year of £2,122,050 (i.e. £67,080 over budget – 

meaning more reserves are required to fund HRA activities in year). 
 

Housing Revenue Account 
2022/23 

Projection 
Quarter 1 
Changes 

2022/23 

Revised 
Budget 

2022/23 

Expected 
Outturn 

Variance 

  £         

Repairs & Maintenance 4,664,260   4,664,260 5,102,400 438,140 

Supervision & Management  2,804,230   2,804,230 2,831,090 26,860 

Rates, Rents, Taxes, Other 
Charges  

109,130   109,130 109,130 0 

Other Operating Expenditure 806,290   806,290 806,290 0 

Depreciation & Impairment 
Charges 

2,099,030   2,099,030 2,183,000 83,970 

Interest & Debt Management 

Charges 
2,264,210   2,264,210 2,427,100 162,890 

HRA Contribution to Capital 
Programme 

4,543,790 160,900 4,704,690 4,200,680 (504,010) 

      0   0 

Total Expenditure 17,290,940 160,900 17,451,840 17,659,690 207,850 

Dwellings Rents (14,714,840)   (14,714,840) (14,812,250) (97,410) 

Non - Dwelling Rents & Other 
Income 

(682,030)   (682,030) (725,390) (43,360) 

      0   0 

Total Income (15,396,870) 0 (15,396,870) (15,537,640) (140,770) 

      0   0 

(Surplus) / Deficit for year 1,894,070 160,900 2,054,970 2,122,050 67,080 

Use of Reserves (1,894,070) (160,900) (2,054,970) (2,122,050) (67,080) 

In Year Deficit (Surplus) 0 0 0 0 0 

 

6.4. The Council has a duty, in accordance with Part VI (Section 74) of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989, to maintain a “Housing Revenue Account” 
(HRA). By “ring -fencing’ the Housing Revenue Account, the Council ensures that 

the management and maintenance of the Council’s housing stock is funded from 
the income generated by rents and other related sources. The Council is required 

under Part VI (Section 76) to prevent a debit balance each year on the HRA by 
setting the appropriate budget and monitoring progress against that budget 
throughout the financial year. The deficit balance predicted by the Council at this 

third quarter stage will be funded by a transfer from reserves within the Housing 
Revenue Account. 

 

6.5. There are three significant (>£50,000) overspends to report at this stage. 
 Repairs and Maintenance (£438,140) – Increased staffing costs due to 

forecast pay award shortfall (£52,140), utility service charge income down due 
to estimated cost 21/22 (£41,000), increase in repair costs (£265,000), 
expected increase in utilities (£80,000)  

Page 23



10 
 

 Depreciation Charge (£83,970) – based on latest forecasts. 

 Interest & Debt Management Charges (£162,890) - additional income 

receivable by the HRA from increased interest rates is offset by a larger share 

of the interest payable per the current share of the pool, following the 
reduction in Voluntary Revenue Provision. 

 

6.6. There are two significant (>£50,000) underspends to be reported at this stage. 

 
 Contribution to HRA capital programme (£388,850) – as detailed in 

section 8 below 

 Dwellings Rent (£97,410) – Increased income due to increased numbers 

going onto to target rent. 
 

 

7.      General Fund Capital Programme 
 

7.1. This section of the report provides an update to Members on the Council’s 
General Fund Programme. 

 

7.2. The table below shows a high level (service) summary of the General Fund 
Capital Programme position at 31st December 2022; further detail – on a scheme 

by scheme basis – is contained in Annex A. 

  
2022/23  

Approved 
Budget  

Q3 
Changes 

2022/23 
Revised  
Budget 

Expected 
Outturn 
2022/23 

Expected 
Variance 
2022/23 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Housing           374,000              -           374,000        374,000                -    
Housing Standards          519,110              -           519,110        519,110                -    
Property Services       6,459,030              -        6,459,030      4,136,530  (2,322,500) 
ICT 42,150             -    42,150         73,940         31,790  
Fleet  1,343,430             -    1,343,430 925,960    (417,470)  
Leisure Services          284,720              -           284,720        118,220     (166,500)  
Regeneration -Fairfield Roundabout        2,617,300              -        2,617,300      3,158,780       541,480  
Regeneration -Buxton Town Centre       7,866,320              -        7,866,320      7,781,720       (84,600)  

Total 
    19,506,060              -    

   

19,506,060    17,088,260  (2,417,800) 
Funding:-           
External Contributions 8,737,220             -    8,737,220 9,706,590 969,370 
S106 Planning Obligations  243,000             -    243,000 15,000 (228,000) 
Capital Receipts(Land) 2,900,000             -    2,900,000 45,000 (2,855,000) 
Capital Receipts(one for one) 374,000             -    374,000 374,000               -    
Capital Receipts(vehicles)           50,250              -    50,250 90,750 40,500 
Borrowing        7,201,590              -    7,201,590 6,856,920 (344,670) 
Total 19,506,060   19,506,060 17,088,260 (2,417,800) 

 

7.3. The 2022/23 General Fund Capital Budget was approved by Members on 5th 

December 2022 was set at £19,506,060, no changes have been made during this 
period.  

 

7.4. There are two significant variances to report: 

 

 Property Services (£2,079.210 – under spend) resulting from several 

Page 24



11 
 

variances in cost and timing of projects within the Asset Plan. Glossop 
Market Hall refurbishment project has been subject to design delays; the 
main construction works have now commenced; based on latest cash flow 

forecasts £2,235,710 has been reprofiled into 2023-24. 

 Fleet (£417,470 – under spend) –replacement of vehicles and plant, the 

timetable has been re-evaluated in line with requirements and availability of 
vehicles. 

 Leisure Services (£166,500 – under spend) play projects including Cote 
Heath Skate Park are expected to be delivered in 2023-24. 

 Fairfield Roundabout (£541,180 over spend) – construction costs of the 

roundabout have increased the latest estimate is £3.972million against 
confirmed Homes England (HIF) funding of £2.449million. In order to 

address the shortfall the Council made a bid of £1.51million to the 
Devolution Capital Fund. Indications are that the DLUHC has approved the 
bid which will mean that all construction costs will be met from external third 

party funds. 

 

7.5. Consequently, overall capital funding which is expected to be applied to the 2022-
23 Capital Programme, is lower than forecast, reflecting the revised timing of 
capital spend, resulting in a reduced borrowing requirement of £344,670. 

 

8.      Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme 

 

8.1. This section of the report provides an update to Members on the Council’s HRA 
capital spending. 

 

8.2. The table below shows a high level summary of the HRA Capital Programme at 

31st December 2022. Further detail on a scheme-by-scheme basis is contained in 
Annex A. 

Scheme 
2022-23 

Approved 

Budget  

Quarter 3 
Changes  

2022-23 
Revised 

Budget  

2022-23 
Expected 

Out-turn 

2022-23 
Expected 

Variance  

  £  £  £  £ £  
Asset Management works 5,543,820           -    5,543,820 5,680,730       136,910  
Repairs Team Capital works 279,000           -    279,000 65,980     (213,020)  

Commissioning Costs 100,000           -    100,000 100,000                -    
Vehicle Replacements  500,000           -    500,000 706,860       206,860  
ICT Strategy 100,000           -    100,000              -        (100,000)  

Repurchase Dwellings  200,000           -    200,000 243,030         43,030  
2021-22 Net Underspend 160,900           -    160,900              -        (160,900)  
Total Programme 6,883,720           -    6,883,720 6,796,600       (87,120)  

            
Major Repairs Reserve 2,099,030           -    2,099,030 2,268,000       168,970  
HRA Contribution 4,704,690           -    4,704,690 4,200,680     (504,010)  

External Funding  -           -    - 84,890         84,890  
Capital Receipts  80,000           -    80,000 243,030       163,030  
Total Financing 6,883,720           -    6,883,720 6,796,600       (87,120)  

 

8.3. The 2022/23 HRA Capital Budget was approved by Members on 5th December 
2022 was set at £6,883,720. 

  

Page 25



12 
 

8.4. The total variance (underspend £87,120) includes cost increases on projects that 
have been tendered; and anticipated further spend on additional items of roofing, 
window and door replacements now forecast to be completed in year. The lifts 

and bathroom programmes are behind schedule currently, it is expected that the 
revised delivery mechanism will accelerate in the first quarter of 2023-24. 

 

9. Treasury Management 

 

9.1. This section of the report sets out the key Treasury Management statistics in 

relation to the Council’s investments and borrowings. This report comprises a 
high-level Treasury Management summary.  The Audit and Regulatory Committee 
receives detailed operational updates on Treasury Management. 

 

Investments 

 

9.2. Cash Investments held on the 31st December 2022 totalled £30.7million. The 
average level of funds available for investment up to the end of the quarter totalled 

£32.4million and £380,750 interest was earned. 
 

9.3. The Council has budgeted to receive £103,670 in investment income in 2022/23 
under the expectation that the Bank of England base rate would only reach 0.75% 
by the end of the financial year. However, interest rates have increased during the 

year following the base rate rise to 1.00% (from 0.75%) in May 2022, to 1.25% in 
June, to 1.75% in August, to 2.25% in September, to 3.00% in November, and 

again to 3.50% in December, therefore a surplus of £442,080 is anticipated 
against the budget. 

 

Borrowing 
 

9.4. Outstanding borrowing at 31st December 2022 totalled £63million. The Council’s 

general fund and HRA budgeted to incur £1,711,950 and £1,629,210 respectively 
in interest charges and other financing costs in 2022/23. This was based on 

existing external debt and new borrowing of £6.8million mid-year to fund the 
general fund capital programme. 

 

9.5. No ‘new’ borrowing or refinancing activity has occurred during the year. The share 
of charges to the HRA is forecast to be a net £99,890 greater per the current 

share of the pool following the reduction in the Voluntary Revenue Provision. 
External and other borrowing costs are forecast to be £76,760 less as no external 
borrowing is now expected to take place during the year. Overall underspend on 

general fund borrowing costs is forecast to be £176,650. 

 

10.       Revenue Collection 

 

10.1. The collection rate outturn for quarter three 2022/23 was as follows: 
 

 Council Tax – 82.59% of Council Tax was collected by 31st December 2022, 

compared to 83.30% for the same period in 2021/22, and 83.54% in 2020/21. 

Page 26



13 
 

 Business Rates – 82.92% of Business Rates was collected by 31st December 

2022, compared with 81.65% for the same period in 2021/22, and 79.12% in 

2020/21. 
o This is caused by the fluctuation in payment plans for large RV 

hereditaments in receipt of changing levels of relief between the years. This 

is expected to equalise in the coming months. 
 Sundry Debts - The value of sundry debts over 60 days old at the end of 

quarter three was £99,200 which compares with £209,689 at 31st December 
2021. 

Page 27



14 
 

Annex A 
 

   Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme Update 31st December 2022 

 

Scheme 
2022-23 

Approved 
Budget  

Quarter 3 
Changes  

2022-23 
Revised 
Budget  

2022-23 
Expected 
Out-turn 

2022-23 
Expected 
Variance  

   £          

Asset Management            

Roofing      169,600            -       169,600     274,020       104,420  

Gladstone St Walkways       21,000            -         21,000       25,860           4,860  

Lift Replacements     769,000            -       769,000     419,000     (350,000)  

Bathroom Programme     498,570            -       498,570     123,570     (375,000)  

Kitchen Programme     600,000            -       600,000     789,400       189,400  

Electrical Works     500,000            -       500,000     514,410         14,410  

Aids & Adaptations     440,000            -       440,000     457,000         17,000  

Windows & Doors Programme     500,000            -       500,000     900,000       400,000  

Central Heating Works     230,000            -       230,000     230,000                 -    

Queens Court Boiler      200,000            -       200,000     200,000                 -    

Gamesley Car Park/HardStanding      250,000            -       250,000     299,420         49,420  

Watford Lodge Refit        70,000            -         70,000       71,740           1,740  

CCTV & Aerials      100,000            -       100,000     100,000                 -    

Structural & Rendering     735,650            -       735,650     626,550     (109,100)  

Fairfield View        20,000            -         20,000       20,000                 -    

Major Void Retrofit Decarbonisation               -              -                -       100,000       100,000  

Sheltered Fire Alarm      140,000            -       140,000     208,500         68,500  

Hartington Gardens Footbridge      200,000            -       200,000     200,000                 -    

Energy Efficiency Works      100,000            -       100,000     121,260         21,260  

  5,543,820           -    5,543,820 5,680,730      136,910  

Repairs Capital            

Void Rewires         70,000            -         70,000       12,920       (57,080)  

Void Kitchens       139,000            -       139,000       31,550     (107,450)  

Void Bathrooms         70,000            -         70,000       21,510       (48,490)  

  
279,000           -    279,000 65,980 

    
(213,020)  

Staffing           

Staffing /Commissioning  
     

100,000            -    

    

100,000  

    

100,000                 -    

  100,000           -    100,000 100,000                -    

Asset Purchases            

Vehicle Replacement      500,000            -       500,000     706,860       206,860  

Re-Purchase Dwellings     200,000            -       200,000     243,030         43,030  

ICT Housing System     100,000            -       100,000               -       (100,000)  

  
800,000           -    800,000 949,890 

      
149,890  

2021-22 Net Under-spend  
     

160,900    

    

160,900               -    

    

(160,900)  

Total 
6,883,720           -    6,883,720 6,796,600 

      
(87,120)  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



15 
 

 

           ANNEX B  
 

General Fund Capital Programme Update 31st December 2022 
 

 
 

Scheme 
2022/23  

Approved 
Budget  

Q3 
Changes 

2022/23 
Revised  
Budget 

Expected 
Outturn 
2022/23 

Expected 
Variance 
2022/23 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Housing & Housing Standards           

Affordable Housing Project  374,000            -    374,000 374,000                  -    

Disabled Facilities Grants 489,110            -    489,110 489,110                  -    

Private Sector Housing Renewal  30,000            -    30,000 30,000                  -    

  893,110            -    893,110 893,110                  -    

Property Services           

Asset Management Programme 6,459,030            -    6,459,030 4,136,530   (2,322,500)  

  
      

6,459,030             -    
      

6,459,030  
      

4,136,530  
   

(2,322,500)  

ICT 42,150            -    42,150 73,940 

          

31,790  

  
          

42,150             -    
          

42,150  
          

73,940  
          

31,790  

Fleet Management            

Vehicle/Plant  Acquisitions     1,343,430             -        1,343,430         925,960       (417,470)  

  
      

1,343,430             -    
      

1,343,430  
        

925,960  
      

(417,470)  

Leisure Services           

Sports Club Grants           41,500             -    

          

41,500  

          

30,000  

        

(11,500)  

Play Facilities         243,220             -           243,220           88,220       (155,000)  

  
        

284,720             -    
        

284,720  
        

118,220  
      

(166,500)  

Regeneration           

Fairfield Roundabout  
      

2,617,300             -    
      

2,617,300  
      

3,158,780  
        

541,480  

Buxton Town Centre      7,866,320             -        7,866,320      7,781,720         (84,600)  

  

    

10,483,620             -    

    

10,483,620  

    

10,940,500  

        

456,880  

            

Total General Fund 
    

19,506,060             -    
    

19,506,060  
    

17,088,260  
   

(2,417,800)  

 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

APPENDIX B 

 

 
 

2022/23 
 

Third Quarter 
 Procurement  

Review 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



1. Introduction 
 

1.1 A key element of the financial savings included in the Council’s Efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy is being met from Procurement activity which was 

approved by Full Council in February 2017.  
 

1.2 The previous Procurement Strategy was developed in 2014 to ensure that its 

objectives linked closely with the Council’s overall strategic vision and aims and 
objectives.  The key actions included, delivery of cashable savings, development 

of a professional Procurement unit, updated Procurement Rules to support 
transparency and the implementation of electronic tendering processes and 
procurement systems.  All of which have been achieved. 

 
1.3 The revised Joint Procurement Strategy is now approved. The revised strategy, 

covering 2022-2025 will focus on the following key objectives to support the aims 
of the Council’s Corporate plan and align with the LGA National Procurement 
Strategy: 

 

 Delivering Value for Money 

 Commercial focus and effective Contract Management 

 Maintaining Transparency and Ethical practices through effective leadership 

 Promoting Responsible and Sustainable Procurement  

 Supporting the Local Economy and Business Growth 

 Delivering Social Value (CSR) through our Contracts 

 
1.4 The Council will work to achieve these priorities by adopting and implementing 

the following key themes which underpin and will drive the strategy forward over 

the next three years: 
 

 Showing Leadership 

 Behaving Commercially 

 Achieving Community Benefits 

 Environmental Sustainability 

 Ethical Sourcing 
  

2. Third Quarter Completed Procurements 

2.1 The activity supported by the Council’s procurement team for the third quarter 

October 2022 to December 2022 is summarised below: 

Third Quarter   High Value 

(> £181,000) 

Low Value    

(< £181,000) 
Total 

HPBC Only 1 8 9 

JOINT (SM/HP) 2 5 7 

TOTAL   16 

 
2.2 Annex A provides details of the 16 procurement exercises completed during 

Quarter three.   

Page 32



3. 2022/23 Procurement Forward Plan  

3.1 The table below details the number of exercises which fall into either low or high 
value (profiled over full contract term) scheduled for either completion or starting 

in 2022/23. 

2022/23 Activity High Value 

(> 181,000k) 

 Low Value  

(< £181,000k) 
Total 

HPBC 

 

3 21 24 

JOINT (SM/HP) 4 24 28 

TOTAL   52 

 
 In addition to the above, there are a further 85 listed entries brought forward from 

previous years (for review and completion for both HPBC and SMDC combined).  
 

3.2 Some of the more significant ‘high level’ procurement activity that is scheduled for 
support and delivery in 2022/23 includes:- 

 

 

 Facilities Management (Joint venture delivery model) – now completed 

 Glossop Halls (D2N2) refurbishment project (Glossop Indoor Market and 

adjacent buildings) – Main Contractor – now appointed 

 Levelling Up Funded projects – subject to application outcome 

 Leisure Transformation programme 

 Glossop Markets & Creative / Business space Operator Concession 

 Future High streets – Spring Gardens Buxton  (Consultancy / Development 
Partner) 

 EFG Greener homes LAD3 funding 

 
Transforming Public Procurement Reforms 

 3.3 The Procurement Bill, which will reform the existing Public Sector Procurement 
  Rules, is now going through Parliament.  The reforms will; 

 

 create a fully transparent public procurement system, through a central 
digital platform; 

 aim to create a simpler and more flexible, commercial system that better 
meets our country’s needs while remaining compliant with our 
international obligations; 

 open up public procurement to new entrants such as small businesses 
and social enterprises so that they can compete for and win more public 

contracts. 

 

 3.4 The Bill is scheduled to receive Royal Ascent in Spring 2023 which will then 

  initiate a lead in six month comprehensive learning and development  

  programme for public sector Contracting Authorities.  Further information will be 

Page 33



  prepared and presented as a separate Information Digest report as the  

  Bill progresses through the next stages in quarter four. 

 
4. Procurement Performance 

4.1 This section reports on the Council performance in terms of procurement activity. 
 

4.2 Performance for the third quarter is highlighted below:- 

 

Performance Indicator Target 
Performance at 
31 December 

2022 

% of Alliance Procurement 
Activity on Forward Plan 

70% 41% 

Annual contract spend as % of 

gross expenditure budget 
 

95% 93% 

Supplier (Creditor) spend within 

the local area as a % of total 
spend 

8% 8% 

% of Contracts awarded to local 
suppliers following submission of 

EOI (over £5,000) 

Contextual Contextual 

 
  

 Off track  On Forward Plan PI commentary:  

 4.3 Recorded ‘on plan’ activity has decreased due to a number of influences over the 
  first two quarters of 2022/23.  Exercises that have been completed off plan 

  include sourcing activity in relation to Central Government  funding applications, 
  special events and projects that have required support in various professions 

  which could not be delivered in-house and were time critical, all have contributed 
  to the off plan activity count as they were not fully communicated to include on 
  the forward plan ahead of the sourcing activity.   

  
 4.4 Although a selection of the exercises could not have been anticipated in  

  advance, Procurement are now reviewing with all Heads of service the off plan 
  activity recorded during the first two quarters and looking ahead to Q4 to record 
  all known activity with procurement ahead of requirements in order to improve 

  the on plan activity reporting. Further training and guidance on the procurement 
  procedure rules will be rolled out over the remainder of the year. 
 

 

  

Page 34



ANNEX A 

Third Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – HPBC 

Contract Title Brief contract 
description 

Recurring 

or One Off  
Service Area  Procedure  Award Detail Term / 

Duration 
 
 

 Total 
Contract 
Value £     

LAD3 Affordable 
Warmth Programme 

Midlands Net Zero 
Hub funding  
supporting energy 
efficiency measures 
and low carbon 
heating for off gas 
grid homes under 
HUG 1 and on gas 
grid homes through 
LAD 3, with an aim of 
upgrading homes to a 
target energy rating 
 

One Off Communities & 
Climate Change 

Direct 
Award – 
Framework 

EON Ltd 1 yr 608,606 

Nutrient Neutrality 
Mitigation Strategy and 
Action Plan 

Consultancy 
Appointment 

One Off Development 
Control Planning 
Policy 

Open 
Tender 

Haskoning Ltd 6 
months  

31,500 

Planning Performance 
Agreement  
Dinting Vale 

Professional Services One Off Development 
Control 

Single 
Source 
exemption 

White Peak 
Planning Ltd 

4 
months 

20,000 

Dinting Vale Viability 
Assessment 

Professional Services 
 

One Off Development 
Control 

Quotations Burton 
Knowles 

4 
months 

4,950 

Planning Inquiry 
Taxal Edge 

Professional Services One Off Development 
Control 

Quotations White Peak 
Planning Ltd 

5 
months 

13,248 

Hollincross Heritage 
Hearing evidence 

Professional Services One Off Development 
Control 

Quotations Asset Heritage 4 
months 

5,750 

Hollincross 
Arboricultural 
consultancy 

Professional Services One Off Development 
Control 

Quotations Rob Keyzor 
Tree services 
& 
Arboricultural 
Consultancy 
Ltd 

3 
months 

4,226 

Buckingham Hotel 
appeal  
Valuation  

Professional Services One Off Development 
Control  

Quotations Matthew & 
Goodmans 

3 
months 

4,700 

Buckingham Hotel 
appeal  
Structural Engineer  

Professional Services One Off Development 
Control 

Quotations Thomasons 3 
months 

6,550 

 

Page 35



Third Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – JOINT (HPBC & SMDC) 

Contract Title Brief contract description Recurring 
or One Off  

Service Area  Procedure  Award Detail Term / 
Duration 

YRS 
 
 

 Total 
Contract 
Value £     

OD Strategy & 
Development 
Programme 
Support 
 

Consultancy Support Recurring Transformation Direct award 
Framework 

Camburg 
Collective Ltd 

2 + 
(1+1) 

 

450,000 

Digital 
Transformation 
Strategy 
Support 
 

Consultancy Support Recurring Transformation Direct award 
Framework  

Socitm 
Advisory Ltd 

2 255,902 

Telecoms - 
Mobile phones  

Supply new mobile phones 
and contracted voice /data 

Recurring Transformation Direct award 
Framework  

Daisy 
Communicatio
ns Ltd 

1 + 
(1+1) 

72,504 

Payroll Services Services contract Recurring Finance SLA – Public 
to Public 
Contract 
 

Stoke on Trent 
City Council 

3 56,778 

Local Council 
Tax Reduction 
 

Consultancy Support One off Revenues Single 
Source 
exemption 

ACS 
Consultancy 

1 14,595 

Grant finder 
Software 

Software – bolt on existing 
contract  

One off Communities Contract 
variation 

Grant Finder 
(IDOX) 
Software 

1 8,000 

Move More 
strategy  

Consultancy to support 
development of Move More 
Strategy 

One off Service 
Commissioning 

Open RFQ Power Box 
Creative 

10 wks 6,800 

 

Page 36



 

 

High Peak Performance and Customer Feedback Report: 2022/ 2023 (Q3) 

 

  

P
age 37



 

 

P
age 38



62% 

36% 

2% 
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

On Track Off Track N/A

               

50% 

37% 

11% 
2% 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Better Weaker No Change N/A

   

High Peak Q3 Summary  

The following report provides an overview of performance at High Peak for the period April to December 2022 in relation to the Council’s 

corporate plan priorities. As well as the summary below, the report also provides insight into the council’s performance against each of its four 

strategic aims, including both successes and areas for further improvement.    

Performance Overview  

Following the introduction of the new Norse indicators, there are now 50 targeted measures to report against at the end of December 2022. 

The charts below show the results for Q3 in terms of both attainment and trend data. At the end of the third quarter the council is ‘on track’ to 

meet 62% of its targets and has improved upon or maintained its performance level compared to this point last year in 61% of measures.  The 

full framework can be accessed here.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Customer Feedback Overview  

This report also provides an overview of the results from the Council’s customer feedback system in terms of complaints, comments and 

compliments. The number of complaints closed during the first three quarters was higher than this point last year, 89 compared to 72 

previously. There have been no repeat complaints reported and the council responded to all complaints in time, ahead of its 97% target. This 

report includes further details of the lessons learned from complaints and any repeat issues, where relevant.      

 

 

P
age 39

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/high_peak_performance_indicator_database_december_2022-23.pdf


Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our residents to live and work 
  

Fit for purpose housing 

 New housing benefit claims processed in under 10 days against a target of 13 days 

 Change of circs processed in under 7 days 

 No gas safety checks were overdue in council homes 

 % P1, P2, P3 and P4 repairs completed within timescale, % first time fix repairs and % overall repairs completed on time 

 % appointments made and kept 

 % voids completed within target 

Areas for improvement: The Right  To Buy measure (number of  transactions and % within timescales) has been affected by the delay during Q1 

but has improved during Q2 (80% for the qtr)  and Q3 (82% for the qtr). At the end of December the council had 23 households in temporary 

accommodation for over six weeks , no families. The continued slow turnover of stock and the reduced availability / high cost of private sector 

housing continues to affect the council’s ability to achieve settled accommodation outcomes for a proportion of prevention and relief 

homelessness duty discharges. Currently 53% of homelessness applications are opened at the prevention stage against a target of 60%.   

 

 

 

Work with partners  

Accelerated housing delivery programme: 

Fairfield Roundabout – The Council and Homes England are in agreement on a revised Deed of Variation and Grant Funding 

Agreement, and we can now claim the total commitment of funding from Homes England. There is a six-week delay to the 

construction project due to errors in the drainage design and a shortage of resources. This is due to be contractually complete by 

12th January, however contractors are aiming to complete the construction of the roundabout by 23rd Dec.    

Granby Road – Slow progress with Partner Construction has led to inviting the original bidders to re-tender. Bids received from Vistry 

(owners and developers of Granby C) and Partner Construction. The Vistry bid is significantly more so we will be asking for 

clarifications. The main other issue and conditionality of any agreement will be the solution to the nutrient neutrality issue. 

P
age 40



Carelink Service:  

 96.93 % of emergency calls responded to within 45 minutes 

Areas for improvement: 91.92 % of referrals were installed within 15 days to the end of Q3 , still below the 95% target but showing an 

improvement. The delays are being caused by a number of factors including delayed hospital discharges and house removals 

 

High quality leisure facilities 

 £45k in external sports funding secured  

A large number of projects are still in progress and the benefits should be realised before year end. We are still awaiting the outcome of the 

£20m bid to the governments Levelling Up Fund which focuses on new leisure and well-being facilities for Glossop. The Move More 

Development Officer is now in place. 

 

High quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health  

Areas for improvement: The number of fly-tipping incidents has improved again with 280 collections 

recorded to the end of Q3, compared to 310 last year.  The % of high risk premises (A-C) inspected 

per anum is currently off track as only 78 out of 86 inspections due by the end of December have 

been carried out  . The Q3 result for the % routine permitted process premises inspected is currently 

unavailable. 

 

Aim 1 areas for improvement and Priority Action updates can be viewed here 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 41

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/off_track_pis_and_priority_actions_aim_1_10.pdf


Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money 

Financial resilience and value for money 

 Improving collection rates across business, council tax, rent and sundry debt 

 98% of invoices paid on time 

 98.21% of internal audit recommendations were implemented in time 

 

        

 

Available services provided ‘right first time’ 

 50% of contacts made via the web 

 98 % complaints handled within timescales and no repeat complaints 

 51,294 OneVu Portal accounts 

 

Areas for improvement: FOI response times have increased due to the increase in the number and complexity of requests (653 to Q3).  The 

number of Twitter followers has decreased in Q3,Facebook followers have increased but only by 54 during the period . 

High performing and motivated workforce 

 Sickness absence : 5.01 days per FTE 

Sickness absence is now within target against a pro-rata target of 5.25 to the end 

of Q3. However the figures may be affected by winter related illness in the coming 

months. 

The new Organisational Development Strategy has been agreed, the action plan 

has been approved and consultants have been engaged to implement delivery.  

 

 

 

Staff Benefits Package 

A comprehensive Benefits Package has been developed 

for all staff . The brochure includes details of staff 

discount schemes, rewards and other benefits. The 

brochure was presented to ALT in December who will 

provide feedback ready to launch in the New Year.  

P
age 42



Effective use of assets 

Areas for improvement: It took an average of 61 days to re-let council 

stock during April to December . 195 properties have been let year to 

date, in December 13 properties were relet including a void that had 

been empty for 378 days and a hard to let property at 42 days.  Rent loss 

from vacant properties now stands at 1.11% against a target of 0.86%. 

The majority of the losses come from Marian Court, Church View and The 

Bungalow.  

  

Procurement with a focus on local business 

Areas for improvement: On-contract spend was below target at the end of Q3 but showed a slight improvement from Q2. The Procurement 

Team will be working with responsible officers to support them establishing on contract spend arrangements outside of using single source 

exemptions and to identify any gaps in the supply chain arrangements in the coming months. Further training and refresh programmes on 

procedure rules will also be rolled out. 

The % of procurement activity included on the forward plan has decreased from 44% to 41% this quarter, this remains below target and is still 

lower than last year. On plan activity has dropped due to a number of influences during  the first  quarters.  A high number of individual 

exercises have been completed off plan in relation to Central Government funding applications, special events and more complex capital 

projects to source specialist consultancies. We are reviewing all off-plan activity and looking ahead to Q4 in order to improve the on-plan 

activity reporting. 

Technology and innovation 

 100% of system and network availability 

The action plan for the new Digital IT Strategy has been approved ready for implementation alongside the OD and Access to Services Strategies 

Aim 2 areas for improvement and Priority Action updates can be viewed here 

 

 

Asset Management Plan Update: 

The data collection of the energy audits and stock condition 

elements is complete, the information will be used to compile 

the Asset Management plans. 

Glossop Cemetery – The construction phase is now complete, 

the project will be closed and handed back to the Cemeteries 

service. 

P
age 43

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/off_track_pis_and_priority_actions_aim_2_7.pdf


 

Aim 3: Support economic development and regeneration  

High quality development with an open for business approach 

 100% of major applications processed in time 

 86% 0f minor applications processed in time 

 1.7% of minor & other developments allowed on appeal 

Areas for Improvement: % Other development applications determined in time remains off track. This has partly been due to backlog 

applications being cleared. Additioanl staffing resource has been brought in to clear the backlog.The % of major developments allowed on 

appeal is also remains off track but has improved to 11% (target 10%) . The % is decreasing as more successful decisions are made off setting 

the single lost major appeal. 

Flourishing Town Centres and Business Support 

There were 1424 hits on the council’s business page to the end of Q3. The monthly council business newsletter continues to provide details of 

funding opportunities, training events and other relevant 

business news. 

Consideration for the operating model at Victoria Hall has 

been  included as part of the business case and grant 

application for the Levelling Up Funding bid which was 

submitted in August. 

 

Aim 3 areas for improvement and Priority Action updates can be viewed here 

Growth Strategy Update: 

Buxton future high street fund – Acquisition of the Springs has been 

scheduled for the end of December. A brief has been issued via the ESPO 

framework to appoint a professional team with bids required by 31.01.2023. 

Buxton HAZ – TDR consultants have been appointed to deliver the project. 

Upper floor grants are now being distributed. The marketing banners 

application is to be re-submitted. Homes England have agreed to 2 shopfront 

applications, works to be completed before March 31st 2023. 

P
age 44

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/off_track_pis_and_priority_actions_aim_3_5.pdf


 

Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment 

Quality Parks and Open Spaces  

Target date for the refurbishment of play areas at Simmondley in Glossop and Jodrell Road in Whaley Bridge is Easter 2023. A 

preferred supplier has been now appointed for Simmondley , final costs to be agreed for the 

wetpour surfacing. 

Effective recycling and waste management 

 301 kg of residual household waste (estimated data) 

Areas for improvement: The estimated recycling rate for Q3 is 45% against a target of 50% but 

confirmed tonnages are awaited from partners.  There were 37.25 missed bins per 100,000 

collections against a target of 36. Collections have been affected by operational issues over the 

Christmas period, additional measures are being put in place to improve the results.  

Meeting the challenge of climate change 

 275 reams of paper consumption 

Developing a climate change strategy and an action plan of response to a declared climate 

emergency: We have achieved Bronze accreditation for Carbon Literacy and are on track to 

achieve Silver accreditation once new staff are in post. Training has been delivered for Climate 

Change Champions within each service area. Meetings are held monthly with the climate change 

and Bio-Diversity Group which includes representatives from each relevant service. The High Peak 

Community day was held in October. We are delivering approx. £600k government funding for 

domestic energy efficiency to eligible households. We are working with Derbyshire Wildlife Trust 

to create ‘A Plan for Nature’. This includes  preparing the council for upcoming Biodiversity Net 

Gain legislation. We continue to be active members of Vision Derbyshire with workstreams 

including a climate consideration toolkit for planners, scoping the possibility of an retrofit service 

for domestic properties with occupants ineligible for government funding.  

Aim 4 areas for improvement and Priority Action updates can be viewed here 

Collective - digital transformation in 

action 

The collective project is now complete and the 

new waste collection system has been 

implemented across High Peak and Staffordshire 

Moorlands . 

A project review and handover meeting was held 

in December to ensure a smooth transition to the 

commissioning partner. AES will be attending 

future Bartec user group sessions to ensure 

maximum benefits from the system, and ensure 

ongoing project objectives are delivered: 

 Operational efficiency improvements. 

 Reduction in missed bins 

 Reduction in contamination 

 Minimisation of assisted collections and 

larger bin requests 

 Improved health and safety 

 Improved system integrations 

 Enhanced strategic vision 

 Off site hosting and future proofing 

 Greater levels of engagement with 

Members & Residents  

  

P
age 45

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/off_track_pis_and_priority_actions_aim_4_5.pdf


 

 

P
age 46



 

 

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
The Executive 

 
9 February 2023 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
Appendices Attached 

 Appendix A (Medium Term Financial Plan 2023/24 to 2026/27) 

 Appendix B (Capital Strategy 2023/24) 

 Appendix C (Fees & Charges 2023/24) 

 Appendix D (Procurement Forward Plan 2023/24) 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to present the proposed Budget for 2023/24, 

updated Medium-Term Financial Plan 2023/24 to 2026/27, Capital Strategy 
2023/24, proposed Fees and Charges for 2023/24, and Procurement Forward 

Plan 2023/24. 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Executive make the following recommendations to Council: 

 

 Approves the General Fund Budget for 2023/24 as detailed in Appendix 
A (section 9). 

 

 Approves the revised Medium-Term Financial Plan (2023/24 to 
2026/27) as detailed in Appendix A, including the revised Capital 

Programme (attached at Annex A). 
 

 Approves the Capital Strategy 2023/24 as set out in Appendix B. 
 

 Approves the proposed Fees and Charges for 2023/24 as detailed in 

Appendix C. 
 

TITLE: 2023/24 Budget & Medium Term Financial 

Plan 2023/24 to 2026/27 
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Alan Barrow – Executive Councillor for 
Finance & Corporate Services 

 
CONTACT OFFICERS: Martin Owen – Executive Director (Finance 

and Customer services) 

 Keith Pointon – Head of Finance  
   

WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 49

Agenda Item 5



 Approves the proposed Procurement Forward Plan for 2023/24, 
providing the Authority to procure based on procurement activity 
detailed in Appendix D. 

 

 Approves a Band D Council Tax of £211.36 for 2023/24 (an increase of 

£5.96 or 2.90% from 2022/23). 
 

 Approves the adoption of the Council Tax premium on second homes 

outlined s7.1.7 and the empty property premium for properties that have 
remained empty for 1 year s7.1.10. 

 

 HRA charges as follows: 

o All dwellings rents to increase by 5%, increasing the average rent 
from £73.96 to £77.78 per week (average rent takes into account 
new tenancies let over the previous year where the higher 

formula rent was charged. This gives an arithmetical increase of 
5.16%) 

o Garage rents to be increased by 5% from £7.86 to £8.26 average 
per week 

o Other Charges including service charges to increase by a 

maximum of 5% 
o Fuel charges at individual blocks have been reviewed and the 

2023/24 charge is based on the 2022/23 estimated costs and 
2021/22 actual fuel usage/prices, charged on an individual 
scheme basis. 

 

 Notes the Chief Finance Officer's view that the level of reserves are 

adequate for the Council, based on this budget and the circumstances 
in place at the time of preparing it (Appendix A Annex C). 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 This report makes recommendations to Council for the budget and the level of 
Council Tax for 2023/24. The report also provides an update on the Council’s 
medium-term financial position through to 2026/27. Additionally, it establishes 

an overarching Capital Strategy, sets out the fees and charges that are 
proposed for 2023/24, and details the Procurement Forward Plan 2023/24. 

3.2 The budget setting and medium term financial planning process provides the 
Council with the opportunity to plan its delivery of public services in 
accordance with local priorities. There are also risks around the outcomes of 

national funding reviews (i.e. fair funding; business rates retention; and new 
homes bonus) which may have a detrimental impact on the future financial 

position.  

3.3 The current four-year MTFP was updated in November 2022 to reflect further 
updated economic forecasts in order to begin to understand the medium term 

financial impact.  

3.4 This version of the MTFP updates the November forecasts, based on the 

provisional settlement information released in December, latest economic 

Page 50



forecasts, and assumptions around the timing and level of capital and revenue 
expenditure and income. 

3.5 The 2023/24 local government finance settlement had some positive news, 

with additional one-off grant funding, but it was a one-year settlement, which 
maintains a level of uncertainty in the Plan and makes medium term financial 

planning more difficult. 

3.6 A new Funding Guarantee was announced, the Council receives £446,120. 
The continuation of the Services Grant, which was new in 2022/23 has been 

confirmed for 2023/24, where this was uncertain previously - the Council’s 
share is £91,970. The Council also receives an allocation of £107,780 in 

Revenue Support Grant. Aside from the Funding Guarantee Grant, which is 
treated as a one-off, the plan assumes that these grants will be ongoing 
throughout the life of the MTFP.  

3.7 Lastly, the Council received £368,950 in New Homes Bonus for 2023/24. An 
assumption of the tapering of this grant is included in the following years of the 

MTFP. 

3.8 In terms of costs, the Council will incur costs higher than anticipated originally 
in setting the MTFP last year. The pay award for this year (2022/23) was 

£1,925 across all pay grades (an average of 6%) and is likely to be at least 4% 
next year. The current MTFP had anticipated a 2.50% pay increase. General 

inflation will also be higher than anticipated last year, with an average 
consolidated rate in the 2023/24 budget of 4.9%, rather than 3.5%. 

3.9 This leaves a balanced 2023/24 budget on both the revenue and capital side, 

but with greater uncertainty and risk in the MTFP for future years. Particularly 
so as the outcomes from the Government’s business rates review, fair funding 
review, or new homes bonus review remain unknown. 

3.10 In conjunction with stakeholders, the outputs of an ‘Ideas Lab’ exercise 
undertaken during the Autumn of 2022 are being developed and early 

expectations of the outputs of this to develop a new efficiency strategy are 
incorporated into this MTFP: a total of £550,000 is included in the plan, 
profiled across: 2023/24 £0, 2024/25 £150,000, 2025/26 £200,000, 2026/27 

£200,000. 

3.11 The financial settlement allows for a 3% in Council Tax. It should be noted that 

Treasury’s published figures do assume all Authorities maximise the increase. 
The way capping (or “referendum limits”) works, if the maximum increase is 
not taken then that opportunity is lost forever (there is no opportunity to catch 

up in subsequent years). Having completed the annual budget exercise, a 
balanced budget for 2023/24 has been achieved. The final General Fund 

budget proposal for 2023/24 provides for a net budget of £12,492,970 and a 
Council Tax increase of £5.96 on a Band D equivalent property (2.90%).  

3.12 Empty homes are a wasted resource at a time when there is increasing 

pressure to address housing and homelessness need. Changes are 
recommended to council tax premiums in line with proposals within the 

Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill 2022; adoption of the Council Tax premium 

Page 51



on second homes and the empty property premium for properties that have 
remained empty for 1 year. 

3.13 A new financial year (2026/27) has been added to the MTFP and the overall 

financial assumptions have been updated for the four years. It must be 
emphasised that there is a great deal of uncertainty in regard to this position, 

both from the uncertainty of outcomes of national funding reviews (i.e. fair 
funding; business rates retention; and new homes bonus) and the extremely 
high and volatile levels of inflation, interest rates as well as geo-political 

influences. 

3.14 The forecast predicts a balanced budget position by 2026/27 – on the basis 

that inflation and interest rates return to more normal levels and the Council 
can once again become self-sustainable (with minimal reliance on reserves) – 
albeit with the risks identified above. 

3.15 The final HRA budget proposal for 2023/24 provides for a net budget of 
£15,961,750. This is based on a Council Dwelling Rent increase of 5%. The 

maximum permissible increase in rent for 2023/24 was 11.1%, as measured 
by the Consumer Price Index (CPI) as at September 2022 plus 1%. The 
Government restricted the 2023/24 rent increase for existing tenants to no 

more than 7%. The difference between raising rents at 7% rather than 5% is 
£292k. 

3.16 The Capital Strategy and the Capital Programme have been updated and 
allow for additional investment in priority areas. The Medium Term Financial 
Plan includes an updated General Fund Capital Programme of £39,984,160 

over the period 2022/23 – 2026/27 and a HRA Capital Programme of 
£28,824,600 over the same period. 

3.17 The Procurement Forward Plan sets out details of the expected activity during 

2023/24.  
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 

effective management of financial resources, which is the subject of this 
report. 

 
5. Options and Analysis 

 

5.1 This report recommends a Council Tax level and associated budget, Medium 
Term Financial Plan, Capital Strategy (and future capital programme) and 

Fees & Charges for 2023/24 designed to best deliver the Council’s corporate 
priorities within a balanced budget. Other options are feasible, but any 
alternatives would need to identify the service and financial implications 

robustly in order to satisfy the Council’s Section 151 Officer (under the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988, section 114) of the need to deliver a balanced 

budget. 
 
6. Implications 

 

Page 52



6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
None 
 

6.2 Workforce 
None 

 
6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality and 

Diversity policies. An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been 
undertaken on the Corporate Plan, which feeds into budget plans. 

 
6.4 Financial Considerations 

There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 

report. 
 

6.5 Legal 
The Local Government Act 2000 states that it is the responsibility of the full 
Council, on the recommendation of the executive, to approve the budget and 

related council tax demand. The Local Government Act 2003, section 25 
requires the council’s Section 151 officer to report to the council on the 

robustness of the estimates made and the adequacy of the proposed financial 
reserves assumed in the budget calculations. The Local Government Finance 
Act 1988, section 114 requires the Section 151 officer to report to all of the 

Authority’s councillors if there is likely to be an unbalanced budget. 
 

6.6 Sustainability 

An earmarked reserve has been established to support with climate change 
related activities. Climate Change considerations are indirectly included in 

many aspects of the MTFP – including capital programme projects focused on 
Council buildings and vehicle purchases, as well as being a consideration in 
procurement activity reflected in the Forward Plan. These are highlighted, 

wherever possible, in the MTFP report itself. 
 

6.7 
 

Internal and External Consultation 
The Council’s budget plans have been subject to a consultation. 
 

6.8 

 

Risk Assessment 

A full risk analysis has been undertaken which is contained within the plan. 
 
 

Page 53



MARTIN OWEN 
Executive Director (Finance and Customer Services (s151)) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

 

Various background working papers 
 

Moorlands House 
 

Martin Owen 

Martin.Owen@highpeak.gov.uk 
07581 030522 
 
Keith Pointon 
Head of Finance 
Keith.Pointon@staffsmoorlands.gov.
uk 
01538 395400 Ext. 4193 

 

 

 
 

Page 54

mailto:Martin.Owen@highpeak.gov.uk


 

  

APPENDIX A 
 

 
 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 

 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN  
 

2023/24 to 2026/27 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
February 2023 

Page 55



 

  

INDEX 
 

 
1. Introduction 

 

2. Strategic Priorities 
 

3. Current Spending Levels 
 

4. Pandemic, global issues and inflationary impact 

 
5. Transformation Programme 

5.1. Introduction 
5.2. Capital Strategy  
5.3. Capital Programme  

5.4. Housing Revenue Account Review  
5.5. Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy 

5.6. Major Contracts 
 

6. Financial Forecasts 

6.1. Interest Rates 
6.2. Inflationary Projections 

6.3. Budgetary Demand 
6.4. Budget Growth 
6.5. Pensions 

6.6. HRA - Other Operating Expenditure 
 

7. Funding & Income Generation 

7.1. Council Tax  
7.2. Business Rates Retention  

7.3. Collection Fund 
7.4. Income from Government Grants 

7.5. Fees & Charges 
 

8. Risks, Contingencies & Use of Reserves  

 
9. Budget 2023/24 

 
10. MTFP Revenue Position  

10.1. General Fund Revenue Position 

10.2. HRA Revenue Position 
 

11. Consultation 
 
 

Annex A Proposed Capital Programme 
Annex B  MTFP Principal Risks 

Annex C Chief Finance Officer Review of Contingencies/ Reserves 
Annex D Proposed Revenue Budget (General Fund & HRA) 
 

Page 56



 

  

1. Introduction 

 

1.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is a key element of the Council’s 
budget and policy frameworks. It aims to ensure that resources are directed 

effectively and efficiently towards delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan. It 
describes the financial direction of the Council for planning purposes and 
outlines the financial pressures the Council is likely to experience over the next 

four years.   
 

1.2. The medium-term financial planning process establishes how available 
resources will be allocated to services in line with the Council’s priorities which 
have been determined following consultation with residents, councillors, and 

other stakeholders. The process facilitates the Council in planning the prudent 
management of its finances, in building resilience and in providing for the needs 

of residents over the long term.   
 

1.3. The MTFP is updated regularly to fit in with the budget cycle. This review of the 

MTFP builds on the existing plan and updates assumptions to reflect known 
changes to income, costs, and funding. The plan incorporates revenue and 

capital financial projections over the four years 2023/24 to 2026/27.  It also 
includes an assessment of key risks and a presentation of longer-term financial 
issues that have the potential to impact on the Council.  

 

1.4.  The Council will demonstrate economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in the 

application of its resources. Value for Money (VFM) is maximised when there is 
an optimum balance between economy, efficiency, and effectiveness. 

 

 Economy: the price the Council pays for providing its services  

 Efficiency: how much the Council gets out of what’s put in (productivity)  

 Effectiveness: value of the impact achieved (quantitative or qualitative)  
 

 
2. Strategic Priorities 

 

2.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan is driven by local priorities. The Council’s 
spending strategy is set out in the Corporate Plan formally adopted by 

members of the Council. 
 

2.2. The delivery of the Corporate Plan is measured through the Performance 

Framework and monitored using a set of local performance indicators and 
targets established for the coming year. The Medium Term Financial Plan 

reflects the contents of the plan ensuring that resources are directed towards 
key priorities.  
 

2.3. The Council’s vision is expressed as:    
 

“Working together to protect and invest in the High Peak with the Council on 

your side” 
 

 This vision is articulated further by four aims: 
 

Page 57



 

  

 Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak 

 A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward thinking council 

 Protect and create jobs in the High Peak by supporting economic growth, 
development & regeneration 

 Protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate 
emergency 

 
2.4. The first aim recognises that the Council has a broader role and must work with 

partners to deliver more holistic outcomes. The second aim commits to the 
continuous improvement of services and reinforces the desire to provide value 
for money. 

 
2.5. The third and fourth aims form the additional ambitions of the Council which 

continue to be focused around supporting the development of the local 

economy and protecting the environment. 
 

2.6. These aims are supported by several objectives which also provide the 
framework for the delivery of service plans. The Council’s objectives are 
summarised below:  

 

 Aim Objectives 

 
1 

Supporting our 
communities to 
create a healthier, 
safer, cleaner High 

Peak 

 Effective relationship with strategic partners 

 Effective provision of high-quality public amenities, clean streets and 
environmental health 

 Fit for purpose housing that meets the need of tenants and residents 

 Practical support of community safety arrangements 

 Provision of high-quality leisure facilities both in formal leisure 
centres and swimming pools and out in our communities 

 Work with our partners and the community to address health 
inequality, food and fuel poverty, mental health and loneliness 

 
2 

A responsive, smart, 
financially resilient 

and forward thinking 
Council 

 
 

 Ensure our future financial resilience can be financially sustainable 
whilst offering value for money 

 Ensure our services are readily available to all our residents in the 
appropriate channels and provided “right first time” 

 Invest in our staff to ensure we have the internal expertise to deliver 
our plans by supporting our high performing and well-motivated 
workforce 

 More effective use of Council assets to benefit our communities 

 Effective procurement with a focus on local businesses 
 Use innovation, technology, and partnership with others to help 

improve the efficiency of services, improve customer satisfaction, 
and reduce our impact on the environment 

 
3 

Protect and create 
jobs in the High 

Peak by supporting 
economic 

growth, development 
& regeneration 

 Encourage business start-ups and enterprises 
 Work to create flourishing town centres and thriving high streets that 

support the local economy 

 Promote tourism to maximise local benefit 

 High quality development and building control with an “open for 
business approach” 

 Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, 
businesses, and visitors 

 Working to support existing local businesses, both large and small 
across the High Peak as they respond to future challenges 

Page 58



 

  

 Aim Objectives 

 Supporting the development of innovative green jobs and 
businesses across the High Peak 

 
4 

Protect and Improve 
the Environment 

including responding 
to the climate 
emergency 

 Effective recycling and waste management 

 Effective provision of quality parks and open spaces 

 Meeting the challenge of climate change and working with residents 
and business across the High Peak to implement the climate change 
action plan 

 
2.7. The Council is committed to playing the lead role in championing the local area. 

Fulfilling this role means influencing partners in a number of key areas, such 
high-speed internet, cycle routes, reducing the carbon footprint and making 
better use of public assets. This ensures that services are shaped and 

delivered around the needs and aspirations of citizens. The Council also seeks 
to influence its partners by working with the private sector on regeneration 

schemes; maintaining the provision of accessible health and social care and 
supporting the police in dealing with anti-social behaviour, alongside other 
projects. 

 
2.8. The Plan identifies key priority outcomes, which are the highest priority in the 

development of performance targets and key actions.  A significant proportion 
of the Council’s resources are directed towards achieving them:  

 

Aim Priority Outcomes 

Supporting our communities 
to create a healthier, safer, 

cleaner High Peak 

 Improved housing repairs service 

 Improved private sector housing 
conditions 

 Increased supply of affordable housing 

 Increased level of community support 

A responsive, smart, 
financially resilient and 

forward thinking Council 

 

 Increased use of local firms through 
procurement 

 Provision of more apprenticeships 

 Increased levels of customer 
satisfaction 

 Better engagement with our local 
communities 

Protect and create jobs in 
the High Peak by supporting 

economic growth, 

development & regeneration 

 Increased economic growth 

 Higher paid employment 

 New tourism opportunities 

 Thriving and flourishing town centres 
and high streets 

Protect and improve the 
environment including 

responding to the climate 
emergency 

 Reduction in carbon emissions 

 Reduced levels of environmental crime 

 Appropriate response to the climate 
emergency declaration through a 
deliverable plan 

 

Page 59



 

  

2.9. The Council maintains a Strategic Alliance with Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council, formed around the principle of shared services in the pursuit of 

efficiency and realisation of savings. The Strategic Alliance has enabled the 
implementation and transformation of a joint management structure and 

services, realising significant efficiency savings. The Council intends to 
continue to drive savings and service improvements through collaboration with 
its Alliance partner. 
 

3. Current Spending Levels 

 
3.1. The starting point for the development of the MTFP is the current level of 

spending and the approved capital expenditure commitments. However, as this 

report is written prior to the end of the current year, these baselines will be 
revisited as the outturns are crystallised. 

 
General Fund Revenue Budget   

 

3.2. The Council’s current year (2022/23) General Fund budget can be summarised 
as follows: 
 

Income and Expenditure 
2022/23 
Budget 

  £ 

Employees 11,017,950 

Premises 4,499,040 

Transport 421,640 

Supplies & Services 9,855,220 

Benefits            82,460 

Borrowing 1,711,950 

Parish Grant 33,800 

Financing Costs 22,130 

  

Total Expenditure 27,644,190 
   

Fees and Charges / Other Income (7,188,290) 

Interest Receipts (103,670) 

Capital Recharges (231,240) 

HRA Recharges (8,285,860) 
   

Net Expenditure 11,835,130 

   

 

3.3. The net expenditure is financed as follows:  
 

Financing 
2022/23 

Budget 

  £ 

Council Tax (6,437,650) 

New Homes Bonus (675,210) 

Lower Tier Services/ Services Grants (269,430) 

Business Rates Retention (4,447,310) 

Page 60



 

  

Collection Fund  433,290 

Contribution to / (from) Reserves & Balances (438,820) 

Total Financing (11,835,130) 
   

  
Housing Revenue Account Budget   

 
3.4. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a ‘ring-fenced’ account that ensures 

the management and maintenance of the Council’s housing stock is funded 
from the income generated by rents and other related sources.  
 

3.5. The Council’s current year (2022/23) Housing Revenue Account budget can be 
summarised as follows:  

 

Budget Heading 
2022/23 

Budget 

  £ 

Repairs & Maintenance 4,664,260 

Supervision & Management 2,804,230 

Rates, Rents, Taxes, Charges 109,130 

Other Operating Expenditure 806,290 

Depreciation & Impairment Charges 2,099,030 

Interest & Debt Management Charges 2,264,210 

HRA Contribution to Capital Programme 4,543,790 

Total Expenditure 17,290,940 

  Dwellings Rents (14,714,840) 

Non - Dwelling Rents & Other Income (682,030) 

Total Income (15,396,870) 

  Original (Surplus) / Deficit for year 1,894,070 

 
3.6. Following approval to carry forward capital schemes of £160,900 from 2021/22, 

this brought the 2022/23 budget to a deficit of £2,054,970 and will be supported 
by reserves. 
 

General Fund Capital Budget 
 

3.7. The medium-term projection for General Fund capital commitments approved 
by Council in February 2022 is detailed below: 
 

Service Area  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Housing  100,000 374,000 504,000 504,000 504,000 1,986,000 

Asset Management  2,784,780 6,513,570 1,676,300 322,580 2,539,250 13,836,480 
Housing Grants 519,110 489,110 489,110 489,110 489,110 2,475,550 

ICT Strategy 47,830 20,000 50,000 50,000 50,480 218,310 

Fleet Management 499,470 1,354,270 697,920 23,990     967,160  3,542,810 
Regeneration  792,060 10,138,280 1,304,000 860,000 400,000 13,494,340 

Other Schemes 208,980 283,000     150,000               -                 -    641,980 
Total Revised Programme  4,952,230 19,172,230 4,871,330 2,249,680 4,950,000 36,195,470 

Page 61



 

  

Service Area  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Financed by:-             
External Contributions  2,220,110 8,737,220 966,110 489,110     489,110  12,901,660 

Planning Obligations  51,000 243,000 150,000              -                 -    444,000 

Capital Receipts (Land)  210,000 2,900,000              -     1,236,820  3,954,890 8,301,710 
Capital Receipts (one for 
one) 100,000 374,000 504,000 504,000 504,000 1,986,000 

Capital Receipts (Vehicles)  14,000 50,250 23,000 19,750 2,000 109,000 
Revenue Reserves  800,000              -                 -                 -                 -    800,000 

Earmarked Reserves  56,500              -                 -                 -                 -    56,500 

Borrowing 1,500,620 6,867,760 3,228,220              -                 -    11,596,600 
Total Revised Financing  4,952,230 19,172,230 4,871,330 2,249,680  4,950,000  36,195,470 

 

Housing Revenue Account Capital Budget 
 
3.8. The medium-term projection for Housing Revenue Account capital 

commitments approved by Council in February 2022 was as follows: 
 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Total 

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Asset Management works 5,368,490 5,543,820 4,703,120 4,242,320 4,063,820 23,921,570 
Repairs Team Capital  240,000 279,000 295,000 295,000 366,000 1,475,000 
Commissioning Costs 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000 
Asset Purchases 140,750 500,000      234,830                   -                     -    875,580 
ICT Strategy                  -    100,000 88,000                  -                     -    188,000 
Repurchase Dwellings  546,420 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 1,346,420 
Total Programme 6,395,660 6,722,820 5,620,950 4,837,320 4,729,820 28,306,570 

              
Major Repairs Reserve 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 2,099,030 10,495,150 
HRA Contribution 3,876,220 4,543,790 3,441,920 2,658,290 2,550,790 17,071,010 
Capital Receipts  349,130 80,000 80,000 80,000 80,000 669,130 
External Contributions  71,280                  -                     -                     -                     -    71,280 
Total Financing 6,395,660 6,722,820 5,620,950 4,837,320 4,729,820 28,306,570 

 
3.9. HRA balances were forecast to total £16.545 million at the end of 2021/22. 

 
4. Pandemic, global issues and inflationary impacts 

 
4.1. The impact of the Coronavirus pandemic has receded from the position in 2021 

with the removal of all Government restrictions on public behaviour. The effects 

on the Council  continue to be monitored.   
 

4.2. The Covid-19 earmarked reserve has a balance of £250,000 to continue to 
support with the financial impact on the Council. 
 

4.3. The UK exit from the European Union continues to have an impact on the 
supply chain and consequently inflation. 
 

4.4. The impacts of the conflict in Ukraine continue to be felt globally, fuelling 
inflation in the energy markets, and contributing to supply chain issues which 

have a significant effect on the Council’s finances.  

Page 62



 

  

 
4.5. The impact of recession, high inflation, increasing interest rates and cuts in 

Government spending all have an impact on the Council’s finances and 
demand for services. These risks are reflected in the assumptions made in this 

iteration of the MTFP. 
 
 

5. Transformation Programme 
 
5.1.   Introduction 

 
5.1.1. The delivery of transformation programme projects is monitored by a 

Transformation Board made up of Directors, along with key Heads of Service 
and officers. A Director is allocated as ‘project executive’ and a full business 
case appraisal is completed for each project. 

 
5.1.2. The progress and current financial projections of the transformation 

programme are explored below along with any potential revenue 
consequences.  Any further work required to identify the financial implications 
of the programme are discussed and will feed into future MTFP updates. 

 

5.2. Capital Strategy 

 

5.2.1. In accordance with the requirements of the 2017 edition of the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code for 

Capital Finance in Local Authorities, the Capital Strategy has been updated 
for 2023/24. 
 

5.2.2. The Strategy, which is being presented to members alongside this report, 
explains how capital expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line 

with the Council’s Corporate Plan and service objectives, taking account of 
stewardship, value for money, prudence, risk management, sustainability, and 
affordability. 

 
5.2.3. The Capital Strategy is detailed in APPENDIX B. 

 

5.3. Capital Programme  
 

General Fund Capital Programme 

 

5.3.1. The Capital Programme presented to Members in February 2022 has been 
reviewed, re-profiled and updated to reflect the latest position in terms of 
capital projections to 31st March 2027. The five-year capital programme 

(including the current year 2022/23) is forecast at £39,984,160. 
 

5.3.2. The latest capital projections, specifically identifying the major schemes, are 
summarised in the table below.  Full detail is attached in Annex A. 

 

Service Area  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Page 63



 

  

Service Area  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Housing  374,000 504,000 504,000 504,000 504,000 2,390,000 
Asset Management  4,136,530 4,782,680 1,561,580 1,829,490 383,620 12,693,900 
Housing Grants 519,110 555,000 555,000 555,000 555,000 2,739,110 

ICT Strategy 73,940 50,000 62,780 50,480             -    237,200 
Fleet Management 925,960 1,444,490 119,500 1,214,100  1,754,990  5,459,040 
Leisure  118,220 2,307,370     100,000              -                -    2,525,590 

Regeneration  10,940,500 1,898,070 1,100,750             -                -    13,939,320 
Total Revised Programme  17,088,260 11,541,610 4,003,610 4,153,070 3,197,610 39,984,160 
Financed by:-             

External Contributions  9,706,590 2,313,500 555,000 555,000 555,000 13,685,090 
Planning Obligations  15,000 170,980             -                -                -    185,980 
Capital Receipts (Land)  45,000 1,000,000  1,900,000  3,057,070 2,138,610 8,140,680 

Capital Receipts (one for one) 374,000 504,000 504,000 504,000 504,000 2,390,000 
Capital Receipts (Vehicles)  90,750 114,750 5,500 37,000             -    248,000 
Borrowing 6,856,920 7,438,380 1,039,110             -                -    15,334,410 

Total Revised Financing  17,088,260 11,541,610 4,003,610 4,153,070  3,197,610  39,984,160 

 

5.3.3. The capital projections above include the carry forward from 2021/22 of 
£333,830 as approved by The Executive in October 2022. 

 
Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme 

 
5.3.4. The Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme approved by members in 

February 2022 has been reviewed, re-profiled and updated to reflect the latest 

position in terms of capital projections to 31st March 2027.  The five-year 
programme (including the current year 2022/23) is forecast at £28,824,600.  
 

5.3.5. The latest capital projections, specifically identifying the major schemes, are 
summarised in the table below. Full detail is attached in ANNEX A.  

Scheme 
 Budget 

2022/23 

Budget 

2023/24 

Budget 

2024/25 

Budget 

2025/26 

Budget 

2026/27 
Total 

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Asset Management works 5,680,730 5,800,520 5,052,000 4,932,000 4,832,000 26,297,250 

Repairs Team Capital works 65,980             -                   -                   -                 -    65,980 

Commissioning Costs 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000 

Vehicle Replacements  706,860 23,480                -                   -                 -    730,340 

ICT Strategy               -    100,000 88,000                -                 -    188,000 

Repurchase Dwellings  243,030 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 1,043,030 

Total Programme 6,796,600 6,224,000 5,440,000 5,232,000 5,132,000 28,824,600 

              

Major Repairs Reserve 2,268,000 2,182,000 2,182,000 2,182,000 2,182,000 10,996,000 

HRA Contribution 4,200,680 3,842,000 3,058,000 2,850,000 2,750,000 16,700,680 

External Funding ( LAD)  84,890             -                   -                   -                 -    84,890 

Capital Receipts  243,030 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 1,043,030 

Total Financing 6,796,600 6,224,000 5,440,000 5,232,000 5,132,000 28,824,600 

 

5.3.6. The capital projections above include the carry forward of £160,900 from 
2021/22 as approved by The Executive in October 2022.- 

Page 64



 

  

 
  Asset Management Plan (AMP) – General Fund   

 
5.3.7. It is essential that the Council maintains an asset base that delivers the 

ambitions of the Corporate Plan – however, this needs to be affordable.  The 
Capital Strategy sets out the proposed outcomes and actions, including the 
potential capital and revenue financial implications of maintaining the Council’s 

current property assets over a 30 year period, as summarised below:- 
 

HPBC - Capital Investment Required (as 

at July 2016) 

2016-17 - 
2019-20 
(MTFP) 

2020-21 - 
2045-46 (26 

Years) 
TOTAL 

Public Buildings 8,450,983 6,188,951 14,639,934 

Car Parks 120,000 3,754,462 3,874,462 

Public Conveniences 123,400 949,300 1,072,700 

Waterways & Infrastructure Assets 671,360 1,230,000 1,901,360 

Leisure Centres 45,000 6,825,129 6,870,129 

Depots and Parks Buildings 144,700 1,301,785 1,446,485 

TOTAL 9,555,443 20,249,627 29,805,070 
    
Revenue Consequences  295,619 592,838 888,457 

 
 

 
5.3.8. The table below reflects the updated capital investment requirements as at 

February 2023, adjusted for 2021/22 actual outturn and any in-year re-profiling 

that has taken place and changes to spending plans.  This amends the overall 
forecast capital spend by £6,872,900 over the 30 years from the original 

position.  
HPBC AMP Capital 

Investment  
2016-17 
(Actuals) 

2017-18 
(Actuals) 

2018-19 
(Actuals) 

2019-20 
(Actuals) 

2020-21 
(Actuals) 

2021-22 
(Actuals) 

MTFP 
   2027-28 
to 2046-47 

TOTAL 

              
   2022-23 
to 2025-26 

 2026-
27    

(19 Years)    

  £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Public Buildings 339,450 2,124,080 2,362,860 1,301,200 451,160 2,047,648 8,838,700 283,620 3,640,497 21,389,215 

Car Parks - 87,080 39,530 43,070 637,480 134,737 354,520 - 2,346,219 3,642,636 

Public Conveniences - 4,970               -                 -                 -    - 400,000 - 486,200 891,170 

Waterw ays Infrastructure 51,280 170,680 29,640 224,960 12,700 111,111 830,510 100,000 681,830 2,212,711 

Leisure Centres 540 72,850 26,510 14,670 139,600 219,083 679,380 - 4,631,620 5,784,253 

Depots Parks Cemeteries - 5,400      19,050  54,030 156,000 318,981 1,207,170 - 997,354 2,757,985 

Total 391,270 2,465,060 2,477,590 1,637,930 1,396,940 2,831,560 12,310,280 383,620 12,783,720 36,677,970 

Revenue Consequences    18,740 75,050 73,550 66,080 293,070 515,600 129,600 399,350 1,571,040 

 

5.3.9. The Council is developing an Asset Management Strategy to ensure the future 
delivery of efficient asset management. This work is being progressed 

following the recent completion of condition surveys which have provided the 
30-year costs of maintaining the general fund asset stock.  The above will 
then be reset. 

 
5.3.10. Any positive revenue implications of the asset management strategy, for 

example, reduced annual maintenance and utility costs due to fewer and/or 
more efficient buildings and income receipts from shared accommodation with 
partners will be taken towards the efficiency programme.   

Page 65



 

  

 
  Housing Grants   

 

5.3.11. The Borough Council is the duty holder under the Housing Grants, 
Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 for the mandatory Disabled Facilities 
Grant.  The funding for these adaptations is incorporated into the Better Care 

Fund (BCF) and paid initially to the County Council (and is then passed on to 
the borough council).  

 
5.3.12. The Better Care Fund is a single pooled fund for all health and social care 

provision and covers the whole range of services including public health, 

social care services and clinical commissioning groups.  
 

5.3.13. The mechanism for the payment of funds from the fund holder to the Borough 
Council year on year is now governed through the BCF Commissioning 
Group, which makes the award based on the Assurance Plans submitted 

annually by each Council.  The Plans outline how the allocated budget will be 
spent and requires a quarterly progress update submission. These updates 

inform the discussion around the subsequent year’s allocation.  
 
5.3.14. Government funding has increased each year since 2015/16. The Disabled 

Facility reserve at the end of 2021/22 was £1.027m.  A new service provider 
and fundamental changes to the way the DFG programme will be put in place 

from 1st April 2023. It is intended that the new arrangements will enable a 
wider range of grant options to be delivered; offer more advice and improved 
promotional activities, to increase user uptake. 

 

ICT Strategy  
 

5.3.15. An updated IT Strategy is being developed currently, alongside an 
Organisational Development Strategy and Access to Services Strategy.  The 

aim is to drive a change in culture and deliver the systems, processes and 
skills required in an environment where information is shared seamlessly 
through connected systems.  This will potentially reduce the costs of services 

through optimisation, improving online services and enabling customers to 
self-serve.  This will also reduce manual administrative tasks, removing paper 

processes and allowing Officers to focus on high-value tasks. 
 
5.3.16. Consequently, estimated requirements have been included within the MTFP.  

There are other projects at initial business case or procurement stage 
currently. More accurate costings of these will be developed as business 

cases progress. 
 

5.3.17. There is also £450,000 set aside in an earmarked reserve which was 

established to support with the implementation of the ICT Strategy. 

 
Fleet Management 
 

5.3.18. The Council’s Fleet management service is now provided by Alliance 
Environmental Services (AES) including procurement, whereas the 

responsibility for funding fleet acquisitions remains with the Council.  The 

Page 66



 

  

capital programme contains a forward plan of fleet replacement requirements 
based on estimates of the useful lives of the existing fleet and future business 

needs. 
 

5.3.19. For the purposes of this report, it has been assumed that all replacement 
vehicle requirements over the next four years will be funded via direct capital 
purchase, but this will be subject to further funding options appraisals prior to 

purchase. In response to the climate emergency, the use of clean fuel and 
greater efficiency is a key investment concern.  

 

5.3.20. The proceeds from the sale of vehicles will be used to fund future purchases 
and, where possible, funds are set aside and held within an earmarked 

reserve for the purpose of funding short-life capital purchase such as fleet. 
This further reduces the overall cost of financing the vehicle fleet by reducing 

borrowing costs. 
 

 New/Other Capital Commitments   

 
5.3.21. The below provides details and estimated costs of new capital schemes which 

the Council is aiming to progress during the 4 year MTFP period as well as 
any other potential schemes being developed where further work is required 
to estimate costings: 

 
- Levelling Up Fund (LUF)  £3,000,000  

The bid for Levelling Up funding in Glossop was unsuccessful in the Round 
2 programme. However, the funds set aside in earmarked reserves for this 
bid are to be retained for a potential bid under a proposed round 3. 

 
- Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS) £1,457,000 

Funding of £1,281,500 has been secured under the above initiative for   
energy efficiency works at Buxton Pool. (Matched funding of 12% 
(£175,500) is required.) 
 

- Cemetery Road Football & Community Hub £438,870 
The Council has committed funding towards the above project which 
includes work to enhance playing pitches and the rebuilding to modern 

standards of the community facility hub. 
    

- Glossop Halls Project £1,416,320  

Additional unbudgeted cost; identified following the completion of the 
second stage tender process with the contractor.    

 
- Move More Capital Fund £200,000 

Additional allocation; available to support requests for funding of 

improvements to small outdoor facilities. 
  

- Fairfield Roundabout 
The latest estimate of total project costs is £3.972million against confirmed 
Homes England (HIF) funding of £2.449million. In order to address the 

shortfall, the Council made a bid of £1.51million to the Devolution Capital 

Page 67



 

  

Fund.  An Outline Business Case was submitted, which has been reviewed; 
the Council has been advised that the funding has been approved, although 

the grant offer letter has still to be received the anticipated funding has been 
built into this update of the MTFP  
 

- Delivery Programme / Land Disposal  

It is likely that there will be costs incurred associated with delivering the 
Council’s accelerated housing programme and land disposal strategy.  

However, these are to be assessed based on each scheme (and may be 
revenue costs rather than capital costs) therefore no provision is included in 
the capital programme. 

 
   Financing the Capital Programme   

 
5.3.22. The capital programme is funded from several streams, including external 

grants and contributions from third parties; capital receipts from asset sales as 

part of the asset management plan and sale of council dwellings; earmarked 
revenue reserves and a planned annual contribution from the Housing 

Revenue Account to finance construction of and improvements to council 
dwellings. 

 

5.3.23. Borrowing is undertaken to fund the shortfall after other capital resources have 
been used. The current General Fund capital programme includes estimates 

of external funding £13.87m; capital receipts of £10.77m; and The Housing 
Revenue Capital Programme is fully funded from reserves of £27.69m; capital 
receipts and external grants of £1.12m.  

 

5.3.24. Where no other resources can be applied, borrowing becomes the funding 

option for the programme.  The Council’s estimated General Fund borrowing 
requirement over the 4 years is shown below (there is no borrowing 
requirement for the HRA): 

 
 

5.3.25. T
h
e

 Treasury Management Strategy then considers whether this is funded 
externally or internally - both options have a consequence on revenue either 

through reduced investment income or increased external interest liability as 
highlighted in the table below.  

 

5.3.26. The capital receipts applied to the General Fund include the one-for-one right-
to-buy element used to fund capital expenditure on new housing properties.  

Under Government guidelines, these receipts can only represent 40% of 
overall expenditure, with a further 60% being required to be allocated.  The 
current strategy is to fund this via a third party where possible, i.e. a social 

housing landlord or developer, with the third party organisation providing the 
additional 60% expenditure.  Direct property purchases are also being 

pursued where there is a business case for doing so. 
 

General Fund 
Borrowing 

Requirement 
 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

 £ £ £ £ 
Total 7,438,380 1,039,110 - - 
     

Page 68



 

  

5.3.27. The HRA can also apply capital receipts which are not subject to the same 
restrictions as the one for one receipts to the overall capital programme.     

 

5.3.28. It is proposed to utilise reserves allocated for capital spend (where possible) 

where an options appraisal on the acquisition of short-life assets such as 
vehicles, plant and equipment has been carried out and suggests that the 
most financially viable option is to outright purchase.  Similarly, an increase in 

the contribution to capital is proposed where it is best value to do so for the 
HRA.  

 
  Revenue Consequences of the Capital Programme 

 

5.3.29. The capital investment proposals above will result in estimated revenue 
consequences as follows: 
 

Revenue Consequences 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

 £ £ £ £ 

Borrowing Costs 127,600 158,310 20,780 0 
Other (Income)/Expenditure (337,490) (273,230) (202,340) (192,100) 
General Fund (209,890) (114,920) (181,560) (192,100) 
     

HRA Contribution to Capital (701,790) (784,000) (208,000) (100,000) 
Borrowing Costs - - - - 
Housing Revenue Account (701,790) (784,000) (208,000) (100,000) 
     

 

5.4. Housing Revenue Account (HRA) review   
 

5.4.1. This report summarises the latest financial forecasts and provides a detailed 
indicative summary of the financial position from 2023/24 to 2026/27. 
APPENDIX C illustrates the latest high level financial summary of the HRA 

Business Plan. 
 

5.4.2. The HRA Business Plan highlighted several key issues and challenges, for 
example: impact of welfare reforms, understanding tenant priorities, 
considering the outcomes of estate regeneration reviews, prioritising decent 

homes standard failures and development of new stock.   
 

5.4.3. A fundamental review of the HRA Business Plan is in the work programme, 

incorporating a review of the approach towards reducing borrowing debt 
(given that the Council provides for a voluntary debt provision of more than the 

minimum required currently) and the need for any new efficiency plan. The 
impact of this and future rent decisions will feature in the review of the HRA’s 
long term outlook.    
 

5.5. Efficiency & Rationalisation Programme  
 

General Fund Efficiency Programme 
 

5.5.1. The current Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy was approved by 
Members in February 2017 and finished in 2021/22. It had the effect of both 

reducing expenditure and increasing income. The need to grow income is now 
more of a priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing 

Page 69



 

  

(that is, not reliant on direct government funding such as revenue support 
grant).  

 
5.5.2. The strategy was developed with the underlying principles of protecting 

frontline service delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable 
the Council to ensure that its service spending is determined by the 
established priorities set out in the Corporate Plan. It focused primarily on 

major procurements, the asset management plan, growth, income generation 
and rationalisation.  

 

5.5.3. In conjunction with stakeholders, the outputs of an ‘Ideas Lab’ exercise 
undertaken during the Autumn of 2022 are being developed and expectations 

of the outputs of this to produce a new strategy are incorporated into this 
MTFP. A total of £550,000 is included in the plan, profiled across: 2023/24 £0, 

2024/25 £150,000, 2025/26 £200,000, and 2026/27 £200,000. 
 
5.5.4. The Authority carries a longstanding reserve earmarked to support the 

Efficiency Strategy which can be drawn on to offset one-off costs of delivering 
the efficiency programme. The reserve stands at £200,000. It has not been 

necessary to draw on this reserve in previous years, so it remains intact to 
underwrite performance against future savings targets in the Efficiency 
Programme. 
 

5.6. Major Contracts 

 
  Alliance Environmental Services 

 

5.6.1. Alliance Environmental Services (AES) delivers waste, fleet, street cleansing 
and grounds maintenance services to both High Peak Borough Council and 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council. The company has three 
shareholders: High Peak Borough Council, Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council and Ansa, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire East 

Council.  
 

5.6.2. The contract fee for 2023/24 has been established pending discussions 
between the Council and AES.  The contract fee has been calculated based 
on the base current year contract fee plus future inflation/growth items less 

forecast savings achieved.   
 

5.6.3. Change demand items flagged by AES which will affect the management fee 
include: national pay award in excess of previous assumptions; fuel inflation 
demand; impact of the Melandra depot; and cessation of the gully cleansing 

amenity maintenance contract. 
 

  Alliance Norse Limited 
 
5.6.4. A Joint Venture has been created between Norse Commercial Services 

Limited (a trading arm of the Norse Group which is wholly owned by Norfolk 
County Council) (75% ownership), High Peak Borough Council (12.5% 

ownership), and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (12.5% ownership) to 

Page 70



 

  

deliver housing repairs, capital investment and facilities management services 
across the Councils’ property assets. Phase 1 of the project to deliver 

corporate cleaning and caretaking service went live on 1st April 2022; and 
phase 2 for the delivery of the remainder of the services on 4th July 2022. 

 
5.6.5. The management fee for 2023/24 has been set in conjunction with Norse and 

is uplifted from the current year fee by indices in accordance with the contract 

for costs in repairs, cleaning, and caretaking; labour and salary costs are 
estimated pending the pay award settlement for the year. At this early stage in 

the relationship, the budget will be monitored against actuals and adjustments 
discussed should the need arise. 

 

6. Financial Forecasts 
 

6.1. Interest Rates 
 

6.1.1. The Bank of England base rate has increased several times in quick 
succession since the start of the financial year: to 1.00% on 5th May 2022 

(from 0.75% previously); then again to 1.25% on 16th June; to 1.75% on 4th 
August, to 2.25% on 22nd September, to 3.00% on 3rd November, and again to 
3.50% on 15th December. 

 
6.1.2. The latest medium term forecast from Link1 (19th December 2022) shows 

continuing rises throughout 2022 and into 2023, peaking at 4.50%, with a 
reduction back to 2.50% by September 2025. The forecast is being reviewed 
by Link constantly during the year due to the extreme volatility in the current 

climate with so many outside influences impacting decisions of the Monetary 
Policy Committee in setting interest rates.  

 
6.1.3. A previous (September 2022) version of the forecast had bank rates peaking 

at 5.00%, but market expectations have calmed since then and the views of 

the Link Interest Rate Strategy Group recalibrated accordingly. However, it is 
noted that challenges lie ahead (i.e. the tight labour market, sustainable 

economic growth and geopolitical events) could see the Bank leave rates at 
an elevated level for longer, once the peak is reached. 
 

6.1.4. Forecast PWLB rates have also increased during this time. The interest rate 
forecast shows that external borrowing could be more affordable if it can be 

deferred until halfway through the medium term, although the opportunity cost 
of internal borrowing in the short term also needs to be considered. 
 

6.1.5. Based on the current forecasts, changes in investment income and borrowing 
costs (based on interest rate changes) are highlighted below: 

 
 
 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

 £ £ £ £ 
General Fund     

Changes in Investment Income (258,100) 298,850 266,870 183,770 

                                                 
1
 Treasury management advisers  

Page 71



 

  

 
 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

 £ £ £ £ 

Changes in Borrowing Costs (378,880) 144,870 258,910 135,340 

     
HRA     

Changes in Investment Income 470 17,490 (61,540) (68,610) 

Changes in Borrowing Costs 314,900 (118,380) (111,990) (29,100) 

     

 
6.2. Inflationary Projections  

 

6.2.1. The Consumer Price Index (CPI), as at December 2022, stood at 10.5%.  
Inflation forecasts are made reflecting the composition of the Council’s 
expenditure, resulting in an inflation rate specific to the Council.  The current 

high levels of inflation arising out of the conflict in Ukraine, supply chain 
pressures, and increased energy prices along with the medium-term outlook 

have informed the assumptions in the MTFP of potential increased service 
costs as contracts are renewed and uplifted. 
 

6.2.2. At the end of 2021/22 the Council created an earmarked reserve to hedge 
against unforeseen costs of inflation. This stands at £250,000 currently.  

 
6.2.3. The MTFP has been updated to reflect the latest forecasts on inflation and to 

roll forward a further 12 months to include the 2026/27 financial year. The full 

costs to the Council arising from inflation are forecast in the table below. 
 

Inflationary Changes 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ 

Employee Costs 866,410 419,070 351,850 355,340 

Premises Costs 506,280 250,260 214,270 191,440 

Transport 12,650 6,520 8,820 8,990 

Supplies and Services 399,340 274,770 282,220 285,420 

In-Year Inflation Pressure 1,784,680 950,620 857,160 841,190 

          

General Fund 1,203,250 640,220 556,570 581,110 

Housing Revenue Account 581,430 310,400 300,590 260,080 

          

 
6.3. Budgetary Demand 

 

6.3.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan presented to Council in February 2022 
analysed and projected forward both income and expenditure. This has been 

revised to reflect known changes in budgetary demand. 
 

6.3.2. The current known changes in budgetary demand are highlighted below: 

 
 

Increased / (Reduced) Budget Demand 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ 

HRA pension past service deficit costs    (21,000)    (22,000)    (23,000)    (23,000) 

Page 72



 

  

Increased / (Reduced) Budget Demand 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ 

Uniforms – Customer Services     (2,500)       2,500     (2,500)   

Glossop Markets - Income reinstatement  (113,500)      

Glossop Halls - Arcade Temp closure    (45,000)      

Glossop Market renovation – borrowing 
costs offset 

             0    (20,000)    (20,000)   

AES Melandra Depot - effect of permanent 

closure 

     63,710      

AES - agreed contract reduction    (25,000)    (25,000)    (25,000)    (25,000) 

AES - Pay award adjustment    173,520      

AES - Fuel inflation demand    108,800      16,650      14,770      12,680 

AES - Gully Cleansing cessation  (124,000)      

Amenity Maintenance - loss of income    124,000      

Assets - Toilets Refurbishment      10,000       (10,000) 

Assets - Feasibility works (Energy)      10,000       (10,000) 

Assets - Opera House damp penetration 
repairs 

     30,000    (30,000)     

Assets - H&S Path Maintenance    (17,500)      

Assets - Watercourse Conditions Survey      30,000    (30,000)     

Assets - Security Market Street Depot       2,500      

Local Council Tax Support scheme wind up    (17,510)    (16,290)     

Biodiversity Strategy    (25,000)      

Assets - Asbestos works    (64,250)      

Assets - Legionella     (5,000)      

Assets - Norfolk Square ornate lights    (10,000)      

Assets - PG Slopes Cable Repairs     (20,000)      

ICT - Customer Services software    (11,000)      

ICT - Civica Banded benefits software      12,410      

Platinum Jubilee    (20,000)      

Coronation      20,000    (20,000)     

Cultural Strategy      20,000    (20,000)     

Grant rolled into RSG    107,780      

Local Plan Revision/ Maintenance        50,000    (75,000)   

Elections Reserve      50,000      32,000     

OD HR Support      50,000     (50,000)   

Planning Appeal / Enforcement costs      50,000    (25,000)     

         

 Total – General Fund    341,460  (107,140)  (180,730)    (55,320) 

 
6.3.3. In addition to the above, there may be a requirement to include upfront 

increased budget demand in relation to climate change related projects in 

future years.  Some of these costs may already be included with the MTFP 
forecast – for example, schemes within the asset management plan and fleet 

purchase programme where environmental impact will be a significant 
consideration.  However, any additional costs will be assessed and included 
within future MTFP iterations once known and the business case has been 

developed. There remains in place an earmarked reserve of £225k for the 
purpose of delivering climate change related projects. 

 
6.3.4. It may also be necessary to include increased budget provision as a result of 

the completion of service plans and in accordance with the Organisational 

Page 73



 

  

Strategy.  Additional staff resource or expertise may be necessary to deliver 
specific projects.  This will be reviewed by the Transformation Board as part 

of the business case process for each project.  
 

6.4. Budget Growth   
 

6.4.1. In previous years, very few additions in respect of budget growth have been 

included in the MTFP. It is assumed, considering the financial pressures faced 
by the Council, that any local issues that necessitate budget growth will be 

financed by internal spending reductions elsewhere. Occasionally, however, it 
is necessary to include budget growth to meet spending commitments. No 
such items are included in this iteration of the MTFP. 

 
6.5. Pensions  

 

6.5.1. The Pension Fund triennial valuation was undertaken during 2022 with the 
aim of determining the contribution rates payable by the Council during the 

period 2023/24 to 2025/26. 
 

6.5.2. This iteration of the MTFP assumes no further overall increase in 
contributions will be necessary arising out of the 2022 valuation. At the 2019 
valuation the High Peak portion of the Pension Fund had a funding level of 

90%. This has now risen to 100% in the 2022 valuation. 
 

 
6.6. Housing Revenue Account – Other Operating Expenditure  

 

6.6.1. There are several items that relate only to the HRA. They include some 
direct elements of income and expenditure as well as notional charges for 

asset depreciation and debt impairment. 
 
6.6.2. The HRA provides for several changes to operating expenditure over the 

next four years as set out in the table below: 
 

        

Expenditure / (Income) 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 
        

  £ £ £ £ 

Provision for Irrecoverable Debts 0 1,890 2,930 2,930 

Past Service Pension Deficit Contribution 21,000 22,000 23,000 23,000 

Depreciation adjustment  82,970 - - - 

Increased / (Reduced) Other Operating Expenditure 103,970 23,890 25,930 25,930 

        
 
7. Funding & Income Generation 

 

7.1. Council Tax 

 

7.1.1. The Council has the capacity to vary Council Tax levels, following the 
abolition of capping.  However, the Council’s ability to increase Council Tax 

Page 74



 

  

by more than a certain percentage is subject to referendum. For 2023/24, 
this percentage has been confirmed as 3%. 

 
7.1.2. In line with current guidance, a 2.9% increase is included within the plan for 

2023/24 (which equates to a £5.96 rise on Band D); and a 1.9% increase is 
assumed for the remainder of the plan from 2024/25 to 2026/27 as the 
Government has not provided any indication of future year increases. 

 
7.1.3. In addition to this, provision has been included within the plan to reflect 

anticipated growth in the Council Tax base over the next four years. The 
assumed level of Council Tax increase included within the current Plan over 
the next four years is shown in the table below: 

 

Increased Council Tax Income 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ 

Revenue from increased Council Tax (186,690) (126,060) (129,690) (133,380) 

Revenue from Tax Base growth (10,140) (65,000) (65,000) (65,000) 

          

Total (196,830) (191,060) (194,690) (198,380) 

          

 

7.1.4. There is an increased risk associated with non-payment as a result of the 
high levels of household inflation being experienced by residents, with some 
households potentially struggling to meet instalments. However, the financial 

impact will only be felt by the Council if outstanding debts are not collected in 
the medium term and are written off subsequently. 

 
7.1.5. The Council is intending to make a change to the Local Tax Reduction 

Scheme (LCTRS) from April 2023 following a period of consultation. A 

reduction in the taxbase is built into this plan.  
 

   Council Tax Premiums 
 
7.1.6. The Government, as part of the Levelling Up and its Regeneration Bill in May 

2022, has proposed legislation that includes more options for council tax 
premiums to be introduced on empty properties and second homes 

nationally. If the bill receives Royal Assent, the proposed changes will come 
into effect from 1 April 2024.  

 

7.1.7. In terms of levy for unoccupied/ furnished properties (second homes), a new 
Section (11)(C) is being inserted in the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

The proposed section specifies the maximum premium as 100% and states 
that a first determination must be made at least one year before the 
beginning of the financial year to which it relates. 

 
7.1.8. If the Borough Council wishes to adopt changes outlined in the Bill with 

regards to the premium for second homes, it is required to confirm its 
decision before 1 April 2023 and publish notice of the determination in at 
least one newspaper circulating in the area within 21 days of the 

Page 75



 

  

determination. If a decision is not made by this date then the premium can 
only be applied from 1 April 2025. 

 
7.1.9. If the proposed maximum premium was applied to the number of second 

homes (302 properties) this would create additional income of around 
£538,000. 

 

7.1.10. Within the same bill, proposed changes from 1 April 2024 to reduce the 
period before which a premium can be applied to unoccupied and 

substantially unfurnished properties from 2 years to 1 year. A decision for the 
empty home premium can be made prior to the financial year in which the 
change will take place. As with other changes, there is the requirement to 

publish a notice of the determination in at least one newspaper circulating in 
the area within 21 days of the determination. 

 
7.1.11. If the proposed maximum premium of 100% was applied to the current 

number of empty and unoccupied homes (162 properties) this would create 

additional income of around £255,000. 
 

7.1.12. Making the best use of existing stock and bringing empty homes back into 
use is fundamental to meeting housing need. Empty homes are a wasted 
resource at a time when there is pressure on housing stock to address 

housing and homelessness need. They can also create problems for 
neighbours and the wider community such as disputes, blight, property 

deterioration and discourage inward investment. 
 
7.1.13. Considering the income that can be derived from such premiums and the 

benefit that this can bring to meet housing need, it is recommended that the 
Council adopts the premiums laid out above and applies them to properties 

meeting the qualifying criteria, with the amount set in the relevant legislation, 
when set, up to a maximum of 100%. 

 
 

7.2. Business Rates Retention   

 

7.2.1. Under the 50% Business Rates Retention system the Authority retains 40% 
of Business Rates less a tariff that is payable into a pool of Derbyshire 

Authorities. This amount is then compared to a Funding Baseline 
(£2,456,319 for 2023/24) and any amount in excess of this Baseline is 

subject to levy, or, conversely, if the amount of retained Business Rates is 
below this Baseline, the loss is capped by a safety net payment. The MTFP 
does not anticipate the Council falling below the Baseline. 

 
7.2.2. As part of the Derbyshire Pool, the levy or the safety net payment is made to 

or from the Pool instead of Central Government. If the Council was not in the 
Derbyshire Pool it would have to pay 50p in the £1 to the Government as a 
levy, effectively limiting the income the Council can gain from business rates 

growth. However, as part of the Pool, the Council can retain some of this 
levy. Under the Pool agreement, this amount depends on the amount all 

members of the Pool pay in at the end of the year, and the proportionate 

Page 76



 

  

success of the Council against its own baseline.  The benefit to the Council 
of being part of the Pool arrangement is estimated to be £758,840 in 

2023/24. 
 

7.2.3. Whilst central government continues to review business rates, the MTFP 
forecasts the Council’s income from Business Rates Retention under the 
current system throughout the plan. Changes in the level of the Council’s 

business rates will be impacted by a range of factors, including the 
Derbyshire Pool’s success in generating new and retaining existing business 

within its area. At this stage, predicted levels of business rates income are 
based on expected changes to the current business rates listing including 
the effects of the Revaluation from 1st April 2023, with estimates of the 

effects of transitional arrangements, reliefs, and increased appeals 
provisions. 

 

7.2.4. The Business Rates Multiplier is set by central government based on the 
preceding September’s CPI. This was 10.1% in 2022. However, the 

Government announced as part of the Autumn Statement 2022 that the 
multiplier would be frozen for businesses during 2023/24 at the level of the 

2022/23 multiplier. Thus far, where collectible income is suppressed due to a 
freeze in multiplier or award of reliefs announced by the government 
(including increased small business rate relief, public convenience relief, and 

extended retail, and rural relief), the Council has been compensated with 
funding received under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. The 

assumption that this will continue throughout the life of the plan is included in 
the MTFP. 

 

Business Rates Retention 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

In year:         

    
   Baseline Funding 

        
(2,456,310) 

        
(2,530,000) 

        
(2,580,600) 

        
(2,632,210) 

    
   Achievement against Baseline 

              
803,190 

           
(632,150) 

           
(681,560) 

           
(746,210) 

    
   Section 31 Grant 

        
(3,611,010) 

        
(2,529,100) 

        
(2,597,560) 

        
(2,670,700) 

  
        

(5,264,130) 
        

(5,691,250) 
        

(5,859,720) 
        

(6,049,120) 

 
Change between years: 

        

   
   Business Rates retained 

              
138,670 

        
(1,509,030) 

           
(100,010) 

           
(116,260) 

    
   Section 31 Grant 

           
(955,490) 

           
1,081,910 

             
(68,460) 

             
(73,140) 

  
           

(816,820) 
           

(427,120) 
           

(168,470) 
           

(189,400) 

 
7.3. Collection Fund 

 

7.3.1. The Council maintains a Collection Fund to record the receipt of Council Tax 
and Business Rates and their distribution to precepting authorities. Any 

Page 77



 

  

surplus or deficit generated is distributed or recovered from the preceptors in 
subsequent years. 

 
7.3.2. The Council’s share of the Council Tax surplus to be distributed in in 2023/24 

is £80,560. 
 

7.3.3. The Council’s share of the Business Rates surplus to be distributed in in 

2023/24 is £531,920. 
 

7.3.4. These and future year movements are set out in the table below: 
 

 
Changes in 

Collection Fund 
Income 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

 £ £ £ £ 

Council Tax  41,490 29,190 40 (5,200) 

Business Rates  (1,087,260) 531,920 0 0 

Total (1,045,770) 561,110 40 (5,200) 

     
 
 
7.4. Income from Government Grants 

 
    New Homes Bonus 

 
7.4.1. The provisional Local Government Finance settlement in December 2022 

included a New Homes Bonus of £368,950 for 2023/24, with no confirmation 
of future year receipts. 
 

7.4.2. With an anticipation in the slowing of new homes, with the implementation of 
a new reformed scheme following consultation by central government, the 
MTFP assumes a tapering off of the New Homes Bonus in the years 

following: £300,000 in 2024/25, £275,00 in 2025/26, and £250,000 in 
2026/27. 

 
Other Grant Support 

 

7.4.3. The Council receives the following grant awards in 2023/24: 
 

 Funding Guarantee Grant (£446,120) 

 Services Grant (£91,970) 

 Revenue Support Grant (£107,780) 
 

7.4.4. The MTFP assumes that the Services and Revenue Support grants will 
continue throughout the plan at these levels, whereas the Funding 
Guarantee Grant is treated as a one-off. 
 

     Summary of Income from Government Grants  

 

Page 78



 

  

7.4.5. The table below summarises the movement in Government funding over the 
MTFP period:  

 

Government Grant (gain) / 
loss of funding 

2022/23 
(Budget) 

2023/24 
(Confirmed) 

2024/25 
(forecast) 

2025/26 
(forecast) 

2026/27 
(forecast) 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

New Homes Bonus     (675,210)  (368,950) (300,000) (275,000) (250,000) 

Lower Tier Services Grant      (106,210)         

Funding Guarantee Grant   (446,120)       

Revenue Support Grant    (107,780)  (107,780) (107,780) (107,780) 

Services Grant    (163,220)    (91,970)   (91,970)  (91,970)   (91,970) 

  
        

(944,640) 
  

(1,014,820) 
      

(499,750) 
     

(474,750) 
     

(449,750) 

            

(Gain)/ Loss in Govt Funding  -  (70,180)    515,070    25,000     25,000 

 
7.5. Fees and Charges 

 
  General Fees and Charges 

 

7.5.1. Charging for local services makes a significant contribution to the Council’s 
finances. The Council also uses charging to influence individual choices and 

behaviour, and to bring other benefits to local communities.  The Council’s 
Charging Policy sets out the following principles for establishing the level of 
fees and charges:   

 

 The cost of providing services should be fully met by income 

 There is a standard approach to concessions for those on low incomes 

 Where a subsidy is agreed, this should be used to support the 
development of Council services in accordance with priorities 

 Subsidies should be reconfirmed annually 
 
7.5.2. Charges are set in line with the categories below 
 

 

Charging 

Policy 
Policy Objective 

Full commercial 
Service is promoted to maximise revenue within an overall objective of generating a 
surplus from the service 

Fair charging 
Service is promoted to maximise income but subject to defined policy constraints 
including commitments made to potential customers on an appropriate fee structure  

Cost recovery Service generally available to all but without a subsidy 

Subsidised 
Service is widely accessible, but users of the service should make some contribution 
from their own resources 

Nominal Service to be fully available and a charge is made to discourage frivolous usage 

Free Service fully available at no cost 

Statutory Charges are set in line with legal obligations 

Page 79



 

  

7.5.3. The proposed fees and charges for 2023/24 are presented in APPENDIX C 

to this report. 

 
7.5.4. The Medium Term Financial Plan would normally project that the Council will 

increase fees and charges (and other income) broadly in line with inflation.  
However, as well as taking in to account the high and volatile current 
inflation, it is also recognised that certain income streams (such as car 

parking, planning receipts) may not increase each year and that other 
income streams (such as grants and rental income) are fixed or subject to 

periodic review. 
 
7.5.5. The projected revenue from increased fees and charges (and other income) 

is summarised in the table below: 
 

 

Increased Fees and Changes 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

 £ £ £ £ 

Revenue from increased Fees and Charges 
and potential new income generation  

(40,000) (40,000) (40,000) (40,000) 

     
Total Income from Fees & Charges (8,922,710) (8,984,710) (9,047,710) (9,110,710) 

     
     

   Housing Revenue Account – Rent Charges  

 
7.5.6. Authorities may increase rents by CPI +1%. At September 2022 CPI was 

10.1%, meaning the formula rent increase will be 11.1%. However, with the 

cost of living pressures facing tenants, the Government has capped this 
increase to 7% for social rents, but supported housing was exempt from this 

cap and can increase to the full 11.1%.  
 
7.5.7. The current HRA Plan projects a 5% increase next year and then, as CPI 

inflation reduces, an increase of 6.5%, and 3.5% for the subsequent years. It 
also assumes that ‘Other Charges’, including garages and service charges, 

will increase in 2023/24 – 2026/27.   

 Rental Income 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

 £ £ £ £ 
Revenue from Rental Income and Other Charges (564,880) (1,154,040)** (175,780) (500,290) 

     
** 53 week rent year  
 

7.5.8. As part of the previous HRA review, a revised rent policy aimed to increase 
income targets (and partially offset the HRA Financial Improvement Plan 

savings targets).    
 

7.5.9. This included a review of current service charges to ascertain the cost to the 

Council in providing services.  The review revealed that the cost in providing 
services was higher than the service charge paid by tenants.  It was 

proposed therefore, to increase current service charges paid by current 
tenants by a maximum of 5% per annum – to limit the financial impact up to 
the point the actual service charge matches the actual cost. 

 

Page 80



 

  

7.5.10. It was also proposed that for new tenants, ‘formula’ rent is charged – which 
in most cases is higher than current rent.  In addition, if any services are 

provided as part of the tenancy, the service charge will be based on the 
actual cost in providing the services.  The increase in service charges for 

2023/24 has been capped at a maximum increase of 5% of 2022/23 actual 
costs. The rent and service charge is fully advertised prior to a new tenant 
taking a tenancy.  

 
7.5.11. In addition, residents in sheltered blocks are recharged for utilities usage. 

This element of the charge has seen a significant increase over the last 12 
months as energy prices have continued to rise as a consequence of the 
Ukraine conflict. Government support has been given nationally to those 

affected by these price rises. The Council’s approach of recharging utility 
costs in arrears serves to smooth the impact of price increases on the 

tenant.  Individual charges by block are contained within section 9.7 of this 
report. 
 

8. Risks, Contingencies & Use of Reserves 
 

8.1. Risk Identification and Management 
 

8.1.1. The early identification and management of risks is critical to the Medium 

Term Financial Planning process. Risks to the MTFP are assessed, 
mitigated, and actively managed to ensure that the Council delivers its 

services effectively within the funding at its disposal. The principal risks to 
the Medium Term Financial Plan are summarised in ANNEX B. 

 

8.1.2. Risk areas will be monitored closely and reviewed on an on-going basis and 
remedial action taken as appropriate.  Risks associated with specific projects 

will be identified within the project methodology documents and reviewed 
monthly by the Transformation Board. 

 

8.1.3. The table below highlights specific financial risks that are embedded within 
this Medium Term Financial Plan:  

 
 

Revenue Risks Capital Risks 
 

 Inflationary assumptions 

 Interest rates 

 Housing benefits 

 Fees and charges 

 Universal Credit 

 Business Rates  

 Council Tax collection 

 Housing Rent levels (HRA 

affordability) 

 Government grants 

 Financial benefits from partnerships 
/ shared services 

 Pension costs 

 Interest rates  

 External funding 

 Capital receipts 

 Capacity to deliver capital 
programme 

 Project overspend 

 Project overrun 

 External factors (e.g. planning 

objections, judicial reviews etc. 
leading to project delay) 

 Housing finance  

 Weather  

 

Page 81



 

  

 Contract Management  
 

 

 
 

8.2. Contingencies 
 

8.2.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan is underpinned by a number of 
assumptions. These assumptions have been made in the light of currently 
available information. New information, when it emerges, may require the 

Council to alter its assumptions with a consequential effect on the financial 
position. 

 
8.2.2. Key risk areas will be monitored closely and reviewed on an ongoing basis 

and remedial action taken.  Members will receive quarterly updates on 

performance against the budget.  
 

8.2.3. The Council carries reserves as a contingency for situations where risks 
cannot be fully mitigated. Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 
requires the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) to report on the robustness of the 

estimates included in the budget and the adequacy of the reserves that the 
budget provides.  

 

8.2.4. While there is no detailed guidance on calculating the level of general 
reserves the Council is encouraged to take into account the strategic, 

operational and financial risks facing the Council. These amounts are then 
moderated to acknowledge the likelihood of all risk events occurring 

together.  The table below shows the detailed calculation of the minimum 
level of general reserve required: 

 

Item Calculation Factor Value Amount of 
Reserve 

    £m £ 

Spend Items (gross) – Employee Related 
 
3% of value 

 
6.36 

 
191,000 

Expenditure Items (gross) – Other 3% of value 12.23 367,000 

Housing Benefits (subsidy) 0.25% of value 10.80 27,000 

Fees and Charges 6% of value 7.34       441,000 

Interest Receipts / Payments 5% of net interest  0.70 38,000 

Efficiency Provisions 30% of value 0.20 60,000 

Council Tax Collection 2.5% of value 6.63 166,000 

Business Rates Retention 6% of value 2.80 168,000 

Development Services Income 6% of value 0.62 37,000 

Local Land Charges 6% fall in income 0.11 6,000 

New Homes Bonus 50% fall in income 0.36 184,000 

Total Requirement all events     1,685,000 

   Moderation 10% reduction  (168,500) 

Total Requirement     1,516,500 

 

Page 82



 

  

8.2.5. It is proposed that the minimum general reserve contingency balance should 
remain at £1,540,000 to meet unforeseen expenditure and/or shortfalls in 

income.  
 

8.2.6. The HRA working balance is made up of surpluses that have accumulated 
over a number of years.  The Council retains a minimum of £1million 
(approximately £250 per property) in order to cover unexpected events that 

could - if realised – trigger financial pressures.  This has been calculated 
based on the below: 

 

Item Calculation Factor Value Amount of 
Reserve 

    £m £ 

Expenditure Items (gross) – 
Employee Related 

3% of value 3.58 72,000 

Expenditure Items (gross) – Other 3% of value 3.73 75,000 

Net costs (capital contribution, 
depreciation, support services etc) 

3% of value 8.38 168,000 

Borrowing Costs (net) 5% of net interest paid / received 1.96 98,000 

Efficiency Provisions 30% of value 0.00 - 

Non Dwelling Rents 3.5% of value 0.65 23,000 

Dwelling Rents 4% of value 14.33 613,000 

Total Requirement all events     1,049,000 

   Moderation 10% reduction  (104,900) 

Total Requirement     944,100 

 
8.2.7. The level and utilisation of reserves is determined formally by the Council, 

having received the advice and judgement of the Chief Financial Officer 

(CFO). The Chief Financial Officer’s advice is: 
 

8.2.8. “In the view of the Executive Director & Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 
Officer), the budget includes estimates which take into account 
circumstances and events which are reasonably foreseeable at the time of 

preparing the budget. The view is therefore held, that the level of reserves 
are adequate for the Council based on this budget and the circumstances in 

place at the time of preparing it.” 
 

8.2.9. Further detail of the CFO’s determination in regard to contingency balances 
and reserves is detailed in ANNEX C. 

 

8.3.  Use of Reserves and Balances   
 

  General Fund Reserves and Balances 
 

8.3.1. The February 2022 Medium Term Financial Plan included a £1,640 
contribution per annum from General Fund Reserves in respect of Section 
106 (Commuted Sum); a use of the Business Rates s31 reserve of £555,340 

in 2022/23; and a net contribution of £66,560 into the General Fund 
contingency over the lifetime of the plan. 

 

Page 83



 

  

8.3.2. Following the 2021/22 outturn position and a net use of this and other 
earmarked reserves movements, the general fund contingency balance as at 

31st March 2022 reduced to £1.576million (£4.082million at 31st March 2021).   
 

8.3.3. The main reason for the decrease year on year was due to the earmarking of 
£3 million for the purposes of the Levelling Up Fund round 2 bid centred 
around Glossop. Although this bid was ultimately unsuccessful, the ear 

marked reserve has been retained to match fund future bidding opportunities 
that might arise. 

 
8.3.4. The updated MTFP shows a forecast cumulative surplus position of 

£419,980 over the four years – which represents the anticipated contribution 

to contingency reserves in maintaining a balanced 4-year plan.  The annual 
changes in the contingency reserve as well as other earmarked reserves 

where it is planned to draw funding, are shown in the table below: 
 

Reserve 
2022/23 

(Budget) 
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Contingency Reserve      118,160 1,034,580    (95,300) (237,240) (282,060) 

Section 106 Monies        (1,640)     (1,640)      (1,640)     (1,640)     (1,640) 

Business Rates s31 Reserve    (555,340)               0               0              0               0 

Total Contribution / (Usage)    (438,820) 1,032,940    (96,940) (238,880) (283,700) 

        
 

  

Change in use of reserves   1,471,760 (1,129,880)  (141,940)   (44,820) 

 
      

 

8.3.5. With effect from 2022/24 the MTFP reflects a contribution of £419,980 to 
Contingency reserves over the next 4 years: 2023/24 £1,034,580 
contribution, 2024/25 £95,300 usage, 2025/26 £237,240 usage, and 2026/27 

£282,060 usage.  
 

8.3.6. The table below shows the revised level of forecast contingency reserves 
over the life of the Medium Term Financial Plan:  

 

Contingency Reserve 
2022/23 

(Expected) 
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

 As at February 2023: £ £ £ £ £ 

Balance at year end 1,874,420 2,909,000 2,813,700 2,576,460 2,294,400 

Minimum requirement (s7.2) 1,540,000 1,540,000 1,540,000 1,540,000 1,540,000 

      

Headroom 334,420 1,369,000 1,273,700 1,036,460 754,400 

        
 

  

 
8.3.7. At the end of year four of the plan (2026/27) there would be an estimated 

balance of £4.7million in General Fund Contingency reserves – which would 
be £3.1million above the required £1.54million minimum balance. 

 

Page 84



 

  

8.3.8. All of the above is subject to the working assumptions detailed in the 
previous sections.  These assumptions will be continually monitored. 

 

  HRA Reserves and Balances 

 
8.3.9. The HRA balance is made up of surpluses that have accumulated over 

several years.  The Council retains a minimum of £1 million (approximately 

£250 per property) to cover unexpected events that could, if realised, trigger 
financial pressures. 

 
8.3.10. The HRA reserves at the 31st March 2022 stood at £16.359million. ANNEX D 

shows the profile of surplus/ deficit positions for each financial year in the 

plan. The impact on the reserves can be seen from the table below. The 
HRA balance is projected to maintain a steady profile of reserves over the 

next four years with usage in the first year of the plan and contributions in the 
following years. 

 

Impact on Reserves 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

HRA Reserves Brought Forward 16,359,000 14,236,950 12,608,780 12,685,250 12,992,510 

Surplus/(Loss) for the year  (2,122,050) (1,628,170) 76,470 307,260 719,250 

Total HRA Reserves carried fwd 14,236,950 12,608,780 12,685,250 12,992,510 13,711,760 

 
 

9. Budget 2023/24 

 
9.1. Budget preparation work has now been completed and an overall balanced 

budget position has been reached with £1,034,580 in contribution to 
Contingency reserves. The HRA is balanced with a drawdown from reserves 
of £1,628,170 

 
9.2. The proposed 2023/24 General Fund Budget is detailed below: 

 

Budget Heading 2023/24 

  £ 

Employees 11,884,360 

Premises 5,005,320 

Transport 434,290 

Supplies & Services 10,748,030 

Benefits 82,460 

Borrowing 1,460,670 

Parish Grant re Council Tax Support 16,290 

Financing Costs 22,130 

    

Total Expenditure 29,653,550 

    

Fees and Charges / Other Income (8,922,710) 

Page 85



 

  

Budget Heading 2023/24 

  £ 

Interest Receipts  (699,260) 

HRA Recharges (7,307,370) 

Capital Recharges (231,240) 

    

Net Expenditure 12,492,970 

    

Council Tax (6,634,480) 

Business Rates Retention (5,264,130) 

Government Funding (645,870) 

New Homes Bonus (368,950) 

Contribution to / (use of) EM Reserves (1,640) 

Contribution to / (use of) Contingency 1,034,580 

Collection Fund (612,480) 

    

Total Financing (12,492,970) 

    

Deficit / (Surplus) 0 

    

New Efficiency Requirement  0 

    

In-Year Deficit / (Surplus) 0 

    

 
9.3.  The proposed 2023/24 Housing Revenue Account Budget is detailed below: 
 

 

Budget Heading 
2023/24 

Projection 

  £ 

Repairs & Maintenance 
          

5,245,690  

Supervision & Management  
          

2,804,230  

Rates, Rents, Taxes, Other Charges              109,130  

Other Operating Expenditure             827,290  

Depreciation & Impairment Charges 
          

2,182,000  

Interest & Debt Management Charges 
          

2,579,580  

HRA Contribution to Capital Programme 
          

3,842,000  

    

Total Expenditure 17,589,920 

Dwellings Rents (15,322,760) 

Non - Dwelling Rents & Other Income (638,990) 

    

Total Income (15,961,750) 

Page 86



 

  

    

(Surplus) / Deficit for year 1,628,170 

Use of Reserves (1,628,170) 

In Year Deficit (Surplus) 0 

 

    

Council Tax and Rent Setting Requirement 2023/24 
 

9.4. The tables below illustrate the Council Tax & Housing Rent requirement for 

2023/24: 
 

 
 

  Budget 

  £ 

Net Cost of Services 
    

11,835,130  

    
New Homes Bonus (675,210) 
Business Rates Retention (4,447,310) 
COVID-19 Grant Funding (269,430) 
Use of Reserves (438,820) 
Collection Fund 433,290 
    

Net Requirement from Council Tax (6,437,650) 

   

 

Housing Revenue Account 
2023/24 

Budget 

  £ 

Net Cost of Services* 13,382,170 

    

Plus:   

Borrowing Costs 2,579,580 

Net Expenditure 15,961,750 

Non - Dwelling Rents & Other Income (638,990) 

    

Net Requirement from Housing Rents  15,322,760 

 
   *includes contribution from balances of £1,628,170 

 
 
9.5. The overall Council Tax requirement contained within these proposals is 

summarised in the table below: 
 

 
Budget 

Requirement 

£ 

Tax Base 
Band D 

Council Tax 

£ 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

% 

     

Borough Council Tax 6,634,480 31,390         211.36  2.90% 
     

£5.96 

     

Page 87



 

  

 
9.6. The rent increase for existing tenants has been capped at 5% for 2023/24. 

The effect of this is to increase the average weekly rent by 5.16% overall 
once the impact of new tenancies (at formula rent) let during 2022/23 are 

taken into account. The average rent increase compared with the previous 
year is set out in the table below: 

 

 

Average  

Weekly 
Rents 22/23 

£ 

Average 

Weekly 
Rents 23/24 

£ 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

£ 

Increase/ 
(Decrease)*  

% 

HRA Rents (over 52 weeks) 

 
HRA Garage Rents (over 52 weeks) 
 

73.96 

 
7.86 

77.78 

 
8.26 

3.82 

 
0.40 

5.16%* 

 
5.09% 

  

*includes increase where new tenancies have transferred to ‘formula rent  

 

9.7. Charges made to recover fuel costs at various blocks have been reviewed 
and are charged on an individual block basis.  The charges for 2023/24 are 
shown below and based on the previous year’s usage and estimated costs 

and adjustments for actual fuel costs in 2022/23. 
 

  
Anticipated 
Fuel Cost 

Weekly Charge per Unit (over 52 weeks) 

  2023/24 Charge Category   

  
  

A B C D 
Communal 

Areas 

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Alma Square 24,272       11.90       17.85              -       29.74               7.76  

Cromford Court 12,470  -   -   -   -               6.19  

Eccles Fold 24,171              -         10.14              -              -                 3.11  

Hartington 
Gardens 

53,575          9.26       13.89       18.53            -                 2.21  

Marian Court 25,444       10.71       16.06              -       26.77               5.54  

Milton Court 36,272       12.70       19.05              -       31.75               5.29  

Queens Court 35,432              -         14.29              -       23.81               3.48  

Northlands 18,274              -         12.41       16.55            -                 7.30  

Grangeside 3,226              -                -                -              -                 6.11  

Fieldhead House 3,826              -                -                -              -               11.39  

Watford Lodge 2,190              -                -                -              -                 5.70  

 

 
10. MTFP Revenue position 

 

10.1. General Fund Revenue Position 
 

10.1.1. The medium term General Fund revenue position is as set out in the table 
below: 
 

Page 88



 

  

Summary Revenue Position 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ 

Revenue Consequences of Capital Spend (section 
5.3.29) 

         
(209,890) 

     
(114,920) 

      
(181,560) 

     
(192,100) 

Interest Rate Changes (section 6.1.5) 

         

(258,100) 

       

298,850 

        

266,870 

       

183,770 

Borrowing Costs (section 6.1.5) 
         

(378,880) 
       

144,870 
        

258,910 
       

135,340 

Inflation Pressures (section 6.2.3) 
        

1,203,250 
       

640,220 
        

556,570 
       

581,110 
Increased / (Reduced) Budget Demand (section 

6.3.2) 

           

341,460 

     

(107,140) 

      

(180,730) 

      

(55,320) 

Budget Growth (section 6.4.1) 
                     

0 
                 

0 
                 

0 
                

0 

Increased Council Tax Income (section 7.1.3) 
         

(196,830) 
     

(191,060) 
      

(194,690) 
     

(198,380) 

Business Rates Retention (section 7.2.4) 

         

(816,820) 

     

(427,120) 

      

(168,470) 

     

(189,400) 

Changes in Collection Fund (section 7.3.4) 
      

(1,045,770) 
       

561,110 
                

40 
        

(5,200) 

Reduction in Government Grant (section 7.4.7) 
           

(70,180) 
       

515,070 
         

25,000 
        

25,000 

Additional Fees and Charges (section 7.5.5) 

           

(40,000) 

       

(40,000) 

       

(40,000) 

      

(40,000) 

Contribution to Reserves & Balances (section 8.3.4) 
        

1,471,760 
  

(1,129,880) 
      

(141,940) 
      

(44,820) 

          

In Year Change in Position 
                     

0 
       

150,000 
        

200,000 
       

200,000 

Efficiency & Rationalisation Plan (section 5.5) 
                     

0 
     

(150,000) 
      

(200,000) 
     

(200,000) 

          

Budget (Surplus) / Deficit 0 0 0 0 

Cumulative (Surplus) / Deficit 0 0 0 0 

 

10.1.2. Annex D shows the projected General Fund revenue position in detail. 
 

10.2. Housing Revenue Account Revenue Position 

 

10.2.1. The medium term Housing Revenue Account revenue position is as set out 

in the table below. 
 

Summary Revenue Position 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ 

Budget (surplus) / deficit brought forward 1,894,070 1,628,170 (76,470) (307,260) 

          

Revenue consequence of Capital spend 

(section 5.3.29) 
(701,790) (784,000) (208,000) (100,000) 

          

Interest Rate Changes (section 6.1.5) 470 17,490 (61,540) (68,610) 

          

Borrowing Costs (section 6.1.5) 314,900 (118,380) (111,990) (29,100) 

          

Inflation Pressures (Section 6.2.3) 581,430 310,400 300,590 260,080 

Page 89



 

  

Summary Revenue Position 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ 

          

Increased / reduced budget demand 
(section 6.4) 

0 0 0 0 

          

Increase in Other Operating Expenditure 
(section 6.6.2) 

103,970 23,890 25,930 25,930 

          

Increase in Rent and Other Charges 
(section 7.5.7) 

(564,880) (1,154,040) (175,780) (500,290) 

          

In Year Change in Position 1,628,170 (76,470) (307,260) (719,250) 

HRA Rationalisation Plan          

Budget (Surplus) / Deficit 1,628,170 (76,470) (307,260) (719,250) 

          
 

10.2.2. Annex D shows the projected Housing Revenue Account revenue position in 

detail. 
 

11. Consultation 

 
11.1. The Council is committed to consulting with residents and other stakeholders 

to help inform the budget setting process and spending priorities/non-
priorities. A variety of techniques have been used in the past and the 
approaches have been iterative, building year on year on what has gone 

before. The Council already holds comprehensive information gathered 
about residents’ spending priorities. Much of this information was gathered in 

times of rising expenditure. The financial challenges for the Council are now 
very different.  
 

11.2. With the significant uncertainties, volatility, and risk within this MTFP update, 
it is extremely difficult to have any meaningful consultation in this climate. 

This will be considered in more depth over the coming months to inform next 
year’s budget setting and MTFP process. Access to consultation and social 
media platforms will assist in this process. 

Page 90



 

  

ANNEX A   
Proposed Capital Programme – General Fund 

 

 

  

Capital Schemes 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total 

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Asset Management              

Public Bldgs. 

   

2,904,560   4,482,680       300,000    1,151,460      283,620       9,122,320  
Car Parks                -        200,000                -        154,520              -            354,520  
Public Conveniences                -                -         400,000               -                -            400,000  

Waterways Infrastructure         58,790        50,000       667,410        54,310      100,000          930,510  
Leisure Centres         66,010              -         144,170      469,200              -            679,380  
Depots & Park Buildings   1,107,170        50,000         50,000               -                -         1,207,170  

  4,136,530 4,782,680 1,561,580 1,829,490 383,620 12,693,900 

              

Housing(RTB 1 for 1)       374,000      504,000       504,000      504,000      504,000       2,390,000  
              

Disabled Facilities Grants  519,110 555,000 555,000 555,000     555,000  2,739,110 

              

ICT        73,940  50,000        62,780        50,480              -    237,200 
              

Fleet Management       925,960  1,444,490      119,500    1,214,100   1,754,990  5,459,040 
              

Leisure Services              
Play Facilities        88,220      350,000                -                 -                -            438,220  
Sports Development        30,000   1,957,370       100,000               -                -         2,087,370  
       118,220  2,307,370      100,000               -                -    2,525,590 
Regeneration              

Fairfield Roundabout  

   

3,158,780              -                  -                 -                -         3,158,780  
Buxton Town Centre  7,781,720  1,898,070    1,100,750               -                -       10,780,540  
  10,940,500  1,898,070   1,100,750               -                -    13,939,320 
Other Schemes             
Levelling Up Fund (LUF)                -                -                  -                 -                -                    -    
              

Total Programme  17,088,260 11,541,610 4,003,610 4,153,070 3,197,610 39,984,160 

Funding of Programme              
External Contributions 9,706,590 2,313,500 555,000 555,000 555,000 13,685,090 

Planning Obligations 15,000 170,980               -                 -                -            185,980  
Capital receipts 45,000 1,000,000   1,900,000  3,057,070 2,138,610 8,140,680 
Capital receipts (One for 

One) 374,000 504,000 504,000 504,000 504,000 2,390,000 
Capital Receipts (Vehicles)         90,750      114,750           5,500        37,000              -    248,000 
Borrowing  6,856,920 7,438,380 1,039,110              -                -    15,334,410 

  17,088,260 11,541,610 4,003,610 4,153,070 3,197,610 39,984,160 

Page 91



 

  

Proposed Housing Revenue Account – Capital Programme 

Scheme 
 Budget 
2022/23 

Budget 
2023/24 

Budget 
2024/25 

Budget 
2025/26 

Budget 
2026/27 

Total 

   £   £   £   £   £   £  

Asset Management              

Structural Works                -                -    100,000 100,000 100,000 300,000 

Roofing Works 274,020 198,720 198,720 198,730 198,730 1,068,920 

Gladstone St Walkways 25,860             -                   -                   -                 -    25,860 

Lift Replacements 419,000 575,000                -                   -                 -    994,000 

Bathroom Programme 123,570 849,180 247,020 247,030 247,030 1,713,830 

Kitchen Programme 789,400 251,810 670,300 570,300 570,300 2,852,110 

Electrical Works 514,410 496,760 496,760 236,760 236,760 1,981,450 

Aids & Adaptations 457,000 295,000 295,000 295,000 295,000 1,637,000 

Windows & Doors Programme 900,000 778,150 1,031,100 1,031,110 907,590 4,647,950 

Lintels (New)                -    40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 160,000 

Boiler Heating Gas  230,000 515,900 730,780 730,780 730,780 2,938,240 

Queens Court Boiler  200,000             -                   -                   -                 -    200,000 

Gamesley  Carpark/Externals  299,420 250,000                -                   -                 -    549,420 

Watford Lodge Refit  71,740             -                   -                   -                 -    71,740 

CCTV & Aerials  100,000             -                   -                   -                 -    100,000 

Communal Areas                -    200,000 - - - 200,000 

External Walls Insulation & 
Rendering  

626,550 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 2,626,550 

Insulation ( Lofts & Walls)                -    100,000 -                -                 -    100,000 

Decarbonisation (Support ASHP)               -    150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 600,000 

Major Void Retrofit to decarbonise  100,000 100,000 42,320 82,960 65,770 391,050 

Environmental & other works               -                -    - 237,730 234,130 471,860 

Non Traditional works               -                -    - 11,600 11,600 23,200 

External Works ( Inc Outbuildings)                -    150,000 - 150,000 150,000 450,000 

Fire Alarm -Communal Blocks               -    250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 1,000,000 

Other Capital sums for Fire action                -    50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 200,000 

Radon Fans                -    50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 200,000 

Fairfield View  20,000             -                   -                   -                 -    20,000 

Uplands Rd Communal Areas               -                -                   -                   -    44,310 44,310 

Sheltered Fire Alarm  208,500             -                   -                   -                 -    208,500 

Hartington Gardens Footbridge  200,000             -    200,000                -                 -    400,000 

Energy Efficiency Works (LAD) 121,260             -                   -                   -                 -    121,260 

  5,680,730 5,800,520 5,052,000 4,932,000 4,832,000 26,297,250 

Repairs Capital              

Void Rewires   12,920             -                   -                   -                 -    12,920 

Void Kitchens   31,550             -                   -                   -                 -    31,550 

Void Bathrooms   21,510             -                   -                   -                 -    21,510 

  65,980             -                   -                   -                 -    65,980 

Staffing /Commissioning  100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000 

  100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000 

Asset Purchases              
Vehicle Replacement  706,860 23,480                -                   -                 -    730,340 

Re-Purchase Dwellings 243,030 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 1,043,030 

ICT Housing System - 100,000 88,000                -                 -    188,000 

  949,890 323,480 288,000 200,000 200,000 1,961,370 

TOTAL SPEND 6,796,600 6,224,000 5,440,000 5,232,000 5,132,000 28,824,600 

Page 92



 

  

ANNEX B 
 

Medium Term Financial Plan – Principal Risks 

 

Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls 

 
Financial 
Implications 

 
Robustness of financial 
assumptions within Efficiency 
and Rationalisation Strategy 

 

 
Structured project management 
arrangements have been put in place with 
detailed business cases for each initiative – 
these will be strengthened in the service 
review process 

 

 
Financial 
Implications 

 
Additional financial pressures 
emerge – cost & income  

 
The strategy is kept under constant review 
and adjustments will be made where 
necessary 

 

 
Service 
Continuity 

 
Interruptions to key services or 
performance standards 

 

 
Resource implications and impact are 
identified as part of the business case 
process. Service continuity and 
maintenance of standards of service are 
key requirements of any new proposals 

 

 
Corporate 
Governance 

 
Maintaining stakeholder 
confidence; lack of clarity on 
accountability 

 
Ongoing review of standards of internal 
control (e.g. Financial Procedure Rules 
reviewed and updated). Internal Audit Plan 
will be reviewed to account for the new 
approach proposed in the efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy 

 

 
Management of 
Change 

 
Management of corporate and 
local, cultural change; 
behavioural risks; residual 
effects of aggregation; 
proposed changes to 
organisational structure, roles 
& responsibilities 

 

 
Progress with achievement of aims will be 
monitored through an effective performance 
management structure. Investment has 
been made in a new approach to 
Organisational Development. 

 

 
People Risks 

 
Impact of cultural changes; 
assessment of skills; 
recruitment & retention; 
capacity issues 

 

 
Continuing communications process for the 
delivery of transformation programme 

 

 
Key Projects & 
Partnerships 

 
Managing changes to shared 
service delivery arrangements 

 

 
The project management methodology 
provides for an adequate transition where 
there are changes in service delivery 

   

 
Performance 

 
Adequacy of framework to 

 
Risk management processes are 

Page 93



 

  

Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls 
Management monitor transition embedded 

 

 
Reputation and 
Relationship 
Risks 

 

 
Maintaining existing partner 
confidence 

 
Continuing communications process for the 
delivery of transformation programme 
 

 
Programme 
Delivery 

 
Delays in implementation of 
efficiency savings 

 
Effective governance arrangements in place 
to monitor plans.  

 
Executive Directors and Senior Managers 
own delivery of efficiencies.  

 
Executive Director (Transformation) 
appointed as programme director.  

 

 
Programme 
Delivery 

 
A number of the efficiency / 
rationalisation initiatives are 
not achieved 

 
Structured project management approach is 
in place for delivery including effective 
exception reporting 

 
The strategy is kept under constant review 

 
Identification of further efficiency / 
rationalisation opportunities through 
benchmarking / effective member working 
groups 

   

 
Political Support 

 
Lack of Members support for 
Plan. 

 
Regular reporting and member briefings 
including effective scrutiny arrangements 

 
 

 
 
 

 
  

Page 94



 

  

ANNEX C 
 

Chief Finance Officer’s Review of Contingencies / Reserves 

Chief Finance Officer’s Section 25 Review 
 

The purpose of this statement is to provide councillors with information on the 
robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of reserves in the Medium Term 

Financial Plan (MTFP). 
 

Background  

 
The Council sets in budget in February each year. In setting the budget the level of 
Council Tax and other fees and charges are established. Decisions are based on a 

budget that sets out estimates of what the Council plans to spend on each of its 
services in the forthcoming year.  

 
The decision on the level of the income is taken before the financial year begins and it 
cannot be changed during the year, so allowance for risks and uncertainties that might 

increase service expenditure above that planned, must be made by:  

 

 Making prudent allowance in the estimates for each of the services; and 

 Ensuring that there are adequate reserves to draw on if the service estimates turn 
out to be insufficient.  

 
Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires that the Council’s Chief 

Finance Officer reports to Full Council when it is considering its Budget for the 
forthcoming financial year. The report must deal with the robustness of the estimates 
and the adequacy of the reserves allowed for in the budget proposals, so that 

councillors have professional, authoritative advice available to them when they make 
their decisions. Section 25 also requires members to have regard to this report in 

making their decisions.  
 
Robustness of Spending Forecasts  

 
Heads of Service in conjunction with the Council’s Head of Finance monitor detailed 

budgets throughout the year. This enables additional service pressures to be identified 
on an on-going basis.  
 

Reports are presented on a quarterly basis to the Corporate Select Scrutiny 
Committee and Executive.  These reports highlight all variances between spending 

and budgets.  

 
The proposal for the 2023/24 Budget and updated MTFP are based on analysis and 

assurances from Heads of Service and their finance support staff. Executive Portfolio 
Holders have worked with their respective Executive Directors throughout the process. 

Corporate Select members scrutinised the progress of spending throughout the year 
and received a report on the draft MTFP in November 2022.   
 

Extensive work has also been carried out to produce the MTFP. A range of broad 
assumptions have been utilised and robustly challenged as part of the process. 

 

Page 95



 

  

Forecasts take account of the financial commitments that emerge from the Council’s 
Corporate Plan.  
 

The Council has taken all reasonable and practical steps to identify and make 
provision for the Council’s commitments in 2023/24 in order to achieve a balanced 

budget.   
 
Robustness of Income Forecasts 

 
The level of Council Tax has been established with reference to the maximum 

increase allowed without requiring a referendum. A 2.9% or £5.96 Band D equivalent 
increase has been provided for in 2023/24, followed by a 1.9% increase in years 2-4 
of the MTFP. 

 
The forecasts of the business rates that will be retained by the Council have been 

calculated in line with the current Business Rates Retention Scheme. The forecasts 
taken account of the following: 
 

 The baseline income set by government; 

 Prudent forecast of the financial benefits of being a member of the Derbyshire pool 

arrangements; 

 The award of reliefs and the receipt of Section 31 grants to compensate; 

 Adequate provision to meet the impact of successful appeals; and 

 Predicted levels of business rates income are based on known and expected 

changes to the business rates listing.  
 
The level of fees and charges has been assessed in conjunction with Heads of 

Service. The proposed levels for 2022/23 take account of the following factors in line 
with the Council’s Charging Policy: 

 
 

 The cost of providing services should be fully met by income; 

 There is a standard approach to concessions for those on low incomes; 

 Where a subsidy is agreed, this should be used to support the development of 

Council services in accordance with priorities; and 

 Subsidies should be reconfirmed annually. 
 
Key Budget Risks  

 

The Government has, or is expected to, consult on a number of national reforms 
which will impact of the Council’s finances. These include: 
 

 Fair funding review; 

 The Business Rates Retention Scheme including resetting the baseline income; 

 Replacement of the New Homes Bonus Scheme. 
 

These changes will have a significant impact on the Council’s finances. 
 
The national economic situation remains challenging and unpredictable. The impacts 

of the  coronavirus pandemic have largely receded in economic magnitude, only to be 
replaced by the impacts of the Ukraine war. This conflict has had a major impact on 

energy and supply contracts across Europe, fuelling inflation and leading to significant 

Page 96



 

  

increase in the Council’s costs. The economic outlook will continue to be monitored 
particularly as to how this affects interest rates and asset valuations.  
 

Adequacy of Reserves  

 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Local Authority 
Accounting Panel (LAAP) has a guidance note on Local Authority Reserves and 
Balances (LAAP Bulletin 77) to assist local authorities in this process. This guidance is 

not statutory, but compliance is recommended in CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of 
the Finance Director in Local Government. It is best practice to follow this guidance.  

 
The guidance however states that no case has yet been made to set a statutory 
minimum level of reserves, either as an absolute amount or a percentage of budget. 

Each Local Authority should take advice from its Chief Finance Officer and base its 
judgement on local circumstances.  

 
Reserves should be held for three main purposes:  

 

 A working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows and avoid 
unnecessary temporary borrowing – this forms part of general reserves;  

 A contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies – this 
also forms part of general reserves;  

 A means of building up funds known as ‘earmarked reserves’, to meet known or 

predicted funding requirements.  

 

The CIPFA Guidance highlights a range of factors, in addition to cash flow 
requirements, that Councils should consider including:  

 

 The treatment of inflation; 
 The treatment of demand led pressures; 

 Efficiency savings;  

 Partnerships; and  
 The general financial climate, including the impact on investment income.  

 
The guidance also refers to reserves being deployed to fund recurring expenditure 

and indicates that this is not a long-term option. If the Council chooses to use reserves 
as recommended within the Budget, appropriate action will need to be factored into 
the MTFP to ensure that this is addressed over time.  

 
The risk assessment process has identified a number of key risks which could impact 

on the Council’s resources. The Council continues to face significant funding 
reductions and on-going budget pressures.  
With these risks in mind, it is recommended that the Council adopts a policy for 

reserves as follows:  

 

 Set aside sufficient sums in earmarked reserves that it considers prudent. These 
reserves are established as are required and are reviewed regularly for both 
adequacy and purpose and levels are reporting appropriately in line with the 

established reporting processes; and 

 General Reserves are maintained to be at least at the level of the contingency 

requirement calculated with reference to LAAP Bulletin 77 and reported to Council 
as part of the approved MTFP.   

Page 97



 

  

 
Earmarked reserves have been established to provide resources for specific 
purposes.  

 
 
Opinion 

 
In my professional view, if the Council were to accept the current MTFP then the level 

of risks identified in the budget process, alongside the Council’s financial management 
arrangements suggest that the level of reserves is adequate.  

 
 
Martin Owen FCCA 

Executive Director (Finance & Customer Services (S151 Officer)) 
 

 
 
  

Page 98



 

  

ANNEX D 
 

Proposed Revenue Projections (2023/24 to 2026/27) – General Fund   
 

Budget Heading 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ 

Employees 11,884,360 12,303,430 12,655,280 13,010,620 

Premises 5,005,320 5,255,580 5,469,850 5,661,290 

Transport 434,290 440,810 449,630 458,620 

Supplies & Services 10,748,030 10,953,950 11,078,440 11,331,540 

Benefits 
             

82,460          82,460          82,460         82,460 

Borrowing 1,460,670 1,763,850 2,043,540 2,178,880 

Parish Grant re Council Tax Support 16,290 0 0 0 

Financing Costs 22,130 22,130 22,130 22,130 

          

Total Expenditure 29,653,550 30,822,210 31,801,330 32,745,540 

          

Fees and Charges / Other Income 

      

(7,341,790)   (7,381,790) 

   

(7,421,790)   (7,461,790) 

Interest Receipts  
         

(699,260)      (673,640) 
      

(609,110)      (617,440) 

HRA Recharges 
      

(8,888,290)   (9,220,690) 
   

(9,544,280)   (9,827,360) 

Capital Recharges 

         

(231,240)      (231,240) 

      

(231,240)      (231,240) 

          

Net Expenditure 12,492,970 13,314,850 13,994,910 14,607,710 

          

Council Tax 
      

(6,634,480)   (6,825,540) 
   

(7,020,230)   (7,218,610) 

Business Rates Retention 
      

(5,264,130)   (5,691,250) 
   

(5,859,720)   (6,049,120) 

Lower Tier Services/ Services Grant 

         

(645,870)      (199,750) 

      

(199,750)      (199,750) 

New Homes Bonus 
         

(368,950)      (300,000) 
      

(275,000)      (250,000) 

Contribution to / (use of) Reserves 
             

(1,640)          (1,640)          (1,640)         (1,640) 

Contribution to / (use of) Balances 

        

1,034,580        (95,300) 

      

(237,240)      (282,060) 

Collection Fund 
         

(612,480)        (51,370)        (51,330)       (56,530) 

Total Financing 
     

(12,492,970) 
 

(13,164,850) 
 

(13,644,910) (14,057,710) 

          

Cumulative Deficit / (Surplus) 

                     

0        150,000 

        

350,000        550,000 

          

Efficiency Requirement (cumulative) 
                     

0      (150,000) 
      

(350,000)      (550,000) 

          

Deficit / (Surplus) 0 0 0 0 

          

Cumulative Deficit (call on 
reserves) 0 0 0 0 

          

Page 99



 

  

 

 
Proposed Revenue Projections (2023/24 to 2026/27) – Housing Revenue Account  

 

Budget Heading 
2023/24  

Projection 

2024/25  

Projection 

2025/26 

Projection 

2026/27 

Projection 

  £ £ £ £ 

Repairs & Maintenance  5,245,690 5,512,090 5,770,680 5,988,760 

Supervision & Management  2,804,230 2,848,230 2,890,230 2,932,230 

Rates, Rents, Taxes, Charges  109,130 109,130 109,130 109,130 

Other Operating Expenditure 827,290 851,180 877,110 903,040 

Depreciation & Impairment Charges 2,182,000 2,182,000 2,182,000 2,182,000 

Interest & Debt Management Charges 2,579,580 2,478,690 2,305,160 2,207,450 

HRA Contribution to Capital Program 3,842,000 3,058,000 2,850,000 2,750,000 

          

Total Expenditure 17,589,920 17,039,320 16,984,310 17,072,610 

          

Dwellings Rents (15,322,760) (16,467,160) (16,632,820) (17,122,480) 

Non - Dwelling Rents & Other Income (638,990) (648,630) (658,750) (669,380) 

          

Total Income (15,961,750) (17,115,790) (17,291,570) (17,791,860) 

          

(Surplus) / Deficit for year 1,628,170 (76,470) (307,260) (719,250) 

          
 

Page 100



APPENDIX B 

 
                               

 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

CAPITAL STRATEGY  
2023/24 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 101



1. Introduction & Background  

 

1.1. The 2017 edition of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 

Authorities requires local authorities to produce a ‘Capital Strategy’ from 
2019/20. The purpose of the Capital Strategy is to demonstrate that the 
Council’s capital expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with 

corporate priorities and properly take account of the following: 
 

 Stewardship 

 Value for money 

 Prudence 

 Sustainability, and 

 Affordability  

 
1.2. The Capital Strategy is intended to give a high-level overview of how capital 

expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to 
the provision of services along with an overview of how associated risk is 

managed and the implications for future sustainability. It allows authorities to 
give greater weight to local circumstances and explain their approach to 
borrowing and investment. 

 
1.3. The Capital Strategy forms part of the Council’s integrated revenue, capital 

financial planning and sets out the long-term context in which capital 
expenditure and investment decisions are made. It is an integral component 
of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and is aligned with the Council’s: 

 

 Corporate Plan 

 Asset Management Strategy 

 Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 

 Growth Strategy, and 

 Treasury Management Strategy 

 
1.4. The strategy will provide for a balanced, sustainable capital programme over 

the medium term planning period ensuring that limited resources are applied 

in the most effective, efficient and economical way to contribute to the 
achievement of the Council’s Corporate Plan.  

 
1.5. The strategy sets out how the Council will prioritise its capital spending plans 

within the resources available and indicates the action to be taken to 

maximise resources for capital spending. The strategy is strategic in nature 
and will focus upon the process for determining capital investment priorities.  

 
1.6. The strategy sets out the strategic approach to the management of debt and 

borrowing. The detailed implications of this are contained within the Treasury 

Management Strategy (TMS) which is updated annually. 
 

1.7. The Capital Strategy will be updated annually alongside the Council’s MTFP. 
There will also be a fundamental review of the strategy alongside a revision 
of the Corporate Plan. 

  

Page 102



2. Corporate Priorities 

 

2.1. The Capital Strategy is driven by local priorities. The Council’s spending 
strategy is set out in the Corporate Plan formally adopted by the Council. 

 
2.2. Following the elections in May 2019 and new political administration, there 

was a fundamental review of the Corporate Plan focussing on the period 

2019-2023 (up to the end of the current political administration). The 
Corporate Plan was agreed by Council on 15th October 2019 with 2020/21 

representing the first full year of the new Corporate Plan. 
 
2.3. The Council’s 4-year Corporate Plan (2019-2023) establishes the Council’s 

vision, corporate objectives, and key priorities for the medium term.  It 
establishes the Council’s commitment in the delivery of service and 

community leadership to the residents of the High Peak. The Council’s vision 
is expressed as: 

 

“Working together to protect and invest in the High Peak with the Council on 
your side” 

 

 This vision is articulated further by four aims: 
 

 Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak 

 A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward thinking council 

 Protect and create jobs in the High Peak by supporting economic growth, 
development & regeneration 

 Protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate 
emergency 

 

2.4. These aims are supported by a number of objectives which also provide the 
framework for the delivery of service plans. The Council’s objectives are 

summarised below:  
 

 

 Aim Objectives 

 

1 

Supporting our 
communities to 
create a healthier, 
safer, cleaner High 
Peak 

 Effective relationship with strategic partners 

 Effective provision of high-quality public amenities, clean streets and 
environmental health 

 Fit for purpose housing that meets the need of tenants and residents 

 Practical support of community safety arrangements 

 Provision of high quality leisure facilities both in formal leisure 
centres and swimming pools and out in our communities 

 Work with our partners and the community to address health 
inequality, food and fuel poverty, mental health and loneliness 

 
2 

A responsive, smart, 
financially resilient 
and forward thinking 
Council 
 
 

 Ensure our future financial resilience can be financially sustainable 
whilst offering value for money 

 Ensure our services are readily available to all our residents in the 
appropriate channels and provided “right first time” 

 Invest in our staff to ensure we have the internal expertise to deliver 
our plans by supporting our high performing and well motivated 
workforce 

 More effective use of Council assets to benefit our communities 

 Effective procurement with a focus on local businesses 

 Use innovation, technology and partnership with others to help 
improve the efficiency of services, improve customer satisfaction and 
reduce our impact on the environment 

Page 103



 Aim Objectives 

 
3 

Protect and create 
jobs in the High 
Peak by supporting 
economic 
growth, development 
& regeneration 

 Encourage business start-ups and enterprises 

 Work to create flourishing town centres and thriving high streets that 
support the local economy 

 Promote tourism to maximise local benefit 

 High quality development and building control with an “open for 
business approach” 

 Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, 
businesses and visitors 

 Working to support existing local businesses, both large and small 
across the High Peak as they respond to future challenges 

 Supporting the development of innovative green jobs and 
businesses across the High Peak 

 
4 

Protect and Improve 
the Environment 
including responding 
to the climate 
emergency 

 Effective recycling and waste management 

 Effective provision of quality parks and open spaces 
 Meeting the challenge of climate change and working with residents 

and business across the High Peak to implement the climate change 
action plan 

 
2.5. The Council is committed to playing the lead role in championing the local 

area. In so doing the Council recognises its community leadership role. 

Fulfilling this role effectively means influencing partners in a number of key 
areas in order to ensure that services are shaped and delivered around the 

needs and aspirations of citizens. The Council’s influencing role will be 
focused in the following priority areas:  

 

 Work with Derbyshire County Council and other partners to enable high 
speed internet across the borough 

 Support the development of more cycle routes whilst working with 

Derbyshire County Council and residents to ensure harmony amongst 
road users 

 Working with regional partners such as Derbyshire County Council, 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority, and the South Yorkshire 

Mayoral Combined Authority (SYMCA) to improve public transport links 
across the borough and extend the GM rail ticketing boundary 

 Encouraging local organisations and businesses to reduce their carbon 

footprint 

 Ensure the best use of public assets across the borough by working via 

the One Public Estate project 
 

2.6. The Council will also continue to seek to influence our partners in the 

following long term projects: 

 Work with the private sector on regeneration schemes including The 

Crescent and Torr Vale Mill 

 Pressing for more regular and faster rail links and public transport links 

and essential road infrastructure (i.e. A628 / A6 bypasses, Whaley 
Bridge 2nd Bridge, Gamesley Station) 

 Supporting the completion of the off-road route for the Trans Pennine 

Trail and access to the Monsal and Tissington Trails 

 Maintaining the provision of accessible health of social care and working 

with partners to ensure health and well being 

 Support the police in dealing with anti social behaviour 

 Work with partners to bring additional funding into the borough 

Page 104



 
2.7. The Plan identifies key priority outcomes, which will be the highest priority in 

the development of performance targets and key actions.  A significant 
proportion of the Council’s resources will be directed towards achieving 

them:  
 

Aim Priority Outcomes 

Supporting our communities 

to create a healthier, safer, 
cleaner High Peak 

 Improved housing repairs service 
 Improved private sector housing 

conditions 

 Increased supply of affordable housing 

 Increased level of community support 

A responsive, smart, 

financially resilient and 
forward thinking Council 

 

 Increased use of local firms through 
procurement 

 Provision of more apprenticeships 
 Increased levels of customer 

satisfaction 

 Better engagement with our local 
communities 

Protect and create jobs in 

the High Peak by supporting 
economic growth, 

development & regeneration 

 Increased economic growth 

 Higher paid employment 

 New tourism opportunities 
 Thriving and flourishing town centres 

and high streets 

Protect and improve the 
environment including 

responding to the climate 

emergency 

 Reduction in carbon emissions 

 Reduced levels of environmental crime 

 Appropriate response to the climate 
emergency declaration through a 
deliverable plan 

 
 
3. Capital Spending Priorities 

 
3.1. The Council’s capital investment priorities are determined by the corporate 

priorities set out above. The key capital investment priorities for the Council 
are therefore as follows:  

 
Corporate Property – the Council will invest in maintaining the properties 
that support the delivery of services direct to residents.  

 
Affordable Housing –the Council is committed to maintaining a “fit for 

purpose” housing stock that meets the needs of tenants and in addition will 
support the additional provision of housing by other registered providers.  

 

Other Corporate Assets – the Council will invest in other assets that support 
the delivery of services e.g. transport fleet.   

 
Private Sector Housing Renewal – the Council will support investment in the 
improvement in housing conditions throughout the borough.  

 
Enabling Growth – the Council will support the growth of business and 

employment opportunities within the district in addition to housing 
development in line with the commitments set out in the Local Plan   

Page 105



 
Service Transformation – the Council will invest in projects that improve 

service performance or reduce service expenditure on an “invest to save” 
basis that will include investment in ICT. 

 
 
4. Asset Management Planning 

 
4.1. The overriding objective of asset management is to ensure that the Council 

maintains a portfolio of property assets that is appropriate, fit for purpose 
and affordable. 

 

4.2. The Council’s property portfolio consists of the following: 
 

 Operational property i.e. assets that support core business and service 
delivery 
 

 Investment properties held to support economic growth and / or to 
provide a financial return to the Council e.g. industrial units 
 

 Community assets e.g. parks, playgrounds and open spaces. 
 

4.3. Asset management is an important part of the counci l’s management 
arrangements and is crucial to the delivery of value for money services. The 

Council through production of its Asset Management Plan (AMP) is 
committed to: 

 

 Optimise the Council’s land and property portfolio through proactive estate 
management and effective corporate arrangements for the acquisition and 
disposal;  

 A regular review of the condition of retained properties including a long-
term (30-year) assessment of the necessary investment to maintain the 

assets fit for purpose; and 

 Realise the value of any properties that have been declared surplus to 

requirements in a timely manner, having regard to the market conditions. 
 
5. Service delivery & commercial activities and investments 

 

5.1. The revised Treasury Management Code 2021 requires all investments and 

investment income to be attributed to one of the following three purposes: 
 
Treasury management 

Arising from the organisation’s cash flows or treasury risk management 
activity, this type of investment represents balances which are only held until 

the cash is required for use. Treasury investments may also arise from other 
treasury risk management activity which seeks to prudently manage the risks, 
costs or income relating to existing or forecast debt or treasury investments. 

 
Service delivery 

Investments held primarily and directly for the delivery of public services 
including housing, regeneration and local infrastructure.  Returns on this 
category of investment which are funded by borrowing are permitted only in 

Page 106



cases where the income is “either related to the financial viability of the project 
in question or otherwise incidental to the primary purpose”. 

 
Commercial return 

Investments held primarily for financial return with no treasury management or 
direct service provision purpose.  Risks on such investments should be 
proportionate to an authority’s financial capacity – i.e., that ‘plausible losses’ 

could be absorbed in budgets or reserves without unmanageable detriment to 
local services. An authority must not borrow to invest primarily for financial  

return. 
 

5.2. Treasury management investments are considered in the Treasury 

Management Strategy Statement, whereas Service delivery and Commercial 
return are considered to be Non-Treasury investments and, as such, are 

considered here in the Capital Strategy. 
 

5.3. Service delivery investments could include projects contributing to the 

achievement of the Council’s Corporate Plan ambitions for example on  
housing and regeneration; or investments in a company in which the Council 

has a stake and is established for the delivery of Council services. 
  
5.4. Commercial investments may include investments explicitly taken with the 

aim of making a financial surplus for the Council, or be fixed assets which 
are held primarily for financial benefit or to support economic growth. 

 
5.5. The reasons for commercial investments are: 
 

 Financial returns to fund services to residents; 

 Reductions in service spending; 

 Pursuing the Council’s Growth Strategy; and 

 Economic development and regeneration activity in the district. 
 

5.6. The Council will consider options to invest prudently on a commercial basis 
and to take advantage of opportunities as they present themselves, 

supported by our robust governance process. 
 
5.7. Such investments do not always give priority to security and liquidity over 

yield. In these cases, such a decision will be explicit, with the additional risks 
set out and the impact on financial sustainability identified and reported. 

Before considering any such investments the Council will ensure:  
 

 That it has the appropriate legal powers to undertake such investments;  

 There is no wider detrimental impact to the Council in progressing a 

commercial investment (e.g. around overall borrowing powers) and 

 That any investment is proportionate of all investments in order to avoid an 
excessive level of risk.  

 

5.8. The commercial investments may involve the acquisition of property. The 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) define 
investment property as property held solely to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation or both. Historically, property has provided strong investment 

returns in terms of stable income. Property investment is not without risk as 
property values can fall as well as rise and changing economic conditions 

Page 107



could cause tenants to leave with properties remaining vacant. These risks 
will continue to be identified and managed through the Council’s Risk 

Management Framework. 
 

6. Loans to Third Parties 
 

6.1. The Council has discretion to grant loans to third parties for several reasons. 

These loans are treated as capital expenditure. In making loans, the Council 
is exposing itself to the risk that the borrower defaults on repayments. The 

Council, in making these loans, will therefore ensure they are prudent and 
that the risks have been identified and fully considered.  

 

6.2. The Council will periodically review its loan portfolio to ensure that the 
cumulative exposure of the Council is proportionate and prudent. 

 
6.3. The Council will ensure that a full due diligence exercise is undertaken for 

each individual loan and will ensure that adequate security is in place. The 

business case for each loan will consider all the benefits and the risks.  
 

 
 
6.4. It will be necessary to assess the level of risk attached to the provision of 

each individual loan and, consequently, build in a ‘risk premium’ into the 
interest rate charges to account for this. The factors taken into account in 

determining this premium include: 
 

 the level of security; 

 financial position and credit rating;  

 the overall term of the loan; and  

 the value of the loan.  
 

6.5. The step by step process undertaken is outlined below: 
 
STEP 1 – Assessing 

available market rates 
In liaison with the Council’s Advisors, the interest rate the third 

party would be expected to pay if accessing funding from the 
market (based on amount/loan term etc) is estimated.  This is to 
ensure the rate the Council is offering is competitive and not 

undercutting the market. Reference is also made in this 
consideration to subsidy (formerly known as state aid) 

implications.   
STEP 2 – Assessing 
credit quality 

The next consideration is credit quality – which may then 
consequently reduce/increase the rate.  Factors that are taken 
into account include: credit ratings (if applicable), the financial 

position of the borrower, what security is available etc. 
STEP 3 – Assessment 
of Corporate Plan 

objectives 

Finally, there is an overall assessment of the purpose of the 
third-party loan and linking this to the Council’s Corporate Plan 

objectives – local factors based on the outcomes of the loan 
may have an influence on the rate charged. 

 

6.6. All loans are agreed by full Council in line with the Council’s constitution. All 
loans will also be subject to regular monitoring. 

Page 108



 
7. Capital Expenditure 

 
7.1. Capital spending decisions will appropriately reflect the aspirations and 

priorities included within the Corporate Plan and its supporting strategies. 
 
7.2. Any scheme / project to be added to the Capital Programme will be subject 

to a ‘gateway’ process and prioritised according to availability of resources 
and the longer-term impact on the council’s financial position. The ‘gateway’ 

process will be undertaken in line with the Council’s agreed project 
management methodology with a robust business case being developed at 
the critical stages of project approval and initiation. This process will be 

overseen by the Council’s Transformation Board. 
 

7.3. The business case will include the following considerations: 
 

 A clear assessment of the cost of financing the capital scheme, net of 

revenue benefits, profiled over the lifetime of each scheme; and 

 Commissioning and procuring for capital schemes will comply with the 

requirements set out in the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. 
 

7.4. The Capital Strategy and the Capital Programme will be agreed by the 
Council in February each year as part of the budget setting process. The 
Medium Term Financial Plan, Asset Management Plan and Treasury 

Management Strategy will be considered at the same time.  In year 
variations of spend (subject to budget tolerance levels) and the re-profiling of 

schemes will be considered and approved by the Executive.  
 
7.5. The Executive and the Corporate Select Committee receive capital 

monitoring reports as part of the quarterly performance and financial 
monitoring reports. 

 
7.6. The Executive considers and approves new bids for inclusion in the capital 

programme. Approval to spend on individual capital schemes will only be 

given once this approval has been achieved. 
 

7.7. Each approved scheme will be included in the Council’s Transformation 
Programme and one of the Council’s Alliance Leadership Team (ALT) will be 
assigned as Project Executive and will be responsible / accountable for the 

delivery of the scheme.  
 
7.8. Wherever possible, the Council will take a long term view of plans in order to 

assess affordability and the demand on future capital resources. It is 
essential for example to consider the lifespan and fitness for purpose of 

assets. This will be considered through asset management planning 
(condition surveys) and wider service-based exercises e.g. leisure centre 
provision evaluation.  

 
7.9. There is a clear demand for long term planning for capital and treasury 

management purposes. The Council’s debt portfolio contains loans that 
mature up to 2066/67. The debt repayment profile needs to be managed 

Page 109



alongside the longer-term expectations for capital expenditure and funding 
forecasts. 

 
7.10. Long-term forecasts are not easily predicted, and the accuracy of all financial 

estimates will be limited. However, long-term forecasting is valuable in 
informing strategic plans taking account of the cumulative sustainability and 
affordability of existing and planned investments which will need to be repaid 

over future periods. For major projects and investment, the funding and 
financial implications need to be planned well in advance. 

 
8. Resourcing Capital Expenditure  

 

8.1. To fund its capital investment, the Council will have access to limited sources 
of funding. The main sources of funding are as follows:  

 
Capital Receipts  

 

These will be yielded from the disposal of land and property. A programme of 
disposal will be agreed by the Executive. This will be informed by the asset 

management planning process. In considering disposals the Council will take 
account of the following: 
 

o Potential loss of income from investment properties  
o Projected saving in running costs, and capital costs of major investment 

required  
o Assessment against fitness of premises for purpose and current patterns 

of need  

 
The Secretary of State has allowed the flexible use of capital receipts. It is 

considered that individual local authorities will be best placed to decide which 
projects will be most effective for their area. The key criteria to use when 
deciding whether expenditure can be funded by the capital receipts flexibility 

is that it is forecast to generate ongoing savings. If the Council plans to use 
this funding option a proposal will be prepared setting out the planned use, 

listing the projects and the expected savings and / or improvements in service 
outcomes for each project, and the impact on the Council’s prudential 
indicators. 

 
Borrowing  

 
Capital projects that cannot be funded from any other source can be funded 
from borrowing. Local Authorities can borrow to fund schemes where it is 

prudent to so. They need to consider their ability to pay for the borrowing. The 
levels of borrowing are determined by using the indicators set out in the 

Prudential Code. The borrowing repayment and interest charges on the loan 
need to be met from existing revenue budgets or identify them as new growth 
in the annual budget setting process and factor them into the MTFP. 

 
The Chief Finance Officer will make an assessment of the overall prudence, 

affordability and sustainability of the total borrowing requested and the impact 
of the Council’s borrowing will be reported in the Treasury Management 

Page 110



Strategy alongside the Prudential Indicators required by CIPFA’s Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance. 

 
The Chief Finance Officer will also determine whether the borrowing should 

be from internal resources or whether to enter into external borrowing. This 
decision making will be undertaken in line with the Council’s Treasury 
Strategy and will be reported to the Audit & Regulatory Committee as part of 

the monitoring of treasury management activity.  
 

Revenue Funding 
 

The Council may use revenue budgets to fund capital expenditure. This may 
be via a capital reserve which has been established to finance capital 

expenditure as an alternative to external borrowing. 
 
The Council will formally review such reserves and their application both as 

part of the budget setting process and at finalisation of the annual accounts.   
 

S106 contributions  
 

The principal purpose of S106 agreements is to support individual planning 

applications in line with the Council’s planning policies. Wider contributions 
are constrained by legislation and must be negotiated and justified. 

 
The Council will ensure, where possible, that these are focussed towards 
corporate priorities subject to the legislative constraints. 

 

External Grant Funding  
 

The Council has a history of success in bidding for grants from several 

sources. There is a risk of reacting to funding opportunities informed by 
external priorities rather than chasing those that match the Council’s priorities/ 

needs.  
 
The Council will seek to ensure that bids are submitted to support investment 

that is directed to the commitments made in the Corporate Plan.   
 

Partnership Funding 
 

There are a number of examples where the Council has attracted third party 

funding from partners e.g. leisure centre investment from long-term 
contractor.     

 
The Council is aware of the need to be innovative and to work closely with the 
private, public, and voluntary sectors to deliver outcomes in line with the 

Corporate Plan priorities at a time when there will be reduced levels of capital 
resources. 

 
Any such investments will be considered only if they are more cost effective 
than the Council investing directly. 

 
9. Forecast Expenditure and Resources 

Page 111



 
9.1. The forecasted General Fund capital spend over the current financial 

planning period (2022/23 to 2026/27) is as follows: 
 

Service Area  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Housing  374,000 504,000 504,000 504,000 504,000 2,390,000 

Asset Management  4,136,530 4,782,680 1,561,580 1,829,490 383,620 12,693,900 

Housing Grants 519,110 555,000 555,000 555,000 555,000 2,739,110 
ICT Strategy 73,940 50,000 62,780 50,480             -    237,200 

Fleet Management 925,960 1,444,490 119,500 1,214,100  1,754,990  5,459,040 
Leisure  118,220 2,307,370     100,000              -                -    2,525,590 

Regeneration  10,940,500 1,898,070 1,100,750             -                -    13,939,320 

Total Revised Programme  17,088,260 11,541,610 4,003,610 4,153,070 3,197,610 39,984,160 

 

9.2. The individual projects that are included in the above include:  
 

 Housing - Contribution to third party social housing projects from the 

Council’s allowable use of right to buy “one for one” housing capital 
receipts. 
  

 Asset Management Plan (AMP) – the costs identified in ensuring the 

Council’s property portfolio remain fit for purpose.  This includes: 
- Public Buildings 
- Car Parks 

- Public Conveniences 
- Waterways & Infrastructure  

- Leisure Centres 
- Depots & Parks Buildings 
 

 Housing Grants – the Borough Council is the duty holder for the 

mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs).  All eligible applicants are 
entitled to receive mandatory funding for certain major adaptations to their 
properties.  Funding for this scheme is provided through the Better Care 

Fund via the County Council. It is intended that new service delivery 
arrangements from April 2023 will enable a wider range of grant options to 

be delivered; offer more advice and improved promotional activities, to 
increase user uptake. 
 

 ICT Strategy – an updated IT Strategy is being developed currently, 
alongside an Organisational Development Strategy and Access to 

Services Strategy.  The aim is to drive a change in culture and deliver the 
systems, processes and skills required in an environment where 
information is shared seamlessly through connected systems.  
 

 Fleet Management – the estimated costs of the replacement fleet 

programme are included within the capital programme.  However, options 
appraisals are undertaken prior to purchase to determine the most cost 
effective method of financing.  Therefore, other funding models, for 

example, contract hire, or leasing may be undertaken for some vehicles 
categories. 

 

Page 112



 Other schemes – include schemes such as Public Sector Decarbonisation, 
Cemetery Road Football & Community Hub, Glossop Halls, Move More 

and the Fairfield Roundabout and link Road. 
 

9.3. The resources that are to be used to finance the General Fund Capital 
Programme are as follows: 

 

 
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Financed by:-             
External Contributions  9,706,590 2,313,500 555,000 555,000 555,000 13,685,090 

Planning Obligations  15,000 170,980             -                -                -    185,980 
Capital Receipts (Land)  45,000 1,000,000  1,900,000  3,057,070 2,138,610 8,140,680 

Capital Receipts (one for 
one) 374,000 504,000 504,000 504,000 504,000 2,390,000 

Capital Receipts (Vehicles)  90,750 114,750 5,500 37,000             -    248,000 
Borrowing 6,856,920 7,438,380 1,039,110             -                -    15,334,410 

Total Revised Financing  17,088,260 11,541,610 4,003,610 4,153,070  3,197,610  39,984,160 
       

 

9.4. The forecast HRA capital spending over the current financial planning period 
(2022/23 to 2026/27) is as follows: 

 

  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Asset Management 
works 

5,680,730 5,800,520 5,052,000 4,932,000 4,832,000 26,297,250 

Repairs Team Capital 
works 

65,980 
            -                   -                   -                 -    

65,980 

Commissioning Costs 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000 

Vehicle Replacements  706,860 23,480                -                   -                 -    730,340 
ICT Strategy               -    100,000 88,000                -                 -    188,000 
Repurchase Dwellings  243,030 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 1,043,030 

Total Programme 6,796,600 6,224,000 5,440,000 5,232,000 5,132,000 28,824,600 
              

 
9.5. This is all to be financed directly from the HRA, with no additional borrowing 

requirement based on current forecasts: 

 

  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Funded by:             
Major Repairs Reserve 2,268,000 2,182,000 2,182,000 2,182,000 2,182,000 10,996,000 
HRA Contribution 4,200,680 3,842,000 3,058,000 2,850,000 2,750,000 16,700,680 

External Funding (LAD)  84,890             -                   -                   -                 -    84,890 
Capital Receipts  243,030 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 1,043,030 
Total Financing 6,796,600 6,224,000 5,440,000 5,232,000 5,132,000 28,824,600 

 

9.6. The commercial investments held by the Council can be summarised as 
follows: 

 

Page 113



 Industrial units - commercial units available for small and medium sized 
organisations to rent for the operation of their business. 

 Property rentals – rental streams generated from sharing Council 
properties with partners/external organisations and from garage rents. 

 Nestle Water – commercial agreement in place between the Council and 
Nestle to access the Buxton water source.  Agreement financially benefits 

the Council in the form of an annual payment based on sales of bottled 
water.  

 Buxton Crescent – capital contribution to the Buxton Crescent Hotel and 

Thermal Spa Co. Ltd. and grant and provision of a loan to the Buxton 

Heritage Trust to support the Crescent development project.   

 AES - company established in partnership with Staffordshire Moorlands 
District Council and ANSA (wholly owned company of Cheshire East 

Council) to deliver waste, streets, fleet, and grounds maintenance. 

 Alliance Norse Limited – a company established in partnership with High 

Peak Borough Council and Norse Commercial Services Limited (a trading 
arm of the Norse Group which is wholly owned by Norfolk County Council) 

to deliver housing repairs capital investment and facilities management 
services to the Council’s property assets. 

 

9.7. The following investments are being considered currently: 
 

 Investment in / disposal of key strategic land to enable housing and 

business development 

 Working with partner organisations on the potential development of 

combined use facilities/office accommodation  

 Alternative service delivery arrangements for the delivery of trading 

services 

 The extent of regeneration required for Buxton town centre to combine 
with the funding from the Future High Street Fund and complement the 

purchase of The Springs Shopping Centre and its wider development. 
  

10. Long-term Considerations 

 
10.1. There are a number of functions where there are long term capital spending 

liabilities that have been identified. 
 

Asset Management Plan – Non-Housing Portfolio 
 
10.2. The Council is developing a revised Asset Management Strategy to ensure 

the future delivery of efficient asset management. This work is being 
progressed following the recent completion of updated condition surveys 

which have provided the 30-year costs of maintaining the general fund asset 
stock.  The below will then be reset. 

 

10.3. The current indicative capital investment required can be summarised as 
follows: 

 

HPBC - Capital Investment Required 
2016-17 - 
2019-20 
(MTFP) 

2020-21 - 
2045-46 (26 

Years) 
TOTAL 

 £ £ £ 

Page 114



Public Buildings 8,450,983 6,188,951 14,639,934 
Car Parks 120,000 3,754,462 3,874,462 

Public Conveniences 123,400 949,300 1,072,700 
Waterways & Infrastructure Assets 671,360 1,230,000 1,901,360 
Leisure Centres 45,000 6,825,129 6,870,129 

Depots and Parks Buildings 144,700 1,301,785 1,446,485 
TOTAL 9,555,443 20,249,627 29,805,070 
    
 

10.4. The overall outcomes of the existing surveys can be summarised as follows: 

 A number of the Council’s operational assets are dated in appearance and 
require investment; 

 The Council’s car parks require capital investment; 

 There are structural issues associated with a number of the Council’s 

buildings that require resolution; 

 There are urgent works related to health and safety requirements that 

need to be resolved; and 

 Investment is required to the electrical and mechanical infrastructure of a 

number of buildings.  
 
10.5. The results from these surveys have informed the development of the 

Council’s four-year Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). Adjustments have 
been made to exclude any major investment in the Council’s leisure centres, 

operational depots, and office accommodation where it is assumed that 
investment will be deferred pending the major decisions that link to changes 
in the service delivery arrangements which are in progress.  

 
10.6. The indicative investment for 30-years will have a significant impact on the 

Council’s future revenue budgets and the analysis shows that the Council’s 
property portfolio in its current form is unaffordable. The estimated impact of 
the indicative capital projections for the 30-year investment requirements at 

the point the surveys were completed is detailed below: 
 

HPBC Estimated Revenue Consequences - Cumulative 
Impact 

2016-17 - 
2019-20 

(MTFP) 

2020-21 - 
2046-47 (26 

Years) 

TOTAL 

 £ £ £ 
Fit for Purpose Standard works - Cumulative Cost  295,619   592,838   888,457  
Current MTFP - Cumulative Cost (128,279) 810,860 682,581 

    
Additional Budget Requirement  167,340  1,403,698   1,571,038  
    

 

10.7. The above analysis shows that providing the investment in the longer term to 
maintain the Council’s property portfolio in its current form is unaffordable.    

 

10.8. In order to address this, the Council agreed to a number of actions to reduce 
the impact of the necessary capital spending. It was agreed that the 

following are considered before investment in each of the assets is made:  
 

 Asset rationalisation  

 Shared use of assets  

 Reduction in specification and functionality 

Page 115



 Generate additional capital receipts 

 Identify grants to support investment  

 Generate additional revenue from asset holdings  
 

Review of Strategic Land Holdings 
 

10.9. In order to address a number of the considerations above, the Council 
agreed to review its strategic land holdings with a view to developing options 
to either generate additional capital receipts or opportunities to generate 

ongoing financial returns.  
 

10.10. The outcomes from this review were agreed by the Executive in July 2018 
following recommendations by the Corporate Select Committee through the 
work of its Asset Management Working Group. 

 
10.11. The review identified several work streams that formed the foundations of 

the emerging strategy. There are five areas of focus: 
 

 Routine Land Disposal Work 

 Accelerated Housing Delivery Project 

 Housing Infrastructure Fund Bids 

 Assessment of Other Land Holdings  

 Housing Estate Environmental Review  

 
10.12. The programme of land disposals that emerged from the strategy are in 

three categories: 
 

 Sites identified as surplus and earmarked immediately for disposal  

 Medium Term (to be considered in 2 to 4 years timescale)  

 Long term (difficult sites with negative values / HRA sites / smaller sites 
identified from assessment of other land holdings) 

 

10.13. The strategy was estimated to yield approximately £7.4 million over a four 

year period (which is reviewed and reprofiled at each update of the MTFP). 
A delivery plan identifying timescales, benefit realisation and cash flow 
analysis is included in the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 
Leisure Centres 

 
10.14. Given the age and condition of the leisure centres, significant capital 

investment is required over the next 30 years in order that these assets 

remain fit for purpose.  
 

10.15. The Council commissioned a review of its leisure centre provision in the 
context of its sports facility needs focusing on sports halls, swimming pools 
and other indoor provision. The purpose of undertaking this review was to 

inform the Council on options for future provision of council leisure centres 
and other sports facility based services from 2018 and beyond.  

 
10.16. The outcome from this review in effect set out a position statement on the 

suggested facility hierarchy and approach, along with recommendations for 

the phasing of future facility developments and rationalisation. The aim is to 

Page 116



ensure that the Council can develop a more sustainable solution in relation 
to meeting customer needs, affordability, and partner aspirations, whilst 

supporting the overall vision of the Council’s newly adopted Physical Activity 
& Sports Strategy. 

 
10.17. The effectiveness of the current leisure centre provision was also assessed. 

This assessment considered current income and expenditure benchmarks. 

The conclusion of the review was that the Council should consider the 
following investment requirements:  

 

 Replacement of Glossop Leisure Centre and Glossop Pool – single wet & 
dry community facility 

 Refurbishment and essential works at New Mills 

 Minor refurbishment and essential works at Buxton 

 2x 3G pitch developments 

 Investment in marked running / walking routes in towns and investment in 

equipment banks to support outreach service provision 
 

10.18. The indicative capital cost for the investments would be in the region of 
£19.25m. At this stage, the investment costs are significantly in excess of 
revenue savings and, consequently, it will be necessary for the Council to 

identify additional sources of capital investment to deliver these 
improvements. 

 
 Operational Depot Provision 
 

10.19. In 2017 the Council established Alliance Environmental Services (AES) 
which was created jointly with High Peak Borough Council and ANSA (a 

company owned by Cheshire East Council) to deliver the Council’s waste 
collection, street cleansing and grounds maintenance services. The 
Council’s waste collection service was transferred to the company in July 

2018 with the rest of functions having transferred by April 2020.     
  

10.20. Major investments in the operational depot facilities which have been leased 
/ licensed to AES has been deferred until the opportunity has been taken to 
review the requirements of the new company in light of widening of the base 

of the services provided. 
 

 HRA Stock Condition 
 

10.21. In April 2016 the Council’s Executive made a commitment to complete a full 

condition survey on the portfolio of housing properties by March 2019. The 
surveys commenced in July 2017 and were completed in December 2017. 
The surveyors gained access to 90.2% of the dwellings.  

 
10.22. The survey work was undertaken in three separate elements:  
 

 An intrusive survey of the non-traditional properties; 

 A survey of the garage sites; and  

 A survey of the general needs and sheltered stock.  
 

10.23. The 30 year cost projections that emerged from the survey are as follows: 

Page 117



 

Element Revised Total 

 £ 
Electric 16,659,719 
Kitchen 17,123,100  

Heating      18,948,106  
Roof      17,845,057  
Windows      16,080,979  

Bathroom      11,578,966  
External Walls        9,207,839  
Doors        7,700,340  

Internal Finishes        3,641,933  
Communal        4,510,086  
Outbuilding        1,683,466  

Environment Works         1,184,140  
Garages                        -    
Non-Traditional Repairs            986,000  

Decent Home Failure Costs            125,105  
  
TOTAL    127,274,836 

  
 

10.24. The investment required over the 30-year period is £31,898 per property 
which equates to £1,063 per property per year. The timing of the required 

investment is summarised in the table below. 
 

Years 
Total  

Required 
Spend per Year 

 
£ £ 

1 to 5 15,072,263     3,014,453  

6 to 10 19,432,065     3,886,413  

11 to 15 19,908,503     3,981,701  

16 to 20 22,792,467     4,558,493  

21 to 25 22,089,898     4,417,980  

26 to 30 27,979,642     5,595,928  

  
 

Total 127,274,836   

 

10.25. The survey revealed that 715 (17.9%) properties failed to meet the Decent 
Homes Standard (DHS). The DHS failures represent a total cost liability of 

£1,776,134 the majority of which sits within the planned maintenance profile, 
as they represent like-for-like element replacements. The properties that 
failed the DHS are given priority in the programming for capital investment.  

 
10.26. The survey included energy rating assessments (RdSAP (version 9.92)) to 

all dwellings where a stock condition survey was completed with the overall 
average SAP rating for the stock being 62.86 (equivalent of a mid-band D). 
The costs associated with improving the average SAP score were not 

included in the overall planned maintenance requirements but are being 
determined and incorporated into the annual programme. 

 
 Housing Estate Environmental Reviews 
 

Page 118



10.27. The Council has also separately commissioned and completed 
environmental reviews of individual estates at Fairfield, Buxton, Gamesley 

and New Mills. Part of this brief was to look at master planning and 
assessing various approaches to improving the estates under review. 

Potential environmental improvements are also identified in the final reports. 
These will need to be considered in detail alongside the costs identified in 
the stock condition survey as part of the HRA Business Plan action plan.  

 
10.28. The environmental review work has also identified housing development 

opportunities which potentially can be used to improve the long-term 
sustainability of the Council’s Housing Revenue Account (HRA) or allow for 
the offset of affordable housing requirements from other sites. The outcomes 

from this can be used in conjunction with the garage site survey, which also 
identifies development opportunities. In both cases there will need to be 

further work undertaken to confirm that any sites are suitable for 
redevelopment and a business case considered based on the financial, 
planning and infrastructure implications. 

 
11. Debt, Borrowing & Treasury Management 

 
11.1. Effective treasury management is critical to the safeguarding and 

management of the financial resources at the Council’s disposal.  Investment 

and borrowing decisions are made in accordance with the Council’s formally 
adopted Treasury Management Strategy. The Treasury Management 

Strategy is presented annually and approved by Full Council.   
 
11.2. There are key prudential indicators set in respect of the impact of capital 

expenditure.  The report details the forecast borrowing requirement over a 
four year period, the consequential borrowing costs and the impact of the 

Council’s capital financing requirement (CFR). The CFR is the total 
outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for either from 
revenue or capital resources, essentially the Council’s underlying borrowing 

need.  
 

11.3. The table below summarises the impact of the Council’s capital expenditure 
plans on the CFR: 

 

 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

 Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 
Capital Financing Requirement 

Service Investments 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

    CFR – general fund             

    CFR – housing 28,898 35,063 41,673 41,734 40,736 39,737 

 51,399 50,764 50,129 49,494 48,859 48,224 

Movement in CFR 80,297 85,827 91,802 91,228 89,595 87,961 

Represented by: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Net financing need for the year 1,592 6,856 7,438 1,039 0 0 

Page 119



Less Minimum Revenue 

Provision  

(1,836) (1,326) (1,463) (1,613) (1,633) (1,634) 

Movement in CFR (244) 5,530 5,975 (574) (1,633) (1,634) 

 

11.4. Where a borrowing requirement is identified, an assessment takes place on 

the most cost effective way to fund this.  This could result in ‘external 
borrowing’ from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), other Local 
Authorities, direct from the market or by utilising lease arrangements.   

 
11.5. Alternatively, ‘internal borrowing’ – the use of cash balances – could be used 

temporarily, particularly in the current interest rate climate where borrowing 
rates are high and predicted to fall towards the end of the MTFP.  This is 
kept under careful review balancing temporary availability of cash reserves 

with interest rate forecasts. 
 

11.6. The Council’s forward debt projections are shown in the table below in 
relation to the CFR: 

 

March 22 

Actual  

£000 

March 23 

Estimate  

£000 

March 24 

Estimate  

£000 

March 25 

Estimate  

£000 

March 26 

Estimate  

£000 

March 27 

Estimate  

£000 

External Borrowing 63,077 59,777 63,777 66,277 68,777 68,777 

Other long-term liabilities* 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Gross Debt at 31st March 63,077 59,777 63,777 66,277 68,777 68,777 

Change in Debt position** (3,748) (3,300) 4,000 2,500 2,500 0 

Capital Financing 

Requirement 
80,297 85,827 91,802 91,228 89,595 87,961 

(Under) / over borrowing (17,220) (26,050) (28,025) (24,951) (20,818) (19,184) 

*   Other long-term liab ilities will include Right-of-Use assets under accounting standard IFRS16 to be adopted 
from 2024/25. These are assets formerly known as operating leases which will be included on the balance sheet 
and therefore increase the CFR, similar to the former treatment of Finance Leases. The impact is expected to be 
immaterial therefore is not included at this stage. Should any changes be significant, the CFR limit and forecast 
will be revised during the year. 
 

**  Change in debt position in relates to maturing debts and forecast external borrowing 

 
 
12. Risk Management 

 
12.1. There are several key risks that will impact upon the successful 

implementation of the Council’s Capital Strategy.  
 
12.2. The Council operates effective risk management through its Risk 

Management Framework. Risk management is the process of identifying 
risks, evaluating their potential consequences, and determining the most 

effective methods of managing them and/or responding to them. It is both a 
means of minimising the costs and disruption to the Council caused by 
undesired events and of ensuring that the element of risk in all activities is 

properly understood. 
 

12.3. In order to manage risk effectively, the risks associated with each capital 
project need to be systematically identified, analysed, influenced and 

Page 120



monitored. It is important to identify the appetite for risk by each scheme and 
for the capital programme as a whole, especially when investing in capital 

assets held primarily for financial returns.  
 

12.4. An assessment of risk should therefore be built into each individual capital 
project and the major risks that identified should be recorded in the Projects 
Risk Register which is reported to the Council’s Audit & Accounts 

Committee.  
 

12.5. The risks associated with the Capital Strategy are detailed below with the 
mitigating actions: 

 
Risk Mitigating Actions 

Diminishing Resources   The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) carefully monitored 

and managed 

 New grant / funding opportunities explored 

 Partnership opportunities explored to share investment 

Project Delivery  Spending / Funding closely monitored  

 Projects managed through the Council’s project management 

methodology 

 Major projects reported through the council’s performance 
framework  

Commercial Investments   Exposure to non-repayment carefully managed through the 
contract management arrangements 

 Disinvestment potential will be regularly considered 

VAT Partial Exemption  Each capital investment will be closely reviewed to assess its 
VAT implications. 

 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Animal Boarding Establishments including Day 
Care and Home/Over Night Licence (initial or 
renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 
charged in addition to these fees based on full 
cost recovery:

1-10 animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £150.00 £250.00 66.67%

11+ animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £200.00 £300.00 50.00%

25 Plus 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £300.00 £400.00 33.33%

Animal boarding (Crèche Facility) - Commercial 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £250.00 £300.00 20.00%

Keeping/Training Animals Exhibition 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £150.00 £180.00 20.00%

Commercial Home Boarding (Host franchaise) 
upto 5 Households 

£400.00 £450.00 12.50%

Commercial Home Boarding (Host franchaise) 
upto 5 - 10 Households 

£600.00 £750.00 25.00%

Commercial Home Boarding (Host franchaise) 
10 Plus 

 
Price on 
Request

Price on 
Request

Approved Food Premises
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Camping Site Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Caravan & Camping Site Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Park Homes: New application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £350.00 £357.00 2.00%

Fee per 
additional pitch

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Licence 
amendment

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £180.00 £183.50 1.94%

Transfer of 
Licence

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £120.00 £122.50 2.08%

Annual fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £190.00 £194.00 2.11%

Deposit of site 
rules

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £100.00 £102.00 2.00%

Contaminated Land Enquiry:
(Initial Enquiry 2 
Hours Minimum 

Charge ) 

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £110.00 £125.00 13.64%

Each 
subsequent 
hour or part 

thereof

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £50.00 £60.00 20.00%

Cooling Tower Notification
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Dangerous Wild Animals Licence (initial or 
renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 
charged in addition to these fees based on full 
cost recovery:

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £400.00 £500.00 25.00%

Dog Breeding Establishments Licence (initial or 
renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 
charged in addition to these fees based on full 
cost recovery:

1-4 dogs
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £150.00 £300.00 100.00%

5+ dogs
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £300.00 £400.00 33.33%

10 Plus
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £350.00 £600.00 71.43%

Environmental Health Pre-Application advice 
(minimum 2 hours) 

(Initial Enquiry 2 
Hours Minimum 

Charge ) 

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £100.00 £125.00 25.00%

Each 
subsequent 
hour or part 

thereof

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £55.00 £60.00 9.09%

Environmental Permit
Fees Set by 

DEFRA
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Fees set by 
DEFRA

Fees set by 
DEFRA

Page 123



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Copy of Register of Authorisations  (Permits): 
under EIR Copying Charge Plus officer time 
charged for photocopying per hour or part 
thereof.

per side of A4 
(or equivalent 

electronic 
format)

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Cost recovery £0.25 £0.30 20.00%

Officer Time (EIR)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £25.00 £30.00 20.00%

Export Health Certificate
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Officer Time £130.00 £135.00 3.85%

Export Health Certificate Yearly (upto 25 
Certificates) 

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £1,600.00 £2,000.00 25.00%

Export Heath Certicate Yearly (upto 50 
Certificates 

£3,000.00 £4,000.00 33.33%

Export Health Certificate Brewery & Artisan 
Products

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £65.00 £70.00 7.69%

Export Health Certificate Unlimited Yearly 
Brewery & Artisan Products (upto 25 
Certificates)

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £600.00 £750.00 25.00%

Export Health Certificate (Samples/ Low Value 
goods up to £500 per consignment)

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £65.00 £70.00 7.69%

Amendment to Health Certificate 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Officer Time £25.00 £30.00 20.00%

Amendment to Health Certificate 
(Artisan/Brewery Products) 

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £15.00 £20.00 33.33%

Food Hygiene/Health & Safety Bespoke 
Training Course:

Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging Officer Time
Price on 
Request

Price on 
Request

Copy of Food Register (Full Copy of database) Full Register Zero-Rated VAT (0%) Fair charging Officer Time £170.00 £200.00 17.65%

One Copy of Any Entry in the Register
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £15.00 £20.00 33.33%

List of Food Premises In a Particular Category
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £70.00 £100.00 42.86%

Food Premises Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 0.00%

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme Re-Rate within 
3 Months of Inspection 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Office Time £150.00 £175.00 16.67%

Enhanced Food Registration & Advice Visit (2 
Hrs) with Safer Food Better Business Pack 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £125.00 £150.00 20.00%

Enhanced Food Registration & Advice Visit (3  
Hrs)with Safer Food Better Business Pack 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £175.00 £200.00 14.29%

Safer Food Better Business Pack Incl 2 Yr 
Diary 

£20.00 £25.00 25.00%

House in Multiple Occupation Licence: First application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £385.00 £392.50 1.95%

House in Multiple Occupation Licence:

Subsequent 
application/ 
renewal by 

same landlord

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £310.00 £316.00 1.94%

Change of 
ownership 
application

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £310.00 £316.00 1.94%

Immigration Housing Certificate per application
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £100.00 £125.00 25.00%

Improvement Notice Fee 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Hypnotism Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £0.00 £25.00 0.00%

Land Drainage/Culvert Maintenance for Private 
Individuals or Companies 

Price on 
Application 

Officer Hourly 
Rate 

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £55.00 £60.00 9.09%

Pet Shop Licence (initial or renewal, excluding 
vet fees). Vets fees are charged in addition to 
these fees based on full cost recovery:

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £180.00 £300.00 66.67%

Page 124



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Pleasure Boats & Pleasure Vessels to be let 
for hire or used for carrying passengers for hire 
(Exemption for such boats on any inland 
waterway owned or managed by the British 
Waterways Board)

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £110.00 £140.00 27.27%

Riding Establishments Licence (initial or 
renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 
charged in addition to these fees based on full 
cost recovery:

1-10 animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £150.00 £250.00 66.67%

11-20 animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £175.00 £350.00 100.00%

21+ animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £200.00 £400.00 100.00%

Sex Shop & Cinema Licence (including Sexual 
Entertainment Venues of any type):

New 
Application

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £3,200.00 £4,000.00 25.00%

Renewal
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £1,800.00 £2,000.00 11.11%

Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £750.00 £750.00 0.00%

Special Treatments Registration (Premises) 
including: Massage; Manicure; Other Special 
Treatments e.g. Vapour, Sauna or Other Bath 
Treatments

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Statement of Officer's Opinion:
first hour of 

request
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial Officer Time £110.00 £125.00 13.64%

subsequent 
hour or part 

thereof

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Full commercial Officer Time £55.00 £60.00 9.09%

Home/Mobile Tattooing, Body Piercing, 
Acupuncture Including 1 person 

Premises/ 
Person

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £200.00 £250.00 25.00%

Tattooing, Body Piercing, Acupuncture, 
Electrolysis Licence (initial or renewal):

Premises 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £150.00 £200.00 33.33%

Person
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £90.00 £100.00 11.11%

Guest Tattooist 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £50.00 £100.00 100.00%

Ear Piercing Only: Premises 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £50.00 £100.00 100.00%

Person
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £25.00 £50.00 100.00%

Amendment 
(e.g. change of 

address)

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £25.00 £30.00 20.00%

Zoo Licence (excluding vet fees. Vets fees are 
charged in addition to these fees based on full 
cost recovery):

First (4 year 
licence)

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory Officer Time £1,250.00 £2,000.00 60.00%

Second & 
subsequent (6 
year licence)

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory Officer Time £1,250.00 £2,000.00 60.00%

Zoo Licence:
Interim 

periodical
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Renewal 
periodical

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory
Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Informal 
inspections

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory
Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Pest Control
Officer Time/ Pesticides/ 
Transport

Contract Work (Commercial)
Per hour Per 

officer
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £110.00 £115.00 4.55%

Treatments in addition to contract agreement: 
Single 

treatment
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £110.00 £115.00 4.55%

up to 3 
treatments

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Full commercial £215.00 £225.00 4.65%

Page 125



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

up to 5 
treatments

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Full commercial £315.00 £350.00 11.11%

Non Contract Work (Commercial)
Per hour, Per 

officer
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £150.00 £155.00 3.33%

Rodents (Rats) (Domestic) - up to three visits 
to treat

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Free £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Wasps Nest (Domestic Treatment) Full charge
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £65.00 £70.00 7.69%

Recipients of 
Means Tested 

Benefits 
(Housing 
Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & 
Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £32.50 £35.00 7.69%

Rodents (Mice) (Domestic) - up to three visits 
to treat:

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Full commercial £65.00 £70.00 7.69%

Recipients of 
Means Tested 

Benefits 
(Housing 
Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & 
Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £32.50 £35.00 7.69%

Bed Bugs 2 Bed House:
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £150.00 £200.00 33.33%

Recipients of 
Means Tested 

Benefits 
(Housing 
Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & 
Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £75.00 £100.00 33.33%

Bed Bugs 3 Bed House:
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £200.00 £300.00 50.00%

Recipients of 
Means Tested 

Benefits 
(Housing 
Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & 
Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £100.00 £150.00 50.00%

Bed Bug 4 Bed House:
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £250.00 £400.00 60.00%

Recipients of 
Means Tested 

Benefits 
(Housing 
Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & 
Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £125.00 £200.00 60.00%

Bed Bugs >4 Bed:
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £400.00 £600.00 50.00%

Recipients of 
Means Tested 

Benefits 
(Housing 
Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & 
Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £200.00 £300.00 50.00%

Fleas 2 Bed House:
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £100.00 £125.00 25.00%

Page 126



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Recipients of 
Means Tested 

Benefits 
(Housing 
Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & 
Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £50.00 £60.00 20.00%

Fleas 3 Bed House:
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £125.00 £150.00 20.00%

Recipients of 
Means Tested 

Benefits 
(Housing 
Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & 
Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £67.50 £75.00 11.11%

Fleas 4 Bed House:
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £150.00 £200.00 33.33%

Recipients of 
Means Tested 

Benefits 
(Housing 
Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & 
Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £75.00 £100.00 33.33%

Fleas > 4 Bed House:
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £250.00 £300.00 20.00%

Recipients of 
Means Tested 

Benefits 
(Housing 
Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & 
Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £125.00 £150.00 20.00%

Ants 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £70.00 £80.00 14.29%

Recipients of 
Means Tested 

Benefits 
(Housing 
Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & 
Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £35.00 £40.00 14.29%

Other insect pests (domestic): 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £70.00 £80.00 14.29%

Recipients of 
Means Tested 

Benefits 
(Housing 
Benefit/ 

LCTRS) & 
Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £35.00 £40.00 14.29%

Moles (Commercial Only)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial

Price on 
Application

Price on 
Application

Appointment Missed/Cancelled (Site) £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Private Water Supply Charges

Risk Assessment:
Upto 2 

properties
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £300.00 £500.00 66.67%

Including Officer time on site 3-5 Properties £400.00 £500.00 25.00%

5 Plus 
Properties

£500.00 £500.00 0.00%

Large 
Commercial

£500.00 £500.00 0.00%

Page 127



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Sampling
Officer Time 
per Sample

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £60.00 £100.00 66.67%

Investigation
Per 

investigation
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £120.00 £100.00 -16.67%

Analysing a sample under regulation 10
Maximum 

Charge £25.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Laboratory 
Charge

Laboratory 
Charge

Analysing a check monitoring sample
Maximum 
Charge 
£100.00

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory
Laboratory 

Charge
Laboratory 

Charge

Analysing an audit monitoring sample
Maximum 
Charge 
£500.00

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging
Laboratory 

Charge
Laboratory 

Charge

Request from Search Company for Data 
relating to Private Water Supplies in a 
particular area. 

Hourly Rate 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £60.00 £100.00 66.67%

Stray Dogs: Statutory fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Admin fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Dogs already taken to Manchester & District 
Home for Lost Dogs

Additional 
Fees charged 

by Dogs' 
home

Additional 
Fees charged 

by Dogs' 
home

Copying

Copy of Register of Authorisations  (Permits; 
Private Water Supplies Register; Supply of 
Meteorological Data to: Universities & 
Commercial Organisations, Buxton Museum, 
Buxton TIC, Individuals): Copying Charge Plus 
officer time charged for photocopying per hour 
or part thereof.

per side of A4 
(or equivalent 

electronic 
format)

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £0.25 £0.25 0.00%

Full Copies of Authorisations, Permits; 
Registers, spreadsheets etc.  for commercial 
gain 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging
Price on 

Application
Price on 

Application

Page 128



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Temporary Event Notice
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

Licensing Act 2003

Personal Alcohol Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £37.00 £37.00 0.00%

Premises Licence Annual: Band A
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £70.00 £70.00 0.00%

Band B
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £180.00 £180.00 0.00%

Band C
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £295.00 £295.00 0.00%

Band D
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £320.00 £320.00 0.00%

Band E
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £350.00 £350.00 0.00%

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates 
- First Year Fee:

Band A
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Band B
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £190.00 £190.00 0.00%

Band C
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £315.00 £315.00 0.00%

Band D
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £450.00 £450.00 0.00%

Band E
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £635.00 £635.00 0.00%

Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates 
Annual Fee:

Band A
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £70.00 £70.00 0.00%

Band B
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £180.00 £180.00 0.00%

Band C
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £295.00 £295.00 0.00%

Band D
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £320.00 £320.00 0.00%

Band E
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £350.00 £350.00 0.00%

Permitted Temporary Activities, Personal Licences 
and Miscellaneous:

Theft/ Loss, etc. of Premises Licence or Summary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Application for a Provisional Statement where 
premises being built etc.

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £315.00 £315.00 0.00%

Notification of change of name or address
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Application to vary licence to specify individual as 
premises supervisor

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Application for transfer of premises licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Interim authority notice following death etc. of licence 
holder

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Theft, loss etc. of certificate or summary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Notification of change of name or alteration of rules of 
club

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Change of relevant registered address of club
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Theft, loss etc. of temporary event notice
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Theft, loss etc. of personal licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Duty to notify change of name or address
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Right of freeholder etc. to be notified of licensing 
matters

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

Minor Variation
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £89.00 £89.00 0.00%

Page 129



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permit

Grant
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Variation
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Change of Name
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Club Gaming Permits

Grant
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Grant (Club Premises Certificate Holder)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Variation
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Renewal
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Renewal (Club Premise Certificate Holder)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Club Machine Permits

Grant
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Grant (Club Premises Certificate Holder)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Variation
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Renewal
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Renewal (Club Premise Certificate Holder)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Permits

Grant
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Renewal
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Change of Name
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Copies of all Permits Each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Street Trading Change of Name & Address
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Vary DPS
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Minor Variation
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £89.00 £89.00 0.00%

Street Collection Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Page 130



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Street Trading Consent (speed limit less than 40mph) 
Including Trading Plate

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £3,700.00 £3,774.00 2.00%

Street Trading Consent (hot food - speed limit less 
than 40mph) Including Trading  Plate)

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £6,000.00 £6,120.00 2.00%

Street Trading Consent (speed limit 40mph or more) 
Including Plate 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £2,400.00 £2,448.00 2.00%

Trampoline & Mechanical Rides (Including Trading 
Plate)

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £2,000.00 £2,040.00 2.00%

Ice cream sales (Including Trading Plate)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £600.00 £612.00 2.00%

Annual upto 2 days per week (Incluidng Trading Plate) 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £1,250.00 £1,275.00 2.00%

Daily consent
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £40.00 £41.00 2.50%

Charitable Events Upto 10 Stalls (Category 1) £125.00 £125.00 0.00%

Charitable Events 10 - 20 Stalls (Category 2) £250.00 £250.00 0.00%

Charitable Events 20 Plus (Category 3) £400.00 £400.00 0.00%

Replacement Vehicle Plates - Street Trading £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Scrap Metal Dealers

Collectors Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £245.00 £245.00 0.00%

Variation to Collectors Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £95.00 £95.00 0.00%

Site Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £390.00 £390.00 0.00%

Variation to licence: Change of Name or Address 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £32.00 £32.00 0.00%

Variation to Site Licence £115.00 £115.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £15.00 £15.00 0.00%

Taxi Licences - Hackney Carriage & Private Hire 
Vehicles
Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Licence (new & renewal) 
Including Brackets & Plates (The fee includes 10% for 
enforcement activity)

Yearly 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £180.00 £183.50 1.94%

Replacement Driver Badge or Vehicle Plate
Per 

Plate/Badge
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Change of Vehicle Including Plate/Card
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £50.00 £51.00 2.00%

Hackney Carriage Decals provided by 3rd Party 
Price on 

Application
Price on 

Application

New Licensed Driver/Renewal: Including Knowledge 
Test and Resit, Safeguarding Training & Driver Badge  
(This includes 10% for Enforcement Activity)

Annual
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £75.00 £76.50 2.00%

3 years
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £150.00 £153.00 2.00%

Private Hire Operators Licence (This includes 10% for 
Enforcement Activity) 

1 Year
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £105.00 £107.00 1.90%

Private Hire Operators Licence (This includes 10% for 
Enforcement Activity) 

5 years
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £315.00 £321.50 2.06%

DBS Check (Fees Set by Personnel Checks) 
Price on 

Application
Price on 

Application

Document Identification Check (Fee set by Crown Post 
Office

Price on 
Application

Price on 
Application

Re-Sit Knowledge Test 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £20.00 £20.50 2.50%

M.O.T/Taxi Test by Nominated Garage 
Price on 

Application
Price on 

Application

Gambling Act

Adult Gaming Centre - Annual fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

New application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application to vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Page 131



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Application for re-instatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for provisional statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of provisional statement holder
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence - General 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Betting Premises - Annual fee (Excluding Tracks)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £600.00 £600.00 0.00%

New application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application to vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,300.00 £1,300.00 0.00%

Application to transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for re-instatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for provisional statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of provisional statement holder
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Bingo - Annual fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

New application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,500.00 £2,500.00 0.00%

Application to vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,500.00 £1,500.00 0.00%

Application to transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for re-instatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for provisional statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of provisional statement holder
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Family Entertainment - Annual 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

New application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,500.00 £1,500.00 0.00%

Application to vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for re-instatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for provisional statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,600.00 £1,600.00 0.00%

Application in respect of provisional statement holder
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Race tracks - Annual fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

New application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application to vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,250.00 £1,250.00 0.00%

Application to transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for re-instatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for provisional statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of provisional statement holder
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Small Society Lotteries Application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Small Society Lotteries Annual renewal fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Licensed Premises Automatic Notification Process: 
Payable on Notification

Up to 2 
machines

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Page 132



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Club Machine Permit
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Price On 
Application 

(Statutory Fee)

Price On 
Application 
(Statutory 

Fee)

Club Gaming Permit
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory 

Price On 
Application 

(Statutory Fee)

Price On 
Application 
(Statutory 

Fee)

Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Permit
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory 

Price On 
Application 

(Statutory Fee)

Price On 
Application 
(Statutory 

Fee)

Road ClosuresEvents where there is a charge for 
participation or for spectators

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging N/a £65.00

Events that primarily benefit businesses or other 
commercial organisations

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging N/a £65.00

Carnivals/fetes or any other events that raise funds 
through collections/donations

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging N/a £23.50

Remembrance/well dressing or other commemorative 
parades

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Free N/a £0.00

Royal Events
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Free N/a £0.00

Page 133



Land Charges Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

LLC1 Residential
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £27.80 £28.50 2.52%

LLC1 Additional Parcels Residential
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Con 29R Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £39.60 £40.50 2.27%

(plus DCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of DCC fee) TBC TBC

Con 29R Additional Parcels Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £26.00 £26.50 1.92%

Full Standard Search (LLC1 + Con 29R) Part 
Con 29 (Inc. Vat)

Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £67.40 £68.50 1.63%

(plus DCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of DCC fee) TBC TBC

Full Standard Search Additional Parcels Part 
Con 29 (Inc. Vat)

Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £36.00 £36.50 1.39%

Con 29O - Each Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £9.00 £9.00 0.00%

Each Additional Enquiry Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £18.00 £18.50 2.78%

Personal Search of the Land Charges 
Register

Residential
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

A search on each individual part of the Local 
Land Charges Register:

Parts 5, 7, 8 & 12 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Free £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Parts 1, 2, 6, 9, & 11 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £1.00 £1.00 0.00%

Parts 4 & 10 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £4.00 £4.00 0.00%

Part 3 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £12.00 £12.00 0.00%

LLC1 Commercial
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £40.00 £41.00 2.50%

LLC1 Additional Parcels Commercial
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £24.00 £24.50 2.08%

Con 29R Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £82.80 £84.50 2.05%

(plus DCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of DCC fee) TBC TBC

Con 29R Additional Parcels Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £42.00 £43.00 2.38%

Full Standard Search (LLC1 + Con 29R) Part 
Con29 (Inc. Vat)

Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £122.80 £125.50 2.20%

(plus DCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of DCC fee) TBC TBC

Full Standard Search Additional Parcels Part 
Con29 (Inc. Vat) 

Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £66.00 £67.50 2.27%

Con 29O - Each Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £9.00 £9.00 0.00%

Each Additional Enquiry Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £18.00 £18.50 2.78%

Personal Search of the Land Charges 
Register

Commercial
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

A search on each individual part of the Local 
Land Charges Register:

Parts 5, 7, 8 & 12 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Free £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Parts 1, 2, 6, 9, & 11 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £1.50 £1.50 0.00%

Parts 4 & 10 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £4.50 £4.50 0.00%

Part 3 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £18.50 £19.00 2.70%

Fees for access to individual Con 29R 
questions:

Con 29R Q1.1 a-j Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £4.80 £5.00 4.17%

Con 29R Q1.1 j-l Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £4.80 £5.00 4.17%

Con 29R Q1.2 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q2
Residential - request direct 

to DCC
DCC DCC

Page 134



Land Charges Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Con 29R Q3.1 Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.00 -16.67%

Con 29R Q3.2
Residential - request direct 

to DCC
DCC DCC

Con 29R Q3.3 a-c Residentail Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.4
Residential - request direct 

to DCC
DCC DCC

Con 29R Q3.5 a & b Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.6
Residential - request direct 

to DCC
DCC DCC

Con 29R Q3.7 (a-d, f) Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q 3.7 e
Residential request direct to 
Staffordshire County Council 

DCC DCC

Con 29R Q3.8 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.9 a-n Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £10.80 £11.00 1.85%

Con 29R Q3.10 a-h Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.11 a & b Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.12 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.13 a-c Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.14 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.15 a & b Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q1.1 a-l Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £12.00 £12.00 0.00%

Con 29R Q1.1 j-l Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £12.00 £12.00 0.00%

Con 29R Q1.2 Commericla Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.50 1.85%

Con 29R Q2
Commercial - request direct 

to DCC
DCC DCC

Con 29R Q3.1 Commerical Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.2
Commercial - request direct 

to DCC
DCC DCC

Con 29R Q3.3 a-c Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.4
Commercial - request direct 

to DCC
DCC DCC

Con 29R Q3.5 a & b Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.6
Commercial - request direct 

to DCC
DCC DCC

Con 29R Q3.7 a-d, f Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.50 1.85%

Con 29 R Q 3.7 e
Commercial Request direct 

to DCC
DCC DCC

Con 29R Q3.8 Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.9 a-n Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £18.00 £18.50 2.78%

Con 29R Q3.10 a-h Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.11 a & b Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.50 1.85%

Con 29R Q3.12 Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.13 a-c Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.14 Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.15 a & b Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.50 1.85%

Page 135



Planning Enforcement Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Desk-based history check requested by 
member of the public

per check
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £40.00 £41.00 2.50%

Site visit requested by member of the public per site visit
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £80.00 £81.50 1.88%

Service benefits applicant

Charges do not apply to alleged breaches of planning 
regulations which are provided free of charge

Page 136



Planning Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Householder PD check
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging

Freeze - justification - in excess of 
costs

£67.00 £68.50 2.24%

Listed Building enforcement check
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging

Freeze - justification - in excess of 
costs

£100.00 £102.00 2.00%

Copy of Tree Preservation Order Per hard copy
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Full commercial

Volume changed form 25 to 0. No 
changes for copies have been 
provided for in the past couple of 
years.

£41.00 £42.00 2.44%

High Hedge Complaints Per complaint
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £510.00 £520.00 1.96%

COPYING

Decision Notice Per notice
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

Freeze - justification - in excess of 
costs

£47.00 £48.00 2.13%

A4 OS maps 4 Copies
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

Freeze - justification - in excess of 
costs

£31.00 £31.50 1.61%

Planning Applications (Current & Historic): First page
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

Freeze - justification - in excess of 
costs

£7.00 £7.00 0.00%

Additional 
pages

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Cost recovery
Freeze - justification - in excess of 
costs

£1.00 £1.00 0.00%

Planning Applications Plans - AO size Per copy
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

Freeze - justification - in excess of 
costs

£18.50 £19.00 2.70%

Planning Applications Plans - A3 size Per copy
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

Freeze - justification - in excess of 
costs

£13.50 £14.00 3.70%

Planning Applications Plans - A4 size Per copy
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

Freeze - justification - in excess of 
costs

£8.25 £8.50 3.03%

Weekly Planning List Per year
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

Freeze - justification - in excess of 
costs

£370.00 £377.50 2.03%

Informal or history Searches: First hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

Freeze - justification - in excess of 
costs

£51.25 £52.50 2.44%

Additionals
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

Freeze - justification - in excess of 
costs

£32.00 £32.50 1.56%

Postage:
Cost of 
Postage

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Cost recovery
Freeze - justification - in excess of 
costs

Admin Charge
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

Freeze - justification - in excess of 
costs

£8.25 £8.50 3.03%

PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE

Meetings

Strategic major applications

Over 50 
dwellings or 
10,000sqm 
commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; 
do not want to deter applications 

£1,130.00 £1,152.50 1.99%

Major proposals 

Between 10 
and 50 

dwellings or 
1,000-

10,000sqm 
commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; 
do not want to deter applications 

£845.00 £862.00 2.01%

Minor proposals and other 
structures/developments not in the above 
categories

Between 1 and 
9 dwellings or 

under 
1,000sqm 

commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; 
do not want to deter applications 

£570.00 £581.50 2.02%

Written Advice

Strategic major applications

Over 50 
dwellings or 
10,000sqm 
commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; 
do not want to deter applications 

£565.00 £576.50 2.04%

Major proposals

Between 10 
and 50 

dwellings or 
1,000-

10,000sqm 
commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; 
do not want to deter applications 

£425.00 £433.50 2.00%

Page 137



Planning Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Minor proposals 

Between 6 and 
9 dwellings or 

under 
1,000sqm 

commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; 
do not want to deter applications 

£285.00 £290.50 1.93%

Minor proposals 

Between 1 and 
5 dwellings or 

under 
1,000sqm 

commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; 
do not want to deter applications 

£285.00 £290.50 1.93%

Note: Use external measurements when calculating floor areas.

Statutory Planning Fees Statutory
See 

Planning 
Portal

See Planning 
Portal

Page 138



Street Naming Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

New Properties, small developments 
1-5 Properties 

(each)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £72.00 £73.50 2.08%

New Properties, large developments 
6+ Properties 

(each)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £42.00 £43.00 2.38%

New Street Name
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £215.00 £219.50 2.09%

Renaming Existing Properties
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £72.00 £73.50 2.08%

Confirmation of Postal Address
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £46.00 £47.00 2.17%

Benchmarked against other LAs and service 
providers

Page 139



Waste Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Trade Waste & Recycling

Domestic Waste

Bulky Waste Collections (Payments made 
at time of booking -except assessments)

All benchmarked to other LAs

Collection of up to 4 bulky items 
Minimum 
charge

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Cost recovery £20.00 £20.50 2.50%

Collection of additional bulky items, up to 
maximum of 9

Per item
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £4.60 £4.60 0.00%

Collection of up to 4 bulky items for customers 
providing evidence of receipt of Housing/ 
Council Tax benefit

Minimum 
charge

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Subsidised £10.00 £10.25 2.50%

Collection of additional bulky items, up to a 
maximum of 9, for customers providing 
evidence of receipt of Housing/ Council Tax 
benefit

Per item
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Subsidised £2.30 £2.30 0.00%

Collection of 10 items or more bulky items or 
large/ awkward items

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Cost recovery By quote By quote

Collection of a fridge, freezer and other 
electrical Items

Per item
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £31.50 £32.00 1.59%

Collection of a fridges, freezer and other 
electrical items for customers providing 
evidence of receipt of Housing/ Council Tax 
benefit

Per item
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Subsidised

50% discount - historical policy, 
approved by members

£15.75 £16.00 1.59%

Collection of smaller electrical items (when 
collected with a large item)

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Free no cost to council Free Free 0.00%

Green Waste

Charge for supply, delivery and collection of an 
additional green lidded bin

Initial Cost
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £56.00 £58.00 3.57%

Charge for ongoing collection of an additional 
green lidded bin

Annual Cost 
from Yr 2

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Cost recovery £29.00 £29.50 1.72%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement waste or recycling bin (140l any 
colour, 240l any colour, 360l brown) for a 
single domestic dwelling

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £31.50 £32.00 1.59%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement 360l black bin for a single 
domestic dwelling

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery

to recover cost of service & 
encourage waste minimisation

£37.50 £40.50 8.00%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement 140 or 240l bin for use by multiple 
domestic dwellings or for a trade premise to 
replace a bin damaged by the customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £44.00 £45.00 2.27%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement 360l bin for use by multiple 
domestic dwellings or for a trade premise to 
replace a bin damaged by the customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £66.00 £71.50 8.33%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement 660l bin for use by multiple 
domestic dwellings or for a trade premise to 
replace a bin damaged by the customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £285.00 £290.50 1.93%

to recover cost of service

to recover cost of service

To ensure that the Council remains competitive and is 
commercially focused, rates levied for trade waste and trade 
recycling collections will be calculated based upon volumes and 
demand ensuring at all times that they do not fall below the cost 
of service provision to the authority.

to recover cost of service

50% discount - historical policy, 
approved by members

to recover cost of service

Page 140



Waste Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement 1100l or 1280l bin for use by 
multiple domestic dwellings or for a trade 
premise to replace a bin damaged by the 
customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £320.00 £345.50 7.97%

Page 141



Cemeteries Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Burial Plots Exclusive right of burial & 
issue of certificate

All benchmarked to other LAs

New Grave (including woodland graves) per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £720.00 £734.50 2.01%

Cremated Remains Grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £360.00 £367.00 1.94%

New grave (Out of area residents) per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Non-Resident double fee £1,440.00 £1,469.00 2.01%

Cremated remains grave (Out of area 
residents)

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Non-Resident double fee £720.00 £734.00 1.94%

Pre-purchased new coffin grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £792.00 £808.00 2.02%

Pre-purchased cremated remains grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £396.00 £404.00 2.02%

Pre-purchased new coffin grave (Out of area 
residents)

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £1,584.00 £1,615.50 1.99%

Pre-purchased cremated remains grave (Out 
of area residents)

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £792.00 £808.00 2.02%

Interment/Burial

Coffin grave for three (NB: Glossop old 
section only)

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £833.00 £849.50 1.98%

Coffin grave for two per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £732.00 £746.50 1.98%

Coffin grave for one or Woodland burial per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £651.00 £664.00 2.00%

Cremated remains casket burial per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £216.00 £220.50 2.08%

Lawn burial of loose ashes per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £138.00 £141.00 2.17%

Out of area fees: Non-High Peak residents per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Non-Resident Double fees Double fees 0.00%

Memorial permits

Permit for a new upright memorial including 
1st inscription

per permit
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial This is a permit £170.00 £173.50 2.06%

Permit for a memorial desk tablet/ vase 
including 1st inscription

per permit
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial This is a permit £120.00 £122.50 2.08%

Permit for a replacement memorial per permit
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial This is a permit £120.00 £122.50 2.08%

Permit for an additional inscription on 
memorial/ tablet/ vase etc.

per permit
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial This is a permit £72.00 £73.50 2.08%

Permit for a child's "single use" memorial on 
any grave type

per permit
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Free Policy Free Free 0.00%

Purchase of child's grave (aged 0-15 
years)

Child's grave per grave
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Free

Free in line with recommended best 
practice nationally

Free Free 0.00%

Child's new full size grave per grave
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Full fee £720.00 £734.50 2.01%

Child's ashes Grave per grave
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Full fee £360.00 £367.00 1.94%

Interment/burial of a child aged 0-15 years

Child's coffin grave or ashes grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Free

Free in line with recommended best 
practice nationally

Free Free

Child's new full size grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Subsidised Half fee £366.00 £373.25 1.98%

Child's reopened Grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Subsidised Half fee £325.50 £332.00 2.00%

Out of HPBC area child's interment fee per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Nominal £216.00 £220.50 2.08%

Memorials

Provision of bronze/ aluminium memorial 
plaque (up to 75 letters)

per memorial plaque
Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Full commercial This is for a memorial plaque £174.00 £177.50 2.01%

Provision of cast bronze sponsored tree 
plaque

per memorial plaque
Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Full commercial This is for a memorial plaque £402.00 £410.00 1.99%

Provision of sponsored memorial bench & 
bronze plaque

per memorial plaque and 
bench

Standard Rated 
VAT (20%)

Full commercial This is for a memorial plaque and bench £1,152.00 £1,175.00 2.00%

Page 142



Cemeteries Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Other Charges

Replacement or transfer of grave deed
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due to lack of 
demand

£50.00 £51.00 2.00%

Search Fee per half hour
Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Nominal

min increase proposed due to lack of 
demand

£28.00 £28.50 1.79%

Grave selection by purchaser
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due to lack of 
demand

£28.00 £28.50 1.79%

Large coffin (both dimensions over 6' 5" and 
25")

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due to lack of 
demand

£74.00 £75.50 2.03%

Cancellation of funeral within 72 hours of 
burial

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due to lack of 
demand

£74.00 £75.50 2.03%

Coffin size not confirmed within 48 hrs of 
burial

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due to lack of 
demand

£74.00 £75.50 2.03%

Headstone not removed from grave when 
requested

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due to lack of 
demand

£74.00 £75.50 2.03%

Paperwork not received in cemetery office 
before burial

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due to lack of 
demand

£74.00 £75.50 2.03%

Late arrival of funeral at cemetery (>30 
minutes)

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due to lack of 
demand

£74.00 £75.50 2.03%

Page 143



Horticulture Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Memorial bench purchase and installation in a 
public open space

Purchase & 
Installation

Standard Rated 
VAT (20%)

Full commercial
price proposed to encourage ongoing 
demand

£1,050.00 £1,071.00 2.00%

Adoption of an existing memorial bench 
located in a public open space

Purchase & 
Installation

Standard Rated 
VAT (20%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due to lack of 
demand

£550.00 £561.00 2.00%

Parks & Open Space Concession

Sport / Fitness Classes Per session
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging freeze to encourage phsical activity £7.00 £7.00 0.00%

Park /Open Space Event Charges

Commercial Fairs - Small (< 10 items) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

Commercial Fairs - Small (< 10 items) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £230.00 £234.50 1.96%

Commercial Fairs - Large (> 10 Items) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £120.00 £122.50 2.08%

Commercial Fairs - Large (> 10 Items) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £445.00 £454.00 2.02%

Commercial Circus - Small (1- 300) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

Commercial Circus - Small (1- 300) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £143.00 £146.00 2.10%

Commercial Circus - Large (300 +) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £117.00 £119.50 2.14%

Commercial Circus - Large (300 +) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £385.00 £392.50 1.95%

Commercial Event - Small (1-500) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

Commercial Event - Small (1-500) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £140.00 £143.00 2.14%

Commercial Event - Medium (A) (500 - 1000) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £88.00 £90.00 2.27%

Commercial Event - Medium (A) (500 - 1000) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £270.00 £275.50 2.04%

Commercial Event - Medium (B) (1000 - 2000) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £115.00 £117.50 2.17%

Commercial Event - Medium (B) (1000 - 2000) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £400.00 £408.00 2.00%

Commercial Event - Large (2000 - 5000) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £230.00 £234.50 1.96%

Commercial Event - Large (2000 - 5000) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £535.00 £545.50 1.96%

Commercial Event - Very Large (5000 - 
10,000)

Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £285.00 £290.50 1.93%

Commercial Event - Very Large (5000 - 
10,000)

Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £700.00 £714.00 2.00%

Commercial Event - Major (+ 10,000) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £560.00 £571.00 1.96%

Commercial Event - Major (+ 10,000) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £1,000.00 £1,020.00 2.00%

Charitable Event - Some Commercial 
Activity<1500

Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Subsidised £29.50 £30.00 1.69%

Charitable Event - Some Commercial 
Activity>1500

Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Subsidised £85.00 £86.50 1.76%

Community Event -Some Commercial Activity 
<1500

Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Subsidised £29.50 £30.00 1.69%

Community Event - Some Commercial Activity 
>1500

Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Subsidised £85.00 £86.50 1.76%

Charitable Event - No commercial activity Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Free maintains current charging position £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Community Event -No Commercial Activity Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Free maintains current charging position £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Commercial Filming Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

Commercial Filming Hour rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £83.00 £84.50

Commercial Filming Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £665.00 £678.50 2.03%

Page 144



Horticulture Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Commercial photo shoot Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

Commercial photo shoot  Half Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £335.00 £341.50 1.94%

Discretionary Commercial Event Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Fair charging £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

Discretionary Commercial Event Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Fair charging £68.00 £69.50 2.21%

Educational Establishments Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Free £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Catering concessions - leisure sites Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

Catering concessions - leisure sites Per Day
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £27.00 £27.50 1.85%

New sites for concessions - amusements Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

New sites for concessions - amusements
Per day / Per 

item
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £37.00 £37.50 1.35%

Allotment Rent

Plot Size - 100sq yrds or under Annual
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Fair charging

small increase proposed, first uplift in over 3 
years.

£31.00 £31.50 1.61%

Plot Size - 100 to 300sq yrds Annual
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Fair charging

small increase proposed, first uplift in over 3 
years.

£44.00 £45.00 2.27%

Plot Size - Over 300 sq yrds Annual
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Fair charging

small increase proposed, first uplift in over 3 
years.

£62.00 £63.00 1.61%

Page 145



Car Parks Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Season Tickets

Type A - Season tickets for use on HPBC Car 
Parks excl. Spring Gardens Centre Car Park, 
Buxton and Municipal Buildings Car Park, 
Glossop

Per quarter
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £120.00 £120.00 0.00%

Type B - Use restricted to New Mills Torr Top 
Car Park

Per quarter
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £90.00 £90.00 0.00%

Type C - Use restricted to Bernard Street & 
Edward Street Car Parks, Glossop

Per quarter
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Replacement Season Ticket Passes
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Other Season Tickets

For use exclusively on Upper Deck of the 
Pavilion Gardens Car Park in Buxton - Monday 
to Friday during term-time (September to June) 
only:

Derby University (Buxton Campus) Staff and 
Students

Full period
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £160.00 £160.00 0.00%

Other Car Park Users Full period
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £185.00 £185.00 0.00%

Pay and Display

Buxton: Market Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

1-2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.80 £1.80 0.00%

2-4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.10 £3.10 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.90 £3.90 0.00%

Buxton: Market Place Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

1-2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.80 £1.80 0.00%

2-4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.10 £3.10 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.90 £3.90 0.00%

Buxton: The Slopes Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

1-2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.80 £1.80 0.00%

2-4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.10 £3.10 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.90 £3.90 0.00%

Buxton: Eagle Parade (Kwik Save) Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

1-2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.80 £1.80 0.00%

2-4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.10 £3.10 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.90 £3.90 0.00%

Buxton:South Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

1-2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.80 £1.80 0.00%

2-4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.10 £3.10 0.00%

Page 146



Car Parks Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.90 £3.90 0.00%

Buxton: Bridge Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

1-2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.80 £1.80 0.00%

2-4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.10 £3.10 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.90 £3.90 0.00%

Buxton: Sylvan Park: Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Cars 1-2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.80 £1.80 0.00%

2-4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.10 £3.10 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.90 £3.90 0.00%

Coaches Up to 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £5.40 £5.40 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £10.40 £10.40 0.00%

Goods Vehicles
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £6.40 £6.40 0.00%

Buxton Pavilion Gardens Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.60 £1.60 0.00%

1-2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.20 £2.20 0.00%

2-4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.60 £3.60 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £5.40 £5.40 0.00%

Buxton: Spring Gardens Centre & Wye Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.60 £1.60 0.00%

1-2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.20 £2.20 0.00%

2-4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.60 £3.60 0.00%

Glossop: Municipal Buildings Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00%

1-2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00%

2-4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.60 £2.60 0.00%

Glossop: Edward Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00%

1-2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00%

2-4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.60 £2.60 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Glossop: Bernard Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00%

1-2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00%

2- hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.60 £2.60 0.00%

Page 147



Car Parks Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

New Mills: Market Street; First hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.90 £0.90 0.00%

Up to 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.00 £2.00 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.60 £2.60 0.00%

New Mills:Torr Top First hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.90 £0.90 0.00%

Up to 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.00 £2.00 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.60 £2.60 0.00%

New Mills:Town Hall First hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.90 £0.90 0.00%

Up to 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.00 £2.00 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.60 £2.60 0.00%

Castleton: Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.60 £1.60 0.00%

Cars 1-2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.50 £2.50 0.00%

2-4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £4.00 £4.00 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £6.00 £6.00 0.00%

24 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £7.00 £7.00 0.00%

Coaches Up to 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £5.50 £5.50 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Hope: Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.60 £1.60 0.00%

1-2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.50 £2.50 0.00%

2-4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £4.00 £4.00 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £6.00 £6.00 0.00%

24 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £7.00 £7.00 0.00%

Edale Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.60 £1.60 0.00%

Cars 1-2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.50 £2.50 0.00%

2-4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £4.00 £4.00 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £6.00 £6.00 0.00%

Page 148



Car Parks Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

24 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £7.00 £7.00 0.00%

Coaches Up to 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £5.50 £5.50 0.00%

Over 4 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Miry Meadow, Chapel
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Free

Thornbrook, Chapel
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Free

Off Station Road, Hadfield
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Free

Albert Street, Hadfield
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Free

Bingswood
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Free

Railway Station, Whaley Bridge
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Free

Penalty Charge Notices Off Street: Two tier 
system depending on the seriousness of the 

Tier one: Per fine
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

If paid within 14 
days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Tier two: Per fine
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £70.00 £70.00 0.00%

If paid within 14 
days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Residents Parking Permit Statutory

Free Parking from 8am-12pm and from 3pm-
6pm (and all day Sunday) on any High Peak 
Borough Council Pay & Display Car Park

Page 149



Markets Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Glossop Outdoor Market

Glossop Thursday Market Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Glossop Friday Market Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Glossop Saturday Market Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Page 150



Lettings Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Room Hire - including drinks Half Day Exempt from VAT (--%) Cost recovery £69.00 £70.50 2.17%

Full Day Exempt from VAT (--%) Cost recovery £133.00 £135.50 1.88%

Page 151



Finance Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Financial Services

Statement of Accounts
Per copy (plus 

postage)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery no subsidy as document available on line £21.60 £22.00 1.85%

Committee Services

Agenda
Per copy (plus 

postage)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery no subsidy as document available on line £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Recovery Services - Summons costs 
recharged

Application for summons re Liability Order: Council Tax
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Non-Domestic 
Rates

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Issue of Liability Orders: Council Tax
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Non-Domestic 
Rates

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Committal summons
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £310.00 £310.00 0.00%

Arrest warrants
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Committal to prison
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging

Reasonable 
charge

Reasonable 
charge

Fee charged as a preventative measure 
for non-payment of CTAX/NNDR.  Income 
should cover costs of Recovery team

Page 152



Elections Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Purchase of Full Register (Data) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal  £131.00 £131.00 0.00%

Purchase of Rolling register Alterations (Data) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £193.50 £193.50 0.00%

Purchase of list of overseas voters (Data) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £26.00 £23.00 -11.54%

Purchase of Full Register (Paper) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £380.00 £380.00 0.00%

Purchase of Rolling Register Alterations 
(Paper)

1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £135.00 £135.00 0.00%

Purchase of list of overseas voters (Paper) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £30.00 £20.00 -33.33%

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX D 

 
                               

 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

PROCUREMENT FORWARD 
PLAN 2023/24 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 155



Introduction  

 

1.1 The Procurement Procedure Rules, which support the Joint Procurement 
Strategy (to be updated and presented for approval shortly), are essential to 

the achievement of the Alliance Procurement Objectives and set out the 
processes that must be followed. 
 

1.2 A revised version of the Procurement Procedure Rules was presented and 
 approved by full Council on 11th October 2017.  The Rules were updated to 

reflect recent changes for example: 

 the service review process has resulted in a fully resourced central 

procurement unit incorporating the whole purchase to pay stream 
(procurement activity through to the payment of supplier invoices).   

 Processes have been reviewed and electronic systems implemented 

with the procurement process now utilising online procurement web-
forms and an e-tendering system, removing paper records, and 

improving efficiency. 
 

1.3 The opportunity was also taken to review the Rules as a whole, with specific 

amendments made to: 

 Sourcing thresholds – advertising periods updated 

 Process for applying Performance Bonds / Parent Company Guarantees 

 Applying extensions/variations to contracts 

 Updated processes to include technology now utilised (for example, e-
webform platform and e-tendering system) 

 Additional references where necessary – for example, the requirements 
of the Transparency Code 

 Expansion of Contract Management responsibilities / processes 

 
1.4 In addition, consideration was given to how the authority to procure and award 

procurement activities is undertaken - with the aim of simplifying and ensuring 
the process is as efficient as possible.   

 
2.  Authorisation to Procure and Award 
 

2.1 It was proposed within the Rules that the Procurement Forward Plan would be 
reported as part of the Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan in February 
each year.   

 
2.2 This would identify all potential high value procurement activity to be 

completed in the following financial year (subject to business case), with 
approval sought to commence procurement of all activity listed.  Performance 
and activity (including confirmation of award) against the forward plan would 

then be monitored and reported within the Quarterly Procurement Report to 
Committee. 

 
2.3 The approval limits to be applied to then authorise the award of contracts and 

apply exemptions are in line with Public Contract regulations supplies and 

service thresholds which are refreshed every two years.  The latest revision to 

Page 156



thresholds were implemented from 01 January 2022, which was approved to 
implement to the Procedure rules in the 2022/23 report. 

 

2.4  Any procurement activity undertaken during the year which was not 
included on the forward plan will also follow the authorisation rules (to 
procure/award) as detailed above - and detail will be included within the 

Quarterly Procurement Report.  
 

2.5       Irrespective of the total contract value, Committee reports may be 
presented to Executive to obtain authority to procure and award where 
considered appropriate due to the nature of the procurement or where it 

relates to a key decision. 
 

3. Procurement Forward Plan 2023/24 
 

3.1 The Procurement Forward Plan, detailing all anticipated higher value 
procurement activity during 2023/24, is detailed at ANNEX A.  This includes 

activity specific to High Peak Borough Council and any joint procurement 

activity with Alliance partner Staffordshire Moorlands District Council.  
Procurements which have already had approval in 2022/23 but not yet 
completed, will be progressed in addition to the programmed 2023/24 

schedules. 
 
3.2 This report details a high level of activity that Procurement has consulted 

 with services for the next year’s programmes (23/24). However, further work 
on  this is required to determine the direct requirements for the larger 

strategic projects.  Therefore, a supplementary plan will be presented as an 
Appendix to the quarter four report. 

 

 
4. Procurement undertaken by Agent 
 

4.1 In addition to procurement activity commissioned by the Council, there may 
also be procurement activity commissioned via an agent on behalf of the 

Council where appropriate to do so.  For example, the Leisure Centre contract 
allows provision for capital works required on the Leisure centres to be 

commissioned by the Contractor but funded by the Council.  In this case, the 
Council would complete due diligence to ensure compliancy and value for 
money has been achieved. 
 

4.2 Similarly, ANSA, on behalf of Alliance Environmental Services, will be 
procuring fleet required by specific services, but this will be funded by the 

Council and appropriate due diligence undertaken.  Alliance Norse Ltd will 
complete all related Facilities Management and Capital projects procurements 

for the Council’s Assets under the new arrangements. 
 

4.3 Agents delegated to procure contracts on behalf of the Council, where the 

 Council is the Contracting Authority, will be required to procure in 
 compliance to Public Contract Regulations 2015 (PCRs15) for above 

 threshold contracts and for contracts for lower values demonstrate that their 

Page 157



 procurement practice is as robust and transparent as that the Council would 
 apply.

Page 158



5 
 

PROCUREMENT FORWARD PLAN 23/24 – HPBC / JOINT 

Ref Auth Contract Title Brief contract description Capital / 
Revenue  

Service Area Total est. 
value of  

contract [£] 

1459 HPBC FHSF Project and Development 
Partner 

Procurement of development 
partner for spring Shopping centre 
Buxton  

Capital Regeneration [ - ] 

1166 HPBC Leisure Centres Management / 
future service delivery Mgmt.  
 

Services contract TBC – alternative 
delivery model  

Revenue Service 
Commissioning
  

TBC 

1430 HPBC UK Shared Prosperity fund External funding – Various 
Schemes 
 
Entered for reference to future 
activity (full scope for procurement 
TBC) 
 

Capital Regeneration TBC 

1091 HPBC Housing Mgmt Software System Software  
 
Entered for reference to future 
activity (full scope for procurement 
TBC) 
 

Capital / 
revenue 

Transformation TBC 

1451 
1452 

HPBC High Peak Play and Outdoor 
Sports Investment Plan 23/24 

Various schemes  Capital / 
Revenue 

Service 
Commissioning 

TBC 

403 JOINT Bridges & structures repair 
programme 

Works contract 
(contracted to Alliance Norse TBC) 

Capital Assets Est £60-
100,000 

P
age 159



6 
 

Ref Auth Contract Title Brief contract description Capital / 
Revenue  

Service Area Total est. 
value of  

contract [£] 

1008 JOINT SOFTWARE  
CAIMS_Asset Management IT 
System 

Concerto renewal for further fixed 
term  

Revenue Assets 59,600 

433 JOINT Planning Consultancy Support  - 
Planning Applications Service 
Support 

Framework of professional services 
to increase capacity support for 
Planning Applications 

Revenue Development 
Control 

(Est) 40,000 
Variable on 

demand 

1052 JOINT CCTV Public Realm Maintenance 
Contract 

Service Maintenance Contract Revenue Communities 80,000 

999 JOINT Insurance Services Insurance contract renewal for both 
Councils (5 yr fixed term) 

Revenue Finance 1,880,000 

709 JOINT Treasury management advisory 
services 

Professional Financial services 
(fixed term) 

Revenue Finance 72,000 

1048 JOINT Intranet Hosing and Licence 
Support 

Rebuild new intranet / functionality 
and linked systems 

Revenue Transformation TBC 

 

 

P
age 160



  

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

The Executive 
 

9 February 2023 
  

 

 
TITLE: 

 
Council Tax Support Fund 2023-24 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Alan Barrow - Portfolio Holder for 
Finance 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: 
 
Martin Owen – Executive Director (Finance and 

Customer Services) 
Joanne Wheeldon - Head of Revenues and Benefits 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Non Specific 

 

1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to advise the Executive of the details surrounding the 

Council Tax Support Fund Scheme 2023-24 announced by Government in December 
2022.  
 

2. Recommendation 

2.1  That the Executive approve the award of up to £25.00 to reduce council tax bills for 

vulnerable households on Local Council Tax Support (LCTS ) s7.1 and to direct the 
remaining funding during 2023-24 in line with the proposal at s8.1. 

  

3. Executive Summary 
 

3.1 Recognising the impact of rising bills, the Government is distributing £100 million of 

new grant funding in 2023-24 for local authorities to support economically vulnerable 
households in their area with council tax bills. 

3.2 Government expects local authorities to use the majority of the funding allocations 
to reduce council tax bills for current working age and pension age Local Council Tax 
Support (LCTS) claimants by up to £25. 

3.3 The remaining fund can be used to further support vulnerable households with 
council tax bills. 

3.4 The reduction will be automatically applied to council tax bills for 2023-24. 

Page 161

Agenda Item 6



  

 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1  Aim 1 - Financial inclusion.  
 

5. Alternative Options 
 No other reasonable options given the tight parameters and small amounts of money 
  

6. Implications 
 
6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

 None 
 

6.2 Workforce 
The delivery of a further government scheme will have some impact on resource. 

 
6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment  

The report has been prepared in line with Council policies  
  
6.4 Financial implications  

Funding of £151,065 will be provided by Central Government to deliver the scheme 
via a grant under section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. 
 

6.7 Legal 
Funding will be delivered using discretionary powers using s13A(1)(c) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. 
 

6.8  Internal and External Consultation 
 Internal consultation with members 

  

6.9  Risk Assessment 
None 

 
     Martin Owen 

Executive Director (Finance & Customer Services) 
 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/council -tax-

support-fund-guidance/council-tax-support-fund-guidance 

Joanne Wheeldon 

Head of Revenues and Benefits  
joanne.wheeldon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 162



  

7.  Details 
   
7.1 Funding is being allocated to councils based on their share of local council tax support 

claimants according to the latest data. The Council, as expected by government, will 
use the majority of its funding allocations to reduce bills for current working age and 
pension age Local Council Tax Support (LCTS) claimants by up to £25.  

Councils can use their remaining allocation as they see fit, to support vulnerable 
households with council tax bills. 

7.2 Local authorities are expected to use their grant allocation to fund further reductions 
in the council tax liability of individuals receiving LCTS with an outstanding council tax 
liability, by up to £25. They are also able to use a proportion of their allocations to 
determine their own local approaches to supporting economically vulnerable 
households with council tax bills. 

7.3 The discount will apply to current LCTS claimants that have an outstanding council tax 

liability for the 2023-24 financial year. The funding will be delivered this year using 
their discretionary powers under s13A(1)(c) of the Local Government Finance Act 

1992. 

7.4  Where a taxpayer’s liability for 2023-24 is, following the application of council tax 

support, less than £25, their liability will be reduced to nil. Where a taxpayer’s 
liability for 2023-24 is nil, no reduction to the council tax bill will be available and 

those bills will not be credited. 

7.5 There will be no need for any recipient of LCTS to make a separate claim for a 
reduction under this scheme. The local authority will assess who is eligible for 

support and apply the discount automatically. 

7.6 Council tax reductions will be applied from the beginning of the 2023-24 financial 
year for existing LCTS recipients and discounts will be reflected in council tax bills 
issued in March 2023.  

7.7 The Council will provide information about the scheme on its website and through 
social media. 

7.8 It is the Government’s intention that any assistance provided from the Council Tax 
Support Fund will not affect the eligibility of recipients for other benefits. 

8.  Discretionary Support  

8.1 The Council will deliver this funding using it’s discretionary powers under s13A(1)(c) 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. In order to continue supporting 

vulnerable households with council tax bills, it is recommended that any remaining 
funding following the main award of up to £25 will be spent as follows: 

 A top up to the original award, for those households in receipt of LCTR  

Page 163



  

 An award of up to £25 for new claimants within the financial year 2023-24 and a top 
up where further support is needed. 

8.2 As the Council is implementing a Council Tax Reduction Banding Scheme from 1.4.23 

and increasing current support, it is not yet able to estimate the amount of funding 
that will be spent on reducing the council tax bill and the amount of remaining 

funding left. The Council will therefore revisit it’s discretionary approach at intervals 
during the financial year, in order to ensure expenditure for 2023-24 remains within 

its allocation. 

9. Monitoring and reporting requirements 

9.1 As requested by Government the Council will  maintain a record of support provided. 
In particular, we will ensure that we are able to monitor and report on the level of 

expenditure provided to LCTS claimants through the provision of additional 
discounts. We will also maintain records of the mechanisms and levels of support 
provided through discretionary schemes. 

9.2 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities will undertake a 
quarterly DELTA collection exercise to monitor implementation progress. The Council 
will ensure it puts in place arrangements to support this data collection process. 

10. New burdens 

10.1 The Government recognises that the implementation of this policy will place an 

additional burden on local authorities, in particular the requirement to purchase 
software to deliver the support via council tax accounts plus additional demand on 

resource. In accordance with the new burdens doctrine, the Government will 
conduct an assessment of the expected reasonable additional costs associated with 

the implementation of the policy. 

Page 164



  

 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

The Excutive 
 

9th February 2023 
 

 
TITLE: 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 

 

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 
 
Councillor Barrow - Portfolio Holder for Corporate 

Services and Finance 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 

Martin Owen – Executive Director (Finance and 
Customer Services) 

Joanne Wheeldon - Head of Revenues and Benefits 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 

Non Specific 

 
 
 

1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 Following the approval to implement a banding scheme by The Executive on the 8th 

December 2022, the purpose of this report is to provide an update to sections 6.3, 
7.14, 7.15 (m) and to recommend Full Council approves the implementation of a 

revised Council Tax Reduction Scheme with effect from 1st April 2023. 
 

1.2 Each year the Council is required to review its Council Tax Reduction Scheme in 
accordance with the requirements of the schedule 1A of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 and to either maintain the scheme or replace it. 
 

1.3 Council Tax Reduction (CTR) was introduced from 1 April 2013 when it replaced the 
Central Government funded Council Tax Benefit regime. From its inception, the 
funding available to the Council from government has reduced year on year. 
 

1.4 It is now essential that the Council make changes to the CTR scheme for working age 
applicants in order to reduce the significant administrative burden placed on the 
Council by the introduction of Universal Credit.  
 

1.5 The changes proposed affect only applicants who are of working age and the scheme 
for pension age applicants is not affected in any way. The rules for all pension age 
applicants are prescribed by Central Government. 

 
1.6 This report recommends that the Council adopts a new scheme for working age 

applicants with effect from 1st April 2023 in respect of the 2023/24 financial year. 
 

Page 165

Agenda Item 7



  

 
 

2. Recommendation 

2.1  The Council is asked to approve the amendments in section 7.15 (m), section 7.14 
and the introduction of a new income banded / grid scheme for working age 
applicants with effect from 1st April 2023 to reduce the administrative burden placed 
on the Council by the introduction of Universal Credit and to increase the overall level 
of support for the lowest income families . 

  

3. Executive Summary 
  
3.1 Council Tax Reduction (CTR) was introduced by Central Government in April 2013 as a 

replacement for the Council Tax Benefit scheme administered on behalf of the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP). As part of the introduction, the 
Government: 
 

Page 166



  

 Placed the duty to create a local scheme for Working Age applicants with 

billing authorities; 
 Reduced initial funding by the equivalent of ten per cent from the levels paid 

through benefit subsidy to authorities under the previous Council Tax Benefit 
scheme; and 

 Prescribed that persons of Pension age would be dealt with under regulations 
set by Central Government and not the authorities’ local scheme.   
                                                                                                                                

3.2 Since that time, funding for the Council Tax Reduction scheme has been 

amalgamated into other Central Government grants paid to Local Authorities and 
also within the Business Rates Retention regime. It is now generally accepted that it is 

not possible to identify the amount of funding actually provided from Central 
Government sources. 

 
3.3 The current Council Tax Reduction scheme administered by the Council is effectively 

divided into two schemes, with pension age applicants receiving support under the 
rules prescribed by Central Government, and the scheme for working age applicants 

being determined solely by the local authority.  
 

3.4 Pensioners, subject to their income, can receive up to 100 per cent support towards 
their Council Tax. The Council has no power to change the level of support provided 

to pensioners and therefore any changes to the level of CTR can only be made to the 
working age scheme. 

 

3.5 When Council Tax Reduction was introduced in 2013, for working age applicants, the 
Council broadly adopted the previous means tested Council Tax Benefit scheme as 

the basis of awarding support and was able to maintain the maximum level of 
support at 100% for those households on the lowest income.  

 
3.6 Since that time only slight changes have been made to bring the scheme into line 

with either Housing Benefit or Universal Credit. 
 

 
 

 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1  Aim 1 -  Financial inclusion. Review the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
 

5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 The alternative to introducing a new scheme for Council Tax Reduction from 2023/24 

is to leave the existing scheme in place. This would be a short-term option; lead to 
continuation of increasing costs of administration; and in the longer term, 

significantly affect the collection of Council Tax and the effectiveness of the scheme 
to support households within the Council’s area.  

 

Page 167



  

6. Implications 
 
6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 None 
 
6.2 Workforce 

The recommended scheme will provide a modern, more efficient scheme which will 
be more straightforward to for staff to administer. 

 
6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

The move to the new scheme is significant and will either have a neutral or positive 

affect to the majority of working age claimants. From latest modelling 3,368 
claimants (89%) will receive more support than under the previous scheme. 

  
Following the change in capital from £6,000 to £10,000 the number of claimants who 

may receive  less support than with the current scheme has reduced from 430 to 405. 
The increase in capital will result in additional cost of around £21,000.  The remaining 
cases will be available to apply for further support through the Council’s Exceptional 
Hardship Fund and the Council will look to contact each household prior to the 
implementation of the new scheme to offer further support if required. The revised 
scheme will not present barriers for disadvantaged or protected groups from 
applying for Council Tax Support. 
 

 
 6.4  Financial implications  

The current Council Tax Reduction scheme costs approximately £5.92m which is 
borne by the Council’s Collection Fund. Costs are shared between the Council and the 
Major Precepting Authorities in the following proportions: 
• Borough Council 11.6% 
• County Council 71.6% 

• Police and Crime Commissioner 12.7% 
• Fire and Rescue Service 4.1%  

Whilst the approach and ‘shape’ of the scheme is changing, the overall intention will 
be to provide additional support to those households on the very lowest incomes.  

There is no intention to reduce the level of support available to other households  and 
based on current modelling, were the new scheme to be in place at the current time, 

the costs would be £6.32m. This would increase the costs to the Council by 
approximately £46k and almost 90% of low income households receiving Council Tax 

Reduction will receive increased support. 

Financial modelling will continue to be undertaken throughout the remainder of the 
current financial year. 

  

6.5 Legal 
  Schedule 1A (3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, states: 

Before making a scheme, the authority must: 

Page 168



  

• consult any major precepting authority which has power to issue a 

precept to it, 
• publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit, and 

• consult such other persons as it considers are likely to have an interest in 
the operation of the scheme. 

 
 

6.6  Consultation 
A full consultation has been undertaken in line with the statutory requirements. Each 

of the major preceptors have been asked for their input and their responses are 
included within Appendix A. 

 
A full analysis of the public consultation is included within Appendix B and it should 

be noted that consultees overwhelming agreed with all of the proposed changes to 
the scheme. 

  
6.7 Risk Assessment 

 None 
 

Martin Owen 
Executive Director (Finance & Customer Services) 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

 Joanne Wheeldon 
Head of Revenues and Benefits  
joanne.wheeldon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 
 

   
 
7. Detail 
 

The main issues with the current scheme 
 

7.1  There are several issues with the current scheme that will need addressing if the 
system is to continue to provide effective support to low-income taxpayers and if the 
Council is able to provide the service in an efficient manner. The main issues are as 
follows: 

 
• The introduction of Universal Credit for working age applicants; and 

• A much-needed simplification of the scheme. 
 

7.2  Each of the above are examined in detail below: 

   
Council Tax Reduction and the roll out of Universal Credit  

 

Page 169



  

7.3  The introduction of Universal Credit within the area has, as experienced in all other 

areas, brought a number of significant challenges to both the administration of 
Council Tax Reduction and also the collection of Council Tax generally. All Councils 

have experienced the following: 
• The reluctance of Universal Credit claimants to make a prompt claim for Council  

Tax Reduction leading to a loss in entitlement; 
• A high number of changes to Universal Credit cases are received from the 

Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) requiring a change to Council Tax; 
• Reduction entitlement. On average 40% of Universal Credit claimants have 

between eight and twelve changes in entitlement per annum. These changes 
result 
in amendments to Council Tax liability, the re-calculation of instalments, delays, 
and the demonstrable loss in collection; and 

• The increased costs of administration through multiple changes with significant 
additional staff and staff time being needed. 

 
7.4  It is clear that the existing means tested Council Tax Reduction scheme, which is too 

reactive to change, will not be viable in the longer term now that Universal Credit has  
been rolled out fully within the area and the increase in the number of Universal 
Credit claimants due to the rises. 
 

7.5 It should also be noted that the DWP are also moving all existing Income Based 
Jobseeker’s Allowance, Income Support and Tax Credit cases across to Universal 
Credit by 2024 with the remaining cases (Income Related Employment and Support 
Allowance) moving to Universal Credit by 2028. In effect, this move will increase the 
number of Universal Credit cases in the Borough by almost 50%. 
 

7.6 The move to a new, future proofed, more efficient Council Tax Reduction scheme 
from 2024 is now imperative. 

 
The need for a simplified approach to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 

 
7.7 Notwithstanding the effects of Universal Credit, the existing scheme is based on an 

‘old fashioned;’ means tested benefit scheme. It has major defects namely: 

• It is complex for customers to understand and is based on a complex calculation 
of 

entitlement; 
• The administration for staff is complex, with staff having to request significant 

amounts of information from applicants; 
• Staff have to undergo significant training to be proficient in processing claims; 

• The timescales for processing applications is lengthy, mainly due to the 
complexity 

and evidence required to support the applications; and 
• The administration of the scheme is costly when compared to other discounts for 

Council Tax. 
 

7.8 Clearly there is a need now to simplify the scheme, not only to mitigate the effects of  

Page 170



  

Universal Credit, but also make it easier for customers to make a claim and to reduce 

the costs of administration significantly. 
 

The recommended approach for the 2023/24 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
 

7.9 In view of the problems being experienced with the current scheme, it is  
recommended that a new approach be taken from 2023/24. The new approach 

fundamentally redesigns the scheme to address all of the issues with the current 
scheme and in particular; 

(a) The problems with the introduction of full-service Universal Credit; and 
(b) The significant increase in administration costs due to the high level of 

changes received in respect of Universal Credit; 
 

7.10 The new scheme has been completed and a full consultation has been completed 
with the public and the major precepting authorities in line with legislative 
requirements. 
 

7.11 The responses from the major preceptors (Derbyshire County Council, Derbyshire 
Police and Derbyshire Fire Authority) are attached within Appendix A and an analysis 
of the public consultation (which concluded on 28th November 2022) is attached 
within Appendix B. 
 

7.12 It should be noted that the Council has received favourable responses  to the new 
approach from the major preceptors and in the case of the public consultation, a 
majority positive response has been received in respect  all the changes proposed. 
(For information 57% were in favour of introducing the new scheme with 19% against 
and 23 % stating no preference). 

 
7.13 If the recommendations are accepted by the Council, the new scheme will take effect 

from 1st April 2023. 
 

7.14 The recommended new scheme has several key features as follows: 
• More support shall be given to those households on the lowest of incomes than 

in the current scheme; and 
• The current means - tested schemes will be replaced by a simple income grid 

model as shown below: 
 

Following on from the increase in allowances from the DWP that take effect from 1st 
April 2023, the banding grid will be updated to take into account these increases. 
Work is underway in modelling the changes in order to ensure that claimants do not 
lose out as a result. The final grid will be submitted to Full Council for approval on 
21st February 2023.  

 
 

 
 

Discount 
Band 

Discount 
Single 

Person   
Single 
person 

Single 
person 

Couple 
Couple with 

one child 
Couple 

with two or 

Page 171



  

with one 
child 

with two or 
more children 

more children 

Weekly income ranges 

Band 1* 100% 
£0 - 

£95.00 

£0 - 

£160.00 

£0 - 

£220.00  
£0-£140.00 £0 -£205.00 

£0 - 

£260.00  

Band 2 75% 
£95.01 

- 
£155.00 

£160.01 -
£220.00 

£220.01 - 
£290.00 

£140.01 - 
£210.00 

£205.01 - 
£270.00 

£260.01 -
£330.00  

Band 3 50% 

£155.01 

-
£190.00 

£220.01 - 
£255.00 

£290.01– 
£345.00 

£210.01 -
£260.00 

£270.01 – 
£310.00 

£330.01 -£390.00 

Band 4 25% 
£190.01 

- 

£235.00 

£255.01 - 
£290.00 

£345.01 – 
£400.00 

£260.01 
£310.00 

£310.01 - 
£360.00 

£390.01 -£430.00 

  0% 
Over 

£235.00 

Over 

£290.00 
Over £400.00 Over £310.00 Over £360.00 Over £430.00  

 
 

 
7.15  The following paragraphs provide more detail on the operation of the new scheme: 
 

(a) the highest level of discount will be at a maximum level of liability (100%), Band1, 
and all current applicants that are in receipt of a ‘*passported benefit’ such as  
Income Support, Jobseeker’s Allowance (Income Based) and Employment and 
Support Allowance (Income Related) will receive maximum discount: 

(b) All other discount levels are based on the applicant’s and partner’s, (where they 
have one) net weekly income; 

(c) The scheme allows for variation in household size with the levels of income per 
band increasing where an applicant has a partner, and / or dependants;  

(d) There will be no charges made where an applicant has non-dependants living 
with them. This is a significant change and means that the administration of the 
scheme will be more straightforward whilst also protecting low-income families 

where adult sons and daughters for example remain at home; 
(e) To encourage work, a standard £25 per week disregard will be provided against 

all earnings This will take the place of the current standard disregards and 
additional earnings disregards. Where a family also receives a childcare 

disregard(for childcare costs not paid for by Central Government schemes), the 
income levels in the ‘grid scheme’ are set at a higher rate; 

(f) Disability benefits such as Disability Living Allowance and Personal Independence 
Allowance will continue to be disregarded;  

(g) Where any applicant, their partner or dependent child (ren) are disabled, a 
further disregard of £50 per week will be given, thereby maintaining the current 

level of support to those with disabilities; 
(h) Carer’s Allowance and the Support Component of Employment and Support 

Allowance will be disregarded; 
(i) Child benefit and Child Maintenance will be disregarded; 

Page 172



  

(j) An amount in respect of the housing element, within Universal credit will be 

disregarded; 
(k) The total disregard on war pensions and war disablement pensions will continue; 

(l) Extended payments will be removed; and 
(m) The capital limit of £10,000 with no tariff (or assumed income) being applied. 

Any applicant who has capital above that level will not qualify. 
 

How the new scheme will address the problems with the current 
Council Tax Reduction 

 
7.16  With the simplicity of the proposed new scheme and by taking a more ‘Council Tax  

discount approach’, it will address the problems associated with the increased 
administration caused by failings in the current scheme and Universal Credit as 

follows: 
 

(a) The scheme will require a simplified claiming process. All applicants will see a 
significant reduction in the claiming process and, where possible, Council Tax 
Reduction will be awarded automatically. For Universal Credit applicants any 
Universal Credit data received from the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) 
will automatically be treated as a claim for Council Tax Reduction. Where information 
is received from DWP, the entitlement to Council Tax Reduction will  be processed 
automatically without the need to request further information from the taxpayer. 
These changes will have the following distinct advantages namely: 
 

(i) Speed of processing – all claims will be able to be calculated promptly and 
largely automatically without the need to request further information which 

inevitably leads to delays; 
 

(ii) Maximising entitlement to every applicant. As there will no requirement for 
Universal Credit applicants to apply separately for Council Tax Reduction, and 

for all other applicants, the claiming process will be simplified significantly. 
Entitlement to Council Tax Reduction will be maximised with a reduced risk of 

loss of discount or the need for backdating; 
 

(iii) Maintenance of collection rates – the new scheme will avoid constant 
changes in discount, the need for multiple changes in instalments and 

therefore assist in maintaining the high collection rates currently achieved. 
The increased level of discount will assist all those applicants on the lowest 

levels of income, again improving the overall collection rate; 
 

(b) The income bands are sufficiently wide to avoid constant changes in discount . 
The current Council Tax Reduction scheme is very reactive and will alter even if the 

overall change to the person’s liability is small. This is leading to constant changes  in 
Council Tax liability, the need to recalculate monthly instalments and the 
requirement to issue a large number of Council Tax demands. The effect of this is  that 

Council Tax collection is reduced. The new scheme, with its simplified income 
banding approach will have the following advantages: 

(i) Only significant changes in income will affect the level of discount awarded; 

Page 173



  

(ii) Council Taxpayers who receive Council Tax Reduction will not receive multiple 

Council Tax demands and adjustments to their instalments; and 
(iii) The new scheme is designed to reflect a more modern approach, where any 

discount changes it will be effective from the day of the change rather than 
the Monday of the following week. 

 

Transition to the new scheme and the Exceptional Hardship Scheme 
 

7.17 In deciding on any new scheme, the Council must be mindful that any change in 
scheme or a transition to a new scheme may result in a change to the entitlement of 
certain applicants. Inevitably, there tends to be some winners and losers with scheme 

changes although the proposed scheme has been designed to protect the most 
vulnerable.  

 
7.18 To mitigate this, the new scheme will contain additional provisions to protect 

individuals who experience exceptional hardship. Where any applicant is likely to 
experience exceptional hardship, they will be encouraged to apply for an exceptional  
hardship payment. The Council will consider all applications for exceptional hardship 
on an individual basis, taking into account available income and essential outgoings.  
Where appropriate further support will be given to the applicant. 
 

7.19 This approach will enable individual applicants to be dealt with in a fair and equitable  
manner. The Exceptional Hardship Scheme will form part of the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme and fall to be paid through the Collection Fund. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A 

Page 174



  

Responses from Major Preceptors 
  

Page 175



  

 
 
 

Derbyshire County Council 
Agree with the implementation of a banding scheme – notice received via email 30.11.22 

 
Derbyshire Police and Crime and Commissioner  

Agree with the implementation of a banding scheme -  notice received via email 1.12.22 
 

Derbyshire Fire Authority   
Agree with the implementation of a banding scheme -  notice received via email 1.12.22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
  

Page 176



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
High Peak Borough Council - Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24 

Public Consultation Analysis 
  

Page 177



  

 
 

1. Background to the Consultation 
 

 

1. I have read the background information about the Council Tax Reduction Scheme: This 
question must be answered before you can continue.  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

96.88% 62 

2 No   
 

3.13% 2 

 

answered 64 

skipped 0 

 
2. Part 1 – The introduction of an Income Grid scheme to replace the current scheme 

for all applicants of working age  
 

2. Do you agree with introducing an income-based banded discount scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

57.14% 24 

2 No   
 

19.05% 8 

3 Don't Know   
 

23.81% 10 

 

answered 42 

skipped 22 

 

3. Part 2 - Introducing a capital limit of £6,000. Where applicants have capital in 
excess of £6,000 no discount will be awarded. Any capital less than £6,000 will be 
ignored;  

 

4. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

38.46% 15 

2 No   
 

46.15% 18 

3 Don't Know   
 

15.38% 6 

 

answered 39 

skipped 25 

 

Page 178



  

5. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 12 

1 It should stay in line w ith the current income-related capital limits and rules 

2 I feel the discount should be given for each £ over the 6k savings, older people are allow ed a higher allow ance. 

Also if the savings are for a house deposit and in a government isa for this then people should be given a 

certain amount of time before it’s regarded such as 12 months. I feel this discourages people to try and save 

and better their lives. Also I see people having back payments of disability benefits that are higher than this 

amount, this is money they should have had w eekly, should the be punished for appealing and w inning  

3 Too low  

4 £6000 is a lot of money and it should be used to pay bills until maybe dow n to £1000 this w ould make the 

system fairer to those that w ork don’t get help and have no savings  

5 Why are w e peanalise people w ho w ork hard and save rather than those w ho choose to either or both not save 

and spend everything.  

 

You shouldn’t penalise families or hard w orkers or savers to rew ard dosers  

6 I w ould reduce the amount to £4000, most w orking people f ind it hard to save money in the current climate, I 

feel it is unfair for unemployed people w ho have savings to get so much benefits, they should be made to use 

savings. 

7 no w ay of f inding out if  people have over £6k 

8 It’s quite discriminatory and assumes the savings are from a regular income but may actually be a one off 

w indfall or an amount to help w ith healthcare, mental w ellbeing. It w ould be better to understand how  savings 

are accumulated and the purpose of them. Setting a capital limit on savings could drive the w rong behaviours 

and put vulnerable people at risk if  they didn’t ‘bank’ their savings to avoid them being considered for the 

council tax reduction purpose. 

9 I feel it should be a little higher 

10 The capital limit w as already in place under the existing scheme as rariff  income  

11 w hy penalise people w ith savings 

12 There is too stark a clif f -edge on the scheme. Applicants w ith savings of £6,001 (some of w hich may include 

the self-employed putting some money aside - eg to pay income tax for profits made over tw o years ago) could 

be £1,500 w orse off from having to pay full Council Tax instead of receiving the discount. 

There should be a taper for capital over a certain amount, w hich is fairer  
 

 

answered 12 

skipped 52 

 

4. Part 3 – Removing the requirement for any non-dependant deductions 

6. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

52.78% 19 

2 No   
 

33.33% 12 

3 Don't Know   
 

13.89% 5 

 

answered 36 

skipped 28 

 

Page 179



  

7. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 9 

1 Many adult children are living at home due to the cost of living. I w ould propose that they are added to the CT 

bill and it’s apportioned appropriately, I.e if  2 parents on benefits and w orking adult in hh, they should pay 1/3. 

For those w ith adult non dependants w ho are disabled they w ould be exempt anyw ay  

2 Non Deps should contribute  

3 This should continue to be assessed. This just seems lazy. There is no guidence in the info you have provided 

that explains w hether the increased costs of the change w ould be less than the administration costs. If  thd 

increase is more then you absolutely should not do this.  

4 Costs of services don’t change dependent on numbers in a house 

5 I feel there should be deductions for adults living at the premises, they should contribute  

6 Adult should pay if they w ork or pay out of benefits  

7 Some people may be w orking full time but w ith the cost of living rising some are struggling to make ends meet 

and cannot afford food etc to last until their next w age  

8 High-earning non-dependants (eg adult children living at home and saving for their ow n home but contributing 

signif icantly to household costs) w ould not be taken into account, even though other families w ithout resident 

non-dependant adults may be in higher need. 

With so many more adult children living w ith their parents, this could signif icantly reduce the scheme's capacity 

to assist families in the greatest need. 

Non-dependants w ith income exceeding a certain level should be deemed to contribute to the household 

income, either by a set amount or a tapered amount 

9 The cost of administering the scheme need to be compared to the cost of providing the reduction to people w ho 

need it.  

This method does seem  

simpler and enables someone to take in someone on a temporary basis (adult child etc) w ithout losing their 

discount.  
 

 

answered 9 

skipped 55 

 
5. Part 4 – Disregarding the housing element of Universal Credit  

 

8. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

54.29% 19 

2 No   
 

25.71% 9 

3 Don't Know   
 

20.00% 7 

 

answered 35 

skipped 29 

 

9. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Page 180



  

9. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 4 

1 It w ould also be good if the systems could w ork together w ith DWP and trigger a CT claim to be made w hen a 

UC claim is made. 

2 I don't agree w ith this at all. All income should be assessed the same. I cannot fathom the rationale behind 

disregarding the housing part. I do think you should elaborate. Also I sincerely hope those increased costs w on't 

be passed on to all other tax payers w ho aren't eligible under these scheme w ho w ill also be struggling but 

w ithout any support. 

3 These people are benefitting from others w ho w ork hard.  

 

Explain w hy w e should pay them benif its w hilst also reducing their costs supported by us w orkers  

4 Universal credit is income, so it should be included in the calculation, just as w orking peoples income is  
 

 

answered 4 

skipped 60 

 
6. Part 5 – Removing the current earnings disregards and replacing them with a 
standard disregard for all working applicants  

 

10. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

50.00% 16 

2 No   
 

25.00% 8 

3 Don't Know   
 

25.00% 8 

 

answered 32 

skipped 32 

 

11. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 5 

1 I think the disregard should be higher such as £50, for people on minimum w age or under 25 their w ages are jut 

much more above benefits levels, this w ay they w ill have more incentive to earn.  

2 If you w ant to implement a standard disregarded then put it at a level that w ould not result in increased costs. If  

not, then continue to deal w ith it 

3 Single parents and/or people w ith children should have a higher disregard surely? 

4 Doesn't take into account care costs for some families  

5 I agree w ith the £25 set rate disregard. There should also be a £25 disregard for families paying childcare costs 

of over £25 a w eek as childcare is so expensive, but essential to enable parents to w ork and for a child's early 

Page 181



  

11. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

development to be monitored and supported w here needed. 

Childcare should not be further disincentivised. 
 

 

answered 5 

skipped 59 

 
7. Part 6 – Removing the Extended Payment provision  

 

12. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

48.39% 15 

2 No   
 

29.03% 9 

3 Don't know   
 

22.58% 7 

 

answered 31 

skipped 33 

 

13. If you disagree, please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 4 

1 I feel this is already putting people in debt, unless you can sort the account out quickly and maybe ask people 

on benefits looking for w ork to pay £1 a w eek to build up a credit in their account. UC is w orked out monthly and 

instant. CT takes so long to w ork out it’s leaves people ow ing money  

2 If they are w orking they should pay, just like everyone else. Unless the council is w illing to give all w orking 

people 4 w eeks discount? 

3 Would it push people into hardship?? 

4 The 4 w eek extension should also be applied to UC claimants. This w ill make the scheme fair to all claimants 

and support the move into w ork, w hich can be expensive for claimants w ho have to pay for costs of travel, w ork 

clothes, childcare and often extra costs such as DBS or certif ication at the start of a job. It is hard enough to pay 

to move from benefits into w ork. Many claimants are already in debt and struggle to pay these upfront costs.  

Moving into w ork should not be further disincentivised by this scheme. 
 

 

answered 4 

skipped 60 

 

  

Page 182



  

8. Part 7 – Any new claim or change in circumstances which changes Council Tax 

Reduction entitlement will be made from the date on which the change occurs, 
(rather than on a weekly basis as at present)  
 

14. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

77.42% 24 

2 No   
 

6.45% 2 

3 Don't Know   
 

16.13% 5 

 

answered 31 

skipped 33 

 

15. If you disagree, please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 0.00% 0 

No answers found. 

 

answered 0 

skipped 64 

 
9. Part 8 – Protecting disabled persons by disregarding Personal Independence 
Payments or Disability Living Allowance and providing a further weekly disregard of 

£50 where the applicant, partner or dependant is disabled  
 

16. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

77.42% 24 

2 No   
 

9.68% 3 

3 Don't Know   
 

12.90% 4 

 

answered 31 

skipped 33 

 

17. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

Page 183



  

17. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 1 

1 Again you have said it is essential that certain benefits are disregarded but have supplied no justif ication for this  
 

 

answered 1 

skipped 63 

 
10. Part 9 – Disregarding Carer's Allowance and the Support Component of the 
Employment and Support Allowance  

 

18. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

66.67% 20 

2 No   
 

16.67% 5 

3 Don't Know   
 

16.67% 5 

 

answered 30 

skipped 34 

 

19. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 3 

1 Again you day it is essential that they are disregarded, but have failed to explain w hy.  

2 Carers allow ance is so often abused, those claiming carers allow ance should counted 

3 I agree w ith these disregards. The Carers Element of UC should also be disregarded to make the system fair to 

all carers. 
 

 

answered 3 

skipped 61 

 

  

Page 184



  

11. Part 10 – Continuing to protect War Pensioners by disregarding War Pensions or 

War Disablement pensions in full and by enabling up to 100% support to be granted 
in some cases  
 

20. Do you agree with this proposal?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

76.67% 23 

2 No   
 

6.67% 2 

3 Don't know   
 

16.67% 5 

 

answered 30 

skipped 34 

 

21. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 1 

1 Again there is a poor explanation of w hy, are w e assessing w as pensioners differently to normal pensioners? Is 

that fair? Who is paying for the extra cost and w hat is it (I'm sure you have an indication of w hat this w ould be!)  
 

 

answered 1 

skipped 63 

 
12. Alternatives to changing the Council Tax Reduction Scheme  

 

22. Please use this space to make any other comments on the proposed scheme.  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 12 

1 There doesn't appear to be any provision or changes to include those people getting industrial injuries 

disablement benefit (IIDB) as they too have disabilities.  

2 I don’t like the disproportion betw een people on disability benefits being allow ed a £50 excess but w orking HH 

only £25,  

3 Seems positive 

4 You need to reduce the savings limit dow n in these present times not a lot of people have £6000 

5 You need to include hos you intend to fund these increases, I can guarantee that you w ill lump it into rises for 

the rest of us are already struggling w ith no support! 

6 There should be more emphasis on helping w orking people, w e so often have to bear the burden of those that 

are out of w ork and don't w ant to w ork 

7 Makes it easier and less w ork for the council. No point in having a consultation, decision made and at least 

75% of residents w ill know  nothing about it - they do not buy the buxton advertiser They need to be w ritten to 

Page 185



  

22. Please use this space to make any other comments on the proposed scheme.  

8 The current scheme w as one of best in Derbyshire  

9 The council need to take everyone in consideration even w orking class w ho get no help at all and are 

struggling to make ends meet not just people w ho don't w ork even if they are capable of w orking  

10 the most complicated scheme I have every come across just to make it easier for the council 

11 The set deductions for earnings are helpful for people w ith irregular hours and incomes and w ill increase 

certainty and reduce bureaucracy. 

12 The proposed changes make sense and are a common sense adaptation given the move to UC. 
 

 

answered 12 

skipped 52 

 

23. Please use the space below if you would like the Council to consider any other 
options (please state).  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 7 

1 Please consider leveling up the disregarded income for both w orking and disabled to a standard £50, please 

consider the savings to have exceptions or be higher.  

2 Stop fraud to many people in high peak claiming benefits they are not entitled too 

3 If you can fund any increases by making eff iciencies in your ow n house at your ow n expense then f ill your 

boots. If not you best get creative, because plenty of people w ho w on't get this support w ill be angry at being 

crippled by a percentage increase in their ow n tax bill! 

4 keep it as it is 

I am not pensionable age yet but earn very little. How ever w ith over £6k in savings w ould not apply to me - you 

are penalised for saving money 

5 Keep existing system but improve for low er income households  

6 I live at home still as my father cannot claim anything even if I moved out of the home .he is pension age but 

because he has a very low  private pension and state pension he w ould not be able to manage and I help w ith 

majority of the bills and I'm struggling also due to the rise in cost of living . I think the council should not increase 

any payments for the next tax year just to help in this crisis  

7 The scheme appears to exacerbate the tw o child limit by only counting up to tw o children in the income 

thresholds. 

All recent studies have show n that households w ith more than tw o children are especially prone to being in 

poverty. 

This has been exacerbated by the 2 child limit. 

Having more than tw o children increases the need for a larger home, and therefore being liable to a higher level 

of Council Tax. 

Therefore additional children should be accounted for in this scheme so it does not make larger families even 

more poor. 

The proposals do not even account for tw ins or for adoptive or foster children, or special guardianships w here 

there are more than tw o dependant children. Arrangements for care for additional children in the household are 

incredibly valuable and need to be incentivised, not disincentivised. 

There should be a set amount of income threshold attributed to each child - eg £60 per child 
 

 

answered 7 

skipped 57 

 

Page 186



  

24. If you have any further comments or questions to make regarding the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme that you haven't had opportunity to raise elsewhere, please use the 
space below.  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 7 

1 Don't put the council tax up nobody can not afford it cost of living going up and business going to the w all 

2 You need to make sure those w ho need the help get it more than the ones fraudulently making claims 

3 1. No mention of the single persons £25% reduction 

2. This is by no means easy to understand, it is extremely complicated 

3. Leave things as they are 

4. When people come out of the vulnerable and tables category do they then lose the benefit  

5, There is no w ay this can be monitored 

6. On the next page question is -do you receive council tax reduction - w ell yes I do - the single persons 

allow ance 25% this is not made clear 

4 Should offer any help possible to everyone not just the uc and dole claimants  

5 Are you removing the 25% single persons discount 

6 The jumps in income thresholds proposed for children appear markedly different - they vary betw een £55 and 

£90. 

There should be the same for each additional child in the household - eg £60 

7 I w ould like the council to consider how  CTR is promoted to make sure it is taken up by those w ho need it.  

It is also important to be clear about the arrears process - can someone w ith CT arrears be retrospectively 

considered for CTR? 
 

 

answered 7 

skipped 57 

 
13. About You  

 

25. Are you completing this form on behalf of an organisation or group?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

3.57% 1 

2 No   
 

96.43% 27 

 

answered 28 

skipped 36 

 

If yes, please tell us the name of the organisation/group and add any other comments you 
wish to make.   

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 1 

1 Derbyshire Discretionary Fund 
 

 

answered 1 

skipped 63 

Page 187



  

14. Questions for Individuals  

 

26. Do you live in the High Peak Borough Council area?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

100.00% 27 

2 No 
 

0.00% 0 

 

answered 27 

skipped 37 

 

27. Are you currently receiving Council Tax Reduction?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

22.22% 6 

2 No   
 

77.78% 21 

 

answered 27 

skipped 37 

 

28. Are you or your partner in work or self-employed?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

88.89% 24 

2 No   
 

11.11% 3 

 

answered 27 

skipped 37 

 

29. Are you liable to pay Council Tax?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

100.00% 27 

2 No 
 

0.00% 0 

 

answered 27 

skipped 37 

 

Page 188



  

30. Are you currently serving in the Armed Forces?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

3.70% 1 

2 No   
 

96.30% 26 

 

answered 27 

skipped 37 

 

31. What is your gender?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Male   
 

18.52% 5 

2 Female   
 

70.37% 19 

3 Non-Binary   
 

3.70% 1 

4 Prefer not to say   
 

7.41% 2 

 

answered 27 

skipped 37 

 

32. What is your age?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 18-24   
 

3.70% 1 

2 25-34   
 

3.70% 1 

3 35-44   
 

7.41% 2 

4 45-54   
 

51.85% 14 

5 55-64   
 

18.52% 5 

6 65-74   
 

7.41% 2 

7 75-84   
 

3.70% 1 

8 85+ 
 

0.00% 0 

9 
Prefer not to say 
 

  
 

3.70% 1 

 

answered 27 

skipped 37 

 

33. Disability: Are your day to day activities limited because of a health problem or 
disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months?  

Page 189



  

33. Disability: Are your day to day activities limited because of a health problem or 
disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

18.52% 5 

2 No   
 

74.07% 20 

3 Don't know 
 

0.00% 0 

4 Prefer not to say   
 

7.41% 2 

 

answered 27 

skipped 37 

 

34. Ethnic Origin: What is your ethnic group?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Prefer not to say   
 

3.70% 1 

2 White British   
 

88.89% 24 

3 White Irish   
 

3.70% 1 

4 
White Gypsy or Irish 
Traveller  

0.00% 0 

5 
Any other White 
background 

  
 

3.70% 1 

6 
Mixed/Multiple ethnic 
groups - White & Black 
African 

 
0.00% 0 

7 
Mixed/Multiple ethnic 
groups - White & Black 
Caribbean 

 
0.00% 0 

8 
Mixed/Multiple ethnic 
groups - White & Asian  

0.00% 0 

9 
Any other multi mixed 
background  

0.00% 0 

10 
Asian or Asian British 
Pakistani  

0.00% 0 

11 
Asian or Asian British 
Indian  

0.00% 0 

12 
Asian or Asian British 
Bangladeshi  

0.00% 0 

13 
Asian or Asian British 
Chinese  

0.00% 0 

14 
Any other Asian 
background  

0.00% 0 

15 Black African 
 

0.00% 0 

16 British Caribbean 
 

0.00% 0 

17 Black British 
 

0.00% 0 

Page 190



  

34. Ethnic Origin: What is your ethnic group?  

18 
Any other Black 
background  

0.00% 0 

 

answered 27 

skipped 37 

 

35. Other ethnic group?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 0.00% 0 

No answers found. 

 

answered 0 

skipped 64 

 

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

The Executive 
 

9 February 2023 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Tourism Strategy 
 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 

Councillor Damien Greenhalgh - Deputy 
Leader & Executive Councillor for 
Regeneration, Tourism and Leisure 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Nicholas Lamb – Interim Head of 

Regeneration  
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 
(All Wards); 

 
 

Appendices Attached  
Appendix A – Blue Sail Project Timetable 
Appendix B – Baseline Data Report 

Appendix C – Draft Tourism Strategy 

 

 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the development of the 
Tourism Strategy and action plan for tourism delivery in the High Peak over 

the next five years.  
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Executive approves the Tourismn Strategy. 
 

2.2 To note the actions taken for the effective delivery of this Strategy.  
 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 The global pandemic has had a significant impact on the tourism sector with 
total visits to the High Peak down approximately 49% on 2019 figures with 
economic benefits down by over 50% on 2019 values. National forecasts are 

now suggesting that it will be the end of 2022 before domestic tourism 
recovers to 2019 levels. Given the reduction in visitor numbers, this Strategy is 

required to help High Peak Borough capture new markets, using the area’s 
cultural and natural assets to fuel growth and capitalise on the staycation 
demand and people’s desire for escape to and exploration of “the great 

Page 193

Agenda Item 8



  

outdoors”.  The key to success of the Strategy will be increasing overnight 
stays to maximise visitor spend in the High Peak. 

 

3.2 In February 2022 High Peak Borough Council issued a tender to appoint 
consultancy services for the preparation of a five-year Tourism Strategy and 

action plan for the High Peak.  
 
3.3 Tourism specialists, Blue Sail Consultants were appointed in April 2022 to 

conduct stakeholder and wider consultation and draft the Strategy working 
closely with Officers.  

 
3.4 Blue Sail Consultants have held individual conversations with the people listed 

here: 

 

 Clare Brookes, High Peak Borough Council 

 Jo Dilley, Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire 

 Alison Foote, Derbyshire County Council 

 Simon Fussell, Buxton Civic Association, Poole’s Cavern 

 Ben Green, Buxton Opera House 

 Cllr. Damien Greenhalgh, High Peak Borough Council 

 Lisa Hoyland, High Peak Borough Council 

 Helen Illingworth, Yorkshire Bridge Inn 

 Roddie MacLean, Visit Buxton 

 Stephen Owen, Buxton Crescent Trust 

 Sarah Porru, High Peak Borough Council 

 Sally Potter, Marketing Buxton 

 Lindsay Rae, Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire 

 Paul & Kathryn Roden, LosehillHouse Hotel & Spa 

 Mark & Jackie Sweeney, Live for the Hills guided tours 

 Sarah Wilks, Peak District National Park Authority 

 Joss Winter, Sustrans 

 Duncan Wright, GlossopCreative Trust 

 
3.5 In addition a cross-section of businesses and town representatives took part in 

an online survey, a summary of the online survey can be found at Appendix B. 

  
3.6  The Baseline Report was delivered by Blue Sail in November 2022 and shared 

with key Regeneration Officers and the Deputy Leader & Executive Councillor 
for Regeneration, Tourism and Leisure for further input and feedback 
(Appendix B).  This report includes: 

 

 Current Tourism Performance 

 Comprehensive Product Audit 

 Regional and Local Strategy Review 

 Market Review 

 Best Practice (learning from others and case studies) 

 Consultation and Engagement 

 Business Surveys 

 
 

Page 194



  

 
3.7 As a result of consultation the four key priorities identified for growth are: 
 

 Towns & Villages–creating destination hubs and reasons to linger. 

 Cycling & Walking–developing routes, trails, packages and events.  

 Creators & Makers–supporting events, workshops, courses and opportunities 

to buy. 

 Accommodation–extending the range and type. 

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 This Strategy supports the principles of the High Peak Corporate Plan: 2019 -

2023 and has the potential to help deliver all four aims of the Corporate Plan. 
 

 Aim 1 – Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High 
Peak. 

 Aim 2 – A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward thinking council. 

 Aim 3 – Protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth, development 
and regeneration. 

 Aim 4 – To protect and improve the environment and respond to the climate 
change emergency. 

 
5. Alternative Options 
 

5.1 To reject the draft Tourism Strategy.  
This is not considered the preferred option.  Baseline data and consultation 

provides evidence to suggest that the High Peak is constrained by the lack of 
sufficiently compelling reasons for visitors to stay longer. And while the 
infrastructure is generally good, there are elements which could be improved 

or utilised better.  A highly competitive national and international marketplace 
present major challenges for the destination as a whole and the many small, 

independent businesses which characterise the High Peak. A long-term 
strategic vision is required and a framework for service delivery to aid 
economic recovery following Covid and more recently with the Cost of Living 

Crisis. 
 Not recommended 

 
5.2 Approve draft Tourism Strategy.   
 Under this scenario, High Peak Borough Council would acknowledge the 

Baseline data findings to date and approve the proposed Tourism Strategy 
and Plan for the next five years that aligns with the work of Marketing Peak 

District and Derbyshire, reflects and builds upon work already achieved, and 
aims to develop the High Peak as a destination and a brand; and promote the 
area nationally and internationally. 

 Recommended 

 

 
6. Implications 

 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
Long -term sustainable growth to the local economy will benefit the 

Page 195



  

local community by reducing unemployment and crime. 
 
 

6.2 Workforce 
Regeneration team to provide tourism delivery in the short term 

with experience and expertise in delivering projects and events.  
The Strategy requires the right kind of support in place to grow 
tourism sustainably working in partnership with other organisations.  

Ensuring that marketing is delivered primarily via Marketing Peak 
District and Derbyshire and other town teams. 

 
6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

The draft Strategy has been prepared in accordance with the 

Council's Diversity and Equality Policies 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
Continuing DMO support/contribution will be required to develop 
and deliver the marketing elements of the Strategy.  Specific 

projects and activities will require funding either external to the 
Council or internal resources. 

 
6.5 Legal 

The report is to approve the draft Tourism Strategy and action plan 

and work carried out so far by Blue Sail Consultants.   
Legal advice will be sought to review the current arrangements with 
DMO’s and to consider available options for partnership 

arrangements with DMO’s for delivery proposals. 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
The draft Strategy has been developed with consideration given to 
the local and regional plans to support Climate Change, further 

detail and national plans can be found on page 61 of the Baseline 
Data Report (Appendix B). 

 

 High Peak Corporate Plan 2019-2023 

 Growth Strategy for High Peak 2017 

 Peak District National Park Management Plan 2018-2023 

 Marketing Peak and Derbyshire 5yr Destination Plan: The 
Rescue & Rebuilding of Peak District & Derbyshire’s Visitor 
Economy 

 Goyt Valley Action Plan (Draft) 
 

 
6.7 
 

Consultation 
 

The Baseline Data Report (Appendix B) provides an outline of 
consultation carried out to date in the development of the draft 

Tourism Strategy. 
Consultation has been carried out with a wide range of public, 
private and third sector stakeholders.  Consultation took place face 

to face, by telephone on online from mid-May to end of June 2022. 

Page 196



  

A Business Survey was carried July 2022 these results can be 
found in the Baseline Data Report (Appendix B). Blue Sail 
conducted site visits in High Peak on 17th and 18th May 2022 areas 

included Glossop, Bamford, Hope, Castleton, Chapel-en-le-Frith, 
Whaley Bridge, New Mills, Hayfield and Buxton. 

 
6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
None at this stage. 

 
 

 
 

Neil Rodgers 
Executive Director (Place) 

 

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

**INSERT NAME OF ANY PAPERS AND WEB LINKS”  

 
 
 

 
7. Detail 
 

7.1 Largely situated within the Peak District National Park, High Peak typically 
attracts some 5 million visitors each year (Although these numbers are 

estimated to have halved during 2020/21 due to pandemic restrictions). 
 
7.2 Tourism is a significant economic sector employing over 3,700 people or 

around 13% of all jobs in the High Peak.  Visitors spend almost £300M, with 
around half of that on shopping, and food and drink -supporting facilities and 

services also used by residents. 
 
7.3  The global pandemic has had a significant impact on the tourism sector with 

total visits to the High Peak down approximately 49% on 2019 figures with 
economic benefits down by over 50% on 2019 values. National forecasts are 

now suggesting that it will be the end of 2022 before domestic tourism 
recovers to 2019 levels. Given the reduction in visitor numbers, this Strategy is 
required to help High Peak Borough Council capture new markets, using the 

area’s cultural and natural assets to fuel growth and capitalise on the 
staycation demand and people’s desire for escape to and exploration of “the 

great outdoors”.  The key to success of the Strategy will be increasing 
overnight stays to maximise visitor spend in the High Peak. 

 

7.4 In February 2022 High Peak Borough Council issued a tender to appoint 
consultancy services for the preparation of a five-year Tourism Strategy and 

action plan for the High Peak. 
 
7.5 Specific Requirements  

 

Page 197



  

The tender was to develop a new Tourism Strategy and action plan for the 
High Peak.  The Strategy to cover a 5-year (2022 – 2027) vision and 
framework for delivery and address the following objectives: 

  

 Provide a long-term strategic vision that clearly demonstrates growth 

ambitions for the visitor economy. 

 Define the priority actions for delivery at a district and regional level, 
identifying opportunities for collaboration and partner destination 

Management Organisations and key stakeholders.        

 Identify the sector’s current positioning and consider emerging trends, 

opportunities and challenges in each district. This included a review of the 
evidence base including sector performance; recent growth trends and 

future forecasting; new and planned investments of significant scale.  

 Identify opportunities to embed performance and evaluation monitoring at 
an early stage. 

 
7.6  Outputs 

 
7.6.1 A Tourism Strategy and action plan for the next five years that aligns with 

the work of Marketing Peak Distrct and Derbyshire, reflects and builds upon 

work already achieved, and aims to: 
 

 Develop the High Peak as a destination and a brand. 

 Promote the area nationally and internationally. 

 
7.7  An open tender call was published on 14th February 2022 and closed 14th 

March 2022, with 22 Expressions of Interest and six tenders received.  The 

tender was awarded in accordance with the Procurement Policy and Blue Sail 
Consultants appointed.   

             

7.8  Work commenced in April 2022 with Blue Sail Consultants with the first 
inception meeting held on 29th April 2022.   

 
7.9 Following this meeting a project timetable was developed with some 

suggested dates for key points in the project. (Appendix A). 
 
7.10 On the 10th May 2022 Blue Sail Consultants provided a Consultation 

Workbook. This workbook included detail on all consultees including tourism 
businesses and key tourism contacts.  Further consultation detail is provided 

at 6.7 of this report. 
 

7.11 Blue Sail conducted site visits in the High Peak on the 17 th and 18th May 2022, 
this included included Glossop, Bamford, Hope, Castleton, Chapel-en-le-Frith, 

Whaley Bridge, New Mills, Hayfield and Buxton. 
 
7.12 The Strategy has been developed with engagement from a wide range of 

public, private and third sector stakeholders to set out a clearly articulated, 
refreshed vision for driving sustainable, innovative, resilient and inclusive 

sector recovery and growth. 
 

Page 198



  

7.13 From the research, consultation and analysis conducted in the development of 
this Strategy there are, naturally, areas of strength and opportunity to 
capitalise on. And areas of weakness and threat to try to address.  The full 

SWOT analysis can be seen on page 6 of the draft Tourism Strategy 
(Appendix C).  In summary the strengths of High Peak lie in its outstanding 

landscape with opportunities to exploit around activities, culture and making 
more of its built environment.  On the downside it is constrained by the lack of 
sufficiently compelling reasons for visitors to stay longer. And while the 

infrastructure is generally good, there are elements which could be improved 
or utilised better.  A highly competitive national and international marketplace 

present major challenges for the destination as a whole and the many small, 
independent businesses which characterise High Peak. 

 

7.14 Strategy Vision - Over the next five years High Peak will establish itself as a 
coherent, connected destination within the iconic brand of the Peak District. 

 
7.15 Baseline Data research carried out in the development of this draft Strategy 

indicate that day visits dominate. Of the 50 million annual visits, 90% of those 

are day trips –one of the consequences of proximity to big centres of 
population. Day visits however only account for 60% of the £286M spend, 

clearly indicating the value of overnight stays.  While attracting overnight stays 
is desirable, day visits have been growing markedly faster than staying visits. 
Between 2014 and 2019, the number of day visits increased by 14% in High 

Peak while the number of staying visits increased by just 1%. 
 
7.16 Market Trends suggest there is uncertainty in the travel market, but discernible 

trends and related opportunities are emerging.  Five macro trends likely to 
influence travel patterns in the longer term have been identified along with 

their implications for the High Peak as a destination.  Further detail on the 
implications for tourism in the High Peak can be found on page 12 and 13 of 
the draft Tourism Strategy (Appendix C). 

  

 The Pursuit of Real 

 Fresh Adventures 

 Going Digital 

 All About Value 

 Journey to Net Zero 

 
7.17  Six areas of particular focus formed the basis of the best practice examples 

which inform this Strategy are: 

 

 Active outdoors culture 

 Strategic events 

 Town centre development 

 Transport and cycling infrastructure 

 Alternative accommodation 

 Sustainable destination development 
 

Page 199



  

7.18 Focussing on a small number of priorities is much more likely to lead to 
positive outcomes. Four areas of opportunity will provide that focus for the 
High Peak.  These four areas are based on the strengths of High Peak’s 

tourism offer and the analysis of market prospects. They are not everything 
that can or will happen, rather they provide a focus for investment and 

development to unlock growth.  The four areas of opportunity are: 
 

 Towns & Villages–creating destination hubs and reasons to linger. 

 Cycling & Walking–developing routes, trails, packages and events.   

 Creators & Makers–supporting events, workshops, courses and opportunities 

to buy. 
 Accommodation–extending the range and type. 

 
7.19 Underpinning the above four areas of opportunity is vital in that the right kind 

of support needs to be in place to deliver the Strategy, grow tourism 
sustainably and approach this work in partnership with other organisations; to 
influence, ensure alignment, efficiency and effective delivery of the Strategy 

and support for the tourism sector. We need to use these partnerships to 
ensure the quality of the visitor offer is improved and standards are 

maintained. 
 
7.20 It is recommended that a Tourism Partnership Forum is set up to ensure that 

the key organisations involved in the High Peak’s visitor economy work 
together. It will help to align priorities, programmes and activities, identify and 

take opportunities to enhance and build on what each organisation is doing, 
work to avoid duplication, and potentially establish new collaborations or 
projects which cut across geographical or organisational boundaries.  Areas of 

focus for this Forum to include: 
 

 Marketing 

 Visitor management – including transport, dispersal, pressure points etc 

 New capital or infrastructure developments 

 Business support and engagement 

 New funding streams, bids and opportunities for larger scale initiatives and 

projects. 
 

7.21 Monitoring and evaluating progress of this Strategy will be carried out in two 
ways. The first by evaluating the outputs of each Action Area listed in this 

Strategy, these outputs can either be quantitative or qualitative. 
 
7.22 The second method is to monitor and evaluate the five key performance 

indicators in the draft Strategy, detail how they will be measured and to 
evidence why it’s important to measure the outcome.  Further detail can be 

found on page 24 of the draft Tourism Strategy (Appendix C).  Baselines for 
each of these performance indicators will be established in spring 2023 
through STEAM data.  The five key performance indicators are shown here: 

 

 Sector Growth - Proportion of visits that are ‘staying’ visits (overnight). 

 Average length of stay and spend per visit (holiday visits). 

Page 200



  

 Visitor survey - Longer stays and spend during a visit will contribute 
economic impact, business profitability and sustaining jobs. 

 Business Growth (% annual increase in turnover). 

 Visitor Satisfaction (from a visit).  
 

7.23 On approval of the draft Strategy it will be published online and shared directly 
with key stakeholders including DMO’s, Town Councils, County Councils and 

other key consultees. 
  
 

  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Blue Sail – High Peak and Staffs Moorlands Strategy 
 

Tasks April May June July August 

Inception 
 

  †     

Stage 1 Baseline  

Desk Based 
Audit 

       

Market 
Review 
 

        

Product Audit 
 

        

Destination 
Audit 

   17/18 
Site Visit 

    

1:1 
consultation 

        

Tourism 
Service review 

        

Baseline 
report 
 

       20th    

Stage 2 Strategy Development  

Best Practice 
 

        

Stakeholder 
Workshop 

     27th 
& 
28th 

  

Consultant/ 
client review 

       † 
20th 

  

Stage 3 Reporting  

Drafts for 
review 

       Drafts 
issued 
to 
client 
8th 

   

Final 
Strategies & 
reports 

       Comments 
back by 
19th 

† 
29th 

 
† Invoice schedule (40%:40%:20%) 
 
Suggested client review dates (times tbc): 
Baseline – Monday 20th June 
Outline Recommendations – Wednesday 20th July 
Final Report – Monday 29th August 
 
(Blue Sail Crew meeting on 29th June) 

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS 

TOURISM STRATEGY BASELINE REPORT 
 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 205



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 1 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 

1. TOURISM PERFORMANCE ................................................................ 2 

2. PRODUCT AUDIT ........................................................................... 15 

3. STRATEGY & POLICY REVIEW ......................................................... 61 

4. MARKET REVIEW ........................................................................... 88 

5. BEST PRACTICE .............................................................................. 99 

6. CONSULTATION & ENGAGEMENT ................................................ 113 

7. BUSINESS SURVEYS (STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS & HIGH PEAK)117 

 

P
age 206



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 2 
 

 

 

 

1. TOURISM PERFORMANCE 

KEY FINDINGS 
 

 The Covid pandemic is estimated to have resulted in visitor numbers and tourism economic impact in High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands 
being down by approximately 50% in 2020 compared to 2019. 

 In 2019, just over 5 million tourism visits were made to High Peak, generating £286 million for the local economy and supporting 3,707 full-time-
equivalent jobs.   

 5.6 million tourism visits were made to Staffordshire Moorlands, generating £335 million for the local economy and supporting 4,042 full-time-
equivalent jobs. 

 The combined tourism economic impact of both areas amounts to over £620 million. 
 For both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands, the day visitor market accounts for approximately 90% of all trips and 60% of tourism economic 

impact. 
 Between 2014 and 2019, the number of day visits increased by 14% in High Peak and by 10% in Staffordshire Moorlands.  Over the same period, 

the number of staying visits increased by just 1% in High Peak and by 8% in Staffordshire Moorlands. 
 Shopping and Food & Drink together account for approximately half of direct visitor expenditure in both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands, 

reflecting the high proportion of day visits. 
 The seasonal distribution of visits follows a broadly similar pattern to England as a whole, with July and August being peak months for both 

staying and day visits.  Staffordshire Moorland’s day visitor market appears to be relatively weak in the winter months, with just 19% of visits 
taking place in the four months from November to February, compared to 25% in High Peak and the England average of 32%.  

 For staying visits, average spend per night in both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands is slightly higher than the England average.  Average 
length of stay in High Peak is similar to the England average but in Staffordshire Moorlands it is shorter – 2.1 nights compared to the England 
average of 3 nights. For tourism day trips, average spend per trip in both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands is less than half the England 
average. 

 Data from ONS’s Business Register and Employment Survey (BRES) shows that tourism industry employment accounts for 13% of all industry 
employment in High Peak, 18% in Staffordshire Moorlands.  This is compared to the England average of 11%.  

P
age 207



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 3 
 

 

 

 

 Buxton attracts a third of the High Peak total visits and economic impact; Leek attracts 16% of Staffordshire Moorlands’ total visits and 13% of 
economic impact.   
 

 
COVID IMPACT 
 
Draft STEAM reports for 2020 present tourism volume and value figures, incorporating estimated impact resulting from the Covid pandemic.  They show 
that between 2019 and 2020, visitor numbers and tourism economic impact in High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands fell by approximately 50%. 

 
Table 1: Tourism volume & value 2020 

 Visitor Numbers (m) % change 2019-20 Economic Impact (£m) % change 2019-20 

High Peak     

Day visitors 2.53 -45% £101.05 -44% 

Staying visitors 0.18 -60% £44.69 -58% 
Total visitors 2.71 -46% £145.75 -49% 

     

Staffordshire Moorlands     
Day visitors  2.607 -48% £104.16 -47% 

Staying visitors  0.228 -59% £59.44 -57% 

Total visitors  2.84 -49% £163.31 -51% 

     

Total visitors (High Peak and 
Staffordshire Moorlands combined) 

5.5 -48% £309 -50% 

Source: STEAM 2020, High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands 

 
Given that 2020 was an extraordinary year, the analysis in the remainder of this section uses 2019 data to present the most representative 
picture of tourism in High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands. 

P
age 208



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 4 
 

 

 

 

TOURISM VOLUME & VALUE 2019 

 
In 2019, just over 5 million tourism visits were made to High Peak, generating £286 million for the local economy and supporting 3,707 full-time-
equivalent (fte) jobs.  5.6 million tourism visits were made to Staffordshire Moorlands, generating £335 million for the local economy and supporting 
4,042 fte jobs.  In both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands, day visits accounted for approximately 90% of visitor numbers and 60% of economic 
impact.  These proportions are fairly typical of destinations which have large resident populations within a 90-minute drive. 

 
Table 2: Tourism volume & value 2019 

 Visitor Numbers (m) Economic Impact (£m)  Employment Supported (fte) 

High Peak    
Day visitors 4.603 £179.05 1,548 

Staying visitors 0.442 £107.23 2,158 

Total visitors 5.045 £286.28 3,707 
    

Staffordshire Moorlands    

Day visitors 5.046 £196.30 1,698 

Staying visitors 0.554 £139.14 2,345 
Total visitors 5.6 £335.44 4,042 

    

Total visitors (High Peak and 
Staffordshire Moorlands combined) 

10.645 £621.72 7,749 

Source: STEAM 2019, High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 209



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 5 
 

 

 

 

Five Year Trend 
 
Between 2014 and 2019, day visitor numbers increased by 14% to High Peak and by 10% to Staffordshire Moorlands.   Over the same period, staying 
visitor numbers increased by just 1% in High Peak and by 8% in Staffordshire Moorlands. 
 

 

  
 

Source: STEAM 2019, High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands 

 
 
  

P
age 210



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 6 
 

 

 

 

Impact of Alton Towers 
 
Alton Towers has a major impact on Staffordshire Moorlands’ tourism sector.  It attracts approximately 2 million visits per year, equating to 36% of all 
tourism visits to Staffordshire Moorlands (based on 2019 visitor number figures provided by STEAM).   
 
From the 2017 Staffordshire visitor survey, the primary motivation for visiting Staffordshire Moorlands was to visit an attraction (47% of respondents).  
(Note: the survey took place at key attractions in Staffordshire Moorlands – including Alton Towers and Biddulph Grange Gardens.) 
 
There is no data available to indicate what proportion of the theme park’s 2 million annual visits are overnight stays, but with 1,000 bedspaces available 
at the three Alton Towers hotels, it provides a significant proportion (50%) of Staffordshire Moorlands’ serviced accommodation bedspace supply (89% of 
the large hotel (50+ rooms) supply). 
 
Using the visitor number proportion (36%) and applying this to 2019 economic impact figures provided by STEAM, this translates into a tourism economic 
impact from Alton Towers of approximately £120 million.  

P
age 211



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 7 
 

 

 

 

Sectoral Analysis 
 
Shopping accounts for the highest share of visitor expenditure (30%/28%) followed by food & drink at 23%/22%).  This reflects the dominance of the day 
visitor market for which shopping and eating out are key components. 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Source: STEAM 2019, High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands 

 
 
  

P
age 212



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 8 
 

 

 

 

SEASONALITY 
 
The seasonal distribution of visits to High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands shows a broadly similar pattern to that of England a s a whole, although day 
visits appear to be more peaked, for Staffordshire Moorlands in particular - just 19% of visits take place in the four months from November to February, 
compared to the England average of 32%. This is likely to be a function of the rural nature of the area where the winter weather has a greater impact on 
day visitor activity compared to urban destinations. (Note: day visitor data for England comes from the national day visitor survey whereas High Peak and 
Staffordshire Moorlands data comes from STEAM.) 

 

 
 

 

Sources: STEAM 2019, High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands; GB Tourism Survey, GB Day Visitor Survey, Visit Britain 
Note: England Staying Visitor data is for domestic overnight visits only 

 
 
 

P
age 213



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 9 
 

 

 

 

AVERAGE SPEND AND LENGTH OF STAY: COMPARISON WITH OTHER DESTINATIONS 
 
National, domestic tourism surveys (GB Tourism Survey and GB Day Visits Survey) can be used to provide comparisons with other destinations and with 
England as a whole.  Sample sizes are small at a local level but the use of 3-year averages, combined with consistency in methodology across the country, 
allows useful comparisons to be drawn.  Note: Figures in the following tables are not comparable with STEAM due to different methodologies. 
 
Average spend per night in both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands is slightly higher than the England average.  Average length of stay in High Peak is 
similar to the England average although below that in Allerdale and South Lakeland.  Average length of stay in Staffordshire Moorlands is low – 2.1 nights 
compared to the England average of 3 nights. 
 
Table 3: Domestic Overnight Trips (3-year averages, 2017-2019) 

District Volume of trips (000) Ave spend per trip Ave spend per night Average length of stay 
(nights) 

High Peak 364 £197.80 £67.42 2.93 

Staffordshire Moorlands 250 £144.00 £68.05 2.12 

Allerdale 837 £254.48 £67.83 3.75 

South Lakeland 1.459 £232.35 £71.32 3.26 

Derbyshire Dales 579 £188.26 £65.62 2.87 

Ribble Valley 114 £210.53 £84.81 2.48 

Craven 560 £142.86 £53.55 2.67 

Ryedale 279 £157.71 £52.19 3.02 

England 99,030 £194.70 £65.32 2.98 
Source: GB Tourism Survey, Visit Britain 

 
For tourism day trips, average spend per trip in both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands is well below spend in other destinations and less than half 
the England average.  Rural destinations do typically attract lower levels of day visit spend compared to urban destinations.  From the 2019 GB Day Visits 
Survey, average spend per trip to village/rural locations in England was £29.65, compared to £53.18 in city/large town destinations. 

 

P
age 214



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 10 
 

 

 

 

Table 4: Tourism Day Trips (3-year averages, 2017-2019) 
District Volume of trips (m) Ave spend per trip 

High Peak 4.44 £15.54 

Staffordshire Moorlands 1.51 £13.91 

Allerdale 4.31 £31.55 

South Lakeland 7.61 £34.30 
Derbyshire Dales 6.89 £22.64 

Ribble Valley 3.28 £48.48 

Craven 4.33 £20.09 

Ryedale 2.73 £31.87 

England 1,442 £37.09 
Source: GB Day Visits Survey, Visit Britain 

 
 
TOURISM RELATIVE TO OTHER SECTORS 
 
Whilst STEAM and national tourism surveys are designed specifically to analyse demand and spending by tourists, a look at national employment data is 
helpful in providing an indication of tourism’s importance relative to other industries.  ONS’s Business Register and Employment Survey (BRES) is the 
official source of employee and employment estimates by detailed geography and industry.  It is a sample employer survey that records a job at the 
location of an employee’s work place.  In 2019, tourism industry employment in High Peak accounted for 13% of all industry employment; in Staffordshire 
Moorlands, tourism industry employment accounted for 18% of all industry employment.  The average for England as a whole is 11%. The definition of 
‘tourism industry’ used here is that used by Visit England and ONS for tourism sector economic analysis. A full list of SIC codes is provided at the end of 
this section. Note that tourism industry employment counts all employment within that tourism-defined SIC code. It does not allow differentiation 
between consumption by tourists and consumption by local residents.   
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 215



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 11 
 

 

 

 

Table 5: Employment in Tourism Industries, 2019 
 Tourism industry employment All industry employment Tourism Share 

High Peak 4,500 34,000 13% 

Staffordshire Moorlands 6,000 33,000 18% 

Allerdale 6,000 41,000 15% 

South Lakeland 13,000 57,000 23% 
Derbyshire Dales 7,000 36,000 19% 

Ribble Valley 4,000 31,000 13% 

Craven 4,500 33,000 14% 

Ryedale 4,500 29,000 16% 

England 2,908,000 27,149,000 11% 
Source: Business Register and Employment Survey 2019, ONS 

 
 
BUXTON & LEEK 
 
STEAM data is available for Buxton and for Leek and shows that Buxton attracts a third of the High Peak total visits and economic impact; Leek 
attracts 16% of Staffordshire Moorlands’ total visits and 13% of economic impact.   
 
Table 6: Tourism volume & value, Buxton 2019 

 Buxton High Peak  Buxton as proportion of High Peak 

Day Visits (m) 1.534 4.603 33% 
Staying visits (m) 0.144 0.442 33% 

Total visits (m) 1.679 5.045 33% 

Economic impact (£m) £94.02 £286.28 33% 

Employment (fte) 1,160 3,707 31% 

Serviced accommodation bedspaces 783 1,733 45% 

Non-serviced accommodation bedspaces 1,420 6,268 23% 
Resident population (2020) 22,399 92,600 24% 

P
age 216



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 12 
 

 

 

 

Source: STEAM 2019 
 

Table 7: Tourism volume & value, Leek 2019 
 Leek Staffordshire Moorlands  Leek as proportion of Staffordshire Moorlands 
Day Visits (m) 0.86 5.05 17% 

Staying visits (m) 0.064 0.554 12% 

Total visits (m) 0.92 5.6 16% 

Economic impact (£m) £43.5 £335.4 13% 

Employment (fte) 518 4,042 13% 

Serviced accommodation bedspaces 188 2,031 9% 
Non-serviced accommodation bedspaces 91 6,208 1.5% 

Resident population (2020) 20,028 98,400 20% 

Sources: STEAM 2019; www.citypopulation.de 

 
 
TOURISM SIC CODES 

 

Tourism Industries SIC2007 code Description 

Accommodation for visitors 55100 Hotels and similar accommodation 

  55202 Youth hostels 

  55300 Recreational vehicle parks, trailer parks & camping grounds 

  55201 Holiday centres and villages 

  55209 Other holiday and other collective accommodation 

  55900 Other accommodation 

Food and beverage serving activities 56101 Licensed restaurants 

  56102 Unlicensed restaurants and cafes 

  56103 Take-away food shops and mobile food stands 

P
age 217



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 13 
 

 

 

 

  56290 Other food services 

  56210 Event Catering Activities 

  56301 Licensed clubs 

  56302 Public houses and bars 

Railway passenger transport 49100 Passenger rail transport, interurban 

Road passenger transport 49320 Taxi Operation 

  49390 Other passenger land transport 

Water passenger transport 50100 Sea and coastal passenger water transport 

  50300 Inland passenger water transport 

Air passenger transport 51101 Scheduled passenger air transport 

  51102 Non-scheduled passenger air transport 

Transport equipment rental 77110 Renting & leasing of cars and light motor vehicles 

  77341 Renting & leasing of passenger water transport equipment 

  77351 Renting & leasing of passenger air transport equipment 

Travel agencies & other reservation services activities 79110 Travel agency activities 

  79120 Tour operator activities 

  79901 Activities of tour guides 

  79909 Other reservation service activities n.e.c. 

Cultural activities 90010 Performing arts 

  90020 Support Activities for the performing arts 

  90030 Artistic creation 

  90040 Operation of arts facilities 

  91020 Museums activities 

  91030 Operation of historical sites & buildings & similar attractions 

  91040 Botanical & zoological gardens and nature reserves activities 

P
age 218



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 14 
 

 

 

 

Sporting & recreational activities 92000 Gambling & betting activities 

  93110 Operation of sports facilities 

  93199 Other sports activities 

  93210 Activities of amusement parks and theme parks 

  93290 Other amusement and recreation activities nec 

  77210 Renting and leasing of recreational and sports goods 

Country-specific tourism characteristic activities 82301 Activities of exhibition and fair organisers 

  82302 Activities of conference organisers 

  68202 Letting and operating of conference and exhibition centres 

Source: Office for National Statistics 

 
 

P
age 219



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 15 
 

 

 

 

2. PRODUCT AUDIT 

KEY FINDINGS 
 

 High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands have many stand-out visitor experiences, predominantly featuring outdoor activities.  In this section we 
highlight these ‘signature experiences’ and their associated ‘hero’ products - themed clusters that present distinctive features.    

 Selected signature experiences for High Peak are: 
• Walking and hiking: High Peak has an outstanding walking offer, with countless, scenic paths and trails ranging from easy strolls to 

demanding hill climbs.  Of particular note are Kinder Scout, Mam Tor, Stanage Edge  (Derbyshire Dales) & Bamford Edge, Pennine Way and 
walks around Ladybower and Longdendale reservoirs. 

• Outdoor adventure: The geography of High Peak lends itself to adventurous outdoor activities, notably mountain biking, climbing and 
caving.  There are many activity providers offering courses and experiences. 

• Cycling: Hero products are: Trans Pennine Trail, Pennine Cycle Way, Monsall Trail, Winnats Pass. 
• Caverns and Caves: Show caves provide a unique High Peak visitor experience. Most popular are Poole’s Cavern, Treak Cliff Cavern, 

Speedwell Cavern and Peak Cavern. 
• Towns and villages: Hero products are Buxton, Castleton, Whaley Bridge, New Mills, Hayfield and Glossop. 
• Festivals and events: Hero products are Buxton International Festival, Hillhead quarrying exhibition, Tour of the Peak Sportive. 

 Selected signature experiences for Staffordshire Moorlands are: 
• Walking and hiking: Scenic and varied countryside walks, notably The Roaches, Dovedale & Ilam Park and the Staffordshire Way. 
• Cycling: Some attractive, traffic-free routes including The Manifold Way, Biddulph Valley Way, Caldon Canal, Oakamoor to Denstone 

Greenway and Leek to Rushton Spencer Greenway. 
• Water activities: A variety of water activities available on Rudyard Lake and Tittesworth Reservoir, as well as narrow boat hire on the 

Caldon Canal. 
• Family fun: Hero products – Alton Towers, Churnet Valley Railway, Foxfield Railway, Rudyard Lake Steam Railway, Peak Wildlife Park. 
• Gardens and nature attractions: Hero products – Biddulph Grange Garden, RSPB Coombes Valley and Consall Woods, National Trust 

Hawksmoor, Dimmingsdale, four country parks - Greenway Bank, Biddulph Grange, Deep Hayes and Ladderedge. 
• Towns and villages: Main places are Leek, Cheadle, Biddulph. 

P
age 220



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 16 
 

 

 

 

• Festivals and events: Include – Leek Show, Leek Arts Festival, Staffordshire Moorlands Walking Festival 
 High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands each have approximately 8,000 accommodation bedspaces, around a quarter of which are in serviced 

accommodation. Most serviced establishments are small, with 10 or fewer rooms.  The two large hotels (50+ rooms) in High Peak are The Palace 
Hotel (operated by Britannia) and the new, luxury Buxton Crescent Spa Hotel which opened in 2020 after a long period of redevelopment. In 
Staffordshire Moorlands, the three largest establishments are the theme park hotels at Alton Towers which together provide 1,000 bedspaces in 
500 rooms. 

 In 2019 there were 146 self-catering establishments (cottages, houses, apartments) in High Peak, 205 in Staffordshire Moorlands (down to 165 in 
2020). High Peak has 40 camping/caravan sites and 13 youth hostels; Staffordshire Moorlands has 37 camping/caravan sites and 10 youth hostels.   

 High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands each have around 400 private home rentals available through Airbnb, 60% on a full-time basis. 
 Findings from the 2019 Staffordshire Hotel & Visitor Accommodation Strategy (Hotel Solutions) suggest that there is strong demand in 

Staffordshire for boutique, luxury and 4-star B&Bs; a good market for high quality inns and pub accommodation; a clear need for additional non-
serviced accommodation to grow peak-season staying tourism across Staffordshire’s rural areas. (Note: the Strategy relates to all Staffordshire.) 

 For the conference market, Buxton has the striking Devonshire Dome and Pavilion Gardens offering capacities of 1,500/1,000 delegates. The 
Palace Hotel and The Buxton Crescent Health Spa Hotel can cater for 500 and 186 delegates respectively.  In Staffordshire Moorlands, Alton 
Towers Theme Park provides the largest conference spaces (up to 570 delegates).  

 
 
SIGNATURE EXPERIENCES 
 
In the tables below, we present signature experiences together with their hero products for High Peak and for Staffordshire Moorlands. Hero products 
have been selected using the following selection criteria: 

 Listed in travel guides/magazines/articles under best/leading/top 20 experiences of that type 

 Rates high in TripAdvisor and other similar platforms, relative to other similar places/sites/attractions in the region 

 Is part of a national network that gives it profile/positioning within certain markets, e.g. National Trust  

 Has a national status that sets it apart/is a mark of quality, e.g. National Trail 

 Is regionally/nationally well-known with an instantly recognisable name 

P
age 221



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 17 
 

 

 

 

 Is a distinctive feature of the area 

 It has a strong presence/following on Instagram/Twitter/Facebook 

Table 8: High Peak Signature Experiences 

Signature 
Experience 

Hero Products Location Description Meets Selection Criteria? 

Walking & hiking Kinder Scout Hayfield/ 
Edale 

Well known, popular hill walk, highest point in 
the Peak District (636m). Site of the 1932 Mass 
Trespass.  

National Trust, SSSI, National Nature 
Reserve 
No. 4 in AllTrails’ ‘best trails in 
England’ 
No. 6 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do in 
the Peak District National Park 

 Mam Tor Edale/ 
Castleton 

517m high hill. Well known, popular ridge walk.  No. 1 in AllTrails ‘best trails in 
England’ 
No. 4 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do in 
the Peak District National Park 

 Stanage Edge & 
Bamford Edge 

Bamford Stanage Edge (Derbyshire Dales) is a Gritstone 
edge stretching 4 miles. Bamford Edge is an 
overhang of gritstone rock. Both popular for 
walking and climbing + popular combined 
circular walk. 

No. 12 in AllTrails’ ‘best trails in 
England’ 
Stanage Edge – No. 13 in Trip 
Advisor’s Things to do in the Peak 
District National Park 

 Pennine Way From Edale National trail. 268 miles from Edale to Kirk 
Yetholm, Scottish borders. 

National Trail 

 Reservoir walks Ladybower 
Reservoir, 
Derwent Dam, 

Linear and circular walks around reservoirs. 
 

Derwent /Ladybower – No. 5 and No. 
12 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do in 
the Peak District National Park 

P
age 222



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 18 
 

 

 

 

Longdendale 
reservoirs 

   
Outdoor 
Adventure  

Mountain biking various Many mountain biking trails including the 
Pennine Bridleway and downhill paths at 
Ladybower Reservoir, Chinley Churn & Middle 
Moor, Jacob’s Ladder, Roych Clough. 

Pennine Bridleway – a National Trail 
Others are featured in ‘Top 5 Peak 
District mountain bike routes’, 
Mountain Bike Rider publication.  

 Climbing & 
Bouldering 

various Popular climbing location for beginners and 
advanced. Examples are Burbage North, 
Burbage South, Laddow Rocks, Kinder Downfall, 
Windgather Rocks. Indoor climbing wall at 
Bamford Adventure Hub. Also, significant 
climbing area (in adjacent Derbyshire Dales) 
incorporating, Stanage Edge, Froggatt Edge & 
Curbar Edge. 

Distinctive feature of the area.  
’10 routes to climb in the Peak 
District’, Go Outdoors blog 

 Caving Castleton area Major caving destination including Peak Cavern, 
P8 Jackpot, Giant’s Hole, Titan (UK’s largest 
natural underground shaft). 

Distinctive feature of the area 
Timeoutdoors.com, ‘Caving in the 
Peak District - Top 5 experiences’. 

P
age 223



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 19 
 

 

 

 

 Activity centres various Many outdoor centres and activity providers 
offering instructor-led courses/experiences (e.g. 
climbing, abseiling, caving, horse riding, 
mountain biking, high-wire (including Go Ape, 
Buxton). 

  

   
Cycling Trans Pennine Trail Through 

Glossop & 
Longdendale 

National, 215-mile coast-to-coast, multi-user 
route from Southport to Hornsea.  Mostly off-
road with mixture of surfaced, level paths and 
rougher sections.  Longdendale section is part 
of the National Cycle Network Route 62. 

National Trail, NCN Route 62 

 Pennine Cycleway Through 
Buxton & 
Longdendale 

355-mile route from Derby to Berwick-upon-
Tweed. Includes Buxton, New Mills, 
Charlesworth, Glossop, Longdendale Trail. Hilly 
route with mixture of quiet roads, railway 
paths, canal towpaths and forestry roads.   

Part of National Cycle Network, NCN 
Route 68 and Route 62 

 Monsal Trail Blackwell Mill 
to Bakewell 

8.5 mile traffic-free route along former Midland 
Railway line.  Easy level path. 

No. 1 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do in 
the Peak District National Park 
NCN route 680 

P
age 224



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 20 
 

 

 

 

 Winnats Pass Castleton Steep, narrow road through limestone valley. 
Challenging road-bike climb. Used for Tour of 
the Peak cycle race and National Hill Climb 
Championships.  

National Trust 

   
Caverns and 
Caves 

Poole’s Cavern & 
Country Park 

Buxton Spectacular limestone show cave with many 
chambers, passages, crystal stalactites.  

No. 3 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do in 
the Peak District National Park 

 Treak Cliff Cavern Castleton Unique show cave with famous Blue John stone, 
found only in Castleton. 

No. 8 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do in 
the Peak District National Park 

 Speedwell Cavern Castleton Underground cave system-journey by boat. No. 11 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do 
in the Peak District National Park 

 Peak Cavern Castleton Also known as the Devil’s Arse. Largest cave 
entrance in Britain, largest cave system in the 
Peak District. 

No. 14 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do 
in the Peak District National Park 

P
age 225



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 21 
 

 

 

 

    
Towns & villages.  Buxton Buxton Thermal spa town, highest market town in 

England. Beautiful Georgian and Victorian 
architecture. Buxton Opera House, Pavilion 
Gardens, Devonshire Dome. Population 22,000. 

In ‘Britain’s top 10 Georgian Spa 
towns’, Britain-magazine.com (Visit 
Britain) 

 Castleton Castleton Attractive village at the head of the Hope 
Valley, overlooked by Mam Tor. Popular for 
walking, show caves, Peveril Castle (English 
Heritage), shops, pubs. Population 600. 

Show caves all in top 20 Things to do 
in the Peak District National Park 

 Whaley Bridge Whaley Bridge Village at the head of the Peak Forest Canal. 
Known as the ‘Gateway to the Goyt Valley’.  
Centred around a conservation area and Grade 
II Listed Transhipment Warehouse. Bugsworth 
Basin was once one of the largest inland ports 
on the English canal system. Canalside walks, 
selection of shops, cafes, pubs and restaurants. 
Population 6,500. 

 

 New Mills New Mills Town set above a rocky gorge (The Torrs). 
Impressive viaduct and historic mill buildings. In 

 

P
age 226



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 22 
 

 

 

 

early 1800s, the town had 9 cotton mills, 3 
weaving mills and 3 printworks.  Millennium 
Walkway links Torrs Riverside Park to several 
walking and cycling routes. Independent shops, 
cafes, pubs. Population 12,000. 

 Hayfield Hayfield Attractive village at the foot of Kinder Scout. 
Birthplace of Arthur Lowe (Captain 
Mainwaring). Annual Country Show and Sheep 
Dog Trials. Population 2,000. 

Renowned Kinder Scout 

 Glossop Glossop Market town at the foot of the Snake Pass. 
Converted cotton mills, shops, pubs, weekly 
markets. Population 33,000. 

 

   
Festivals & events Buxton International 

Festival 
Buxton Annual international festival of opera, music 

and books.  Held in July. 
 

 Hillhead quarrying 
exhibition 

Buxton UK’s largest quarrying exhibition. Held in June 
at Hillhead quarry.  600 exhibitors, 20,000 
visitors. 

 

P
age 227



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 23 
 

 

 

 

 Tour of the Peak 
Sportive 

Bakewell to 
Hope Valley 

Challenging cycle road cycle race.  115 miles, 
steep climbs. Held in May. 

 

   
Source: Blue Sail online research. Source of photos: visitpeakdistrict.com, transpenninetrail.org.uk, komoot.com, peakdistrictkids.co.uk, letsgopeakdostrict.co.uk, 
highpeak.gov.uk, cyclosport.org 

 
Table 9: Staffordshire Moorlands Signature Experiences 

Signature 
Experience 

Hero Products Location Description Meets Selection Criteria? 

Walking and 
hiking 

The Roaches Leek Well known spot for walkers and climbers with 
dramatic gritstone edges, craggy rocks and 
panoramic views. 

No. 2 in AllTrails’ ‘Best trails in 
England. 
No. 19 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do 
in Staffordshire. 

 Dovedale & Ilam 
Park. 

Ilam Dovedale is a renowned beauty spot. 
Picturesque valley following the River Dove. 
Famous stepping stones.  Ilam Park is a country 
park and woodland on the banks of the River 
Manifold. Managed by the National Trust. 
Youth Hostel, small caravan site, NT shop. 

National Trust 
No. 33 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do 
in the Peak District 

P
age 228



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 24 
 

 

 

 

 Staffordshire Way Mow Cop, 
Cheshire to 
Kinver Edge, 
Stourbridge 

Long distance footpath (95 miles) which starts 
near Biddulph and passes by Rudyard Lake, 
along Caldon Canal and Churnet Valley. 

LDWA path 

   
Cycling The Manifold Way Hulme End to 

Waterhouses 
8-mile track for walkers, cyclists and horse 
riders following the route of the disused Leek 
and Manifold Light Railway.  Mostly traffic-free. 
Cycle hire available at Waterhouses. 

  

 
 

Biddulph Valley Way Stoke-on-
Trent to 
Congleton 

13-mile traffic-free path for walkers, cyclists and 
horse riders. Follows former Biddulph Valley 
railway line. Part of Route 55, National Cycle 
Network 

On National Cycle network (Route 
55) 

 Caldon Canal Stoke-on-
Trent to 
Froghall Wharf 

Built in 1776. Runs for 18 miles, with 17 locks, 
Froghall Tunnel. Canal path for walkers & 
cyclists.  Part of NCN Route 550 and NCN Route 
559. 

On National Cycle Network (Routes 
550 and 559) 

 Oakamoor to 
Denstone Greenway 

Oakamoor to 
Denstone 

6-mile path for walkers, cyclists and horse riders 
on disused railway. 

  

P
age 229



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 25 
 

 

 

 

 Leek to Rushton 
Spencer Greenway 

Leek to 
Rushton 
Spencer 

5-mile path on disused railway line. Goes 
alongside Rudyard Lake. Part of the 
Staffordshire Way. 

 

   
Water activities Rudyard Lake Rudyard 66-hectare reservoir with walking and cycling 

trails, rowing boats, canoeing, sailing, fishing, 
visitor centre, activity centre, café. 

No. 11 in ‘Best days out in 
Staffordshire’, dayoutinengland.com 

 Tittesworth 
Reservoir 

Near Leek 77-hectare reservoir (Severn Trent Water). 
Canoeing, kayaking and paddleboarding hire, 
taster sessions, self-launch, summer activity 
programs, British canoeing courses. Visitor 
centre, gift shop, restaurant.  100 hectares of 
wildlife habitat.  

No. 15 in ‘Best days out in 
Staffordshire’, dayoutinengland.com 

 Caldon Canal Stoke-on-
Trent to 
Froghall Wharf 

Narrow boat hire available from a number of 
companies. 

  

P
age 230



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 26 
 

 

 

 

   
Family fun Alton Towers Alton Major theme park. 2m annual visits UK’s biggest theme park. 

No. 4 in Trip Advisor’s top Theme 
Parks in England. 

 Churnet Valley 
Railway 

Froghall Heritage railway with steam train rides.  11-mile 
return journey from Froghall to Cheddleton.  
Dining trains, Grade II Listed Victorian station at 
Cheddleton and small museum. 

34,000 followers on Facebook 

 Foxfield Railway Blythe Bridge Steam railway. 3.6km train ride.  Cream Tea 
Trains, Footplate rides, Steam driver 
experience. Miniature railway, museum, gift 
shop, café, events. 

No. 30 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do 
in Staffordshire. 

 Rudyard Lake Steam 
Railway 

Leek Miniature railway with 3-mile return trip along 
the side of Rudyard Lake. 5 steam engines, 
special events, Santa specials, café. 

13,000 followers on Facebook 

 Peak Wildlife Park Winkhill, Leek Walkthrough areas with red squirrels, lemurs, 
penguins, wallabies, African village, animal 
experiences.  Indoor play, cafe. 

36,000 followers on Facebook 

P
age 231



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 27 
 

 

 

 

   
Gardens, nature 
& countryside 
attractions 

Biddulph Grange 
Garden 

Biddulph Victorian garden created by James Bateman 
with a Chinese garden, Italian garden and 
Scottish glen. Gift shop, plant centre, tearoom. 

National Trust 

 RSPB Coombes 
Valley and Consall 
Woods 

Bradnop, Leek 100-hectare woodland reserve. Oldest RSPB 
nature reserve in the Midlands. Nature trail. 

RSPB, SSSI 

 National Trust 
Hawksmoor 

Cheadle Ancient woodland National Trust 

 Dimmingsdale Alton Once part of the Earl of Shrewsbury’s Alton 
Towers estate, now a Forestry England beauty 
spot in Churnet Valley.  An SSSI. Award winning 
Ramblers Retreat tearoom. 

SSSI 
No. 2 in Trip Advisor’s Top 
Attractions in Staffordshire 

 Country Parks Near Biddulph 
and Leek 

Greenway Bank, Biddulph Grange, Deep Hayes 
and Ladderedge Country Parks all provide 
attractive countryside areas with woodland, 
meadows, ponds and paths. 

  

P
age 232



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 28 
 

 

 

 

   
Towns and 
villages 

Leek Leek Historic market town. Cobbled market square, 
independent shops, antique shops and markets, 
traditional markets, Nicholson Museum & Art 
Gallery, Foxlowe Arts Centre. 

 

 Cheadle Cheadle Market town near Alton Towers. Independent 
shops and cafes, indoor market, St Giles 
Catholic Church (Pugin’s Gem’). 

 

 Biddulph Biddulph Originally a mining town, now known as the 
Garden Town of Staffordshire. Award winning 
floral displays, artisan markets. 

 

P
age 233



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 29 
 

 

 

 

   
Festivals & events Leek Show Leek Annual agricultural show.  Held in July.  

 Leek Arts Festival Leek Arts festival held in May.  

 Staffordshire 
Moorlands Walking 
Festival 

Leek 11-day walking festival held at the end of 
April/early May.  40 free walks with guides and 
walk leaders. 

 

   
Source: Blue Sail online research 
Source of photos: visitpeakdistrict.com, peakdistrictkids.co.uk, enjoystaffordshire.com, rudyardlake.com, rspb.or.uk, inyourarea.co.uk, 
foxloweartscentre.org.uk, staffsmoorlandswalkingfestival.co.uk 
 
 

P
age 234



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 30 
 

 

 

 

VISITOR ACCOMMODATION: BEDSPACE SUPPLY 
 
High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands each have around 8,000 accommodation bedspaces, around a quarter of which are in serviced accommodation.  

 
 

  
Source: STEAM 2019 (with Travelodge Glossop added) 

 
 
  

P
age 235



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 31 
 

 

 

 

SERVICED ACCOMMODATION  
 
High Peak serviced accommodation 
In 2019 there were 121 serviced accommodation establishments in High Peak, supplying over 1,800 bedspaces. (Note: as with the tourism performance 
analysis above, the following table refers to 2019 data. With the opening of the new Buxton Crescent in 2020, there are now three large hotels in High 
Peak – The Palace Hotel, Buxton, the Buxton Crescent Hotel, and the Travelodge Glossop.)  Including the Buxton Crescent hotel, just 14% of total serviced 
stock have more than 10 rooms.   
 
Table 10: High Peak serviced accommodation stock, 2019 

 Number of establishments Number of bedspaces 
50+ rooms (see note above) 2 391 

11-50 rooms 15 547 

1-10 rooms 104 932 

Total 121 1,870 
Source: STEAM 2019 (with Travelodge Glossop added) 

 
Close to a third of serviced establishments are located in the Hope Valley (Castleton, Edale, Bamford, Hope), a quarter in Buxton, 15% in Glossop.  
Recorded quality ratings are (source: accommodation files 2020, STEAM):  
 

Quality rating (VB/AA) Number of establishments 
2-star 2  
3-star 20  
4-star 35 
5-star 2 
No VB/AA star rating 62 

 
Selected hotels and B&Bs are provided in the following table: 
  

P
age 236



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 32 
 

 

 

 

Table 11: Selection of hotels in High Peak 

Hotel Location Number of 
rooms 

Description Photo 

Buxton Crescent 
Health Spa Hotel 

Buxton 81 Grade I listed building built in the 1780s.  Buxton’s centre piece 
crescent.  Major redevelopment programme started in 2003. Now a 
luxury, 5-star health spa hotel which opened in October 2020, 
operated by Ensana Hotels. 

 
Palace Hotel Buxton 122 Grand Victorian building. Operated by Britannia Hotels. Popular 

conference & banqueting venue. Health club with pool, gym, beauty 
rooms.  Poor customer ratings on booking.com and Tripadvisor. 

 
Old Hall Hotel Buxton 35 3-star hotel. Oldest hotel in England. Operated by Ensana Hotels. 

 
Lee Wood Hotel Buxton 38 Best Western 3-star hotel. 

 
Roseleigh Guest 
House 

Buxton 14 4-star guest house in Grade II listed building. 

 
Losehill House 
Hotel & Spa 

Castleton 23 4-star hotel & spa. 

 

P
age 237



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 33 
 

 

 

 

Hotel Location Number of 
rooms 

Description Photo 

Yorkshire Bridge 
Inn 

Bamford 14 Family-owned, award winning, 4-star inn. 

 
Underleigh House Hope Valley 4 5-star B&B converted from a cottage and shippon in 1873. 

 
Ye Olde Nags Head Castleton  9 17th century coaching inn. 

 
Travelodge Glossop Glossop 62 Travelodge 

 
Windy Harbour 
Farm 

Glossop 6 Restaurant with 4-star B&B accommodation. 

 
Source: Blue Sail online research; STEAM 2020 
Photos: visitbuxton.co.uk, visitpeakdistrict.com, booking.com, Travelodge.co.uk  

 
  

P
age 238



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 34 
 

 

 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands serviced accommodation 
In 2019 there were 73 serviced accommodation establishments in Staffordshire Moorlands supplying just over 2,000 bedspaces.  The majority (84%) are 
small with 1-10 rooms.  (Note: In 2020 there were 24 fewer establishments (all <10 rooms).   
 
Table 12: Staffordshire Moorlands serviced accommodation stock, 2019 

 Number of establishments Number of bedspaces 

50+ rooms 4 1,126 

11-50 rooms 8 331 

1-10 rooms 61 574 

Total 73 2,031 
Source: STEAM 2019  

 
Three of the four hotels offering 50+ bedrooms are based at the Alton Towers theme park.  The other is a Premier Inn in Leek town centre.  
 
Recorded quality ratings are (source: accommodation files 2020, STEAM):  
 

Quality rating (VB/AA) Number of establishments 
2-star 1  
3-star 6  
4-star 19  
5-star 1 
No VB/AA star rating 30  

 
Hotels/guest houses that offer 8+ rooms and are of minimum 3-star standard, are shown in the following table:   
 
 
  

P
age 239



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 35 
 

 

 

 

Table 13: Selection of Hotels in Staffordshire Moorlands 

Hotel Location Number of 
rooms 

Description Photo 

Splash Landings 
Hotel 

Alton Towers 249 Theme park hotel 

 
Alton Towers Hotel Alton Towers 175 Theme park hotel 

 
CBeebies Land 
Hotel 

Alton Towers 76 Theme park hotel 

 
Premier Inn Leek 
Town Centre 

Leek 63 Premier Inn hotel 

 
Izaak Walton Hotel Ilam 38 3-star 17th century country house hotel 

 
Three Horseshoes 
Country Inn 

Blackshaw Moor 
nr Leek 

26 4-star boutique country inn and spa 

 

P
age 240



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 36 
 

 

 

 

Hotel Location Number of 
rooms 

Description Photo 

Hotel Rudyard Rudyard nr Leek 12 3-star country hotel 

 
White Heart Tea 
Room & 
Accommodation 

Leek 8 Tea room in Grade II Listed building in Leek town centre with 4-star 
accommodation. 

 
The Dog & 
Partridge Country 
Inn 

Nr Ashbourne 29 3-star, 17th century inn 

 
Heaton House 
Farm 

Rushton Spencer 15 Award winning, countryside wedding venue 

 
The Manifold Inn Hulme End 12 3-star coaching inn and restaurant 

 
The Manor Cheadle 11 4-star guest house 

 

P
age 241



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 37 
 

 

 

 

Hotel Location Number of 
rooms 

Description Photo 

Whiston Hall Hotel  Whiston 9 19th century hotel and golf resort  

 
Source: Blue Sail online research; STEAM 2020 
Photos: enjoystaffordshire.com, booking.com and individual property sites 

 
 
NON-SERVICED ACCOMMODATION  
 
High Peak non-serviced accommodation 
In 2019 there were 199 non-serviced establishments in High Peak, supplying over 6,200 bedspaces.   
 
Table 14: High Peak non-serviced accommodation stock, 2019 

 Number of establishments Number of bedspaces 

Self-catering (cottages, houses, apartments) 146 958 
Static caravans/lodges  

40 
246 

Touring caravans/camping 4,314 

Youth Hostels 13 750 

Total 199 6,268 
Source: STEAM 2019 
 
Key locations for self-catering properties are the Hope Valley, the Buxton area and High Peak.  Recorded quality ratings are (source: accommodation files 
2020, STEAM):  
  

P
age 242



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 38 
 

 

 

 

 
Quality rating (VB/AA) Number of establishments 
2/2-3-star 2 
3-star 14 
4-star 23 
5-star 8 
Applied 4 
No VB/AA star rating 95 

 
The area is well served for camping & touring caravans, with 40 sites providing over 4,000 bedspaces.  The larger sites are located in Buxton, Hayfield, 
Edale and Hope.   
 
The main glamping provision (based on online ‘glamping’ searches) is: 

• Edale Gathering, Edale Valley: 4 tented safari lodges with hot baths, 4-bed lodge and large gritstone hall for parties/weddings/corporate groups 

• Lime Tree Holiday Park, Buxton: 4 glamping pods 

• Hayfield Club Site, Hayfield: 3 glamping pods 

• Peak View Shepherd Huts, Glossop: 4 shepherd huts and 2 hot tubs 

• North Lees Campsite, north of Hathersage: 7 glamping pods 

 
Staffordshire Moorlands non-serviced accommodation 
In 2019, there were 252 non-serviced establishments in Staffordshire Moorlands supplying over 6,000 bedspaces.  (Note: in 2020 there were 40 fewer 
self-catering establishments.  
 
Table 15: Staffordshire Moorlands non-serviced accommodation stock, 2019 

 Number of establishments Number of bedspaces 

Self-catering (cottages, houses, apartments) 205 1,480 
Static caravans/lodges 37 457 

P
age 243



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 39 
 

 

 

 

Touring caravans/camping 3,735 

Youth Hostels 10 536 

Total 252 6,208 

Source: STEAM 2019 
 
The main centres for self-catering provision are the Leek, Buxton and Ashbourne areas.   Recorded quality ratings are (source: accommodation files 2020, 
STEAM):  
 

Quality rating (VB/AA) Number of establishments 
2-star 0 
3/3-4-star 16 
4-star 26 
4-5/5-star 3 
No VB/AA star rating 128 

 
From the high proportion of establishments without a VB/AA star rating, it is clear that these rating figures only provide a partial picture of quality.  A 
search on cottages.com for the Leek area lists 73 self-catering properties, of which 85% receive a 4 or 5-star, cottages.com rating. 

 
Caravan/camping sites provide over 4,000 bedspaces with principal locations being: Hulme End, Cheddleton, Longnor, Cheadle, Rudyard, Alton, Biggin-by-
Hartington, Fradley Junction, Blackshaw Moor, Freehay, Cauldon Lowe, and Grindon Moor.  
 
The main glamping provision (based on online ‘glamping’ searches) is: 

• Alton Towers Theme Park: glamping pods 

• Longnor Wood Holiday Park (adult-only), Longnor: glamping pods 

• Secret Cloud House Holidays, Cauldon: 5 glamping yurts with hot tubs 

• Scaldersitch Farm Boutique Camping near Hartington: 3 yurts and 2 tipis, all with hot tubs 

• Peak Glamping Hideaway, Quarnford (near Buxton): 2 yurts and a 1 shepherd’s hut 

P
age 244



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 40 
 

 

 

 

• Upper Hurst Farm, Hulme End: 1 yurt with hot tub 
 
Airbnb 
AirDNA (provider of short-term rental data for Airbnb and Vrbo) reports approximately 400 private home rentals for both High Peak and Staffordshire 
Moorlands, with around 60% available on a full-time basis. 
 
Table 16: AirDNA data 

 High Peak Staffordshire Moorlands 
Entire home 336 361 

Private room 79 37 

Total active rentals 415 398 

Entire home rentals as percentage of total active rentals 80% 90% 
% available full time 61% 60% 

Average rental size (bedrooms) 2.1 2.1 

Average rental size (guests) 4.5 5 
Airbnb ratings (% at least 4.5 overall) 93% 89% 

Source: AirDNA 

 
Staffordshire Hotel & Visitor Accommodation Strategy 
A number of findings from the 2019 Staffordshire Hotel & Visitor Accommodation Strategy (Hotel Solutions) are worth highlighting here (note: the 
Strategy relates to all Staffordshire): 
 

 There is very limited provision in terms of boutique hotels, aparthotels and country house hotels, and there has been no take up of hotel products 
being actively developed in other locations such as budget boutique hotels, lifestyle hotels, branded aparthotels, university conference hotels, 
and golf resorts. 

 Budget hotel performance is strong across the county, with capacity often reached on Saturdays & Sundays between April and October, as well as 
Tuesday and Wednesday nights throughout the year.  Performance is particularly strong in Hanley, Leek, Lichfield and Uttoxeter.   

P
age 245



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 41 
 

 

 

 

 There is strong demand for boutique, luxury and 4-star B&Bs, with evidence of shortages of such accommodation at weekends between April and 
October, and during the week in the peak summer months. 

 There is a good market for high quality inns and pub accommodation: existing such pub accommodation businesses are frequently trading at full 
capacity, especially in the summer and in Lichfield and Staffordshire Moorlands. 

 There is a strong but seasonal market for all types of non-serviced accommodation, with clear evidence of shortages of all categories of such 
accommodation (because existing businesses are fully booked) at weekends between April and October and throughout the week between June 
and September. 

 Additional non-serviced accommodation is clearly needed to grow peak season staying tourism across Staffordshire’s rural areas. While the 
season is gradually extending as non-serviced accommodation businesses weatherproof their offer, the market remains largely seasonal, with 
plenty of availability at off-peak times. Care is needed therefore not to dilute off-peak business by increasing peak season capacity too quickly 

 
 
CONFERENCE VENUES 
 
Buxton is the principal location for conference activity, with The Devonshire Dome and Pavilion Gardens offering impressive spaces, catering for 1,500 and 
1,000 delegates respectively.  The Palace Hotel and The Buxton Crescent Health Spa Hotel both have a number of meeting rooms with maximum 
capacities of 500 and 186.  In Staffordshire Moorlands, Alton Towers Theme Park provides the largest conference spaces (up to 570).  A selection of 
larger-capacity venues is provided below. 
 
Table 17: Selection of Conference Venues 

Venue Location Description Max capacity 
(theatre style) 

High Peak    

The Devonshire Dome Buxton Grade II Listed 18th Century former stable block.  Spaces: The Dome 
(capacity 1,500/1,300 sq. ft exhibition space), Devonshire Business Suite 
(capacity 300), lecture theatre (capacity 110), 13 further meeting rooms 
(max 140). 

1,500 

P
age 246



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 42 
 

 

 

 

Pavilion Gardens Buxton Grade II Listed Victorian venue. Spaces: The Octagon – Grade II Listed 
Victorian concert hall (capacity 1,000) 
The Pavilion Arts Centre - home of Buxton Cinema (capacity 360 main 
room + 93 studio theatre) 
3 meeting rooms (capacities 120, 35, 12) 

1,000 

The Palace Hotel Buxton 4-star hotel with 8 meeting rooms 500 

Buxton Crescent Health Spa Hotel Buxton 5-star hotel with 7 meeting rooms 186 

Lee Wood Hotel Buxton 3-star hotel with 7 meeting rooms 120 

Torr Vale Mill New Mills Grade II Listed former cotton mill. Events/conference room 300 

Losehill House Hotel & Spa Castleton 4-star hotel with 3 meeting rooms and a marquee 120 
YHA Castleton Castleton Youth hostel with 2 meeting rooms 80 

Staffordshire Moorlands    

Alton Towers Theme Park 
 

Alton Towers Range of flexible meeting room spaces 570 

Three Horseshoes Country Inn & 
Spa 

Blackshaw Moor 
nr Leek 

4-star country hotel with 1 dividable meeting room 180 

The Izaak Walton Country House 
Hotel 

Ilam Country house hotel with 5 meeting rooms 130 

YHA Ilam Ilam Youth hostel with 3 meeting rooms 100 
Source: Blue Sail online research 
 

P
age 247



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 43 
 

 

 

 

HIGH PEAK FAM DESTINATION AUDIT MAY 2022 

 
Towns & Villages Visited  

 Glossop 

 Castleton 

 Whaley Bridge 

 New Mills 

 Hayfield  

 Buxton 

 
Other than Buxton, all are essentially villages. 
 
 
Access/Orientation 
Across all towns and villages signage and orientation was excellent. 
Signage from main roads and between towns was good (although 
presumably less important these days with satnav) and once within each town, signage to car parks, and primary points of interest were comprehensive 
and easy to follow. There were lots of brown tourist signs directing to visitor attractions. Finger posts signed to attractions and points of interest were 
multiple and well-placed. And in the main well maintained (with a few exceptions).  
 
Interpretation boards telling the story of the town and particular attractions were common and well done, many following the same design and 
presentation.  A number of the older style ones, would benefit from cleaning and/or refreshing.  
 
Walking trails around the smaller towns and villages (not Buxton) are common, well signed and well interpreted.  
Signs were variously produced by Derbyshire County Council, High Peak Borough Council and the relevant town councils. 

P
age 248



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 44 
 

 

 

 

 
   

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 249



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 45 
 

 

 

 

Visitor Services & Facilities 
In all towns and villages there were pleasant public realm, public toilets (well-signed in the main), seats and benches. 
There was plenty of car parks – many of them with EV charging stations. Payment was in cash or (recently introduced) phone/app, rather than card 
payment. Prices were cheap even in Buxton – less than £1 for an hour; in New Mills first hour was free.  There was a lot of on street parking. 
 
Other than Buxton, there was a range of independent cafes, restaurants and pubs as well as a range of mid-brand options (Costa, Wetherspoons etc in 
the bigger places). The cafes had character and served lunches, coffees, cakes which were homemade but not exciting. Many of the restaurants were 
ethnic and/or mainstream. The pubs looked pleasant and fairly traditional, some (e.g. in Glossop) were community run. 
 
There was a good range of independent shops, mostly serving the local community. In each there was at least one gallery, antique shop, craft shop, often 
a few. Glossop had a range of perhaps five or six outlets/galleries for local craftspeople.  
 
There was very little accommodation evident within the towns. Glossop had a Travel Lodge, Hayfield had the prominent and attractive looking Royal 
Hotel plus a couple of smaller guest houses. A number of the older hotels seemed to have reverted to pubs. In Whaley Bridge the empty and neglected 
Jodrell Arms beside the station had scaffolding around. 

 
  

P
age 250



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 46 
 

 

 

 

   

 

 
  

 

 
  

P
age 251



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 47 
 

 

 

 

Attractiveness & Atmosphere 
Generally one could spend a couple of hours in each of the towns, possibly longer if a meal was included. They are pleasant, tidy, well kept places. The old 
mills have been repurposed or demolished, they are set in attractive, wooded locations, often beside water. There is a sense of strong, (relatively) 
prosperous communities.  
 
There are no significant attractions – small museums, heritage buildings, town trails and walks.  The stories of the place are well told through 
interpretation boards, and sense of place is strong. 
 
Glossop 
Glossop is very near Manchester and has the reputation of being a place that creatives from Manchester move to. Its 
on a direct train line (goes as far as Bramford, one step further than Glossop). It’s creativity is evident – the Creative 
Trust has workspace and there are several arty shops and galleries exhibiting work of designer and makers. Its main 
square (see pic above) is attractive and the old market hall which faces directly onto the square is being refurbished 
and will rehouse the market with arts space above. The external space at the rear of the market hall would make a 
good events space.  
 
There are two new (small) retail parks – one in the centre of town and the other at the end of the (long) high street. 
The one in the centre has vacancies. These retail and entertainment spaces don’t appear to have adversely affected 
the town centre. 
 
There is a walkway by the waterway that goes through the town. It doesn’t seem to be passable the whole way (a section goes under a road) and is 
largely underused and would not be evident to a visitor.  

P
age 252



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 48 
 

 

 

 

Castleton 
Castleton is the most obviously touristy of the towns and villages (other than Buxton). 
It’s small and pleasant village, with the main road running through the middle and a few 
eating places and tourist/outdoor orientated shops. It’s home to the Peak District 
National Park Visitor Centre – which is large and impressive - and jumping off point for 
visiting a number of the caverns. The caverns are in stunning locations with great views, 
but certainly Speedwell Cavern looked a bit tired.  
 
 
 
 
Whaley Bridge 
Another pleasant High Peak town. The main attraction is the Canal Basin and walks along the canal and through the village via old 
routes past Goyt Mills and the Whaley incline (an old tramway, now a walk).  
 
 
 
 
New Mills 
Similar in feel to Whaley Bridge, the main attraction is Torr Mills, the millennium walkway and various themed routes through the village and along the 
river, including the Sett Valley trail which links to Hayfield (2.5 miles).  It has a heritage centre – which although well signed 
was not to be found! 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 253



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 49 
 

 

 

 

Hayfield  
Hayfield is a tiny village cut in two by the A624. Despite this it’s very pleasant with quirky feel, a couple of shops, some 
accommodation. It’s claim to fame is the starting point of the mass trespass of Kinder Scout. Derbyshire County Council had 
an office there – now empty but still with public toilets, parking and walks (including Sett Trail to New Mills and Pennine 
Bridleway).  
 
 
Buxton 
Buxton is very different from the other High Peak villages. Its Georgian buildings – the Opera House, the Pavilion and the Crescent plus the Pavilion 
Gardens and the Slopes are lovely and clearly attract a lot of visitors. The new Ensana Spa Hotel within the refurbished Crescent is impressive and a range 
of small deli/restaurants, wine bars, craft beer shops appear to be cropping up around it.  
 
The pump room hosts a very attractive visitor centre run the Crescent Trust. 
 
The station is nearby and links to Manchester.  
 
What lets Buxton down is its retail and its independent eating/drinking. Spring Gardens – the new pedestrianised area and covered mall feels shabby with 
poor shopfronts and merchandise spilling out onto what should be a pleasant al fresco area. Upper Buxton, supposedly home to independent shopping is 
the High Street with a range of very ordinary shops, eating places and pubs. The only attraction might be Scriveners Bookshop. The outdoor market is held 
on the High Street every Tuesday and Thursday. The covered mall which is part of the Crescent is a lovely space with a stained glass roof but the shops 
have mass produced items – jewellery, clothing, bags.  
 
The public space is a clutter of advertising banners and boards. 
 
Other than a visit to the Pavilion and Gardens it’s hard to see what would keep a visitor long in Buxton. 

P
age 254



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 50 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
OTHER OBSERVATIONS 
 

 Scenery is lovely – Snake Pass from Glossop to Castleton passes over the Pennines with a variety of dramatic scenery down to the 
reservoir at Heatherdene run by Severn Trent Water (served by a large visitor car park and various walks).  

 Otherwise the scenery is a mix of hills, woodlands, waterways with views to the higher peaks/moorlands. 

 Towns and countryside appear well cared for and maintained – no litter. 

 Traffic a big problem through the villages which are mostly strung along main roads – lots of lorries, vans as well as cars – which doesn’t 
create a pleasant atmosphere.  

 Despite the plethora of reasonably priced or free car parks, there is a lot of on-street (free) car parking in the smaller villages which 
affects the public realm and atmosphere. 

 There are lots of other even smaller villages – Bamford, Hope, Chapel en le Firth – which have some facilities but no real reason to visit. 

 There is a range of eating places and accommodation in the rural area – and a few signposts to camping sites. 

P
age 255



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 51 
 

 

 

 

 Bike & Boot Hotel are building a new 65 room hotel in the Hope Valley between Hope and Castleton. It’s due to open in 2022 

 There were a lot of cyclists – road bikes and off road – solo and small groups. Also walkers. Also some bikers. 

 In Buxton market largely older couples/groups – 70+. 

 In other locations the market appeared to be older couples (50+) and couples with pre-school children out and about, walking, visiting 
the caverns. 

 There are no big attractions (other than the caverns) – the offer essentially comprises Georgian Buxton, walking and cycling. 

 The area is relatively easily accessed by train from west (Manchester) and east (Sheffield); and by road from all directions; buses also in 
evidence between the villages, although not clear how easy it would be to get around. 

 

P
age 256



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 52 
 

 

 

 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND DESTINATION AUDIT MAY 2022 
 
Towns & Villages Visited  

 Cheadle 

 Froghall 

 Oakamoor 

 Alton 

 Ilam 

 Hulme End 

 Rudyard 

 Biddulph/Biddulph Moor 

 Leek 

The largest town is Leek (20,000) with almost the same number in Biddulph. Cheadle 
is approximately half that and most of the other locations visited were villages. 
 
Access/Orientation 
Signage and orientation to towns and villages including brown on white signs for major attractions was very good. In the towns parking seemed plentiful 
and signage to it mostly good with the exception of Cheadle where signage marking the entry to the car park is absent. 
It is surprising that all car parking (Staffordshire Moorlands, Staffordshire County Council, Severn Trent, National Trust) required cash payments for pay 
and display. There were no app or card payment options available. The costs of parking were reasonable. 
In the main towns, signs in or near parking provided information/interpretation on the destination, finger posts to main attractions and services e.g. 
toilets. The signs were all clean and well maintained. Some were getting old and tired and could be renewed but by and large they were good. 

P
age 257



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 53 
 

 

 

 

At many sites with trails and walks there was plenty of information regarding the route options (e.g. Froghall Wharf, Tittesworth Water) and blue heritage 
plaques were evident across Leek. 

 
 
 

P
age 258



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 54 
 

 

 

 

Visitor Services & Facilities 
In Leek, Cheadle and Biddulph the public realm was clean and well-presented. Public toilets were easy to locate and well maintained. There were plenty 
of bins, benches and in some instances street dressing (bunting in Cheadle for example). 

Parking was plentiful and well signed and prices for pay and display were reasonable (mainly £0.60-£1 for up to one hour, £1-£1.90 for 2-3 hours). Parking 
was cheapest in Biddulph and most expensive in Leek. Machines however only took cash and no card or app payments were available. 

Visitor information in the form of interpretation panels were evident in the towns and in Leek a Tourist Information Centre is open Wednesday-Friday 
(10-4) and two Saturdays a month. 

The food and drink offer in each of the towns varied with the greatest range and choice available in Leek. This was mainly made up of independent cafes 
and restaurants, take-aways and a few national brands (Costa, Wetherspoons). In Cheadle a range of small independent cafes were spread along the High 
Street and apart from a Wetherspoons there were no obvious high street brands. Biddulph offered a more basic range of food and drink establishments 
with a number of high street pubs, takeaways and a handful of restaurants. 

Retail in the three towns followed a similar pattern to food and drink with a more extensive offer in Leek (including an indoor and outdoor market) mostly 
made up of independent retailers. Cheadle had a good range of independent retailers with very few vacant premises and Biddulph provided more 
functional retail. The overall retail offer looked to mostly be serving a local audience with Leek providing the greatest variety and appeal to visitors. 
Outside of the food and drink establishments, there does not appear to be many places where local produce can be bought by visitors and the retail offer 
lack a real distinctiveness and authenticity. 

There is a limited range of visitor accommodation in Cheadle and Biddulph (a few guest house/B&Bs) while Leek has more volume and range and a 63 
room Premier Inn in the town centre. 

  

P
age 259



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 55 
 

 

 

 

 

Cheadle 

 

Biddulph 
 

  

P
age 260



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 56 
 

 

 

 

Leek 

 

 
 
Attractiveness & Atmosphere 
The towns are not the main reason for visiting Staffordshire Moorlands. To varying degrees they are there to service visitors who are coming here to 
enjoy the landscapes, nearby family attractions, walks and trails. They all seem well managed, clean and tidy and capable of meetings visitors needs in 
terms of essential supplies, food and drink and some evening meals and entertainment. 
 
The towns themselves tend not to have the major attractions. St Giles (Cheadle) is perhaps the main exception. The Nicholson Institute Art Gallery and 
Museum (Leek) is small and contains permanent exhibits that feel a little neglected and which lack interpretation relating them to the town. The gallery 
was vibrant and busy. 
 
The architecture in Leek and Cheadle in particular is very pleasant with many heritage buildings (commercial, residential ,ecclesiastical) that are attractive. 
The gothic architecture by Sugden is very evident in Leek and includes the Nicholson Institute and the War Memorial. 
 
 

P
age 261



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 57 
 

 

 

 

Leek 
Leek has a very pleasant town centre with a lovely market square and main retail street (Derby Street) that is largely car free. There are a number of long 
and short stay car parks that surround the town centre. 
 
The architecture of the town is very pleasant with plenty of impressive heritage buildings and there is a traditional indoor market off the main market 
square. Getliffe’s Yard off Derby Street is a former 19th century yard that is now covered and provides a shopping and dining alley that is very attractive. 
 
The war memorial is a dominant feature at the eastern end of Derby Street and sits next to the Premier Inn. The Nicholson Institute on the north of the 
town centre contains the library, museum, art gallery and TIC. It sits alongside the Buxton & Leek college and is easy to locate from the centre and main 
car parks. 
 
While Leek has a good range of retail and dining options and some accommodation, may visitors would be unlikely to spend more than 1-2 hours here.  
Live music and art is a feature of Leek with a number of town centre venues and a prominent arts centre (The Foxlowe) which is opposite the market 
square and is the main venue for the Leek Arts Festival which takes place in May. 
 
Cheadle 
Cheadle is a small but pretty market town that is close to Alton Towers. A one way system encircles the main centre with a retail high street and large pay 
and display car park inside the road system. 
 
The High Street contains a mix of small independent retail and cafes alongside some lower quality national brands, charity shops and services such as a 
gym. There is a small indoor market which has a pretty exterior and is next to a small market square which contains some stalls. The retail mix however is 
quite functional with some specialist (e.g. saddlery). Many stalls were closed or unoccupied on the day visited. 
 
It is an attractive centre with pretty planting, clean and well maintained but will mainly serve local markets. A visitor would be most likely to come to visit 
St Giles (Pugin’s gem) and may spend some time in local cafes and gift shops but stays are unlikely to be longer than 60-90 minutes. There was bunting 
strung along the High Street but vehicles dominated this space and the road was busy. 
 
 

P
age 262



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 58 
 

 

 

 

Biddulph 
Biddulph is the most functional town with a large Sainsburys and B&M dominating the centre and adjacent to the main car parks.  
The town centre is not very attractive with a mix of low quality retail, pubs and services such as Library/council offices/police station. There is no obvious 
reason why a visitor would spend any significant time here other than to make use of the supermarket. The edges of the town are more appealing with a 
few guest houses, access to the Biddulph Valley way and Biddulph Grange Garden and the Country Park. The town has a reputation for green gardens and 
planting with the Grange Gardens as the main local attraction and a prominent ‘Biddulph in Bloom’.  
 
OTHER OBSERVATIONS 
 
 The landscape is delightful with rolling hills and valleys to the south rising to the moorlands and deeper dales in the north. The Roaches provides 

striking views across Staffordshire Moorlands but there are many landscape highlights spread across the district. 

 The destination is clean and well managed. A noticeable absence of roadside litter along the carriageways and at laybys. Towns and villages are clean 
and looked after. 

 Roads were relatively quiet (note: May visit) and driving was courteous and friendly where narrow lanes required stopping at passing places. There 
was evidence of the friction that can occur at honeypots especially the Roaches with more controls evident. 

 Traffic in the towns is busy and dominates high streets with large vehicles and high volumes of traffic. This diminishes the atmosphere in places such 
as Cheadle High Street and to a lesser extent Leek. 

 The destination has plenty of accessible trails for all ages using the former railway lines, canals and reservoirs. This is pleasant and easy walking 
country while also offering more challenging walking as you reach the National Park. 

 Smaller villages (Hulme End, Froghall, Ilam, Oakamoor etc) are pleasant and have facilities for visitors (parking, toilets, pubs/cafes) as well as notable 
experiences. 

 Accommodation was noticeable throughout the destination – small units in rural villages, pubs and farms, some campsites and larger inns, B&Bs in 
the towns with a Premier Inn in Leek. 

 The markets most in evidence appeared to be older couples (60+), groups (young/school) taking part in activities and visiting heritage sites and 
families (mainly Alton Towers and family attractions) 

P
age 263



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 59 
 

 

 

 

 There were fewer road cyclists but plenty of use of the off-road trails by locals and visitors. 

 Aside from the landscape and associated sites (Roaches, Thors Cave, Caldon Canal, Manifold Valley, Tittesworth, Rudyard Lake) the main attractions 
are family (Alton Towers, Peak Wildlife Park), heritage (Ilam Park, Biddulph Grange) and a number of steam rail attractions (Churnet Valley, Leek & 
Rudyard and Foxfield). 

 Access into the destination is limited by rail and most visitors need a car to experience the Staffordshire Moorlands. 

 There is not a strong ‘local’ food offer in the produce, ingredients and dishes available and which might otherwise help this destination stand apart 
from other places. It is quite hard for a visitor to taste ‘Staffordshire’. 

  

P
age 264



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 60 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 265



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 61 
 

 

 

 

3. STRATEGY & POLICY REVIEW 

KEY FINDINGS 

 Tourism has been one of the hardest hit sectors of the UK economy by COVID-19 and recovery is at the forefront of strategic planning, 
nationally, regionally and locally. The UK government is transitioning its Industrial Strategy to its ‘Build Back Better: Our plan for growth’; DCMS 
launched its Tourism Recovery Plan in June 2021; D2N2’s Recovery and Growth Strategy supersedes their Local Industrial Strategy, recasting it in 
the light of Covid-19, Brexit and Climate Change. 

 Post-pandemic plans aim for recovery of domestic and international visits with improved use of technology, better dispersal of the benefits of 
tourism around the nation and regions, and a more sustainable sector, tackling climate change. 

 National, regional and local strategies in this section are: 
 

National strategies/plans Build Back Better: our plan for growth, HM Treasury, March 2021 
 Visit Britain/Visit England Strategy 2020 - 2025 
 DCMS Tourism Recovery Plan, June 2021  
 The de Bois Review: an independent review of Destination Management Organisations, DCMS, Sept 2021 
 Glasgow Declaration on Climate Action in Tourism, UNWTO, 2021 
Regional strategies/plans D2N2 Recovery and Growth Strategy 
 D2N2 Strategic Economic Plan: Vision 2030 
 Stoke-on-Trent & Staffordshire Enterprise Partnership: Strategic Economic Plan (Refresh, April 2018) 
 Stoke-on-Trent & Staffordshire Enterprise Partnership: Local Industrial Strategy (April 2020) 
 Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire’s 5-Year Destination Plan: The Rescue and Rebuilding of Peak District 

and Derbyshire’s Visitor Economy 
 Peak District National Park Management Plan (2018-2023) 
Local strategies/plans Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan 2020 

Staffordshire Moorlands Green Infrastructure Plan 2018 
Churnet Valley Masterplan 2014 

P
age 266



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 62 
 

 

 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands Sustainable Community Strategy 2007-2020 
Staffordshire Moorlands Corporate Plan 2019-2023 
Growth Strategy for High Peak 2017 

 Buxton Visitor Economy Strategy 2020 
 Buxton Future High Street Fund Masterplan 2020 & High Street Heritage Action Zone 
 Buxton Design Strategy 2009 
 Goyt Valley Tourism Plan 2022 (draft) 

 
NATIONAL STRATEGIES/PLANS 

Build Back Better: Our Plan for Growth, HM Treasury, March 2021 
This new plan supersedes the Government’s 2017 Industrial Strategy. It sets out the Government’s plans to support growth through significant 
investment in infrastructure, skills and innovation, and to pursue growth that levels up every part of the UK, enables the transition to net zero, and 
supports the vision for Global Britain. 
 
VisitBritain/VisitEngland Strategy 2020 - 2025 
Tourism in Britain contributes 9% of GDP and accounts for 10% of all jobs.  It has been recognised as a leading sector in the Government’s future 
economic planning, with the granting of a Tourism Sector Deal as part of its Industrial Strategy.  The VisitBritain/VisitEngland Strategy sets out how it will 
support the delivery of the Tourism Sector Deal. Within this, VisitEngland’s 5-year strategy (2020-25) has these aims: 
 

 Developing regional English tourism product 
 Distributing and promoting product to our domestic and international customers 
 Helping businesses to grow through business advice and support 
 Growing the business events industry 

 
Excerpt from VisitEngland’s 2020-25 Strategy: 
Grow value - Through stepping up our domestic marketing activity, we will address the balance of trade deficit and encourage more people to holiday at 
home. We will focus on younger customers (aged 18-34), whose domestic tourism activity is in decline, and families, who are both essential for the long-

P
age 267



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 63 
 

 

 

 

term growth of the industry.  Through developing our customer segments for the domestic market, we will ensure we reach the right customers with the 
right content. Through our work in the delivery of the Tourism Sector Deal, we will support Government’s ambition to make the UK the most accessible 
destination in Europe. 
 
Support productivity - Our priority will be to support the development of the England product, this will extend the season for an international and 
domestic audience and enable the distribution of this product in international markets building on the success of the Discover England Fund. By helping the 
industry build digital skills, we will ensure that product is researchable and bookable online. Our focus on winning business events for England will see us 
work closely with venues and locations and matching them with international opportunities, providing them with platforms to meet international buyers 
and supporting them through the bidding process. 
 
Drive regional dispersal - Working in partnership with Destination Management Organisations (DMOs), we will grow visits and value of our leisure and 
business travel across England. This will be supported by the development of regional product that addresses domestic and international market gaps and 
address product gaps through the distribution platform Tourism Exchange Great Britain (TXGB). In addition, we will build our partnerships and expertise in 
route development to grow connectivity to regional England. Through our work on the delivery of the Tourism Sector Deal we will identify new Tourism 
Zones, supported by central Government, and a biddable funding process, to drive visitor numbers across the country, extend the season and to tackle 
local barriers to tourism growth. 
 
Be the expert - We will ensure that VisitEngland is seen as a trusted partner in delivering on the Government agenda and provide and distribute statutory 
research, data and analysis that informs our own, industry and Government decision-making.  Supporting and working together with DMOs and the wider 
England industry our assets, market plans and intelligence will be shared for national benefit. We will also provide platforms and events that enable us to 
share best practice and celebrate business excellence across English tourism. 
 
Our customers - Our global segments, nuanced by markets, are: 

• Buzzseekers – younger, free-spirited and spontaneous, they like holidays full of action and excitement 

• Explorers – older, they enjoy the outdoors, sightseeing and embracing local culture at a more relaxed pace 

• Culture buffs – image and brand-conscious, travel is seen as a status symbol; they like well-known safe destinations 

• Free and easy mini-breakers – similar to buzzseekers, this younger domestic audience love the opportunity to take short breaks where they can 
either let loose or unwind 

P
age 268



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 64 
 

 

 

 

 
Our markets: 
UK Domestic – Drive regional and seasonal dispersal increasing volume and value of short breaks in the shoulder season.  Increase focus from one to two 
target audiences to address long term growth and short-term opportunity. 
 
Overseas – Our most beneficial overseas market by some distance, and the market showing the most profitable growth, is the USA, followed by value 
growth from China. These are two of our markets that we uplift investment in using the GREAT funds – we add to that Australia, France, Germany, GCC, 
India and UK. Our secondary markets for value include the rest of Europe, Canada, Brazil and South Korea. Lower growth (among our core markets) is 
projected from Hong Kong, Japan, Russia and Austria. For each market we have developed and refined a market strategy that focuses on the best 
prospects for driving tourism growth. 
 
DCMS Tourism Recovery Plan, June 2021 
Tourism has been one of the sectors of the UK economy hit hardest by COVID-19.  Oxford Economic predicts that tourism in the UK will not return to 
2019 levels of volume and expenditure until 2025. The Tourism Recovery Plan sets out the role that the UK Government will play in assisting and 
accelerating the tourism sector’s recovery from COVID-19.  The aim is to: 
 

 Recover domestic overnight trip volume and spend to 2019 levels by the end of 2022, and inbound visitor numbers and spend by the end of 2023 – 
both at least a year faster than independent forecasts predict.  

 Ensure that the sector’s recovery benefits every nation and region, with visitors staying longer, growing accommodation occupancy rates in the 
off-season and high levels of investment in tourism products and transport infrastructure.  

 Build back better with a more innovative and resilient industry, maximising the potential for technology and data to enhance the visitor experience 
and employing more UK nationals in year-round quality jobs. 

 Ensure the tourism sector contributes to the enhancement and conservation of the country’s cultural, natural and historic heritage, minimises 
damage to the environment and is inclusive and accessible to all.  

 Return the UK swiftly to its pre-pandemic position as a leading European destination for hosting business events. 

 
As part of ‘building it back better’, the Tourism Recovery Plan refers to the review of Destination Management Organisations:  
 

P
age 269



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 65 
 

 

 

 

The de Bois Review: an independent review of Destination Management Organisations in England, DCMS 
The review, commissioned by DCMS and published in September 2021, examined and assessed how DMOs across England are funded and structured and 
how they perform their roles, in order to establish whether there may be a more efficient and effective model for supporting English tourism at the 
regional level. 
 
The Government issued its response to the review in July 2022 and recognised the important role tourism can play in the Government’s levelling up 
agenda and the way in which DMOs are crucial in supporting that. The government has decided that DMOs will be known as Local Visitor Economy 
Partnerships (LVEPs) and that a national accreditation scheme will be created to identify high performing partnerships with a tiered model of others 
that sit underneath this top level. 
 
The De Bois recommendations and the government’s response as follows:  
 

De Bois Recommendation Government Response 

 Recommendation 1: The Government should bring coherence to 
England’s DMO landscape via a tiering approach, using an 
accreditation process to create a national portfolio of high performing 
Destination Management Organisations that meet certain criteria. I 
would also suggest a move away from the confusing ‘DMO’ term and 
call these nationally accredited Tourist Boards.  

 

The government agrees with this recommendation. 
The government agrees with de Bois’ assessment that the current DMO 
landscape in England is fragmented and complex. The government also 
agrees with his assessment of the negative consequences for England’s 
visitor economy, in particular making it less likely that key players across 
the private and public sectors will engage with their local DMO, diluting 
private sector investment and making it harder for DMOs to get a ‘seat at 
the table’ when it comes to important decisions with an impact on the 
tourism sector. 
To address this, the government will introduce a new structured system 
for England’s DMOs, whereby DMOs that successfully meet clear 
requirements will become part of a ‘national portfolio’. 

 Recommendation 2a: The national portfolio should then be split into 
two tiers – a top tier of accredited Tourist Boards acting as 
‘Destination Development Partnerships’ or as leaders of them, (these 

The government partially agrees with this recommendation. 
The government recognises that DMOs have been placed in a difficult 
funding situation as a result of the pandemic and that reliance on 

P
age 270



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 66 
 

 

 

 

De Bois Recommendation Government Response 

could be described as ‘hubs’) and a second tier of accredited Tourist 
Boards acting as members of these Partnerships (‘spokes’).  
Destination Development Partnership status could be awarded to 
either an individual accredited Tourist Board covering a large enough 
geography (e.g. a city region) or to a coalition of willing accredited 
Tourist Boards within an area that come together under a lead Board. 

commercial membership fees can skew priorities towards marketing at 
the expense of management. The government will pilot de Bois’ proposed 
tiering model and the recommendation of multi-year core funding in a 
region of England, in order to give that Destination Development 
Partnership the space and firm foundation to engage in a wide range of 
destination management type activities as well as prompt increased 
private sector investment. 
There are several reasons why the government has decided to pilot the 
approach. Firstly, the current complex and fragmented nature of the DMO 
landscape means not all parts of the country would be ready to take on 
public funding if it were made available. Time is needed to address this. 
Secondly, the de Bois review notes that ‘robust quantifiable evidence on 
DMO impact is lacking’. This makes it hard to be confident that the 
provision of taxpayer funding will yield a strong return on investment. A 
pilot will allow the government to collect evidence to understand how 
effective the proposed model can be and to support any funding 
considerations.  

 Recommendation 2b: The Government should then provide core 
funding to each Destination Development Partnership. The funding 
should be focused on activities that ensure their destination remains 
sustainable, competitive and responsive to high level strategic 
challenges identified by the Government such as those around 
sustainability, skills, inclusive tourism and levelling up. The Destination 
Development Partnership would be expected to pass down a degree of 
funding to accredited Tourist Boards amongst its coalition and work 
collaboratively with them to deliver a shared vision.  

 

 Recommendation 3: DMOs that do not meet the national accreditation 
criteria should be automatically considered as part of a ‘third tier’. 
These are likely to be small, localised Destination Marketing 
Organisations and the Government should minimise its engagement 
with them.  

The government agrees with this recommendation. 
The government agrees with the argument of the de Bois review that 
neither DCMS or VisitEngland can have a one-to-one relationship with 
every DMO, and should instead focus engagement on those undertaking 
strategic management as well as marketing activities. As de Bois 
recognises, best practice internationally is for national governments to 
engage with strategically important DMOs, with more limited engagement 
with smaller and hyper-local organisations. Going forward, DCMS, 
VisitEngland and other government departments and agencies should 

P
age 271



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 67 
 

 

 

 

De Bois Recommendation Government Response 

focus their engagement primarily with accredited LVEPs that are part of 
the national portfolio. 

 Recommendation 4: As it is England’s National Tourist Board, with the 
statutory responsibility for growing tourism at an England level, the 
Government should charge VisitEngland with responsibility for 
creating, maintaining and supporting this new tiered structure. It 
should receive sufficient funding and resources to do this.  

The government agrees with this recommendation. 
As set out above, VisitEngland will have responsibility for designing and 
administering the system for classifying DMOs as part of the national 
portfolio. However, the final decision on admission or removal from the 
portfolio will sit with the Tourism Minister, following the advice of the 
VisitEngland Advisory Board. VisitEngland will also be responsible for 
administering and evaluating the funding model pilot in the chosen area. 
The government’s view is that VisitEngland is the best placed body to 
carry out these duties. The proposals are wholly in-keeping with their 
statutory function to promote England as a tourist destination and 
develop its tourist amenities and facilities. 
The government will provide VisitEngland with additional funding to carry 
out this leadership role. The government has allocated a budget of up to 
£4 million across the 2022-2025 Spending Review period. Any future 
funding will be considered as part of the next Spending Review. 

 Recommendation 5: The Government must also change its approach, 
in order to maximise the success of the new system. There is currently 
insufficient appreciation of the importance and promise of the visitor 
economy at the top of government, leading to unfilled potential in 
DMOs and the wider tourism landscape. In practice, responsibility for 
tourism policy cuts across multiple departments, creating a confusing 
picture. Practical measures to address these issues could include 
elevating the Tourism Minister to a Minister of State position and 
either reallocating responsibilities from other departments to sit under 
that Minister or making the Minister responsible for the activities of 

The government disagrees with this recommendation. 
The government does not accept that there is insufficient appreciation of 
the importance and promise of the visitor economy within government 
policy making. In the 24 months between April 2020 and March 2022 at 
least £37 billion was provided to the leisure, hospitality and tourism 
sectors in the form of grants, loans, tax breaks and wage subsidies to 
support businesses and workers through the pandemic. During 2021, 
comprehensive cross-government sector recovery plans were published, 
including the government’s Tourism Recovery Plan and the Hospitality 
Strategy: Reopening, Recovery and Resilience. These plans recognise the 

P
age 272

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tourism-recovery-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hospitality-strategy-reopening-recovery-resilience
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hospitality-strategy-reopening-recovery-resilience


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 68 
 

 

 

 

De Bois Recommendation Government Response 

teams within multiple departments – this latter suggestion is an 
established practice already in other policy areas which cut across 
Whitehall departments.  

importance of the sector, and set out detailed recovery frameworks and 
accompanying policy interventions. 
The government does, however, accept that the pandemic has highlighted 
the need for a more joined-up and consistent approach to the visitor 
economy across government than has previously been the case. Given the 
breadth and complexity of the visitor economy, it is unsurprising that 
almost all government departments hold policy levers with the ability to 
affect the fortunes of the sector. 

 Recommendation 6: In order to help DMOs and Local Authorities take 
decisions on how best to develop the visitor economy in their local 
area, the Government should improve access to quality data by 
introducing the proposed Tourism Data Hub as a matter of urgency 

The government agrees in principle with this recommendation. 
The government recognises how important data is to actors across the 
visitor economy, who rely on it for both strategic and tactical decisions 
including product pricing, investment and establishing target markets. The 
government also recognises that there are a number of issues with 
current visitor economy data sources such as the International Passenger 
Survey, which does not produce robust data at a regional or local level. 
That is why the government remains committed to exploring the potential 
for a Tourism Data Hub, along the lines set out in the 2019 Tourism Sector 
Deal. However, introducing the proposed Tourism Data Hub is complex 
and, as of yet, unfunded. Under these proposals, the government would 
need to work with the private sector to acquire, clean, analyse and 
disseminate anonymised data they hold on consumer behaviour. 

 Recommendation 7: DMOs must accept that they also have a role to 
play in driving forward change; it cannot just be left to the 
government. To maximise the success of the new structure, DMOs will 
need to take a less territorial approach, have a greater focus on 
collaboration, and recognise that the current fragmentation is holding 
them back from acting as effective advocates for the visitor economy. 

The government agrees with the de Bois report’s finding that the 
fragmentation and confusing picture of the current DMO landscape is 
detrimental to the ability of DMOs to engage effectively with actors across 
the public and private sector. The creation of a national portfolio will help 
address this issue, but in some parts of the country where there is 
excessive geographical overlap and fragmentation, rationalisation may be 

P
age 273



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 69 
 

 

 

 

De Bois Recommendation Government Response 

needed. This will need to be led by the DMOs themselves and DMOs 
should not expect the government to act as an arbitrator between DMOs 
competing to represent the same territory. 

 Recommendation 8: DMOs should seek to diversify their income 
streams, and should share and learn from examples of best practice. 

The de Bois report covered a wide range of ways in which DMOs might 
consider expanding their commercial revenue sources. The government is 
supportive of DMOs doing this. A commitment to doing so will be part of 
the accreditation criteria for membership of the national portfolio, and 
LVEPs will be expected to evidence progress in order to maintain their 
accreditation. 

 Recommendation 9: DMOs should have a rigorous focus on keeping 
the skill sets and expertise of their own staff up-to-date, particularly 
with respect to digital skills, so as to ensure their destination’s offer 
continues to be sustainable and competitive. 

The government agrees with de Bois’ assessment that DMO staff are 
passionate, dedicated and knowledgeable. However, the government also 
agrees that in some areas, such as digital skills and understanding of the 
international travel trade, sales and distribution, there is room for 
development. VisitEngland has worked with DMOs in recent years to 
develop skills in these areas and will continue to do so as part of its suite 
of business support activities. Having additional resources to facilitate 
DMO knowledge-sharing will also help with this. 
De Bois’ report also referred to the potential for DMO staff to act as 
ambassadors for the tourism and hospitality industry, for example by 
going into schools, colleges and universities to promote job and career 
opportunities. A strategic focus on skills will be an important element of 
any funding pilot. 

 Recommendation 10: DMOs should have more diverse boards that 
fully represent their communities as well as their businesses and 
visitors. 

As set out in the Public Appointments Diversity Action Plan, the 
government is committed to improving the representation of individuals 
from underrepresented backgrounds on public boards. The government 
agrees with de Bois that the governance structure of a LVEP should strive 
to reflect the visitor economy it represents - businesses and current 

P
age 274



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 70 
 

 

 

 

De Bois Recommendation Government Response 

consumers, but also potential future consumers - and that it can be 
helpful to have multiple perspectives informing decisions. We welcome 
efforts from DMOs (as they are currently known) to attract a diverse range 
of views to inform their governance. 

 Recommendation 11: Local enterprise partnerships (LEPs) must realise 
the value of tourism, ensure the visitor economy is fully integrated into 
their economic strategies and play their full role as partners in the 
activities of their accredited LVEPs and Destination Development 
Partnerships. They should recognise that LVEPs are best placed to 
drive growth in regional tourism and they should actively support 
them. 

The government recognises the vital role that LEPs can play in supporting 
both their local visitor economy and the work of LVEPs, including through 
forming formal partnerships. Following the conclusion of the recent LEP 
Review, the government has set out a clear list of functions that can be 
provided by LEPs. 
In addition to embedding a strong, independent business voice into local 
decision making, LEPs should continue to carry out strategic economic 
planning in partnership with local leaders in a way that clearly articulates 
their area’s economic priorities and sectoral strengths. This should include 
working closely with LVEPs, where appropriate, to increase investment, 
jobs and growth in the visitor economy. 

 Recommendation 12: Local government — be that a District Council, 
County Council, Mayoral Combined Authority or any other formulation 
— must also realise the value of tourism and should strive to play their 
part in supporting accredited LVEPs and Destination Development 
Partnerships. They should accept that for LVEPs to be at their best, 
they need to be public/private/community partnerships, not based 
solely in a Local Authority but working in partnership with them. They 
should also involve their LVEP in any policy decision-making affecting 
the visitor economy. 

The government agrees with de Bois recommendation that for LVEPs to 
perform at their best, they must work in partnership with public and 
private sector partners who hold the policy levers and funding needed to 
achieve the full potential of their local visitor economies. Close 
partnership working between LVEPs and all levels of local government will 
be key to levelling up, driving local economic growth and spreading 
opportunity more equally across the UK. 
Although tourism is not a statutory responsibility of local authorities, the 
government agrees that local governments can play an important role in 
supporting the role and work of LVEPs and that — as the report points out 
— this is often achieved most effectively when local government and 

P
age 275



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 71 
 

 

 

 

De Bois Recommendation Government Response 

DMOs (as they are currently known) work together at a higher strategic 
level of geography (e.g. over a County or a Combined Authority area). 

  
 
 
Glasgow Declaration on Climate Action in Tourism UNWTO 
The Glasgow Declaration is a catalyst for increased urgency about the need to accelerate climate action in tourism and to work towards net zero 
emissions. It was launched at COP26 in Glasgow in November 2021 and organisations and destinations are urged to sign up to the Declaration. The 
Declaration is being led by UNWTO (UN World Tourism Organisation) in collaboration with the Travel Foundation, and within the network of the One 
Planet Network and Tourism Declares a Climate Emergency initiatives. 

All tourism stakeholders can become signatories of the Glasgow Declaration.  The initiative supports its signatories by sharing knowledge and resources to 
better implement their commitments; fostering and supporting the work at a destination level to develop and implement climate action plans; tracking 
and disclosing progress; and providing international recognition and visibility.  

Signatories agree to implement the commitments detailed in the plan, notably: 

 Support the global commitment to halve emissions by 2030 and reach Net Zero as soon as possible before 2050. 
 Deliver climate change action plans within 12 months of becoming a signatory (or updating existing plans) and implement them. 
 Align plans with the five pathways of the Declaration (Measure, Decarbonise, Regenerate, Collaborate, Finance) to accelerate and co-ordinate 

climate action in tourism. 
 Report publicly on an annual basis on progress against interim and long-term targets, as well as on actions being taken. 
 Work in a collaborative spirit, sharing good practices and solutions, and disseminating information to encourage additional organisations to 

become signatories and supporting one another to reach targets as soon as possible. 
 
 

  

P
age 276



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 72 
 

 

 

 

REGIONAL STRATEGIES/PLANS 

D2N2 Recovery and Growth Strategy 
The D2N2 LEP works with 19 local authorities across Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire, including High Peak Borough Council. The Recovery and Growth 
Strategy (RGS) builds on and supersedes the Local Industrial Strategy.  It is D2N2’s key strategic document to 2030 and focuses on three key propositions: 
Low Carbon Growth; Productivity; Connectivity and Inclusion. 
 
‘Quality of Place’ is one of three priorities for action under the ‘Connectivity and Inclusion’ proposition: 
 
Quality of Place: use our economic and skills investments in our cities, towns, rural areas and growth corridors to improve the quality of life for our 
residents, workers and visitors. Led by our Place Advisory Board. 

 
The Place Advisory Board specification includes: Devises compelling place marketing for visitors and investors; Maximises the opportunities of the 
visitor economy to support wider place-making. 
 
The Place Strategy states: We are committed to working with local partners to establish place-based growth strategies and improve the performances 
of our towns and city centres. 
 
An example is a £5.5m project, working with High Peak Borough Council to redevelop Glossop’s civic buildings and £2M to redevelop Buxton Crescent. 
 
D2N2 Strategic Economic Plan: Vision 2030 
The Strategic Economic Plan has three themes: Productive and Growing Businesses; Skills and Knowledge for the Future; Quality of Place. 
Under Theme 1 (Productive and Growing Businesses) the Visitor Economy is an Opportunity Sector within D2N2’s 11 priority sectors.   The Plan states:  
 
There are opportunities to boost the value and productivity of the sector by targeting new markets, offering higher value experiences, extending the 
‘season’ and increasing the global market share of international leisure visits, business visits and the events sector. 
 

P
age 277



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 73 
 

 

 

 

We not only need the scale and quality of ‘product’ to support high value visitor spend, our businesses need to be ‘international ready’. We need effective 
marketing of our key destinations and products, the roll out and effective utilisation of enhanced digital connectivity, and the development of a skills and 
careers approach to provide for an escalator of roles and support. D2N2 will continue to work with partners to take advantage of emerging opportunities, 
such as the designation of a Tourism Action Zone in the D2N2 LEP area. 
 
Place Making & Marketing is an investment priority under Theme 3 (Quality of Place): 
Empower communities across D2N2 as great places to live, work, study and visit; and undertake compelling place-marketing in order to attract inward 
investment and talent to the area, and to drive up visitor spend.  
 
Stoke-on-Trent & Staffordshire Enterprise Partnership (SSLEP): Strategic Economic Plan (Refresh, April 2018) 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council is one of Stoke-on-Trent & Staffordshire LEP’s partners.   Their Strategic Economic Plan states as its vision: 
 
“An economic powerhouse driven by the transformation of Stoke-on-Trent into a truly competitive and inspiring Core City and enabling the growth of a 
thriving economy throughout the connected county of Staffordshire where everyone has the opportunity to access a better job.” 
A connected area, with a competitive economy, which works collaboratively with local partners to complement their activities. 
 
The LEP’s economic growth agenda is based on recognised strengths in key aspects of advanced manufacturing. The visitor economy is one of three 
sectors recognised as having growth potential. Alton Towers and Drayton Manor Park are considered to be anchor destinations within the county and 
these, combined with Cannock Chase, the National Forest and the Peak District contribute to the overall visitor appeal and branding of the area. 
 
The sector’s priority is to make more consumers aware of Staffordshire as a destination for a short break, so encouraging greater volume of overnight 
stays, increased revenue and more employment in the industry. 
 
The Plan states that there is an opportunity to develop the business tourism offer within the area, particularly through the development of new and 
increased use of existing conferencing facilities.  

 
 
  

P
age 278



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 74 
 

 

 

 

Stoke-on-Trent & Staffordshire Enterprise Partnership: Local Industrial Strategy (April 2020) 
In its Local Industrial Strategy, SSLEP identifies the visitor economy as a major opportunity for the region; an area that had been growing strongly prior to 
lockdown with future capacity to grow and respond to trends such as micro-breaks and UK green tourism. It specifies a number of interventions to 
improve place: 
 
 Strengthen our inward investment offer and promotion, actively targeting potential investors with the strong commercial premises offer in our town 

and city centres and rural areas, reflecting growing demand for office space and high-quality commercial units 
 Further developing and enhancing our culture offer 
 Improve public transport and accessibility within our town and city centres and rural areas 
 Tackle persistent deprivation and joblessness, by better linking up skills provision with specific business opportunities locally 
 Protect and enhance our natural and built environment assets including our excellent leisure offer 
 Build on and expand our existing visitor economy strengths to increase spend 

 
 
Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire’s 5-Year Destination Plan: The Rescue and Rebuilding of Peak District and Derbyshire’s Visitor Economy 
“Visitors can choose between top class offers ranging from the stunning outdoors and some of the best walking, cycling and rock climbing that England 
has to offer. A cultural heritage experience with visits to castles, stately homes, festivals and events, art galleries and museums.  The cultural and heritage 
sector and natural landscape play a unique role in creating the ‘sense of place’ that makes this region a great area to live, work, learn, invest and do 
business. “ 
 
Core audience 55+. 
 
The Destination Plan outlines 10 strategic priorities and a roadmap for recovery:  The Priorities are: 
 
 boost domestic tourism to the Peak District and Derbyshire 
 position the Peak District and Derbyshire as a destination for the corporate sector 
 support businesses to bounce back, rebuild and grow 
 rebuild international connectivity and grow inbound tourism 

P
age 279



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 75 
 

 

 

 

 become a destination for active travel and transport connectivity  
 lead the way with sustainable tourism (eg manage visitors at honey pots and disperse, create new experiences, local purchasing) 
 bid to become a Tourism Zone 
 promote the sector as a place to be proud to work within 
 work with partners to revitalise market towns (eg marketing, dispersal strategies, local events, food and drink, transport connectivity, walking and 

cycling) 
 support our local authority partners to deliver their Tourism Strategies. 
  
 
Peak District National Park Management Plan (2018-2023) 
The Peak District National Park Management Plan has as its vision: The Peak District National Park: where beauty, vitality and discovery meet at the heart 
of the nation, incorporating three aspirations: 
 
 An enhanced, diverse, working and cherished landscape (to deliver the Park’s first statutory purpose) 
 A sustainable, welcoming and inspiring place for all (to deliver the Park’s second statutory purpose) 
 Thriving and sustainable communities and economy 
 
The Plan specifies six Areas of Impact: preparing for a future climate; ensuring a future for farming and land management; managing landscape 
conservation on a big scale; a National Park for everyone; encouraging enjoyment with understanding; supporting thriving and sustainable communities 
and economy.  ‘A National Park for Everyone’ includes intentions to overcome both physical and perceived barriers to accessing the National Park. 
‘Encouraging enjoyment with understanding’ includes intentions to: balance opportunities for enjoyment with conserving a fragile environment; ensure 
shared responsibility (e.g encouraging visitors to feel they can contribute to the Park’s future through a programme of visitor giving and volunteering); 
develop an awareness and understanding of the benefits of the Peak District National Park. 
 

 
  

P
age 280



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 76 
 

 

 

 

LOCAL STRATEGIES/PLANS 

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan. Adopted Sept 2020. 

The Local Plan is the main planning policy document for the district, except for the area covered by the Peak District National Park Authority as they are 
the planning authority for that area. 
 
The Local Plan identifies tourism as an important driver for the local economy, helping build greater economic sustainability and strengthening the 
District’s wider role. The plan also highlights the importance of the natural environment and the need to enhance and protect it. The viability of town 
centres is identified as a significant challenge alongside a high dependence on private cars and poor public transport. 
 
The Local Plan Vision says: ‘Tourism will be a key element in the diversification of the District’s economy and will also contribute significantly to raising the 
environmental quality and the regeneration of the District. Its market towns will each have their own unique selling point for attracting visitors. The 
diversity and quality of the District’s natural and historic assets will have improved and greater use will be made of the opportunities they provide for 
recreation and tourism, particularly around the Churnet Valley which together with Alton Towers will be a significant tourist attraction.’ 
 
A vision for Rural Areas also includes specific references to tourism: ‘Well managed, sustainable tourism will be a major driver in regenerating the rural 
areas and enhancing their character and quality. Major redundant sites in the countryside will have been redeveloped for new uses, improving the 
environment and diversifying the rural economy. In the countryside, the richness of the District’s landscape, heritage and its biodiversity will continue to 
be valued, maintained and protected in a way which sensitively accommodates the needs of farmers, rural businesses, visitors and residents…... Public 
access to the countryside will be extended with new walking, cycling and horse riding routes developed. Green infrastructure and open space will protect 
and enhance the environment whilst providing recreational opportunities alongside sport and improvements to health and well being.’  
 
Spatial Objective 7 (SO7) in the plan states ‘To protect, provide and enhance the tourism, cultural, sport and recreation and leisure opportunities for the 
District’s residents and visitors.’  
 
Spatial Strategy 5 (SS5) which covers Leek has a specific action to ‘Increase tourist opportunities for visitors through additional high quality 
accommodation, promoting links with the Peak District and the development of new tourist attractions linked to the Churnet Valley.’  
 

P
age 281



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 77 
 

 

 

 

Spatial Strategy 6 (SS6) which covers Biddulph has an action: ‘Improve the image and identity of Biddulph and strengthen its role as a visitor destination 
by:  

• Regenerating and improving the streetscape of the town centre.  

• Upgrading the general environment of the town through landscaping and the improvement and creation of green spaces.  

• Strengthening and promoting links between the town and countryside in particular with the Biddulph Valley Way, Biddulph Grange Garden and 
the Country Parks. This will include the implementation of the Green Infrastructure Strategy.  

• Improving the main approaches to the town from the south.  

• Protecting and enhancing the setting and historic character of the town, including heritage assets.  
 
Spatial Strategy 7 (SS7) which covers Cheadle includes an action: ‘Promoting the role and historic character of the town, including the protection of 
heritage assets and its links with the Churnet Valley as a visitor destination.’  
 
Spatial Strategy 11 (SS11) covers the Churnet Valley and has a number of actions.  
 
‘The Churnet Valley is identified as an area for sustainable tourism and rural regeneration. The Churnet Valley Masterplan provides a comprehensive 
framework for development in the Churnet Valley and development should be in accordance with the Masterplan. Within this area particular support will 
be given to the following forms of development and measures:  

• short stay and long stay visitor accommodation;  

• the expansion of existing tourist attractions and facilities and the provision of compatible new tourist attractions and facilities;  

• measures to enhance, protect and interpret the landscape character and heritage assets of the Churnet Valley;  

• measures to remediate and restore derelict land, buildings and features including the appropriate redevelopment of sites;  

• actions to protect and enhance the biodiversity of the valley, including the maintenance, buffering and connection of designated sites and actions 
to mitigate climate change; 

• measures that support and integrate the heritage transport infrastructure of the valley, sympathetically with enhancing and developing links to 
strategic footpaths, cycle and horse riding routes.  

• measures to improve connectivity and accessibility to and within the Churnet Valley by sustainable transport means having regard to the Green 
Infrastructure Strategy.  

P
age 282



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 78 
 

 

 

 

 
Development policies relating to the economy include Policy E4 ‘Tourism & Cultural Development’. This policy states that ‘New tourism and cultural 
development which complements the distinctive character and quality of the District will be supported having regard to the Area Strategies in Policies SS 
5 to SS 10 and and Churnet Valley Strategy Policy SS 11.  
In addition:  

• New tourist, visitor and cultural accommodation, attractions and facilities should be developed in locations that offer, or are capable of offering 
either:  
A) good connectivity with other tourist destinations and amenities, particularly by public transport, walking and cycling; or  
B) in locations in or close to settlements where local services, facilities and public transport are available; or  
C) in areas specifically identified for tourism development in the Churnet Valley Masterplan or other relevant documents.  

• Developments in other locations may be supported where a rural location can be justified. New accommodation, attractions and facilities should:  
A) support the provision and expansion of tourist, visitor and cultural facilities in the rural areas where needs are not met by existing facilities; and  
B) all development shall be of an appropriate quality, scale and character compatible with the local area, protect the residential amenity of the 
area, enhance the heritage, landscape and biodiversity of the area and shall not harm interests of acknowledged importance.  

 
  

P
age 283



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 79 
 

 

 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan. Green Infrastructure Strategy 2018. 

Developed as a background strategy in support of the Local Plan, the Green Infrastructure Strategy has a 
vision which aims to develop a network of green corridors and green spaces that, among other aims: 

• Supports access and green travel– by creating appropriate access for a wide range of users to 
enjoy the countryside, including creating improved linkages to services and facilities, as well as 
formal and informal recreation opportunities. Promotes health and well-being– by supporting 
the provision and improvement of open space, sport and recreational facilities to: facilitate 
opportunities for walking, cycling and horse riding; support people's interaction with nature; and 
to encourage young children into green space 

• Unlocks economic development potential– by contributing to the diversification of the local 
economy through the enhancement of existing, and provision of new tourist facilities; 
supporting new opportunities for rural businesses such as the provision of wood fuel through 
habitat management and creating and improving green travel links to areas of employment and 
the visitor economy infrastructure 

 
The main principles of the strategy are: 

• Protecting and enhancing green infrastructure 

• Developing and extending the green infrastructure to create a network of connected green 
spaces 

 
Eleven strategic corridors and areas are identified in the strategy and each has specific and detailed 
actions, however some general approaches are advocated which include: 

• Improving the network and making it more accessible to different users 

• Enhancing links between different parts of the wider network and the towns and villages 

• Conserving and enhancing heritage assets within the network   
 

P
age 284



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 80 
 

 

 

 

Churnet Valley Masterplan. Supplementary Planning Document 2014 

The masterplan highlights the opportunity which the Churnet Valley has to act as a sub-regional asset and to ease pressure on the neighbouring Peak 
District National Park. The Churnet Valley covers a large part of the centre of the district. 
The masterplan acknowledges the following strengths and weaknesses for the area. Strengths include: 

• High quality landscape and environment 

• Good road access 

• Existing attractions serving two broad markets (1. ‘Countrysiders’ who are visiting the area for a combination of experiences, activities, discovery/ 
sightseeing, and rest and relaxation. Outdoor activities will be the main activity but the natural environment and scenery will be a key 
underpinning appeal. 2. 'Family fun' - fun day out with the family. Typically visiting an attraction. Alton Towers is the primary attraction). 

• Recognition that the assets with national significance are ‘Alton Towers’ and the ‘Peak District’. 

• Important heritage assets including St Giles in Cheadle as well as the industrial heritage. 
 
Weaknesses: 

• Poor links between attractions and reliance on the private car. 

• Towns lack a national profile (in comparison say to Buxton) 

• Poor awareness of the area 

• Limited provision for cycling and horse riding 

• Limited visitor accommodation other than at Alton Towers 

• Lack of a ‘year-round’ offer 
 
Opportunities: 

• Leek and Cheadle as potential gateways with potential for more serviced accommodation 

• Better linking of experiences (conceptually and physically) to create more coherence 

• Enhanced walking and cycling networks 

• Encouraging more events 

• Potential development of unused or brownfield sites for different tourism activity 
 

P
age 285



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 81 
 

 

 

 

The masterplan draws on the 2011 tourism study to highlight the need to create an offer that is distinctive. It recognises that a pre-occupation with brand 
and identity is perhaps unhelpful in the context of Staffordshire Moorland and the Churnet Valley and that specific products and experiences will often be 
the motivating driver for a visit. It advocates for a market focus with ‘Countrysiders’ being the primary target and ‘Family Fun’ a secondary focus. 
To achieve sustainable tourism in the Churnet Valley, the masterplan identified main opportunities as: 

• Promoting a series of gateways into the Churnet Valley from which visitors can then travel, by more sustainable modes where possible, into the 
valley. 

• Promoting a number of gateway visitor hubs based on existing centres of interest from which visitors can explore the local area. 

• Improving connectivity and accessibility between hubs and attractions in the area 

• Developing the visitor offer aimed primarily at the countrysider market including families under the framework of Wise Growth. 

• Increasing overnight stays 

• 'Going green' through the promotion of Staffordshire Environmental Quality Mark 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands Sustainable Community Strategy 2007-2020 

The vision within the strategy is: ‘By 2020 Staffordshire Moorlands will be recognised as a vital part of a regenerated North Staffordshire sub-region. All 
our communities will enjoy an excellent quality of life, including access to affordable housing and excellent public services. Our vibrant market towns will 
be home to a range of successful retail, visitor and knowledge based businesses. We will have a highly skilled and entrepreneurial workforce. Our natural 
environment will be protected and our carbon emissions reduced. 

The analysis within the strategy concluded that the most obvious potential for the growth of service sector businesses and employment in Staffordshire 
Moorlands was tourism - building on the core attraction of Alton Towers, the assets of the Cauldon Canal corridor, Biddulph Grange, Peak District 

P
age 286



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 82 
 

 

 

 

National Park, the wider countryside and the Town Centres. This, it was thought, could provide the area with the opportunities for further modest growth 
in employment and business opportunities. Though a concern was raised about simply adding to the stock of low paid and low skilled jobs. 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands Corporate Plan 2019-2023 

Aim 3 of the Corporate Plan is ‘To help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and villages’. Within this Aim was a 
commitment to prepare a tourism strategy, as well as the regeneration of key sites, improved access including support for the re-introduction of train 
services to Leek. 

 

Growth Strategy for High Peak 2017 

Ambition to drive £700M investment by 2031 
 
Specific tourism target  

• £59m pa additional spend in local economy 

• Double number of overnight visitor stays during the week 
 
Growth priorities inc: 

• Enhancing Visitor Experience (Outdoor play/festival venue) 

• Enhancing leisure and culture offer  

• Niche retail and evening economy  

• Pedestrian and cycle connections  

• Promoting festivals and events  

• Quality hotel accommodation and tourism experience 
 

P
age 287



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 83 
 

 

 

 

Delivery mechanisms – include town centre plans for Buxton – England’s leading spa town. Cultural destination.  
 
Heritage and regen projects include  

• Buxton Crescent 

• Station Gateway 

• Town centre enhancement 

• Town hall 

• Palace hotel 

• Pavilion gardens 

• Connectivity, routes, green infrastructure etc 
 
Glossop – creative industries – media, digital, performing arts 
Heritage and regen projects include  

• Market hall 

• Woods mill 

• Victoria mill 

• town centre enhancement and public realm 

• pedestrian and cycle connectivity 
 
A6 enterprise corridor 

• Whaley bridge canal basin 

• Torr vale mill 

• canal network and cycle path to Manchester 

• Peak Forest tramway link 
 
… distinctive character of High Peak in which picturesque towns and villages are set against a dominant weathered gritstone landscape in the north or the 
softer limestone landscape in the south. These towns include Buxton with its Georgian and Victorian spa heritage, the former mill towns of Glossop and 

P
age 288



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 84 
 

 

 

 

New Mills; Whaley Bridge, where the Cromford and High Peak Railway transferred it’s goods on to Peak Forest Canal; and Chapel en le Frith, the Capital of 
the Peak. A key challenge is investment in protection and enhancement of these assets. 
 
Growth potential – Link to Peak Park, Buxton Crescent and rise in cycling + outdoor leisure activities.  
Key constraints – Quality of accommodation, diversity of offer and skill gap 
 
Travel by car Glossop to Manchester - 37 mins Buxton to Manchester - 1 hr 5 mins Chapel-en-le-Frith to Manchester - 53 mins Chapel-en-le-Frith to 
Sheffield - 53 mins Glossop to Sheffield - 45 mins Buxton to Sheffield - 55 mins 
Travel by train Glossop to Manchester - 32 mins half-hourly daytime service to Manchester Piccadilly and every 20 minutes during rush-hour. Buxton to 
Manchester - 56 mins hourly service daily and about half-hourly during rush-hour. Chapel to Manchester - 46 mins hourly service daily and about half-
hourly during rush-hour. 
 
159.7km of cycle paths and bridle ways in the High Peak 
 
Challenges 
Vacant and under-used heritage assets • Poor town centre retail (availability of right size of premises, absence of high end operators, lack of diversity) • 
High disparity in income levels • Low productivity and gross value added • Poor public transport and connectivity, weather dependency • Low level of 
start-ups and growth of small businesses • Shortage of quality hotel accommodation • Lack of evening economy in main towns 
 
Strengths  
• Key link between Greater Manchester and Sheffield City Region • Connectivity to Manchester, Cheshire, Sheffield and Derby • Peak Park, natural assets 
• Distinctive built heritage • Well established leisure offer (to be reinforced by the Crescent) • High Peak- the incubator for high-growth businesses • 
Advanced manufacturing, aggregates and logistics businesses • Creative businesses in Glossop (Manchester media city connection) 
 
 
  

P
age 289



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 85 
 

 

 

 

Buxton Visitor Economy Strategy 2020 
 
Transformative elements: 

• Brand – Buxton repositioned as gateway to Peak District. The town’s unique characteristics of water, arts, heritage and well-being should inform a 
consistent narrative. 

• Culture – build on International Festival for year round programming 

• Place -reinvigorate streetscapes, orientation and interpretation 

• Visitor experience – enhanced and accessible for all 

• Leadership – act as one destination – one new leadership entity 
 
Refreshingly Buxton brand and guidelines developed from this – Buxton is a place to revive, recharge and revitalise 
 
Buxton Design Strategy 2009 
Place making action plan focusing on approaches, gateways, arrival, signage, information, trails and key routes. 
 

• Higher Buxton - An independent ‘village’ within the town centre with a diverse and interesting range of businesses including shops, galleries, 
cafés, bars and restaurants 

• Spring Gardens - A ‘smart high street’ area that contains a number of national multiples, as well as local retailers, to serve Buxton and its 
hinterland 

• The station ‘green gateway’ to the town centre, both in terms of landscape and sustainable transport, where change has the potential to create a 
high quality new piece of town 

• The Quadrant ‘cosmopolitan’ area with an interesting high quality mix of businesses including independent and branded shops, restaurants and 
bars 

• The Crescent – A ‘premium’ area at the heart of the town centre focused on the Crescent and new spa, with links to both the University and 
Palace Hotel 

• Pavilion Gardens - A ‘green’ leisure and cultural area focused on the Pavilion and the Opera House within an historic park setting 
 

P
age 290



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 86 
 

 

 

 

Buxton Future High Street Fund Masterplan & High Street Heritage Action Zone 2020 
 
A Town Centre Investment Programme was approved by High Peak Borough Council in February 2019. The programme outlined proposals to support the 
development of high streets and town centres, and recommended submission of funding bids (including the Future High Streets Fund, Heritage Lottery 
Fund and Highways England Designated Fund) to support delivery. 
 
The key deliverables under this scheme include: 

• Shop front restoration grants for heritage buildings 

• Grant funding to support viability gaps to bring forward empty heritage properties 

• Offer of a complementary facelift scheme to allocate small grants towards modern units to improve colour scheme and signage  

• Community engagement and cultural programme development 

• Exploration of the restoration and continuation of the missing colonnade around the Cavendish Arcade 

• Heritage interpretation at key visitor entrance points  
 
Strengths include: 

• Excellent heritage context 

• Strong townscape character 

• Gateway to the Peak District 

• Strong tourism offer 

• Easily accessible by public transport 
 
Weakness 
Public realm, weak gateway and arrival at station, poor linkage through study area. 
 
Buxton was selected as one of a number of towns across the country to receive a share of the grant and has secured £926,700 to deliver HAZ programme.  
Grant funding programme run by Historic England. Runs to end March 2024. 
All buildings within the HSHAZ area are eligible for grant funding of 75% towards conservation-led repairs and restoration. 

P
age 291



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 87 
 

 

 

 

 
Goyt Valley Masterplan 2022 (draft) 
 
Central High Peak around Whaley Bridge – open moorlands, reservoirs, walks, villages, pubs, eating places, walking, cycling. 
Acknowledges not a coherent destination or brand but suggests it has potential to be. “Challenge is to form a compelling narrative” 
 
Home to 

• beautiful landscapes and outdoor adventures 

• cycling routes of all levels 

• local food and drink 
• arts and literature – Buxton International, New Mills Festival 

Transport – good links to Sheffield and Manchester – Hope Valley Explorer bus (July-Oct), cycle routs, Peak Forest tramway. 
New creative concept ‘Find your Happy Place’ – offering a place of joy and relaxation, welcoming local community, exploration slightly off beaten track. 
Mixture of history and contemporary accommodation and eating. 
 
Marketing campaign delivered by MPDD. Targeting pre-school/young families, 50+ couples, outdoor enthusiast couples. 90 min drive time, focus on 
Manchester conurbation. Web pages on MPDD website, social media campaign (runs to summer 2022), visitor map, promo video and images. 
 
5 strategic priorities  

• marketing – soft adventures – itineraries – no car required – overnight stays 

• place shaping – destination experience - activities and events – peer networking – max proximity to Glossop and Buxton and wider HP 

• business engagement – upskilling – digital – bookable product – marketing – cross promotion 

• visitor services – active travel, transport – cycling hubs 

• skills- links to education, partnership with FE/HE – local employment initiatives 
 

P
age 292



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 88 
 

 

 

 

4. MARKET REVIEW 

EXISTING MARKETS 

 
Staffordshire Moorlands 
Visitor profile 
For Staffordshire Moorlands, the existing visitor market derives primarily from UK domestic visitors on a day trip.  Visitor survey data undertaken at 
locations across Staffordshire during May – September 2017 shows that 76% of respondents visiting Staffordshire Moorlands were domestic day visitors.  
Other visitors to the area were domestic overnighters (19%), and domestic visitors touring the UK (4%).  Only 2% were visiting from overseas.  
  
Motivations to visit 
The primary motivation for visiting Staffordshire Moorlands is to visit an attraction (47%).  However, it should be noted that the visitor survey was served 
to respondents at key attractions in Staffordshire Moorlands – including Alton Towers and Biddulph Grange Gardens.  Therefore, the survey methodology 
should be taken into account when interpreting these results.  Just under a quarter (23%) of Staffordshire Moorlands primarily visited for walking/hiking, 
a further 8% for a specific event and 7% for leisure cycling.  These activities all over-index versus the Staffordshire county average and suggest that visitors 
are engaging with a variety of activities in the Moorlands area. 

 
Visitor demographics 
In terms of demographic profile, 52% of Staffordshire Moorlands visitors are family groups (34% of visitors arriving with children); and a further 31% are 
adult couples. The area attracts a greater skew to adult couples than the rest of the county, and relatively more retirees at 21% against a Staffordshire 
average of 13%.  Visitors to Staffordshire Moorlands are relatively more affluent too with 43% categorised as the ‘AB’ socio-economic group versus the 
county average of 36%. 
 
The day visitor audience for Staffordshire Moorlands is localised: 50% are visitors from across Staffordshire, with a further 14% from Derbyshire and 14% 
from Chesire.  The overnight visitor profile differs in that main markets are visitors from the South East (21%) and North West (21%).  Important 
secondary overnight markets are provided by the East Midlands (19%) and Yorkshire (14%).  It should also be noted that though the majority of visitors to 

P
age 293



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 89 
 

 

 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands are arriving for a day visit, 18% choose the area for a short break – more than double the proportion for the rest of the county at 
8%.   
 
Choice of Accommodation 
For those staying on a break in Staffordshire Moorlands, a hotel is the most popular form of accommodation (32% - in line with the average for the 
county).  However, there is relatively greater use of self-catering and non-serviced accommodation with visitors booking self-catering trips (24% vs. Staffs 
avg. 10%), or camping (11% vs. Staffs avg. 6%) and caravanning (10 vs. Staffs avg. 5%).   

 
Visitor enjoyment 
More than nine in ten visitors to Staffordshire Moorlands are repeat visitors. In this context it is perhaps unsurprising that there are high levels of 
enjoyment with, and likelihood to recommend, the area as a destination.  Visitors to Staffordshire Moorlands have the highest levels of enjoyment 
compared to all other areas surveyed in the county (80% ‘very high’ enjoyment vs. Staffs avg. 55%), 89% would recommend visiting and 93% would be 
‘very likely’ to visit again.  Therefore, Staffordshire Moorlands is an effective ambassador for the reputation of ‘Staffordshire’ as a visitor destination. 

 
High Peak 
Visitor profile  
Data from Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire (MPDD) in the recent Recovery Report stated that 90% of visitors to the MPDD catchment area are day-
trippers and with a skew to those aged 55+ years.  This profile aligns with demographic data from MPDD’s consumer survey into post-Covid tourism in 
late 2020.  Respondents from that survey were mainly located in the East Midlands (33%), other notable catchment areas were the South East (16%), 
North West (14%), Yorkshire & Humber (13%) and West Midlands (11%). The South East notwithstanding, this suggests a visitor base that is majority 
located within a 90-minute drivetime.  Data quoted here is for the broader MPDD area; visitors to High Peak specifically cannot be isolated. 
 
Reaching a broader visitor profile 
MPDD’s Recovery Report is clear in its aspiration to broaden the current visitor base to bring new visitors to the Peak District.  Plans involve the active 
targeting of pre-nesters and pre-school families to immerse themselves in the great outdoors and enjoy the associated wellbeing benefits.  The DMO also 
aims to increase the Peak District’s appeal as a destination for Millennials (born between 1981-1996) by highlighting the area’s experiential offer (e.g. 
festivals, camping, nightlife).   
 

P
age 294



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 90 
 

 

 

 

Web analytics suggest that visitors to the visitpeakdistrict.com website are skewed to a young and urban demographic looking for walks and activities in 
the area.  Therefore, this suggests that recent marketing activity is helping to target a new audience outside of the mature daytripper cohort that has 
traditionally been the core audience.  A further aspiration is to increase the propensity of daytrippers to stay overnight in the Peak District in order to 
maximise the value they can deliver by increasing the range of activities undertaken and time spent in the area.  Similarly, re-connecting with inbound 
visitor markets in Germany, the Netherlands and USA is designed to increase overnight visits and engagement with varied itineraries in the area. 
 
EXISTING MARKETING/EXTERNAL PERCEPTIONS  
DMO channels are the most prominent in promoting both Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak as visitor destinations.  However, there are also a 
number of community-run websites and social media pages that showcase towns and villages in both areas to visitors.   
  
Online, both Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak appear as appealing visitor destinations.  Imagery of both areas depicts towns and villages with 
attractive built heritage surrounded by green spaces and rolling hills.  Language used to promote these towns and village on DMO and other destination 
websites focuses on history and landscape and how both have shaped the individual characteristics of locations across Staffordshire Moorlands and High 
Peak that visitors can experience today.  It is important to note that visitors are searching for individual locations and attractions within Staffordshire 
Moorlands or High Peak.  They are not navigating the destinations by their political boundaries.  Therefore, the opportunity is to amplify the sense of 
place in each area through its key locations and attractions.  Any new destination brand for each area should amplify the profile of the locations and 
attractions for visitors that make Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak unique, not obscure them. 
  
Places are often described as ‘thriving’ and ‘bustling’, with their historic markets celebrated and independent businesses highlighted.  Proximity to the 
landscape is also a common feature of how Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak towns and villages are described online, giving locations the 
opportunity to appeal to a broad range of visitors; be it those wishing to enjoy the built environment, or those wanting to experience life outdoors.  Given 
the quality of the landscape in Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak, it is perhaps unsurprising that outdoor attractions are the most salient and highly 
rated activities online in both localities.   
  
B&Bs are the most prominently featured accommodation online in both Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak.  Accommodation generally appears to be 
less distinctive in character than the food scene in both areas.  Leek is an exemplar of food quality in Staffordshire Moorlands; in High Peak it is Buxton, 
Whaley Bridge and Hayfield that are seen as having a quality food offer.  

P
age 295



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 91 
 

 

 

 

  
Community-run websites and social media pages suggest proud residents who are invested in civic and cultural life of their towns and villages as 
exemplified by the variety local events and activities on offer across locations.  Community-run channels can play a role in demonstrating the vibrancy of a 
local community and act as a testament to the local quality of life.  Therefore, it is important that those managing community-run channels are cognisant 
of, and in sympathy with, the vision and aims of a new tourism strategy in both local authority areas.  Leadership from the local authority with support 
from the DMO in each area is likely to enable community-run platforms to coalesce around a shared vision and narrative for each area.  A situation where 
local platforms are seen to be competing to promote a destination is to be avoided in order to prevent confusion for potential visitors and perceptions of 
a lack of community cohesion around a destination. 

  
Staffordshire Moorlands 
Enjoy Staffordshire target markets 
Enjoy Staffordshire content is designed to promote Staffordshire as a short break destination.  Stated target markets are families, as well as the recently 
retired and pre-nesters given the variety of experiences on offer across the county and within Staffordshire Moorlands, specifically.  Search terms driving 
traffic to enjoystaffordshire.com are primarily for towns and attractions outside of Staffordshire Moorlands.  The most frequently used search terms 
driving traffic to enjoystaffordshire.com is ‘café near me’ which may suggest that a daytripper audience is primarily interacting with the website more 
than an overnight market and echoes the visitor profile detailed above.   
  
Social content and engagement 
Enjoy Staffordshire has an active presence on social media via both Facebook (16k followers) and Twitter (16k followers).  The DMO’s Instagram following 
is currently modest (0.4k), but is a growth opportunity if attractive photography and video content can be produced.  Enjoy Staffordshire social channels 
appear to be used for both corporate and consumer updates.  Not leveraging these channels to focus solely on consumers may affect response to content 
across the channel, as recent posts – even those aimed at consumers – do not appear to have gained traction in terms of engagement.   
  
Opportunities for collaboration 
Alongside enjoystaffordshire.com, visitpeakdistrict.com plays a role in highlighting key towns in Staffordshire Moorlands as visitor destinations.  There are 
variations in both photographic content and copy for the same towns featured across the two websites (examples here and here).  Photography is 
generally more vibrant and copy more inviting on visitpeakdistrict.com.  This suggests an opportunity for consolidation and consistency to deliver a clear 
message to visitors.   

P
age 296

https://www.enjoystaffordshire.com/information/product-catch-all/leek-p739931
https://www.visitpeakdistrict.com/explore/towns-and-villages/leek-p682001


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 92 
 

 

 

 

 
  
Local and community-run platforms 
Leek, Biddulph and Cheadle are supported by a combination of community-run websites and social channels to promote local businesses and attractions.  
Totally Locally Leek (website and social media) publicises the town’s local markets and businesses – giving visitors a flavour of what a visitor can expect in 
the town.  Enjoy Staffordshire’s Leek webpage links directly to the Totally Locally Leek website.  In Biddulph the town council’s website acts as a portal for 
local events and activities, and within Cheadle two community-run Facebook pages signpost town news and latest what’s on.  The community pages for 
Cheadle appear to have been designed for residents, rather than visitors.  However, there may be an opportunity to share DMO-authored content with 
toolkits and editorial guidelines via these pages in order to reach potential visitors who are seeking information about the town on social media. 
 
Distinctive ‘assets’ communicated online 
Leek, Biddulph and Cheadle are portrayed online (across DMO platforms, other destination sites and TripAdvisor) as homes to independent businesses 
with thriving traditional markets and hubs of community-run events: 
  
Leek: 

• A market town proud of its history 
• Gateway to The Roaches 

• A quality food offer 
  
Biddulph: 

• 'Biddulph in Bloom’, civic planting and flowers 
• An active calendar of community-run events 
• Outdoor attractions including Biddulph Grange Gardens and Knypersley Reservoir 

  
Cheadle: 

• St Giles Church - ‘a hidden gem’ 
• Heritage architecture in town centre 
• Proximity to wildlife (e.g. Hales Hall Pool, RSPB Combes Valley) 

  

P
age 297



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 93 
 

 

 

 

The combination of ‘town and country’ experiences in each area looks to be a key factor in driving the appeal of these places within the Staffordshire 
Moorlands tourism offer from evidence on TripAdvisor.  Linking to ratings and displaying accolades such a Travellers’ Choice Awards on 
enjoystaffordshire.com may reinforce perceptions of quality and variety to potential visitors. 
  
Accommodation featured on TripAdvisor across the three towns skews to B&Bs with average scores of 4.0/5.0.  Of the three towns, Leek appears to have 
the strongest food offer via a mix of pubs and Italian and Indian restaurants.  Eight of the top ten places to eat in Leek featured on TripAdvisor are 
Travellers’ Choice award-winners, which suggest a good quality and vibrant culinary scene. 
 
High Peak 
Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire (MPDD) target markets 
MPDD is ‘the official tourist board for the Peak District and Derbyshire, tasked with promoting the area nationally and internationally to grow and support 
the visitor economy’.  MPDD works with local tourism businesses on a number of campaigns and promotional opportunities to showcase High Peak 
destinations among others.  Campaigns appear to be designed around families, mature visitors with time and disposable income, as well as pre-families 
looking for active pursuits.  The DMO encourages businesses to create organic content on social media with campaign toolkits, as well as providing a 
range of paid-for marketing opportunities and consultancy on developing high-quality content.   
  
Visit Peak District & Derbyshire (VPDD) social media presence 
The consumer-facing work of MPDD (as VPDD) has built a prominent social media profile across major platforms: Instagram (93.5k followers), Facebook 
(66.5k) and Twitter (40k).  The prioritising of Instagram as the DMO’s key social channel enables the targeting of a <35 years old audience via imagery and 
video that can showcase the natural beauty of the landscape.  Photography and copy are attractive and engaging.  The clear focus on consumer-facing 
content is also likely to support engagement across social platforms.  The strategy appears to be successful given the matching profile of website visitors 
as suggested by the results of analytics. 
  
Community-run platforms 
In High Peak there is much community-driven content online with Visit Buxton and Explore Buxton as key exemplars in the town across the web and social 
media.  Visit Buxton content in particular gives a flavour of what visitors might experience in the town across attractions and the events programme.  
Community voices are active in promoting Glossop as a creative hub and New Mills for its cultural scene and quality of landscape.  Such platforms 
demonstrate the ‘character’ of a place, as well as showcase local businesses and community events that can attract visitors.  Community platforms in High 

P
age 298



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 94 
 

 

 

 

Peak strike an appropriate balance between celebrating a place and its local community, whilst being open and welcoming to visitors in terms of tone and 
content.  Creating the conditions where local platforms can work together to support their destination in a cohesive way is likely to be key  in the 
successful roll out of a new tourism strategy in High Peak. 
  
Distinctive ‘assets’ communicated online 
Of the six High Peak towns and villages analysed, geology, local culture, and food and drink were key features mentioned online that give each place a 
distinctive character.  Mentions have been taken from DMO sites, other destination sites and TripAdvisor. 
  
Buxton: 

• Thermal spa that inspired unique architecture and social history 
• Local festivals and events 
• Gateway to the Peak District  

  
Castleton: 

• Mam Tor and its dramatic landscape 
• Caverns and Blue John (unique geology) 
• Quality of local accommodation 

  
New Mills: 

• Millennium Walkway and ‘curated’ trails 
• Quality independent shops 
• A proud community organising local events 

  
Glossop: 

• A creative community 
• Independent businesses and bustling high street 
• Proximity to the Dark Peak 

  
Whaley Bridge: 

• Gateway to the Goyt Valley 

P
age 299



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 95 
 

 

 

 

• Industrial heritage (Bugsworth Basin) 
• Quality food offer 

  
Hayfield: 

• Sett Valley Trail 
• Gateway to Kinder Scout 
• Quality food offer 

  
Buxton may be well placed to act as a gateway town for High Peak with its distinctive spa history and architecture, events, and views over the Peak 
District.  Across High Peak towns and villages, the benefits of actively engaging with the outdoors are clearly communicated, both in terms of visitor 
wellbeing and sustainable tourism.  From online reviews, High Peak’s food offer appears to be particularly strong in Whaley Bridge and Hayfield which 
may allow these places to stand out relatively on this feature.  Castleton and New Mills have distinctive geological features and Glossop appears to be 
characterised by its creative spirit and proudly independent businesses. 
 
MARKET TRENDS  

 
Coming out of Covid: Remaining impact 
Global Travel - The travel industry has suffered enormously as a result of the global pandemic – in June 2021 a United Nations Conference on Trade and 
Development (UNCTAD) report indicated that the crash in international tourism due to the coronavirus pandemic could cause a loss of more than $4 trillion to 
the global GDP for the years 2020 and 2021. The estimated loss has been caused by the pandemic’s direct impact on tourism and its ripple effect on other sectors 
closely linked to it. The report, jointly presented with the UN World Tourism Organization (UNWTO), says international tourism and its closely linked sectors 
suffered an estimated loss of $2.4 trillion in 2020 due to direct and indirect impacts of a steep drop in international tourist arrivals. The report warns that a similar 
loss may occur this year, noting that the tourism sector’s recovery will largely depend on the uptake of COVID-19 vaccines globally. 

Inbound Travel - VisitBritain’s (VB) most recent inbound research (September 2021) shows that inbound travel to the UK is beginning to recover with the 

number of inbound flight bookings to the UK now back to about 50% and arrivals at about 25% of 2019 levels. VB expects inbound tourism levels to return 

to around half of normal by mid next year. Oxford Economics forecasts a multi-speed recovery with most of the volume and value from Europe regained 

in 2023, stretching to 2024/25 for long haul markets. 

P
age 300



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 96 
 

 

 

 

According to VB, post-Covid, the most popular destinations are: 
 Cities (Spain, Ireland, Nordics) 
 Coastal (Germany) 

 Multi-destination (Australia, Italy) 

Domestic Travel - 2021 has seen a staycation boom due to the international traffic light system. Hotel occupancy levels have recovered to almost pre-

pandemic levels across the UK (except London) and in some destinations, such as Wales, even higher.  The medium-term outlook as to whether this will 

continue into 2022 is still clouded due to the returning ease of international travel and other impending financial hits such as the National Insurance hike 

and uncertainty around universal credit. 

Business Travel - According to a survey conducted by Deloitte1, the extent to which business travel will make a comeback may be fairly modest in the 
coming years despite it being on the rise in the second half of 2021. Total spend in Q4 2021 is projected to reach somewhere between 25%-35% of 2019 
levels. Research carried out for the business software company SAP2 found that after a long period of restricted travel opportunities, 89% of people 
surveyed said they intend to mix business with pleasure by tacking untaken holiday days on to work trips. 
 

 
  

 

 

 
1 Deloitte Corporate Travel Survey, 2021 
2 SAP Concur organization research, April – May 2021 

P
age 301

https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/focus/transportation/future-of-business-travel-post-covid.html


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 97 
 

 

 

 

MACRO TRENDS  
In addition to the short-term Covid-related factors above, other macro trends in tourism are also worth considering as these will influence travel patterns 
in the longer term and have implications for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak as destinations.  With a core proposition around the outdoors and 
wellbeing, both Staffiorshire Moorlands and High Peak should be well placed to respond to and take advantage of these trends:  
 

 
 
 

P
age 302



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 98 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

P
age 303



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 99 
 

 

 

 

5. BEST PRACTICE 

KEY FINDINGS 
 
Every destination is different and so ideas from elsewhere cannot always be easily transferred and adopted. Nonetheless, we have sought out examples 
which illustrate good practice in areas in which we think there are opportunities for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak. Some important lessons from 
these examples are:  
 

 Don’t start from scratch. There are lots of insights and tools from elsewhere which can quickly and easily be adopted to progress actions in both 

local authority areas.  

 A clear policy environment guides actions. Spending some time thinking about what is most important to each destination from a tourism point of 

view will help to decide on priorities and actions.  

 As well as benefitting visitors, successful interventions can bring positive value to local businesses and communities.  

 Use interventions and actions to connect-up the offer across towns and villages to make it easier for visitors to experience more of the 

destination and keep them in the area for longer.  

 Continue to work across political boundaries where it makes sense to visitors, especially in marketing. Use SLAs to encourage collaboration 

between DMOs. 

 Engage businesses in the planning and development of actions so they buy into what the local authority in each destination wants to achieve.  

 Use events – particularly those that centre around outdoors life – to animate each destination and attract new visitors.  

 
 

  

P
age 304



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 100 
 

 

 

 

AN ACTIVE OUTDOORS CULTURE  

Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak have some of the most striking landscapes in Britain.  The outdoors is a defining aspect of the offer in both areas.  
Events that celebrate the outdoors present an opportunity to experience the landscape in new and exciting ways: either by bringing together the beauty 
of the natural environment with music, food, and entertainment; or by appealing to people’s desire for a sense of achievement.  Two examples are: 

 
EXEMPLAR 1: LOVE TRAILS FESTIVAL    

A four-day trail running and outdoor adventures event with live music and entertainment in the beautiful Gower Peninsula.  Trail 

running takes places on the trails and coastal paths of the Gower Peninsula (AONB) and is strictly non-competitive.  Participants can 

experience a range of different challenges, depending upon ability.  Additional adventure activities are also on offer over the weekend 

from local specialist companies.  The Festival also has a prominent wellbeing aspect, including yoga classes, workshops, and talks from 

wellbeing practitioners.  Target audiences are pre-families and families with school-aged children who want to embrace the best of 

outdoors life in unexpected ways.  The event is part of the ecolibrium initiative which encourages investment in climate solutions 

What it does well                                                            Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak  

 Attracts to the local area a young and adventurous audience who are willing 

to invest in experiences  

 Brings the best of the local landscape, culture, and cuisine together 

 Supports local vendors (e.g. outdoor experience providers, hospitality 

businesses, and accommodation providers) 

 Consider opportunities to collaborate with experienced event organisers 

who can bring new audiences via existing IP 

 Identify sites where events can be held safely and sustainably 

 Consider when and how such an event can complement the existing 

events programme in each destination 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 305

https://www.lovetrailsfestival.co.uk/
https://ecolibrium.earth/about-2/


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 101 
 

 

 

 

 

EXEMPLAR 2: DURTY EVENTS    

Based in the Scottish Borders, Durty Events host a range of muti-discipline active outdoors events across scenic landscapes in Scotland and the 

North of England.  Events include runs, triathlons, and orienteering with people of all abilities participating at their own pace.  Each event is run 

in collaboration with local authorities, landowners, businesses, and local residents.  Overnight event participants are encouraged to camp in 

the local area as responsible visitors, given Durty Event’s focus on sustainability.  

What it does well                                                           Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak  

 A collaborative model of community participation (from landlord permissions 

to volunteer marshalls)  

 Sustainability/responsible tourism is front and centre (e.g. stringent policies 

around waste) 

 Creates a regular outdoors events ‘scene’ in an area and enhances its profile 

as a destination for an adventurous and active audience 

 Collaboration is essential to deliver these kinds of events and requires 

the buy-in of multiple stakeholders 

 Likely to encourage cross-border visits with routes through the Peaks 

 Can encourage visitor traffic in shoulder seasons with events hosted ‘off -

peak’ 

   

 
  

P
age 306

https://durtyevents.com/
https://durtyevents.com/about/durty-sustainability/


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 102 
 

 

 

 

STRATEGIC EVENTS DEVELOPMENT 

Events, including outdoor events, have the potential to bring positive impacts for a destination. They animate the place for visitors and locals alike; they 
can bring economic impacts by attracting day and staying visitors at times of the year when demand is lower. A local authority can enable and support the 
delivery of successful events, rather than become the main organiser/deliverer.   To do this, a strategic approach is required that has:  

 Policy – a clear strategic events policy to identify what Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak want events to deliver in each area 

 Operational Plans – sets out where and under what conditions each local authority will support events and what it wants organisers to do in 
planning and delivering events  

 Sites – clearly identify all of the suitable sites for outdoor events (council and other)  

 Safety Advisory Group – put in place an agreed network of the main agencies that are needed to support the delivery of events (blue light 
services, highways, stewarding, licensing)  

  
EXEMPLAR 3: WORTHING    
To develop a robust events calendar, Worthing introduced a new events policy in 2020 covering council-owned land. The policy sets out what the council wants to achieve in 

maximising the benefits from events while ensuring that they are safe and well managed. The council has a full-time events officer.  

What it does well                                            Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak  

 Worthing has been actively looking to grow and develop its outdoor events programme, 
which has seen a range of new events introduced and developed in recent years including: 
Mass participation events e.g. running; Outdoor concerts; Food festivals; Christmas events 
e.g. ice rink and big wheel  

 The policy includes all the necessary information an 
organiser would need: How to apply; Licensing, 
Permissions and insurance; Approval criteria; 
Consultation and the role of the safety advisory group; 
Fees and charges   

 The policy also sets out clear expectations in operating 

sustainable events.  

 Events animate the destination for visitors and local people  

 They help create an attractive destination that relates positively to 
wider objectives including inward investment.  

 As the policy was updated in 
2020 it contains useful 
references for delivering events 
during Covid   

 
The Time For Worthing website is used to 

promote the destination to investors as well 

as visitors and students  

    

P
age 307

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,151894,smxx.pdf
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,151894,smxx.pdf
https://timeforworthing.uk/
https://timeforworthing.uk/
https://timeforworthing.uk/


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 103 
 

 

 

 

 
EXEMPLAR 4: LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON    

Croydon has developed an over-arching Events Policy to support the development of events. The main benefits are seen as promoting the destination as a place 

of business, culture and community, which also draws visitors in and improves the image of the borough.   
What it does well                                                                                          Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak  

Croydon has a clear events policy (2018) which:   

 Categorises events (by size and type e.g. commercial or 
charity)  

 Sets out the timeframes for applying (bigger events take 
longer)  

 Explains the role of the Safety Advisory Group in 
reviewing the event safety – which is separate from the 
landlord consent  

 Requires the development of event management safety 
plan  

 Lays out conditions and legislation surrounding events  

 Explains limitations and exclusions of the types of 
events not usually permitted  

As well as the policy there are a number of other 

supporting documents available to organisers: 

 Guide to organising safe events 

 Application form and risk assessment forms  

 A clear policy or strategy makes it clear to 
event organisers and local stakeholders 
what Runnymede wants to get from 
events, and makes it clear to members and 
officers the sorts of events to actively 
support or resist  

 Clear timeframes and requirements help 
organisers understand how decisions will 
be made as landlord (assuming events are 
held on council land)  

 Sets out how to work with partners on 
event planning and illustrates the 
important role of an event Safety Advisory 
Group  

    

P
age 308

https://www.croydon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Business%20licences%20and%20tenders/Health%20and%20safety/Guidance_Organising_Events_Croydon.pdf
https://www.croydon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Business%20licences%20and%20tenders/Health%20and%20safety/Guidance_Organising_Events_Croydon.pdf
https://www.croydon.gov.uk/business-licences-and-tenders/health-and-safety-and-food-safety/health-and-safety/organising-safe-events
https://www.croydon.gov.uk/business-licences-and-tenders/health-and-safety-and-food-safety/health-and-safety/organising-safe-events


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 104 
 

 

 

 

TRANSPORT & CYCLING INFRASTRUCTURE  

Even before Covid, outdoor activity had been growing as a leisure pastime and as a visitor experience. A burgeoning variety of trails for walking and 
cycling and greenways have been created. These range from relatively short routes, which are ideal for younger families, to long-distance trails for 
touring. They have been helpful in re-vitalising the communities that they pass through.  E-bikes are also becoming increasingly popular in areas such as 
the Lake District and at attractions such as Waddesdon Manor where they offer a sustainable way for visitors to travel car-free.  
 
Roads and parking facilities are likely to be under most pressure during peak seasons, especially around bank holidays when bus services to key 
attractions in Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak have reduced services.  Shuttle bus services and commercial bus tour providers could provide 
additional transport capacity and encourage car-free travel.  
 

EXEMPLAR 5: GREAT WESTERN GREENWAY – COUNTY MAYO   

One of the first of several Greenways developed in Ireland, this 42 km former railway line provides a traffic route for locals and visitors to explore the 

countryside and coast.  

What it does well                                                     Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

 Since opening it attracts ¼m visitors a year and has created 200 new jobs  

 It is used to link together different towns and attractions  

 It cost €6.7m to develop the 42 km route  

 It generates €40m of annual economic impact  

 It includes a 7 km town greenway loop at Westport which links 
communities to local facilities, schools, shops and recreation  

 25% of visitors are from overseas  

 78% of users are cyclists  

 Evidence desire for active 
outdoor adventures and 
impact on employment  

 Highlights international 
appeal in addition to 
providing a resource for 
local communities  

 Connects different spaces, 
attractions and towns  

    
 
  

P
age 309

https://lakedistrictbikes.com/product-category/hybrid-e-bikes/
https://www.ianvisits.co.uk/articles/review-the-waddesdon-greenway-e-bike-hire-scheme-45830/


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 105 
 

 

 

 

EXEMPLAR 6: HOP-ON/HOP-OFF BUS TOURS, SCOTTISH BORDERS   

Run by City Sightseeing, the Scottish Borders service runs three times each day from the end of May to the end 
of August.  Buses take a circular route beginning at Galashiels transport interchange and make eight stops at key 
attractions along the 1.5 hour route.  Users are able to hop on/off the service over a 24-hour period.   

What it does well                                                     Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

 Encourages car-free travel in a scenic area 

 Highlights and links key attractions, creating a sense of place 

 Enables people to explore the destination flexibly 

 Explore partnerships with commercial travel providers 

 Consider partnership agreements/discount schemes with local businesses 

and attractions for bus users to encourage car-free travel 

 Consider how to combine bus tickets with bike hire to create an  

integrated transport offer for visitors 

    

 
  

P
age 310



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 106 
 

 

 

 

TOWN CENTRE DEVELOPMENT  

Successful town centres are valued and used by their local communities, as well as providing facilities and services for visitors from further afield. They 
offer a mix of commercial, cultural and community activities. This increases the dwell time of all customers (locals and visitors) which increases spend and 
vibrancy, and ultimately attracts more investment.   
  

EXEMPLAR 7: FROME, SOMERSET    

Frome is a traditional market town in Somerset. In the last decade it has invested in a series of imaginatively funded community, 
cultural and environmental projects that have injected vitality into the town centre. Working with English Heritage, county and 
district councils, and attracting entrepreneurs with its business-friendly welcome and relatively low start-up costs, the historic 
Catherine Hill has been transformed from a relatively rundown shopping street with 60% vacancy levels to what National  
Geographic describes as “Frome’s beating heart ... where you can stock up on life’s beautiful things”.  Some of the town’s success 

in recent years is attributed to the growth of the Frome Independent – a monthly market and street entertainment event that 

transforms the centre of the town into a festival-like atmosphere on the first Sunday of every month from March to December. 

Describing itself as “a curated, destination street market with a difference”, it has very clear criteria for its 200 traders, to ensure 

local and creative distinctiveness. Another Frome town centre success story is Share – A Library of Things, the UK’s first Share 

Shop, established in 2015 with the support of the town council, and since emulated by other towns.  

What it does well                                                     Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

 Emphasis on community decision-making and public/private/voluntary 
partnerships; practical projects and engagement at grassroots level  

 Bringing council-owned land and buildings into community use  

 Creating a welcoming place to set-up a business  

 Making happiness & wellbeing the focus for their Neighbourhood Plan   

 Support and develop genuine engagement and partnership at grassroots 
level between community, commercial and cultural sectors    

 Identify and strengthen local distinctiveness in terms of heritage, 
environment, culture, creativity  

 Encourage innovative and creative business investment  

    

 
  

P
age 311

https://www.nationalgeographic.co.uk/travel/2021/06/what-to-do-in-frome-somersets-most-exciting-market-town
https://www.nationalgeographic.co.uk/travel/2021/06/what-to-do-in-frome-somersets-most-exciting-market-town
https://www.nationalgeographic.co.uk/travel/2021/06/what-to-do-in-frome-somersets-most-exciting-market-town
https://www.nationalgeographic.co.uk/travel/2021/06/what-to-do-in-frome-somersets-most-exciting-market-town
https://thefromeindependent.org.uk/trade-with-us/
https://thefromeindependent.org.uk/trade-with-us/
https://sharefrome.org/history-of-share/
https://sharefrome.org/history-of-share/
https://sharefrome.org/history-of-share/
https://sharefrome.org/history-of-share/
https://sharefrome.org/history-of-share/
https://sharefrome.org/history-of-share/


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 107 
 

 

 

 

EXEMPLAR 8: CLONAKILTY, REPUBLIC OF IRELAND    

Clonakilty is a small market town in County Cork. It went into decline in the 1960s as industry declined and its rail 

link was closed. While other local authorities abandoned the practice (common in the Republic up to the 1960s), 

Clonakilty retained a Town Architect who established the Town Development Plan and encouraged locals to take an 

interest in the look of the urban environment and get involved in the decision-making process. This continues into 

the 21st century, with a creative approach to urban development, sensitive restoration – and in some cases 

repurposing – of historic buildings, conservation of shopfronts, and high-quality public realm with spaces for people 

to gather socially. Clonakilty’s distinctive sense of place and local pride has attracted creative people, innovative 

thinkers and entrepreneurs, and the town has developed a reputation as a place that is open to new ideas. This has 

put it in a good position to benefit from county and national tourism initiatives in the last few years – especially West Cork’s focus on local produce, and the 

national tourism authority’s Wild Atlantic Way initiative.   

What it does well                                                    Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

 Long-term Development Plan led by a Town Architect, resulting in a 
coherent aesthetic and a distinctive sense of place  

 Involving locals in decisions about urban development, especially the look 
and feel of the place  

 Investment in high-quality public realm and repurposing historic buildings  

 Have a long-term vision and development plan for each town centre  

 Encourage locals to take an active interest in the look and feel of the town 
centres  

 Encourage social, creative and cultural elements (alongside the 

commercial) through repurposing buildings and investing in high-quality 

public realm  

    
 
  

P
age 312



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 108 
 

 

 

 

SUSTAINABLE DESTINATION DEVELOPMENT  

Tourism contributes 8% of global carbon emissions and, following the recent COP26 conference in Glasgow, the focus is shifting to how destinations can 
reduce carbon. In most events this necessitates a baseline evaluation of the current impacts, from which progress can be measured. A destination has a 
number of levers it can use to make positive changes and these are centred on:  
  

 Businesses – helping the local tourism sector operate more sustainably, including supporting skills and employment to drive recruitment and 

retention within the sector 

 Visitors – guiding and advising visitors to help them reduce their impact on the local environment  

 Destination – policy and operational changes at a local authority level that reduce impacts  

 

EXEMPLAR 9: THANET    

As a relatively small district in NE Kent, Thanet has a small tourism team that supports destination management and marketing. As part of the council declaring 

a climate and biodiversity emergency in 2019, the tourism team has developed a Green Tourism Toolkit for local tourism businesses.  

What it does well                                                   Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

The tourism website has a page of advice and guidance for tourism businesses  

https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/ 
The recently published green toolkit helps businesses by:  

 Making the market case for investment, with the latest research  

 Providing easy-to-adopt suggestions across four areas of Water, Waste, 
Energy and Supply Chains (these show the relative ease and cost in 
adopting the change)  

 Offering examples of best practice among small businesses  

 Pointing towards different certification schemes  

 A lot of the advice and guidance is common to all 
destinations so no need to start from scratch  

 There are lots of easy-to-adopt ideas that don’t 
cost much  

 A collective ambition and action plan that cuts 
across public and private sectors  

 Helps the destination to be recognised as a front-
runner in tackling climate change  

 

    

 

P
age 313

https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/
https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/
https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/
https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/
https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/
https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/green-tourism-toolkit/
https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/green-tourism-toolkit/


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 109 
 

 

 

 

EXEMPLAR 10: PLUMPTON COLLEGE, SUSSEX    

Plumpton College farms over 2,500 acres of land and has grown to become one of the leading centres for land-based education in the UK.  Established in 1926, 
the College has built a curriculum and business support framework across the south-east, delivering vocational skills training and education to over 3,500 
students and 2,500 businesses.  Whilst agriculture is Plumpton’s flagship curriculum, it is also renowned for being the UK’s centre for excellence in wine 
education and research as well as offering highly-regarding courses in food science.  Plumpton works with employers and businesses across Sussex to develop 
programmes (including an apprenticeship recruitment service) to ensure new entrants develop the right skills and attributes to pursue a successful career in 
farming, food and drink, and tourism .  Plumpton is a key pillar in supporting Sussex’s profile as a centre of excellence for food and drink, contributing to the 
strength of the local supply chain with a highly skilled workforce. 
What it does well                                                   Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

 Offers a variety of specialist courses including apprenticeships, and FE and 

HE level learning around land management, food and drink 

 Effective partnerships with Brighton & Hove Council, South Downs 

National Park, and employers to offer learning and skills that are relevant 

to the market 

 Puts the latest practice around sustainability at the heart of its courses 

 Enhances the reputation of hospitality as a desirable sector in which to 

work and develop a lifelong career 

 Contributes to placemaking for Sussex as a destination known for 

innovative and high quality local food and drink 

  

 Showcase success stories of local hospitality 
providers to raise the profile of the sector across 
Staffordshire Moorlands & High Peak, enhancing 
each area’s reputation for food culture 

 Consider ways to encourage local education 
providers to raise the profile and reputation of 
hospitality and tourism qualifications (e.g. via the 
Peak District & Derbyshire Hospitality Charter) 

 Consider incentives and marketing to encourage 
student recruitment/apprenticeships and attract 
new people to hospitality/tourism sector  

    

 
  

P
age 314

https://www.plumpton.ac.uk/
https://www.plumpton.ac.uk/business-services/apprenticeships-for-employers/apprenticeship-recruitment-support/
https://www.visitpeakdistrict.com/industry/business-support/a-great-place-to-work/hospitality-charter


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 110 
 

 

 

 

EXEMPLAR 11: PLATE UP FOR GLASGOW    

Plate up for Glasgow, a hospitality industry-led campaign coincided with COP26 in November 2021.  Piloted by Glasgow Chamber of Commerce through its 
Circular Glasgow initiative and funded by Experience Glasgow Food and Drink Regional Group, the campaign aimed to highlight and encourage hospitality 
businesses to act upon the global issue of food waste and its impact on climate change. 
 
The campaign’s ambition was to challenge traditional and wasteful dining and takeaway business models with the goal of sending as little organic waste as 
possible to landfill. Specific ‘Plate up for Glasgow’ dishes were created by venues and added to menus to encourage diners to consciously choose the ‘low 
waste’ option.  It is hoped that businesses can rebuild the local economy, while collaborating on how to become more sustainable and profitable. Some of the 
city's best chefs also shared tips and advice on how to reduce food waste as well as highlighting the many benefits of buying locally and seasonally. 
What it did well                                                   Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

 Fostered collaboration across industry, the third sector and local 

government to highlight best practice in minimising food waste across the 

supply chain at a time when Glasgow was centre stage during COP26 

 Showcased the best of Scottish cuisine in a new way to a global audience 

 Legacy: 88% of venues committed to keeping the low waste dish on their 

menu beyond the campaign 

 Created a conversation between staff and customers, and between in-

house teams about food waste and how people’s choices make an impact 

 Made a strategic link between food waste and climate impact while 

giving consumers practical advice on how to avoid food waste at home 

 Consider how collaboration and 

strategic partnerships can support 

the local supply chain to minimise 

food waste and sustainability 

 PR success stories across channels 

– including DMOs to create the 

sense of a sustainable ‘food scene’ 

in the area 

 Consider incentives for exemplar businesses (investment/grants) 

 Work with local suppliers to set targets to minimise food waste and create 

case studies around best practice  
    

 
 

P
age 315

https://plateupforglasgow.co.uk/about/


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 111 
 

 

 

 

 

 

THE RISE OF ‘ALTERNATIVE’ AND HOME-SHARING ACCOMMODATION  

In line with people’s increased desire to invest in authentic and distinctive experiences, the market for ‘alternative’ accommodation (e.g. glamping, yurts, 
and ecopods) and home-sharing (e.g. Airbnb) is growing via new entrants to the market and continued innovation in listings and booking technology.  
Visitors with income to spend on overnight stays appear to be consciously choosing accommodation that is a signifier of their individual lifestyles and 
tastes.  Data also indicates a growing trend for people choosing a destination based on the unique character of accommodation available there, rather 
than location: 
 

 According to the Great Britain Tourism Survey stays in alternative and home-sharing lets were two of the fastest growing types of 

accommodation in England between 2017 and 2019.  In 2019 a total of 1.18m holiday nights were spent in alternative accommodation (+432k vs. 
2017) and 2.58m holidays in home-sharing accommodation (+438k) over the same period. 

 Airbnb reported a 94% increase in Q1 2021 in users who searched via its ‘Flexible Destinations’ functionality which allows people to look for 

accommodation based on its distinctiveness, rather than its specific location.  However, Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak are well placed to 

offer accommodation that is unique in how it reflects the landscape and natural environment 

 An increased appetite for hands-on learning can also link unique accommodation to unique learning experiences rooted in a destination’s natural 
environment 

 

  

  

P
age 316



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 112 
 

 

 

 

 

EXEMPLAR 12: THE GATHERING, EDALE    

High Peak has an exemplar glamping site in The Gathering at Edale. With an average of 5*on TripAdvisor and featured as one of the ‘Top 10 Back-to-Nature 
Stays’ in The Guardian, the site offers luxury tented safari lodges equipped with fully-fitted kitchens, wood-burning stoves and Hypnos beds.  The site also offers 
weddings and corporate events with space for up to 90 attendees. The Gathering website also includes a guide for local activities that are either on the 
doorstep, within half an hour, or an hour to encourage visitors to stay and spend in the local area. 
What it does well                                                   Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

 A unique proposition – luxury safari lodges in the Peak District 

 Celebrates the local area and highlights local activities 

 Collaborates with other local businesses to create special experiences for 

visitors (e.g. Watson’s of Hope butchers) and showcases local places to eat 

and drink 

 A vehicle promote the breadth of quality experiences available in the local 

area to a broad visitor demographic 

 An opportunity to encourage more ‘glamping’ sites 
like this through planning 

  Showcase similar businesses more prominently 
(e.g. publication on trails) 

 

 

    

 

 

P
age 317

https://edalegathering.com/
https://www.theguardian.com/travel/2016/aug/30/10-best-back-to-nature-stays-england
https://www.theguardian.com/travel/2016/aug/30/10-best-back-to-nature-stays-england
https://edalegathering.com/location/what-do-area
http://www.watsonsfarmshop.com/
https://edalegathering.com/location/eating-out


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 113 
 

 

 

 

6. CONSULTATION & ENGAGEMENT 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS 
 
Interviewees: 
 
Matt Swindlehurst, Leek Town Council 
Sarah Haydon, Biddulph Town Council 
Dave Mullington, Cheadle Town Council 
Charlotte Cain and Andrea Sammons, Destination Staffordshire 
Cllr. Flunder Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Francis Jackson, Alton Towers 
Catherine and Ian Hine, Secret Cloud House Holidays 
James Lepke, Rudyard Lake Hotel 
Helen Wilshaw, Biddulph Grange Gardens 
David Smith, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Joanna Bagnall, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Josie Muncaster and Jo Clough, Severn Trent (Tittesworth) 
Julie Arnold, Caldon & Uttoxeter Canal Trust 
Ray Perry, Canal & River Trust 
 

Opportunities and Positives Challenges and Issues 

 Known for Alton Towers and the Peak District 
 Good range of heritage, cultural, landscape experiences 
 Good walking, cycling and outdoor activity offer and picturesque 

countryside and landscape 

 Lack of awareness of Staffordshire Moorlands (individual assets better 
known e.g. Alton Towers, The Roaches) 

 Good range of community events but not strong enough for visitors 

P
age 318



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 114 
 

 

 

 

Opportunities and Positives Challenges and Issues 

 Use of redundant assets in canals and railways 
 Towns all have something to offer (Leek is lively, Cheadle has Pugins 

Gem, Biddulph has the Grange & Gardens) 
 Clear audiences: Family fun and Empty Nesters 
 Great green infrastructure which could be better connected 
 Potential for better packaging – ‘stay an extra night’ to show what 24 

or 48 hours has to offer 
 Two DMOs (MPDD and Destination Staffordshire) so can use them 

both to lever benefits for SM 
 Staffordshire Peak District works for visitors more than Staffordshire 

Moorlands as it aligns to the better known asset 
 Potential for better connectivity between the many visitor assets (for 

visitors and workers) 
 There is plenty of ‘local’ food and drink which could be made more of. 
 Events could be used to animate the destination (in Towns and at 

other sites) 
 Potential to expand year round offer through Alton Towers 

development and leisure development at campsites for example 
 Spend and stays are not as long as they should be. Need to increase 

value. 

 Not enough accommodation and the range/quality of what is there 
has not kept pace with changing market needs 

 Planning challenges – seen as a barrier to investment 
 Lack of good public transport and weak links between green/active 

travel networks 
 The different towns feel in competition with each other and have 

concerns about being overlooked 
 Not much ethnic diversity in the visitor markets despite nearby 

populations 
 The tourism industry does not appear joined up – they don’t network 

or work with other enough. Businesses felt isolated from the District 
Council and in many cases from Destination Staffordshire too. 

 Signage, wayfinding and orientation not good enough – absence of 
Brown/White tourism signs to main assets 

 Customer service not always visitor focussed e.g. serving times for 
food (afternoon closures and early evenings) 

 Recruitment challenges linked to poor public transport and lack of 
housing for seasonal staff 

 Not clear enough to visitors that there is enough to do (there is) so 
issue is awareness/information 

 Surprisingly few branded hotels 
 TIC and Nicholson feels dated and lacking purpose 

 

 
  

P
age 319



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 115 
 

 

 

 

HIGH PEAK 

 
Interviewees: 
 
Jo Dilley, Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire 
Alison Foote, Derbyshire County Council 
Simon Fussell, Buxton Civic Association/Poole’s Cavern 
Ben Green, Buxton Opera House 
Helen Illingworth, Yorkshire Bridge Inn 
Roddie MacLean, Visit Buxton 
Stephen Owen, Buxton Crescent Trust 
Sally Potter, Marketing Buxton, Café No.6, ex Old Hall Hotel 
Paul Roden, Losehill House Hotel & Spa 
Lindsay Rae, Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire 
Mark & Jackie Sweeney, Live for the Hills guided tours 
Sarah Wilks, Peak District National Park Authority 
 

Opportunities and Positives Challenges and Issues 
 Lots of beautiful, relatively undiscovered places which have appeal – 

adventure and escape 

 Towns & villages could take on gateway role – Buxton in particular 

 Buxton has strong culture, heritage and events offer 

 Strength of Peak District brand 

 Need to focus on younger, active, family and cultural segments – 

staying longer and overnight 

 Relationships among public agencies are good and MPDD is strong 

lead – potential to build on this to do even more 

 Planning restricts opportunities to expand and diversify – residents 

frequently object – particularly in national park area 

 Lack of high quality accommodation 

 Limited evening eating & drinking options 

 Public transport and connectivity limited outside rail links to towns 

 Too many day visitors 

 Staff recruitment major problem 

 Economic pressures 

P
age 320



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 116 
 

 

 

 

Opportunities and Positives Challenges and Issues 
 Strong and active communities and communities of interest in towns 

and villages 

 Creative clusters could form cultural hubs 

 More could be made of running, walking and cycling, canals & 

waterways – car free exploration 

 Events are an opportunity 

 Apart from culture and heritage Buxton under delivers wrt a rounded 

offer and public realm 

 Lack of focus in Buxton despite commitment and passion – too many 

groups pulling in different directions 

 Buxton consultees report lack of effective collaboration with HPBC 

 Lack of unity and collaboration across towns and villages - and 

businesses – little cross-promotion 

 MPDD are thinly stretched – and project based funding is challenging 

 Cycling and walking routes are OK – but need to connect better and 

safer 

 Car traffic and parking 

 
 

P
age 321



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 117 
 

 

 

 

7. BUSINESS SURVEYS (STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS & HIGH PEAK) 

During July surveys were distributed to the tourism sector via the council and partners including Destination Staffordshire and Marketing 
Peak District and Derbyshire. The overall response rates are surprisingly low and the findings should be considered in that context. The low 
response rates, especially in Staffordshire Moorland, are perhaps indicative of the challenges that have been raised during consultation of a 
‘lack of a joined up sector’ and a lack of engagement.  
 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS KEY FINDINGS 

 
 Outdoors life was considered to be what Staffordshire Moorlands is best known for in the minds of visitors, as well as landscape & 

nature and visitor attractions. 
 The three leading aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors were outdoors life, visitor attractions, and range and quality 

of accommodation. 
 Staffordshire Moorlands should aim to attract more intergenerational families (top selection) as well as pre-family couples, mature 

couples, families with school-aged children and friendship groups of mature people.  
 When asked which activities they would like to see visitors do more, all 5 respondents to this question selected ‘use independent 

businesses rather than ‘chains’’.  Next most popular choices were ‘come back for a repeat visit’, ‘stay overnight rather than just visit 
for the day’, ‘experience a range of different attractions on a visit’ and ‘behave in a mindful way to protect the natural environment’. 

 5 out of 6 respondents strongly agreed that local tourism businesses provide a warm welcome for visitors.   
 Combining ‘agree slightly’ and ‘agree strongly’, 5 out of 6 respondents agreed that the availability and quality of accommodation in 

the area is good. 4 out of 6 respondents agreed that tourism businesses do a good job of helping visitors to understand the variety of 
experiences available in the local area. 

 The most important factor in supporting the future growth of tourism in the area was ‘developing a Staffordshire Moorlands tourism 
brand’. Next was ‘an improved retail offer in local towns and villages’ followed by ‘attracting more people to work in tourism and 

P
age 322



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 118 
 

 

 

 

hospitality’ and ‘incentives and support for businesses to adopt green initiatives’. The only statement that was not rated with some 
degree of importance was ‘investment in an improved transport infrastructure and public transport’. 

 Suggestions put forward for business support and sustainable growth were: availability of trained staff; more assistance/grants in 
obtaining green credentials, charging points at all B&Bs and hotels; a much stronger strategic tourism plan; a town centre tourist 
information centre in Leek. 

 Two additional comments were provided: the need for an improved welcome and tourist information centre at Leek bus station; the 
need for information about accessible places to visit and stay – similar to Accessible Derbyshire. 

 

Introduction 

As part of the consultation and engagement process to support the development of the Staffordshire Moorlands Tourism Strategy, a short 
survey was sent via Survey Monkey.  6 responses were received – 3 accommodation providers, 1 parish/town councillors, 1 transport 
provider and 1 unspecified ‘other’ business/organisation.   

Aspects of Staffordshire Moorlands as a visitor destination 

From a given list of features, respondents were asked to select any that they thought Staffordshire Moorlands is best known for in the minds 
of visitors. There were 5 responses to this question and all 5 selected ‘outdoors life’.  Next most popular selections were ‘landscape and 
nature’ and ‘visitor attractions’, chosen by 4 out of the 5 respondents.  The one ‘other’ response suggested ‘antique shops’ as an aspect that 
Staffordshire Moorlands is best known for as a destination. 
 
 Q.1: In the minds of visitors, what do you think Staffordshire Moorlands is best known for as a destination? 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Landscape and nature 4 80% 
Outdoors life (e.g walking, cycling, hiking) 5 100% 

P
age 323



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 119 
 

 

 

 

Unique geology (e.g caverns, rocks) 1 20% 

Characterful towns and villages 1 20% 

History and heritage 2 40% 

Visitor attractions (e.g theme parks, museums, galleries, heritage sites, nature 
reserves) 

4 80% 

Food and drink 0 0% 

Range and quality of accommodation 0 0% 
Arts and culture 1 20% 

Festivals and events 1 20% 

Shopping/independent retail 0 0% 

Other (please specify) 1 20% 

Total answered 5  
 

Aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors in the future 

Question 2 asked about aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors.  The top three selections here (chosen by 3 out of the 5 
respondents) were ‘outdoors life’, ‘visitor attractions’, and ‘range and quality of accommodation’. 
 
Q.2: And what aspects of Staffordshire Moorlands as a destination do you believe should stand out more to attract visitors in the future? 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Landscape and nature 0 0% 

Outdoors life (e.g walking, cycling, hiking) 3 60% 
Unique geology (e.g caverns, rocks) 1 20% 

Characterful towns and villages 1 20% 

P
age 324



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 120 
 

 

 

 

History and heritage 0 0% 

Visitor attractions (e.g theme parks, museums, galleries, heritage sites, nature 
reserves) 

3 60% 

Food and drink 1 20% 

Range and quality of accommodation 3 60% 
Arts and culture 0 0% 

Festivals and events 1 20% 
Shopping/independent retail 1 20% 

Other (please specify) 0 0% 

Total answered 5  

 

Type of visitor that Staffordshire moorlands should aim to attract  

Intergenerational families was the top selection when considering the type of visitor that Staffordshire Moorlands should aim to attract more 
of (5 out of the 6 respondents).  Next were pre-family couples and mature couples (4 respondents), followed by families with school-aged 
children and friendship groups of mature people (3 respondents).  
 
Q.3: Looking at the list below, which type(s) of visitor should Staffordshire Moorlands aim to attract more of? 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Pre-family couples 4 67% 
Families with school-aged children 3 50% 

Intergenerational families (e.g parents, children & grandparents) 5 83% 
Mature couples (55 years+) 4 67% 

Friendship groups of young people (up to 34 years old) 2 33% 

P
age 325



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 121 
 

 

 

 

Friendship groups of mature people (55 years+) 3 50% 

Other (please specify) 1 17% 

Total answered 6  

 
Question 4 asked respondents to state why they had provided their answer to question 3 regarding target markets for Staffordshire 
Moorlands.  This was a free-response question with 5 responses.  3 out of the 5 respondents expressed the need to attract all ages/all 
people/more tourists. One respondent stated that there is more to do for mature people than for youngsters and children. 
 
Q.4: Why do you say that? 

 

They are most in need of a holiday 

The county needs to attract ‘all ages’ with different interests 
Need to attract all people 

We need more tourists full stop to sustain the economy & support our local businesses 

There is more to do for mature people than youngsters and children 
 

Visitor behaviours  

Respondents were asked which activities they would like visitors to do more in Staffordshire Moorlands.  All 5 respondents for this question 
selected ‘use independent businesses rather than ‘chains’’. Next most popular choices were ‘come back for a repeat visit’ (4 out of the 5 
respondents), ‘stay overnight rather than just visit for the day’, ‘experience a range of different attractions on a visit’ and ‘behave in a 
mindful way to protect the natural environment’ (each selected by 3 respondents). 
 
Q.5: And thinking about visitor behaviours, which of the following activities would you like visitors to do more when they come to 
Staffordshire Moorlands? 

P
age 326



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 122 
 

 

 

 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Stay overnight rather than just visit for the day 3 60% 

Stay for more nights 2 40% 

Experience a number of different towns or villages on a visit 3 60% 
Come back for a repeat visit 4 80% 

Experience a range of different attractions on a visit 2 40% 
Undertake more outdoor activities 1 20% 

Behave in a mindful way to protect the natural environment 3 60% 

Use private cars less 0 0% 

Use independent businesses rather than ‘chains’ 5 100% 

Dine/drink in cafes, pubs or restaurants 3 60% 
Don’t know 0 0% 

Total answered 5  

 

About the tourism sector in Staffordshire Moorlands  

A number of statements were provided about the Staffordshire Moorlands tourism sector, for respondents to express their 
agreement/disagreement.  5 out of the 6 respondents strongly agreed that local tourism businesses provide a warm welcome for visitors.  
This was the statement with the highest level of agreement.   Combining ‘agree slightly’ and ‘agree strongly’, 5 out of the 6 respondents 
thought that the availability and quality of accommodation in the area is good.  4 out of the 6 respondents agreed that tourism businesses do 
a good job of helping visitors to understand the variety of experiences available in the local area. 
 
Q.6: Looking at the statements below, how strongly do you feel each applies to the tourism sector in Staffordshire Moorlands? 

 Number of responses 

P
age 327



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 123 
 

 

 

 

Answer choices Disagree 
strongly 

Disagree 
slightly 

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree 

Agree 
slightly 

Agree 
strongly 

Total 
answered 

Local tourism businesses provide a warm welcome for visitors 0 0 1 0 5 6 

Tourism businesses do a good job of helping visitors to 
understand the variety of experiences available in the local area 

1 0 1 2 2 6 

The local tourism and hospitality workforce is skilled and 
motivated 

0 1 2 2 1 6 

Destination marketing has good reach among potential visitors 
and creates a desire to visit 

2 0 2 1 1 6 

The availability and quality of accommodation in the area is 
good 

0 1 0 3 2 6 

Local networks provide tourism business with effective 
opportunities to collaborate 

1 1 1 2 1 6 

Destination Staffordshire understands the needs of tourism 
businesses and provides appropriate support 

0 2 0 1 2 6 

The local authority understands the needs of tourism businesses 
and provides appropriate support 

0 2 0 2 1 6 

 

Supporting future growth of tourism in Staffordshire Moorlands  

In question 7, respondents were asked to rate the importance of a number of factors in supporting the future growth of tourism in the area. 
‘Developing a Staffordshire Moorlands tourism brand’ received the highest number of ‘extremely important’ responses (5 out of the 6 
respondents). ‘An improved retail offer in local towns and villages’ was rated ‘extremely important by 4 respondents and very important by a 
further 1 respondent.  ‘Attracting more people to work in tourism and hospitality’ and ‘incentives and support for businesses to adopt green 

P
age 328



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 124 
 

 

 

 

initiatives’ were each rated ‘extremely important’ by 4 respondents.  All respondents rated ‘raising the profile and people’s understanding of 
what’s unique about the towns and villages in the area’ as either ‘very’ or ‘extremely important’.  The only statement that was not rated with 
some degree of importance was ‘investment in an improved transport infrastructure and public transport’. This contrasts with the equivalent 
business survey undertaken for High Peak, where 95% of respondents considered transport improvements to be ‘very’ or ‘extremely 
important’. 
 
Q.7: How important do you think each of the following factors are in supporting the future growth of tourism in the area? 

 Number of responses 

Answer choices A distraction – 
will divert from 
other priorities  

Neutral – will 
make no 
difference 

Quite 
important 

Very 
important 

Extremely 
important 

Total 
answered 

Local education providers doing more to provide 
training and qualifications for people working in 
tourism and hospitality 

0 0 1 2 3 6 

Attracting more people to work in tourism and 
hospitality 

0 0 2 0 4 6 

Incentives and support for businesses to adopt green 
initiatives (e.g electric car charging points, zero 
landfill waste management) 

0 0 2 0 4 6 

Developing a Staffordshire Moorlands tourism brand 0 0 0 1 5 6 
Investment in an improved transport infrastructure 
and public transport 

0 2 1 1 2 6 

Improved availability and quality of accommodation 0 0 2 2 2 6 

An improved retail offer in local towns and villages 0 0 1 1 4 6 

Better visitor insights and research 0 0 2 2 2 6 

P
age 329



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 125 
 

 

 

 

Local networks that help businesses to support and 
promote each other 

0 0 2 3 1 6 

Raising the profile and people’s understanding of 
what’s unique about the towns and villages in the 
area 

0 0 0 3 3 6 

 

Business support 

Question 8 was a free-response question which asked respondents for suggestions on support that would help their business/organisation to 
grow sustainably, or support tourism in Staffordshire Moorlands. There were 5 responses: 
 
Q.8: What kind of support, if any, would help your business/organisation to grow sustainably, or better support tourism in Staffordshire 
Moorlands? 

 

Availability of trained staff 

More assistance/ grants in obtaining green credentials 
Charging points at all B&B and hotels 

A much stronger strategic tourism plan 

We need a town centre tourist information office in Leek with the full range of leaflets. The current one is inaccessible and never has the 
full range of leaflets 

 

Additional comments 

2 respondents provided some additional comments:   
 

P
age 330



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 126 
 

 

 

 

Q.8: Is there anything else you think we should consider which has not been covered in the previous questions? 

 

Visitors to the area by coach are dropped at leek bus station - not the best first impressions of the town.  
The Tourist information centre should be stationed at the bus station to greet / inform visitors what leek has to offer. Maybe pre booked 
coaches and Town Crier to meet and greet.   
Information about accessible places to visit and stay - similar to Accessible Derbyshire 

 
 
 
  

P
age 331



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 127 
 

 

 

 

HIGH PEAK KEY FINDINGS 

 
 Landscape & nature and Outdoors life were considered to be top of mind for visitors to High Peak. 
 The three leading aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors were ‘food and drink’, ‘characterful towns and villages’ and 

‘outdoors life’. 
 High Peak should aim to attract more pre-family couples and mature couples as well as families with school-aged children and 

intergenerational families. 
 When asked which activities they would like to see visitors do more, the top two selections were ‘behave in a mindful way to protect 

the natural environment’ and ‘use independent businesses rather than ‘chains’’.  
 86% of respondents agreed that local tourism businesses provide a warm welcome for visitors.   
 55% agreed that tourism businesses do a good job of helping visitors to understand the variety of experiences available in the local 

area. 
 55% agreed that the availability and quality of accommodation in the area is good.   
 Just one respondent agreed (slightly) that ‘the local authority understands the needs of tourism businesses and provides appropriate 

support’.    
 The most important factor in supporting the future growth of tourism in the area was ‘investment in an improved transport 

infrastructure and public transport’. 
 A number of suggestions were put forward for business support and sustainable growth, with key themes being around travel and 

public transport, marketing and promotion, visitor information, financial support, training and information for businesses, and the 
need to develop the conference and exhibitions market. 

 When asked for additional comments, the major issue was around public transport and provision for car parking. 
 
 
  

P
age 332



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 128 
 

 

 

 

Introduction 

As part of the consultation and engagement process to support the development of the High Peak Tourism Strategy, a short survey was sent 
via Survey Monkey.  22 responses were received – 3 accommodation providers, 3 café/restaurant/pub/bar, 3 visitor attractions, 2 
parish/town councillors, 2 information service/destination marketing platform/online community portal, 1 shop/retailer, 1 brewery, 3 local 
residents, 1 freelance, 1 local guide, 1 placemaker and food consultant, 1 festival organiser. 
 

Aspects of high peak as a visitor destination 

From a given list of features, respondents were asked to select any that they thought High Peak is best known for in the minds of visitors. 
There was a high degree of agreement on this question, with 21 out of the 22 respondents (95%) selecting ‘Landscape and nature’ and 
‘Outdoors life (e.g walking, cycling, hiking)’.  Next highest were ‘unique geology (e.g caverns, rocks)’ and ‘characterful towns and villages’, 
each selected by 15 respondents (68%).  ‘Range and quality of accommodation’ was selected by just 3 out of the 22 respondents (14%). 
 
Q.1: In the minds of visitors, what do you think High Peak is best known for as a destination? 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Landscape and nature 21 95% 

Outdoors life (e.g walking, cycling, hiking) 21 95% 

Unique geology (e.g caverns, rocks) 15 68% 

Characterful towns and villages 15 68% 

History and heritage 9 41% 
Visitor attractions (e.g theme parks, museums, galleries, heritage sites, nature 
reserves) 

1 5% 

Food and drink 2 9% 

Range and quality of accommodation 3 14% 

P
age 333



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 129 
 

 

 

 

Arts and culture 1 5% 

Festivals and events 4 18% 

Shopping/independent retail 0 0% 

Other (please specify) 0 0% 

Total answered 22  
 

Aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors in the future 

Question 2 asked about aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors.  This generated a more mixed response, the top three being 
‘food and drink’, ‘characterful towns and villages’ and ‘outdoors life’, each selected by at least half of respondents. Aspects with the fewest 
responses were ‘unique geology’ and ‘range and quality of accommodation’, each selected by just 4 respondents (18%).  
 
Q.2: And what aspects of High Peak as a destination do you believe should stand out more to attract visitors in the future? 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Landscape and nature 8 36% 
Outdoors life (e.g walking, cycling, hiking) 11 50% 

Unique geology (e.g caverns, rocks) 4 18% 

Characterful towns and villages 12 55% 

History and heritage 8 36% 

Visitor attractions (e.g theme parks, museums, galleries, heritage sites, nature 
reserves) 

6 27% 

Food and drink 13 59% 
Range and quality of accommodation 4 18% 

Arts and culture 8 36% 

P
age 334



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 130 
 

 

 

 

Festivals and events 7 32% 

Shopping/independent retail 6 27% 

Other (please specify) 0 0% 

Total answered 22  

 
 

Type of visitor that high peak should aim to attract  

Pre-family couples and mature couples were the top selections when considering the type of visitor that High Peak should aim to attract 
more of (14 respondents (64%)).  Next were families with school-aged children, intergenerational families (each selected by 11 respondents 
(50%)) and friendship groups of mature people (10 respondents (45%)).  From the two respondents selecting ‘other’, one suggested that all 
people should be targeted, the other thought that the age of visitor doesn’t matter. Rather it should be their interests and values, for 
example a priority segment should be those people who care about the natural environment and enjoy the outdoors. 
 
Q.3: Looking at the list below, which type(s) of visitor should High Peak aim to attract more of? 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Pre-family couples 14 64% 

Families with school-aged children 11 50% 

Intergenerational families (e.g parents, children & grandparents) 11 50% 

Mature couples (55 years+) 14 64% 
Friendship groups of young people (up to 34 years old) 8 36% 

Friendship groups of mature people (55 years+) 10 45% 
Other (please specify) 2 9% 

Total answered 22  

P
age 335



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 131 
 

 

 

 

 
Question 4 asked respondents to state why they had provided their answer to question 3 regarding target markets for High Peak.  This was a 
free-response question with 17 responses.  A common theme was the need to attract those with disposable income.  There was some 
concern expressed about younger groups, saying that they contribute less to the local economy (they walk and leave) and that they can 
create tension with local young people. One comment about groups in general was the limited parking available for locals at weekends, and 
therefore large groups should only be encouraged to come by public transport. Further comments included the need for more family 
activities and the potential to attract a more diverse demographic. 
 
Q.4: Why do you say that? 

 

Because the type of person is more important than their age. 

Too many young people in the area and the local young ones don’t like intruders so it causes tension with them 
High Peak is a diverse locality with plenty to entertain people who love being outside, sampling local produce and experiencing the arts 
and culture of the area. 

We are an ageing nation and need more people living in the villages to revive them. 
Walking and enjoying the countryside appears to be predominantly teens/early twenties.  They do not contribute significantly to the 
economy of the area, they walk and leave.  Other groups invest in food and accommodation. 
Before we moved here, everyone in South knows Peaks for views, walks and well dressing. 

Limited in the area, lacking also in developing activities for local families by developing more of a family market there will be more 
activities and child friendly venues for locals 
I live in a small village and parking is extremely limited for locals at weekends. Therefore, I wouldn't encourage big groups to come unless 
via public transport 

Intergenerational like the world is. 

"Pre-family couples"?? Even the phrasing of this question is idiotic. 

P
age 336



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 132 
 

 

 

 

We need to move away from the National Trust stereotype of middle aged and retired white people.  Since the pandemic, the visitor 
demographic in the White Peak has noticeably diversified. 

The area appeals to a wide demographic. We should focus on the demographic with the most disposable income. 

They are more likely to be those with disposable income which is getting to be a smaller and smaller group 

I believe we should be attracting more of all the above groups 
Mature couples tend to have more disposable income and enjoy our landscape and walking as do young couples and mature groups. 
Couples with children and groups of young people are generally not that interested in what we have here 
Growth potential 

Older demographic currently visit 

 

Visitor behaviours  

Respondents were asked which activities they would like visitors to do more in High Peak.  20 out of the 22 respondents (91%) selected 
‘behave in a mindful way to protect the natural environment’. 18 respondents (82%) selected ‘use independent businesses rather than 
‘chains’’.  The majority of respondents wanted visitors to dine/drink in cafes/pubs/restaurants, stay overnight, stay for more nights, and 
come back for a repeat visit. Activities selected least were ‘experience a range of different attractions on a visit’ (selected by 4 respondents) 
and ‘undertake more outdoor activities’ (7 respondents). 
 
Q.5: And thinking about visitor behaviours, which of the following activities would you like visitors to do more when they come to High 
Peak? 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Stay overnight rather than just visit for the day 13 59% 
Stay for more nights 14 64% 

Experience a number of different towns or villages on a visit 9 41% 

P
age 337



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 133 
 

 

 

 

Come back for a repeat visit 15 68% 

Experience a range of different attractions on a visit 4 18% 

Undertake more outdoor activities 7 32% 

Behave in a mindful way to protect the natural environment 20 91% 

Use private cars less 11 50% 
Use independent businesses rather than ‘chains’ 18 82% 

Dine/drink in cafes, pubs or restaurants 16 73% 
Don’t know 0 0% 

Total answered 22  

 

About the tourism sector in high peak  

A number of statements were provided about the High Peak tourism sector, for respondents to express their agreement/disagreement.  19 
of the 22 respondents (86%) agreed that local tourism businesses provide a warm welcome for visitors.  This was the statement with the 
highest level of agreement.   The statement with the highest level of disagreement (14 out of 22 respondents (64%)) was that ‘the local 
authority understands the needs of tourism businesses and provides appropriate support’.   The equivalent statement about Marketing Peak 
District & Derbyshire generated a more balanced response, with just 7 respondents (32%) disagreeing. 
 
12 out of 22 respondents (55%) agreed that tourism businesses do a good job of helping visitors to understand the variety of experiences 
available in the local area, and the same percentage (55%) agreed that the availability and quality of accommodation in the area is good.   
 
Q.6: Looking at the statements below, how strongly do you feel each applies to the tourism sector in High Peak? 

 Number of responses 

P
age 338



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 134 
 

 

 

 

Answer choices Disagree 
strongly 

Disagree 
slightly 

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree 

Agree 
slightly 

Agree 
strongly 

Total 
answered 

Local tourism businesses provide a warm welcome for visitors 0 1 2 14 5 22 

Tourism businesses do a good job of helping visitors to 
understand the variety of experiences available in the local area 

0 4 6 7 5 22 

The local tourism and hospitality workforce is skilled and 
motivated 

1 6 5 7 2 21 

Destination marketing has good reach among potential visitors 
and creates a desire to visit 

0 8 7 6 1 22 

The availability and quality of accommodation in the area is 
good 

1 4 5 8 4 22 

Local tourism networks provide tourism business with effective 
opportunities to collaborate 

3 3 8 6 2 22 

Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire understands the needs of 
tourism businesses and provides appropriate support 

3 4 8 1 6 22 

The local authority understands the needs of tourism businesses 
and provides appropriate support 

6 8 7 1 0 22 

 

Supporting future growth of tourism in high peak  

In question 7, respondents were asked to rate the importance of a number of factors in supporting the future growth of tourism in the area.  
Standing out was ‘investment in an improved transport infrastructure and public transport’.  17 out of the 22 respondents (77%) rated this as 
‘extremely important’, with a further 4 saying it was ‘very important’ (total 95%).  ‘Incentives and support for businesses to adopt green 
initiatives’ was considered either very or extremely important for 16 respondents (73%).  ‘Local networks that help businesses to support and 

P
age 339



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 135 
 

 

 

 

promote each other’ was also rated very or extremely important by 16 respondents.  Combining the ‘quite’, ‘very’ and ‘extremely important’ 
ratings, ‘attracting more people to work in tourism and hospitality’ and ‘raising the profile and people’s understanding of what’s unique 
about the towns and villages in the area’ were both selected by 21 out of the 22 respondents (95%).  Provision of training and qualifications 
for people working in tourism and hospitality was considered to be very or extremely important by 14 respondents (64%). 
 
6 respondents (27%) thought that developing a High Peak tourism brand would be a distraction. 
 
Q.7: How important do you think each of the following factors are in supporting the future growth of tourism in the area? 

 Number of responses 

Answer choices A distraction – 
will divert from 
other priorities  

Neutral – will 
make no 
difference 

Quite 
important 

Very 
important 

Extremely 
important 

Total 
answered 

Local education providers doing more to provide 
training and qualifications for people working in 
tourism and hospitality 

1 2 5 10 4 22 

Attracting more people to work in tourism and 
hospitality 

1 0 7 7 7 22 

Incentives and support for businesses to adopt green 
initiatives (e.g electric car charging points, zero 
landfill waste management) 

1 3 2 8 8 22 

Developing a High Peak tourism brand 6 2 5 4 5 22 

Investment in an improved transport infrastructure 
and public transport 

0 1 0 4 17 22 

Improved availability and quality of accommodation 1 2 7 9 2 21 

An improved retail offer in local towns and villages 2 2 5 9 4 22 

P
age 340



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 136 
 

 

 

 

Better visitor insights and research 2 4 6 8 2 22 

Local networks that help businesses to support and 
promote each other 

2 1 3 12 4 22 

Raising the profile and people’s understanding of 
what’s unique about the towns and villages in the 
area 

0 1 7 7 7 22 

 

Business support 

Question 8 was a free-response question which asked respondents for suggestions on support that would help their business/organisation to 
grow sustainably, or support tourism in High Peak. There were 15 responses with the key themes being around travel and public transport, 
marketing and promotion, visitor information, financial support, training and information for businesses, and the need to develop the 
conference and exhibitions market with a focus on Buxton.  The full verbatim responses are provided below: 
 
Q.8: What kind of support, if any, would help your business/organisation to grow sustainably, or better support tourism in High Peak? 

 
A strong online presence 
Funding to support our organisations aims 
Focus on being inclusive and welcoming to diverse audiences 

Tourist information centres especially in summer, better toilet facilities, cafes staggering opening days, we need a bakery in hayfield 

The area needs a joined-up strategy for travel into the area and car parking.  County, Borough and Parish should sign with one voice 
Promotion of villages and their independent hospitality and retail and regional food 

More joined up approach, more marketing opportunities outside of the DMO. A great marketing campaign and rebrand for the area- i.e 
family destination, area of culture (Buxton festival) 

An umbrella list of activities, natural attractions in each town / village in High peak replicated throughout 

P
age 341



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 137 
 

 

 

 

Sensible business rates 

Pointers to information to help start-ups. Easy to follow basic stuff. 

HPBC are very risk averse & consequently, their strategies and action plans often don't go far enough nor are they easily accessible by the 
full range of SME & micro-businesses in the area.  Training & networking is delivered at times & in locations that ignore the needs of 
small businesses (especially sole traders) or how the topography of the Borough impacts travel times.  A one-hour training session in 
Buxton may mean 3 hours travel time for some people.  More needs to be done online & be recorded so it can be accessed fully.  MPDD 
are inflexible and competitive with any other organisation wanting to work with them.  They use far too many consultants from outside 
the borough when there are highly qualified locals available.  Blue Sail are from Brighton.  How can the borough have faith in an 
organisation that actively ignores local businesses in this way?  It is time to consider moving the procurement system to something closer 
to the Preston Model. 

Much improved public transport and affordable car parking options. Most visitors travel by car but we need a park and ride system to 
accommodate the volume of cars 
Grants for business expansion, more interaction from HPBC Tourism team (if there even is one anymore), more engagement/promotion 
on social media, stock photography of the area to use for free, support and resources for local business networks so they can do more 

The High Peak needs to become a destination for conferences and exhibitions, Buxton could be a Harrogate of the peak. 
When Hillhead Show is on all accommodation providers and restaurants get a massive boost. 
If the High Peak was to get a dedicated conference and exhibition coordinator to push these type of events in our area it could really help 
in the quieter months of the year, making us less seasonal and therefore improving our chances of attracting more quality businesses, 
this in turn would attract more tourism throughout the year. 

Better public transport, better broadband 

Aggregated booking, shopping and local eco deliveries. 

Financial, infrastructure 

 
 

P
age 342



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 138 
 

 

 

 

Additional comments 

14 respondents provided some additional comments.  The stand-out issue is the need for better public transport and provision for car 
parking.  Other mentions included the lack of accommodation, lack of skilled building-trade workers, the importance of broadband, the need 
to develop a food culture, link up cycle routes, develop wheelchair/scooter hire services. The full verbatim responses are provided below: 
 
Q.8: Is there anything else you think we should consider which has not been covered in the previous questions? 

 
When developing a tourism strategy, priority must be given to the natural environment.  
When encouraging more visitors, how these visitors travel into and around the local area must be prioritised. Current infrastructure is 
not sufficient. e.g. country roads and parking provision unable to cope with extra cars, train schedule already busy in summer months. 

Diversity and inclusion 

We need to have affordable homes for young people and better transport links into Manchester, there is no bus route after 6.30, tourists 
can just pop to next village as can't get back without a car and young people don't always have one, more bungalows would free up 
larger houses of which there are many with only one person living there, and empty homes should be sold to make way for smaller 
affordable homes 
Provision of parking for cars etc so they do not park on streets in small villages causing ill feeling from residents.  A vast improvement of 
public transport should be made and not just for visitors. 
Accommodation is the biggest issue locally. We frequently get visitors asking us for suggestions of where to stay, and there's just nothing, 
especially for those travelling with dogs 

Greater access for dog walking off lead 
Unavailability of skilled workers to complete modifications to accommodation. A severe shortage of skilled labour (builders/ plumbers/ 
electrician/ painters) stifling expansion plans 

If your primary catchment area lives within a day's travelling distance, then improving the accommodation stock won't have an impact.  I 
feel the quality and value of what we have is high.  But who is available Mon-Thurs outside of school holidays?  Middle class white people 
and non-national tourists, who we hardly welcome.  No menus in Mandarin for instance, rampant racism in small towns and villages...  

P
age 343



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 139 
 

 

 

 

 
Tourism destination decisions are often driven by knowledge of local foods and quality eateries https://www.visitbritain.org/inbound-
food-drink-research (not Michelin wannabees, high quality and good value).  High Peak doesn't really have a food culture, so it will need 
to create one and properly promote it (not via MPDD).   
 
Parking needs to be sorted for outdoor activities.  Walkers and cyclists completely shut down the mill towns and villages, which weren't 
built for cars.  Don't chase visitors before you provide them with accessibility that does not negatively impact upon your rate-paying 
residents. 
 
The transport question is a red herring.  HPBC have done nothing to protect rural bus routes, sometimes the only transport option for the 
underprivileged and more heavily used by women than men (see https://www.cpre.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/CPRE_Every-
village-every-hour_report.pdf for ideas).  They can have no real impact on national travel strategy and, as I imagine that the vast majority 
of senior decision makers (& councillors) do not have to rely on public transport, they have no idea of the cost and reliability of the 
system we currently have.  

Make getting here more environmentally friendly and easy - increase and improve rail and bus services including services between tourist 
hotspots, such as Buxton, Chatsworth and Castleton, establish park and rides by train/bus stations, link up the cycle networks and loops, 
improve/instigate wheelchair/scooter hire services, improve parking meters to accept cards/fix them so they work, increase the number 
of disabled parking spaces in certain car parks, install bicycle racks at suitable locations, 

You haven't mentioned broadband once and given how rural and remote much of the Peak district is this is essential. You also talk about 
High Peak brand when we already have a brand in The Peak District. The last thing that we need is in fighting between Councils trying to 
establish competitive brands. If you want examples to follow then look at what they do in The Lake District and Yorkshire. 

Focus on experience 
Value of visitor information centre(s) 

 
 

P
age 344



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

2022-2027

Tourism Strategy for 
High Peak

Photo by Sam Barber on Unsplash

P
age 345

https://unsplash.com/@milltownphotography?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText
https://unsplash.com/s/photos/glossop?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText


Tourism Strategy for High Peak

CONTENTS

1. STARTING POINT 3

2. VISION FOR TOURISM IN HIGH PEAK 8

3. MARKET OVERVIEW 10

4. PRIORITIES FOR GROWTH 15

5. EVALUATING PROGRESS 23

2

P
age 346



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

1. STARTING POINT

3Photo by Tom Wheatley on Unsplash

P
age 347

https://unsplash.com/@mikeballet?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText
https://unsplash.com/s/photos/high-peak-district?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText


Tourism Strategy for High Peak

1. STARTING POINT

High Peak is a scenic landscape of 
hills, moorlands, woodlands, valleys 
and waterways, with small, 
characterful towns and villages.

Largely situated within the Peak District National 
Park, High Peak typically attracts some 5 million 
visitors each year (1). (Although these numbers are 
estimated to have halved during 2020/21 due to 
pandemic restrictions).

Tourism is a significant economic sector employing 
over 3,700 people or around 13% of all jobs in High 
Peak (2). Visitors spend almost £300M, with around 
half of that on shopping, and food and drink -
supporting facilities and services also used by 
residents (3). 

Other than landscape and Buxton, with its culture 
and heritage offer, High Peak lacks major attractions. 
Its towns and villages are however distinctive and 
appealing, well-cared for and with a strong sense of 
identity. 

The area has good connections, by rail to 
Manchester and Sheffield and road links from all 
directions. The majority of visitors are not travelling 
far, most within a 90-minute drive time, and a third 
coming from East Midlands.

The consultation with partners and stakeholders 
undertaken in the development of this strategy 
reinforced the post-pandemic fragility of businesses 
facing rising costs, uncertainty among visitor markets 
and recruitment challenges.  Public transport within 
the area is seen as a particular barrier by businesses.

Nevertheless there is a positive attitude to the 
future for tourism in High Peak, and a view that 
better collaboration and focus is the key to market 
growth. Consultees suggest opportunities lie in:

A new role for towns and villages
A focus on overnight stays among younger, 
active, family and cultural market segments 
Market development around walking, cycling, 
running, waterways, culture and events
Greater range and improved quality of 
accommodation types

4

1. STEAM data 2019
2. Business Register & Employment Survey, ONS, 2019
3. STEAM, 2019

P
age 348



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

Policy Context

There is a rich array of strategies, 
plans and policies locally, regionally 
and nationally which directly or 
indirectly impact on tourism in High 
Peak. 

The development of this strategy has taken 
account of these and seeks to align approaches 
wherever possible. Sometimes this means 
influencing others to ensure the needs of the 
visitor are taken into account. In other cases it 
means picking up on priorities to achieve an 
integrated and coherent approach making best use 
of resources. 

The main strategies and plans include those 
produced:

Nationally by the Government and Visit 
Britain/VisitEngland
Regionally by D2N2, Marketing Peak District & 
Derbyshire and Peak District National Park 
Authority

Locally by High Peak Borough Council, and  
specific plans for Buxton and the Goyt Valley

The key reference points for this strategy from these 
various plans are shown in the box here.

Greater collaboration across destination 
organisations and political boundaries
Focus on sustainability and Net Zero carbon 
emissions is increasing and there is a need to 
balance economic growth with that aspiration
Post-pandemic drive for economic recovery, 
growth and jobs are imperatives for the 
region – hence the focus on increasing 
overnight stays and spend
Important role of transport in unlocking 
potential – but increased emphasis on 
sustainability and car free travel
Development of cycling network and active 
travel by Derbyshire County Council
Planning policies which are enabling while 
preserving the special qualities of High Peak 
and the national park
Recognition of need to enhance the visitor 
experience and not stand still
Attract new, younger audiences using 
outdoor and cultural experiences as the hook
Integrate the destination based on gateway 
and hub roles for towns and villages and 
activities
Engender greater collaboration across 
communities and organisations, and among 
businesses

5

P
age 349



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities & Threats

From the research, consultation and 
analysis done for this strategy there 
are, naturally, areas of strength and 
opportunity to capitalise on. And 
areas of weakness and threat to try to 
address. 

In summary the strengths of High Peak lie in its 
outstanding landscape with opportunities to 
exploit around activities, culture and making more 
of its built environment. 

On the downside it is constrained by the lack of 
sufficiently compelling reasons for visitors to stay 
longer. And while the infrastructure is generally 
good, there are elements which could be improved 
or utilised better.  A highly competitive national 
and international marketplace present major 
challenges for the destination as a whole and the 
many small, independent businesses which 
characterise High Peak.

6

Limited variety of visitor offer
Lack of ‘connected’ offer
Lack of stand-out destination(s) and 
attractions
Largely outdoor – weather impacts 
visitation
Limited accommodation offer
Buxton – retail, public realm
Complex stakeholder landscape

Recovery of outbound tourism
Competition from other (better 
known) parts of Peak District - and 
elsewhere in England
Managing over tourism/visitor 
pressure at key points
Traffic
Increasing costs & operational 
challenges for businesses severely 
depleted by pandemic
Increasing cost of living for visitors 
constraining trips

Peak District Brand
Landscape
Cycling & walking
Attractive small towns & villages 
with independent businesses & 
active communities
Buxton – reputation, culture & 
heritage
Proximity to centres of population
Train & road links
Effective DMO

Post-pandemic interest in outdoor 
activity
Cycling & walking – routes, trails, 
events
Culture & creativity in towns, 
especially Glossop
Watersports
Towns & villages – distinctive offer
New types of accommodation – e.g. 
Bike & Boot

P
age 350



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

The towns and villages of High Peak 
each have their own unique sense of 
place and are a major asset to 
tourism.

Six towns in particular stand out as having the 
potential to become stronger tourism hubs. A 
focus on supporting their intrinsic strengths should 
aim to bring additional benefits for residents in 
terms of jobs, facilities, services and vibrancy.  A 
snapshot profile of the six towns is shown here. 

7

Buxton

New Mills

Castleton

High Peak’s Towns & Villages
Glossop

Whaley Bridge

Georgian architecture, heritage, thermal spa
Events & festivals
Gateway to the Peak District

Mam Tor & dramatic landscape
Caverns & Blue John (unique geology)
Quality of local accommodation

Torr Mills
Millennium Walkway & trails
Independent shops

Creative community
Independent businesses
Gateway to Dark Peak

Gateway to Goyt Valley
Canal basin, industrial heritage, walks and trails
Quality food offer

Hayfield

Sett Valley Trail and Pennine Bridleway
Gateway to Kinder Scout
Quality food offer

P
age 351



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

2. VISION FOR TOURISM IN HIGH PEAK

8Photo by Sam Barber on Unsplash

P
age 352

https://unsplash.com/@milltownphotography?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText
https://unsplash.com/s/photos/glossop?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText


Tourism Strategy for High Peak

Over the next five years High Peak will 
establish itself as a coherent, 
connected destination within the 
iconic brand of the Peak District.

Taking full advantage of the fame and appeal of 
the Peak District, High Peak will build its reputation 
for outdoor and cultural experiences. These special 
experiences will be firmly rooted in the landscape 
and towns and villages of High Peak, each with a 
distinctive sense of identity. 

A place with a strong character defined by its 
geology, its industry and its people. A place to 
explore and try new things. A place with an 
authentic story to tell. High Peak is all of these 
things. 

Investing in new experiences will give reasons to 
visit to new audiences. Building up the role and 
contribution of High Peak’s towns and villages will 
enable longer stays. Combined, they will result in 
more day and staying visitors and greater spend.

The goal is better connectivity, better connection, 
better working together across High Peak and 
beyond – with a focus on giving visitors what they 
are looking for. Focusing on this will ensure a 
successful, visitor economy, but this needs to be 
sustainable. The journey towards Net Zero carbon 
emissions will underpin High Peak’s tourism sector 
for the benefit of residents, visitors, businesses,
and future generations. 

Coherent, 
connected 
destination

Vibrant 
towns & 
villages

Unique 
cultural 

experiences

More day & 
staying 
visitors 

staying longer

Special 
outdoor 

experiences

2. VISION FOR TOURISM IN HIGH PEAK

9

P
age 353



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

3. MARKET OVERVIEW

10

P
age 354



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

Our Visitors

Visitor markets have been far from 
typical in the past two years – and 
there is no hard data from national 
surveys. 

From the most recent figures (1) it is evident that 
day visits dominate. Of the 50 million annual visits, 
90% of those are day trips – one of the 
consequences of proximity to big centres of 
population. Day visits however only account for 
60% of the £286M spend, clearly indicating the 
value of overnight stays.

While attracting overnight stays is desirable, day 
visits have been growing markedly faster than 
staying visits. Between 2014 and 2019, the 
number of day visits increased by 14% in High 
Peak while the number of staying visits increased 
by just 1%.

Buxton is an important driver of High Peak’s 
tourism sector accounting for a third of all visits 
and economic impact.

Domestic visitors typically stay 2.93 nights spending 
around £200 each trip (similar to average spend per 
trip elsewhere in England), while day visitors spend 
£15.54 (around half the English average) (2). 

Data from Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire 
(MPDD) suggests that visitors to the Peak District are 
typically aged 55+ (no data is available for High Peak 
specifically, although the consultation undertaken in 
developing the strategy endorses this).  

MPDD’s strategy is to broaden this base to attract 
new visitors actively targeting younger visitors 
without children and pre-school families  with an 
outdoors proposition. A further aspiration is to 
increase  time spent in the area and overnight stays 
to increase spend. Similarly reconnecting with visitor 
markets in Germany, Netherlands and USA is 
designed to tap into these high value markets 
through offering varied itineraries.

This strategy supports MPDD’s aspiration to grow 
these new audiences, while encouraging current 
visitors to stay longer and spend more. 

11
1. STEAM, 2019
2. GB Tourism Survey and GB Day Visits Survey, VisitBrtain 2019

Photo by Rob Potter on Unsplash

P
age 355

https://unsplash.com/@robpotter?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText
https://unsplash.com/?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText


Tourism Strategy for High Peak

Market Trends

There is uncertainty in the travel 
market, but discernible trends and 
related opportunities are emerging.

Five macro trends likely to influence travel 
patterns in the longer term have been identified 
along with their implications for High Peak as a 
destination.

With a core proposition around authenticity, the 
outdoors and wellbeing, High Peak should be well 
placed to respond to these trends. 

12

TREND IMPLICATIONS FOR TOURISM IN HIGH PEAK

Trend 1: The Pursuit of Real

Investing in experiences over material possessions looks 
set to be re-ignited post-pandemic. 

People want to get ‘under the skin’ of a destination and 
feeling almost as if they are living as a ‘local’. 
Many are looking for time away from home and for 
destinations that offer a distinctive contrast.

The line between being at work and not is increasingly 
blurred with many working while on holiday. ‘Respite’ by 
being immersed in a destination during down-time 
becomes even more important. 

Emphasise unique assets (e.g. landscape, 
architecture, cultural customs/events, local food and 
drink)
Quality of accommodation needs to be as good, if 
not better than home
High speed broadband and workspaces important in 
accommodation
Towns and villages may be more vibrant because of 
working from home – an opportunity to attract 
visitors from cities to experience the quality of life in 
High Peak

Trend 2: Fresh Adventures

Increased appeal of the outdoors was evident during the 
pandemic and looks set to continue.

Walking, stargazing, off-road cycling, nature photography 
were just some of the outdoor pursuits the pandemic 
encouraged. 

Visitors are becoming more aware of the physical and 
mental wellbeing benefits of being outdoors, especially if 
the backdrop is a pleasing landscape. 

High Peak has fantastic natural landscapes for both 
‘doing’ and simply ‘being’ 
Strategies to disperse visitors across towns and 
villages will prove advantageous; some outdoor 
honeypot destinations have suffered from over-
crowding in the past two summers
Camping and motorhome trips have grown in 

popularity but can burden local 
communities/infrastructure unless well managed 

P
age 356



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

13

TREND IMPLICATIONS FOR TOURISM IN 
HIGH PEAK

TREND IMPLICATIONS FOR TOURISM IN
HIGH PEAK

Trend 3: Going Digital Trend 5: Journey to Net Zero

Accelerated use of digital during the pandemic, 
from changes in video conferencing to booking 
flexibly, is likely to persist and evolve.  This 
reduces the need for human interaction.

While technology may assist those with a 
disability, it can be a barrier for people who do 
not feel digitally ‘savvy’. 

‘Effective use’  – driven by benefits, rather than 
features – will be the measure of success. 

Online planning and booking will bring 
continued advantages, enabling visitors 
to discover more about a destination 
and build an itinerary
Help/advice for businesses to  collect 
visitor data appropriately from digital 
channels to gain audience insights
Fast, reliable internet connectivity is 
expected.  Locations/businesses not 
able to offer this may struggle to 
compete

The UK Government has set targets to achieve 
Net Zero carbon emissions by 2050. 

Tourism is a contributor to human-made climate 
change (carbon impact of transportation) and 
will need to reduce its impacts.

Despite widespread acceptance, this is yet to 
translate into sustained and consistent changes 
in business practice or consumer choices.

Nationally, new strategies, policies, funding 
and practices are being developed to guide 
and support a coherent approach
Responses will be required by the destination 
(target markets, transport infrastructure), 
businesses (waste and energy reduction) and 
visitors (car-free travel, ‘responsible’ choices 
such as locally-produced food & drink)

Trend 4: All about Value

Whether in economically good or bad times, 
value for money is crucial in destination choice. 
With inflation at a high, disposable income is 
being squeezed and the cost of travel is set to 
increase. 

Those who saw their savings grow during 
lockdowns may have money to spend but be 
more sensitive to increased living expenses. 

Price matters, but value matters even 
more.  Quality of service and 
distinctiveness of experience at all price 
points is crucial
Increased volume of visitors may not 
result in increased spend
Tight labour market and inflation will 
put upward pressure on wage costs

Photo by Austin Chan on Unsplash

P
age 357

https://unsplash.com/@austinchan?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText
https://unsplash.com/s/photos/success?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText


Tourism Strategy for High Peak

Lessons from Elsewhere

There is no need to start from 
scratch, there are lots of insights and 
tools from elsewhere that can 
quickly and easily be adopted to 
progress actions.

Six areas of particular focus formed the basis of 
the best practice examples which inform this 
strategy:

Active outdoors culture
Strategic events
Town centre development
Transport and cycling infrastructure
Alternative accommodation
Sustainable destination development

Detailed case studies on each of these from multi-
disciplinary active outdoor events in the south of 
Scotland to sustainable town centre development 
in Frome, Somerset, to a green tourism toolkit for 
Thanet businesses, were undertaken and are 
available separately. 

A summary of some general principles around 
approach are shown here.

14

Take opportunities to work in partnerships with and through other organisations and across 
political boundaries to support tourism 
A clear policy environment guides actions. Time thinking about what is important from a tourism 
perspective helps influence and inform priorities and actions across all policy agendas – from 
transport to events
Successful interventions bring positive value to local businesses and communities, as well as 
visitors, and should always be integral to the decision-making and implementation process
Use interventions to connect-up the offer across towns and villages: make it easier for visitors to 
experience more of the destination and stay for longer
Engage businesses in the planning and development of actions so they buy into what you want to 
achieve
Events – particularly those that centre around outdoors and activities – are powerful destination 
animators and attract new visitors, integrating local culture, food and drink wherever possible
Alternative accommodation – glamping, yurts, ecopods – tell a new a story about a destination and 
help to attract new audiences

P
age 358



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

4. PRIORITIES FOR GROWTH

15Photo by Nicola Nuttall on Unsplash

P
age 359

https://unsplash.com/@nicnut?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText
https://unsplash.com/@nicnut?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText


Tourism Strategy for High Peak

4. PRIORITIES FOR GROWTH

Focusing on a small number of 
priorities is much more likely to lead 
to positive outcomes. Four areas of 
opportunity will provide that focus for 
High Peak. 

These four areas are based on the strengths of 
High Peak’s tourism offer, the analysis of market 
prospects and activity most likely to bring benefits 
to the residents, communities and businesses 
within High Peak. They are not everything that can 
or will happen, rather they provide a focus for 
investment and development.

The four areas of opportunity are:
1. Towns & Villages – creating destination hubs 

and reasons to linger
2. Cycling & Walking – developing routes, trails, 

packages and events  
3. Creators & Makers – supporting events, 

workshops, courses and opportunities to buy
4. Accommodation – extending the range and 

type

The following pages provide more detail on each of 
these four areas of opportunity, outlining the 
priority interventions. Mini case studies from other 
destinations provide examples, ideas and inspiration.

It is fully recognised that no one organisation can 
deliver this strategy. Tourism is indeed the business 
and concern of many. So, following the detail on the 
four areas of opportunity the approach which will be 
taken to working in partnership is set out in a fifth 
action area on page 21.

The role of High Peak Borough Council will be 
one of commissioning, enabling and coordination 
rather than direct delivery: 

Focusing on strategic growth actions
Leaving marketing to the experts
Bringing together businesses, stakeholders 
and partners
Advocating for visitors and tourism businesses
Monitoring and measuring success

16

P
age 360



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

Action Area 1: Towns & Villages

17

Aim - High Peak’s towns & villages grow as destinations, attracting longer stays and more spend

Approach – creating destinations & hubs, telling unique stories, providing a distinctive offer and giving reasons to linger

Actions:

Focus on Buxton as gateway to the Peak District and Castleton, Glossop (gateway to Dark Peak), New Mills/Hayfield (gateway to Kinder Scout), Whaley 

Bridge (gateway to Goyt Valley) as priority tourism hubs; and support the development of tourism-focused services in Chapel-en-le-Frith

Work with PDNPA on Gateway Programme to agree designated urban hubs and develop a joint action plan

Work with MPDD and individual towns on producing distinctive destination narratives for each place for use in marketing 

Work with towns to develop collaboration and cross-selling  

Encourage and enable accommodation development – small scale, quality, catered & self-catered in the six key gateway/hub towns & villages

Deploy  and influence funding streams and programmes for public realm improvement – especially in Buxton

Support programmes for independent businesses– hospitality, retail, food & drink – to retain the unique character of High Peak

Exemplar 1: Frome, Somerset

Traditional market town that has created a strong reputation by actively 
supporting quality, local, distinctive businesses

Community decision making and public/private/voluntary partnerships
Council owned land and buildings given over to community to use
Welcoming place to set up business
Happiness and well-being is focus of Neighbourhood Plan

Exemplar 2: Clonakilty, Ireland

Small market town in decline regenerated through innovative urban renewal
Long-term development plan led by Town Architect resulting in a coherent 
aesthetic and distinctive sense of place
Locals involved in decisions especially around look and feel of place
Investment in high quality public realm and repurposing historic buildings
Winner of Academy of Urbanism award

P
age 361



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

Action Area 2: Cycling & Walking

18

Aim – develop car free visits through cycling and walking to attract  younger audiences and encourage longer stays and more spend

Approach – develop routes and trails to form loops and links which can support packages and itineraries, and create a signature event

Actions: 

Develop routes and trails from gateway towns & villages which link up current routes to create loops and connections – such as the 86km ‘White Peak 

Loop’ being developed by Derbyshire County Council

Encourage support services and infrastructure in gateway & hubs, such as accommodation welcoming walkers & cyclists, cycle hire & servicing, tour 

operators etc 

Brand small number of the ‘best’ routes to assist promotion – e.g. the White Peak Loop

Commission annual signature walking & cycling event and include opportunities to showcase local culture and food & drink

Commission/support regular walking, running, cycling events to create a reputation for great activities

Exemplar 1: Love Trails Festival, Gower Peninsula, Wales

4 days trail running and outdoor adventures event with live music and 
entertainment 

Attracts a young, adventurous audience
Brings best of landscape, culture and cuisine together
Provides opportunities for local suppliers – outdoor activity providers, 
accommodation etc

Exemplar 2: Great Western Greenway, Co. Mayo, Ireland

42km former railway line linking towns and attractions, costing €6.7m to 
develop and bringing €40m annual economic impact

Attracts 125M visitors a year – 25% from overseas
Used by walkers and cyclists
Branded route part of Ireland’s greenways initiative

P
age 362

https://www.lovetrailsfestival.co.uk/


Tourism Strategy for High Peak

Action Area 3: Creators & Makers

19

Aim – build  on the talents of creators and makers to extend and diversify High Peak’s visitor offer as well as supporting the cultural vibrancy of the towns 

& villages

Approach – support the creation, programming and promotion of events, workshops, courses as well as extend opportunities to sell local products 

Actions:

Work with the creative sector to develop opportunities for local showcases e.g. connect makers with accommodation and other tourism businesses

Secure opportunities for creators and makers to sell their products in towns & villages through pop-ups, showcases etc and at events

Work with the existing creative cluster in Glossop to support their ambitions particularly around Market Hall and Victoria Hall

Work with MPDD on business development programmes with the sector to create workshops and courses and find ways of packaging experiences

P
age 363



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

Action Area 3: Accommodation

20

Aim – extend the range and choice of quality accommodation to attract new audiences to stay overnight

Approach – encourage distinctive, boutique, alternative forms of accommodation across High Peak

Actions:

Encourage and enable small scale, independent catered, self-catered accommodation within and around gateway hubs, towns & villages

Ensure planning within the Council is supportive and enabling with access to pre-application advice and support

Identify potential camping and glamping sites

Work with PDNPA on permissive planning for quality, small scale accommodation of all types supporting ‘special qualities’ of the national park

Work with MPDD on business programmes for accommodation providers to help them invest, improve quality and diversify

Exemplar 1: The Gathering, Edale

Peak District’s very own exemplar glamping site with a 5* rating on 
TripAdvisor and featured in The Guardian

Unique proposition – luxury safari lodges
Appeals to a broad audience 
Celebrates local area and local activities
Collaborates with other local businesses and showcases local places to 
eat and drink

Photo by Espen Bierud on Unsplash 

P
age 364

https://edalegathering.com/


Tourism Strategy for High Peak

Action Area 5: Underpinning 

21

Aim – ensure the right kind of support is in place to deliver the strategy and grow tourism sustainably

Approach – work in partnership with other organisations to influence, ensure alignment, efficiency and effective delivery of the strategy and support for 

tourism sector

Actions:

Marketing - ensure marketing is delivered primarily via MPDD rather than at town level avoiding ad hoc support for local leaflets, promotion etc - and 

ensure via the funding service level agreement that strategy aspirations are delivered

Partnership - establish a Tourism Partnership Forum involving High Peak Borough Council, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, Derbyshire County 

Council, Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire, Peak District National Park, Destination Staffordshire – to meet quarterly to plan, coordinate, align strategy 

and activity, address problems

Partnership - work with MPDD to convene an Annual Tourism Event bringing together businesses and providers across High Peak to update, inform and 

listen as well as providing opportunities for networking and collaboration; involve different departments of the Council as appropriate

Sustainability - support businesses in reducing carbon emissions through waste and energy management and retrofitting; ensure new builds meet the 

highest standards of environmental impact

Advocacy – ensure the voice for tourism is represented across all Council policies and strategies, and with other regional partner organisations such as the 

Local Enterprise Partnership and the County Council links to the emerging Combined Authority and other new governance structures

P
age 365



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

Tourism Partnership Forum

It is worth saying a little more about 
the proposed new Tourism 
Partnership Forum. 

The aim of the Tourism Partnership Forum is to 
ensure that the key organisations involved in High 
Peak’s visitor economy work together.  It will aim 
to align priorities, programmes and activities, 
identify and take opportunities to enhance and 
build on what each organisation is doing, work to 
avoid duplication, and potentially establish new 
collaborations or projects which cut across 
geographical or organisational boundaries. 

Areas of focus could include:

Marketing
Visitor management – including transport, 
dispersal, pressure points etc
New capital or infrastructure developments
Business support and engagement
New funding streams, bids and opportunities 
for larger scale initiatives and projects

As well as being desirable in its own right, the 
proposed Forum reflects the direction of tourism 
and destination support and development at a 
national level. A new national approach arising from 
the de Bois review is being implemented by Visit 
England via early pilots – and could form the basis of 
future policy and funding support.

Forum meetings should aim to be short – quarterly 
in the first instance, potentially moving to half-
yearly. They should be attended by senior officers. 
How these are convened should be decided by the 
group – one possibility is for each organisation to 
take the lead for one year i.e. 2/4 meetings.

Initial meetings should focus on the sharing of plans 
and identification of opportunities for collaboration 
based around the tourism strategies produced for 
High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands during 2022.

22

P
age 366



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

5. EVALUATING PROGRESS

23Photo by Tom Wheatley on Unsplash

P
age 367

https://unsplash.com/@mikeballet?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText
https://unsplash.com/s/photos/high-peak-district?utm_source=unsplash&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=creditCopyText


Tourism Strategy for High Peak

Progress in the Action Areas

Monitoring and evaluating progress of this 
strategy falls into two types. The first is on 
outputs i.e. the achievements within each of the 
Action Areas of the strategy. These can be 
quantitative or qualitative and are shown in the 
table here.

The second type of evaluation looks at 
outcomes and is more concerned with the 
bigger picture and overall impact of the 
strategy. These measures are shown on the 
next page.

24

ACTION AREA OUTPUTS

Towns & Villages 1. Joint working with PDNPA on hubs/gateways
2. Distinctive destination narratives for each town/village being 

used
3. Evidence of partnership and collaboration across 

towns/villages

Cycling & Walking 1. New and improved routes linking hubs/gateways
2. New branded routes developed and promoted
3. Support infrastructure improved
4. New events

Creators & Makers 1. New opportunities to showcase and sell 
2. New interactive experiences developed and promoted

Accommodation 1. Increased range, diversity and types of accommodation

Underpinning 1. Tourism Partnership Forum established and working well
2. Annual Tourism Event established and working well
3. Businesses supported in reducing carbon emissions

P
age 368



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

Overall Progress on Outcomes

It makes sense to have a few key indicators 
which are relatively easy to collect data on. 
Indicators which are relevant to the overall 
vision for the strategy. 

Five key performance indicators are shown in 
the table here, along with how they will be 
measured and why they are worth measuring.

Baselines for each should be established in 
2023. 

25

WHAT HOW WHY

Sector Growth
(% annual increase in 
visitor numbers & 
spend)

STEAM Provides big picture of visitor economy performance.

Average length of 
stay (holiday visits)

Visitor survey Longer stays will result in greater spend, spread across 
the area.

Average spend per 
visit (holiday visits)

Visitor survey Increasing spend during a visit will contribute economic 
impact, business profitability and sustaining jobs.

Business Growth
(% annual increase in 
turnover)

Local business 
survey

Monitors how businesses are doing overall as well as 
gathering intelligence on investment plans, challenges 
etc to inform policy.

Visitor Satisfaction 
(from a visit)

Sentiment 
research

Measures and tracks actual experience of visitors 
measuring satisfaction, likelihood of repeat visits and 
recommendations.

P
age 369



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

Consultation & Engagement

Sincere thanks to those who took 
time to input information, thoughts 
and comments which informed the 
development of this strategy.

Individual conversations took place with the 
people listed here. In addition 22 businesses 
operating within High Peak responded to an online 
survey.

Clare Brookes, High Peak Borough Council
Jo Dilley, Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire
Alison Foote, Derbyshire County Council
Simon Fussell, Buxton Civic Association, Poole’s 
Cavern
Ben Green, Buxton Opera House
Cllr. Damien Greenhalgh, High Peak Borough 
Council
Lisa Hoyland, High Peak Borough Council
Helen Illingworth, Yorkshire Bridge Inn
Roddie MacLean, Visit Buxton
Stephen Owen, Buxton Crescent Trust
Sarah Porru, High Peak Borough Council
Sally Potter, Marketing Buxton
Lindsay Rae, Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire
Paul & Kathryn Roden, Losehill House Hotel & Spa
Mark & Jackie Sweeney, Live for the Hills guided 
tours
Sarah Wilks, Peak District National Park Authority
Joss Winter, Sustrans
Duncan Wright, Glossop Creative Trust

26

P
age 370



Tourism Strategy for High Peak

This strategy has been produced by Blue Sail for High Peak Borough Council.

All landscape images are of High Peak/Peak District National Park. Uncredited images are © Blue Sail.

P
age 371



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 373

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 375

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 387

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 431

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Third Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2022/23
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	5 2023/24 Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan 2023/24 to 2026/27
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D

	6 Council Tax Support Fund 2023-24
	7 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023/24
	8 Tourism Strategy
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	1. TOURISM PERFORMANCE
	KEY FINDINGS
	 For staying visits, average spend per night in both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands is slightly higher than the England average.  Average length of stay in High Peak is similar to the England average but in Staffordshire Moorlands it is shorte...
	 Data from ONS’s Business Register and Employment Survey (BRES) shows that tourism industry employment accounts for 13% of all industry employment in High Peak, 18% in Staffordshire Moorlands.  This is compared to the England average of 11%.
	Covid Impact
	tourism volume & value 2019
	seasonality
	average spend and length of stay: comparison with other destinations
	For tourism day trips, average spend per trip in both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands is well below spend in other destinations and less than half the England average.  Rural destinations do typically attract lower levels of day visit spend comp...
	Source: GB Day Visits Survey, Visit Britain
	tourism relative to other sectors
	Whilst STEAM and national tourism surveys are designed specifically to analyse demand and spending by tourists, a look at national employment data is helpful in providing an indication of tourism’s importance relative to other industries.  ONS’s Busin...
	Sources: STEAM 2019; www.citypopulation.de
	tourism SIC CODES

	2. PRODUCT AUDIT
	KEY FINDINGS
	 High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands each have approximately 8,000 accommodation bedspaces, around a quarter of which are in serviced accommodation. Most serviced establishments are small, with 10 or fewer rooms.  The two large hotels (50 rooms) i...
	 In 2019 there were 146 self-catering establishments (cottages, houses, apartments) in High Peak, 205 in Staffordshire Moorlands (down to 165 in 2020). High Peak has 40 camping/caravan sites and 13 youth hostels; Staffordshire Moorlands has 37 campin...
	 High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands each have around 400 private home rentals available through Airbnb, 60% on a full-time basis.
	 Findings from the 2019 Staffordshire Hotel & Visitor Accommodation Strategy (Hotel Solutions) suggest that there is strong demand in Staffordshire for boutique, luxury and 4-star B&Bs; a good market for high quality inns and pub accommodation; a cle...
	 For the conference market, Buxton has the striking Devonshire Dome and Pavilion Gardens offering capacities of 1,500/1,000 delegates. The Palace Hotel and The Buxton Crescent Health Spa Hotel can cater for 500 and 186 delegates respectively.  In Sta...
	signature experiences
	visitor Accommodation: bedspace supply
	serviced Accommodation
	non-serviced Accommodation
	conference venues
	High peak fam destination audit may 2022
	Other Observations
	STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND DESTINATION AUDIT may 2022
	Other Observations

	3. STRATEGY & POLICY REVIEW
	key FINDINGS
	national strategies/plans
	REGIONAL strategies/plans
	LOCAL strategies/plans
	Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan. Adopted Sept 2020.
	Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan. Green Infrastructure Strategy 2018.
	Churnet Valley Masterplan. Supplementary Planning Document 2014
	Staffordshire Moorlands Sustainable Community Strategy 2007-2020
	Staffordshire Moorlands Corporate Plan 2019-2023


	4. market REVIEW
	EXISTING MARKETS
	EXISTING MARKETING/EXTERNAL PERCEPTIONS
	market trends
	MAcro Trends

	5. BEst practice
	key findings
	AN ACTIVE OUTDOORS CULTURE
	STRATEGIC EVENTS DEVELOPMENT
	TRANSPORT & CYCLING INFRASTRUCTURE
	TOWN CENTRE DEVELOPMENT
	SUSTAINABLE DESTINATION DEVELOPMENT
	THE RISE OF ‘ALTERNATIVE’ AND HOME-SHARING ACCOMMODATION


	6. CONSULTATION & ENGAGEMENT
	STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS
	High peak

	7. Business surveys (Staffordshire moorlands & high peak)
	Staffordshire Moorlands Key findings
	Introduction
	Aspects of Staffordshire Moorlands as a visitor destination
	Aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors in the future
	Type of visitor that Staffordshire moorlands should aim to attract
	Visitor behaviours
	About the tourism sector in Staffordshire Moorlands
	Supporting future growth of tourism in Staffordshire Moorlands
	Business support
	Additional comments

	High Peak Key Findings
	Introduction
	Aspects of high peak as a visitor destination
	Aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors in the future
	Type of visitor that high peak should aim to attract
	Visitor behaviours
	About the tourism sector in high peak
	Supporting future growth of tourism in high peak
	Business support
	Additional comments



	Appendix C
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: contents
	Slide 3: 1. Starting point
	Slide 4: 1. Starting point
	Slide 5
	Slide 6: Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities & Threats
	Slide 7: High Peak’s Towns & Villages
	Slide 8: 2. Vision for tourism in high peak
	Slide 9: 2. Vision for tourism in high peak
	Slide 10: 3. Market overview
	Slide 11
	Slide 12: Market Trends
	Slide 13
	Slide 14
	Slide 15: 4. Priorities for growth
	Slide 16: 4. Priorities for growth
	Slide 17: Action Area 1: Towns & Villages
	Slide 18: Action Area 2: Cycling & Walking
	Slide 19: Action Area 3: Creators & Makers
	Slide 20: Action Area 3: Accommodation
	Slide 21: Action Area 5: Underpinning 
	Slide 22
	Slide 23: 5. Evaluating progress
	Slide 24: Progress in the Action Areas
	Slide 25: Overall Progress on Outcomes
	Slide 26
	Slide 27


	10 To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting
	11 Future High Street Fund Project - Next Steps
	Appendix A

	12 Springs Shopping Centre Property Management Strategy and KPIs

